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Chairman’s Statement
FEHES

Dear shareholders,

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the
“Directors”) of Jiyi Holdings Limited (the “Company”), | am
pleased to present the annual report of the Company together
with its subsidiaries (the “Group”) for the year ended 31
December 2024 ("FY2024" or the
together with the comparative figures for the corresponding
year ended 31 December 2023 (“FY2023").

“Reporting Period”),

BUSINESS REVIEW

During the Reporting Period, the management team exerted
efforts to restore the original interior design and building
engineering services segment and building materials sales
business and reduce the low-margin bulk commodity trading.
As result, the Group's total revenue decreased in this year, but
there was an increase in the revenue of the interior design and
building engineering services segment, and there was an
increase in the gross profit margin. In FY2024, the provision of
interior design and building engineering services segment
accounted for 15.1% of the total revenue (2023: 0%), while
the sale and distribution of merchandise segment accounted
for 84.9% of the total revenue (2023: 100%,).
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Provision of interior design and building
engineering services

During the Reporting Period, the management team exerted
efforts to restore the original interior design and building
engineering services segment. The revenue generated from the
provision of interior design and building engineering services
increased by approximately RMB46.9 million or approximately
100.0%, from approximately RMBO million in FY2023 to
RMB46.9 million in FY2024. The Group also recorded a
increase in gross profit of approximately RMB7.1 million or
approximately 100.0%, from approximately RMBO million in
FY2023 to RMB7.1 million in FY2024. The gross profit margin
increased from approximately 0% in FY2023 to 15.1% in
FY2024.

Sale and distribution of merchandise

During the Reporting Period, the management team exerted
efforts to restore the original interior design and building
engineering services segment and building materials sales
business and reduce the low-margin bulk commodity trading.
In FY2024, the Group experienced an overall decrease of
approximately RMB365.4 million or approximately 58.0% in
revenue from the sale and distribution of merchandise from
approximately RMB629.5 million in FY2023 to approximately
RMB264.1 million in FY2024, in particular, the revenue
generated from bulk commodity trading had an decrease of
approximately RMB385.8 million, which was offset by the
increase in revenue generated from the sale of building
materials of approximately RMB20.5 million during the
Reporting Period. The Group also recorded an increase in gross
profit of approximately RMB9.6 million or approximately
1,553%), from approximately RMBO.6 million in FY2023 to
approximately RMB10.2 million in FY2024. The gross profit
margin increased from approximately 0.1% in FY2023 to
approximately 1.2% in FY2024.
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Overall, the Group recorded a consolidated net loss of
approximately RMB330.0 million for FY2024, representing an
decrease of approximately RMB169.2 million or approximately
33.9% as compared with consolidated loss of approximately
RMB499.2 million for FY2023. Such decrease was mainly
resulted from the net effect of the decrease in provision for
impairment loss under the expected credit loss model by
approximately RMB101.9 million, decrease in provision for
impairment loss of goodwill by approximately RMB52.0 million,
decrease in provision for litigation and legal fees by
approximately RMB11.3 million, decrease in other net losses by
approximately RMB12.2 million, offset by increase in gross
profit of approximately RMB9.6 million.

PROSPECTS

In 2024, the global economy continued to face challenges,
and the growth of the domestic real estate market continued
to slow down. However, the management team made efforts
to restore the original engineering and building materials sales
business and reduce the commodity trading business segment
with lower gross profit margins.

To address various challenges, our management team has
implemented a multi pronged strategy, including expanding
into new markets, optimizing cost structures, and seeking new
business opportunities. For example, our group has diversified
its sales and distribution channels, utilizing its experience and
cost advantages to achieve success in this field. Our group has
also obtained new engineering and procurement projects in
multiple cities in the Guangdong Hong Kong Macao Greater
Bay Area, including multiple enterprise construction projects.
This success greatly enhances our confidence in seeking more
new project tenders and business opportunities from corporate
and government clients.
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Looking ahead, it is expected that the global economy will still
be full of challenges and fluctuations. Although the interest
rate cut cycle began in 2024, the magnitude and frequency of
the cuts are still uncertain, and a sustainable global economic
recovery will take time to achieve.

In mainland China, sustainable economic growth will depend
on various key factors such as domestic policies, global
economic conditions, and the imposition of new tariffs by the
United States. It is expected that the central government will
continue to implement active and loose monetary policies and
fiscal stimulus measures to ensure stable economic growth. It
is expected that the central and local governments will
continue to provide necessary policies and measures to support
the recovery of the real estate market, which is crucial for the
overall economy. It is expected that the real estate market will
gradually recover and improve in the long run.

In this challenging economic environment, the Group will
continue to adopt a cautious and proactive attitude towards
operating and developing its business. Our group will seek
investment opportunities in markets with stable economic
prospects to promote sustainable growth and enhance long-
term returns for shareholders.
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APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, | would like to take this opportunity to
thank our management and all committed staff members for
their contributions to the Group and the shareholders, valued
customers, suppliers, and other business partners for their
continuous support. Our success would not have been possible
without their dedication, contributions, efforts, time and
confidence.

Yours sincerely,

Yu Runkun

Chairman

Hong Kong, 17 September 2025
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group is a well-established integrated building and home
improvement materials and furnishings supplier and interior
design and building engineering services provider in the PRC.
The Group is mainly engaged in the sale and distribution of
merchandise and the provision of interior design and building
engineering services.

During the Reporting Period, the management team of the
Group focused on the provision of interior design and building
engineering services and devoted less resources on sale and
distribution of merchandise with lower gross profit margins.
Therefore, although the revenue of the Group decreased in
FY2024, the gross profit margin of the Group increased in
FY2024. In FY2024, the revenue from the provision of interior
design and building engineering services segment accounted
for 15.1% of the total revenue (FY2023: nil), while the revenue
from the sale and distribution of merchandise segment
accounted for 84.9% of the total revenue (FY2023: 100%).

Provision of interior design and building
engineering services

During the Reporting Period, the management team of the
Group made efforts to restore the suspended project in
relation to the provision of interior design and building
engineering services. The revenue from the provision of interior
design and building engineering services was approximately
RMB46.9 million, and the segment gross profit was
approximately RMB7.1 million with segment gross profit
margin of approximately 15.1% in FY2024.
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Sale and distribution of merchandise

In FY2024, the Group experienced a decrease in revenue of
approximately RMB365.4 million or 58.0% from the sale and
distribution of merchandise from approximately RMB629.5
million in FY2023 to approximately RMB264.1 million in
FY2024, which was mainly due to the decrease in revenue
from bulk commodity trading offset by the increase in revenue
from the sale of building materials.

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Revenue by business operations

Total revenue of the Group decreased by approximately
RMB318.5 million or approximately 50.6% from approximately
RMB629.5 million in FY2023 to approximately RMB311.0
million for FY2024, which was mainly attributed to the
decrease in revenue from the sale and distribution of
merchandise in FY2024.

Revenue from sale of and distribution of
merchandise

Revenue of the Group from sale and distribution of
merchandise, comprising (i) sale of building materials; (i) sale
of home improvement materials; and (iii) bulk commodity
trading, recorded an overall decrease by approximately
RMB365.4 million or 58.0% from approximately RMB629.5
million in FY2023 to approximately RMB264.1 million in
FY2024.
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(i)

(ii)

(iii)
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Sale of building materials

Revenue generated from the sale of building materials
increased by approximately RMB20.5 million or 653.7%
from approximately RMB3.1 million in FY2023 to
approximately RMB23.7 million in FY2024. Such increase
was mainly due to the increase in sales of cement during
the Reporting Period.

Sale of home improvement materials

Revenue generated from the sale of home improvement
materials decreased by approximately RMB81,000 from
approximately RMB81,000 in FY2023 to nil in FY2024.
The decrease was mainly due to the decrease in sales of
paint and other home improvement products during the
Reporting Period.

Bulk commodity trading

Revenue from bulk commodity trading decreased by
approximately RMB385.8 million or 61.6% from
approximately RMB626.3 million in FY2023 to
approximately RMB240.4 million in FY2024. Such
decrease was mainly due to the decrease in sales of
electrolytic copper and aluminum ingot products, offset
by the increase in the pork trade with higher gross profit
margins during the Reporting Period.
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(ii)

(iii)
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Revenue from the provision of interior design
and building engineering services

Revenue from provision of interior design and building
engineering services increased by approximately RMB46.9
million from nil in FY2023.

Gross profit and gross profit margin

The Group's gross profit increased by approximately RMB9.6
million or approximately 1,553% from approximately RMBO0.6
million in FY2023 to approximately RMB10.2 million in
FY2024. The increase in the Group’s overall gross profit was
mainly due to the increase in the revenue and gross profit
margin from the provision of interior design and building
engineering services during the Reporting Period.

Due to the increase in corporate projects, the gross profit
margin of provision of interior design and building engineering
services was approximately 15.1% in the Reporting Period.

The gross profit margin of the business of sale and distribution
of merchandise increased from 0.1% in FY2023 to 1.2% in
FY2024, mainly due to the increase in gross profit margin from
the sale and distribution of merchandise including bulk
commodity trading during the Reporting Period.

Distribution and selling expenses
The Group’s selling expenses decreased by approximately
RMBO.1 million or approximately 6.2% from approximately

RMB1.6 million in FY2023 to approximately RMB1.5 million in
FY2024.
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Administrative expenses

The Group’s administrative expenses decreased by
approximately RMB1.8 million or 11.3% from approximately
RMB16.1 million in FY2023 to approximately RMB14.3 million
in FY2024.

Finance costs

The Group's finance costs increased by approximately RMB2.8
million or 29.1% from approximately RMB9.8 million in
FY2023 to approximately RMB12.7 million in FY2024.

Loss for the year

Overall, the Group recorded a loss for the year of
approximately RMB330.0 million in FY2024 as compared with
loss for the year of approximately RMB499.2 million in FY2023.
Such decrease was mainly resulted from the net effect of the
decrease in provision for impairment loss under the expected
credit loss model by approximately RMB101.9 million, decrease
in provision for impairment loss on goodwill by approximately
RMB52.0 million, decrease in provision for litigation and legal
expenses by approximately RMB11.3 million, decrease in other
losses, net by approximately RMB12.2 million, offset by
increase in gross profit of approximately RMB9.6 million.

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had a total cash and bank
balances of approximately RMB5.0 million (2023: RMB5.6
million) mainly denominated in RMB and HK$. The Group also
had a total restricted cash balances of approximately RMBO.4
million (2023: RMBO.1 million) which was mainly related to
security deposits provided to secure certain bank borrowings.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had net current liabilities
of approximately RMB8.3 million, as compared to
approximately RMB291.8 million as at 31 December 2023.
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BORROWINGS AND PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had no unutilised banking
facilities for short term financing (31 December 2023: Nil) and
total bank borrowings of approximately RMB154.3 million
(2023: RMB254.3 million). The total bank borrowings
comprised approximately RMBO0.0 million (2023: RMB100.0
million) in bank borrowings arising from discounted
commercial bills and discounted letters of credit that were not
yet due.

Other than the bank borrowings arising from discounted
commercial bills and discounted letters of credit that were not
yet due, the bank borrowings of the Group were secured by
property, plant and equipment, investment properties and
right-of-use assets as at 31 December 2024 and 2023. The
bank borrowings were also jointly guaranteed by Ms. Hou Wei
and Mr. Deng Jianshen, husband of Ms. Hou Wei.

Details of the Group’s capital structure, in terms of among
other things, the maturity profile of debt and obligation and
types of capital instruments used as at 31 December 2024 and
2023, are set out in note 30 to the consolidated financial
statements.

CAPITAL EXPENDITURE

The Group has no material capital expenditure during the
Reporting Period.
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FINANCIAL RATIO

EEEwES T

Bt =

As at
I
31 December 31 December
2024 2023
—E-E —EC=F

+=B=+-8 +=A=+—A

Current ratio @ B RO
Quick ratio @ EEHH R @

Gearing ratio (%) @ EAREBELE (%)

0.99 1.58
0.99 1.58
12.41 1.37

Net debt to equity ratio (%) @ SFEB LT (%) 12.30 1.36

m Current ratio is calculated as total current assets divided by total current

liabilities.

@ Quick ratio is calculated as total current assets less inventories and

divided by total current liabilities.

e Gearing ratio is calculated as total debt divided by total equity and
multiplied by 100%.

@ Net debt to equity ratio is calculated as total borrowings net of cash and
cash equivalents and restricted cash, and divided by total equity and
multiplied by 100%.

MATERIAL INVESTMENTS, ACQUISITIONS
AND DISPOSALS

The Group had no material investment, acquisition and
disposal transactions during the Reporting Period.
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FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL
INVESTMENTS OR CAPITAL ASSETS

There were no material investments or additions of capital
assets authorised by the Board since 1 January 2024 and up
to the date of this annual report.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

The Group mainly earns revenue in RMB and also incurs cost in
HK$ and RMB. The Group is exposed to foreign exchange risk
with respect mainly to HK$ which may affect the Group’s
performance. The management is aware of the possible
exchange rate exposure due to the continuing fluctuation of
HK$ and will closely monitor its impact on the performance of
the Group to see if any hedging policy is necessary. The Group
currently does not have any foreign currency hedging policy.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Group had no significant contingent liabilities as at 31
December 2024 (2023: Nil).

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

The Group had no significant outstanding capital commitment
as at 31 December 2024 (2023: Nil).
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LITIGATION

The management report and Chinese legal opinion on the
litigation and arbitration of our affiliated subsidiaries are
detailed in the appendix on pages 305 to 360, which involves
bank loans, remuneration, tax and other debts due. In
accordance with the relevant requirements of the Accounting
Standards and based on the principle of prudence, the
Company has provided for the estimated liabilities of the
pending litigation totalling RMB44.7 million for the year 2024
based on the outcome of the litigation judgement (2023:
RMB28.0 million), which will reduce the Company’s net profit
attributable to the shareholders of the listed company for the
year 2024 by RMB16.7 million (2023: RMB28.0 million), and
the specific impact of this judgement on the Company is
subject to the final execution of the case.

The associated subsidiaries of the Group were involved in
litigation and arbitration cases, all of which were caused by the
downturn of the domestic economy and the unprecedented
impact on the industry to which the Group belongs, the large-
scale extension of the construction works in the early stage of
the construction period, the failure to make timely repayment
of the payments for the governmental works as well as the
payments for the other works. In order to ensure that the
Company’s business continues to progress, it has been
necessary to increase the relevant borrowings and financing
and to reduce and defer the relevant expenses, which has
further aggravated the pressure on the Company’s capital and
led to numerous litigation and arbitration cases. In respect of
the amounts involved in the current litigation and arbitration
cases, large amounts of the cases were secured by the relevant
properties belonging to the Company and its senior
management, and the Company’s receivables were sufficient
to cover the payment of such amounts, therefore, the
management of the Company is of the view that the litigation
and arbitration cases involved in the associated subsidiaries of
the Group will not have a material impact on the audit for the
current period.
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EMPLOYEE AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 31 December 2024, the employee headcount of the
Group was 21 (2023: 21) and the total staff costs, including
Directors’ remuneration, amounted to approximately RMB6.6
million for the Reporting Period (2023: RMB7.1 million). The
decrease in employee headcount was due to the strategic
restructuring and outsourcing plan implemented by the Group
to achieve better cost control while streamlining its operations
and improving overall efficiency during the Reporting Period.
The increase in total staff cost was due to the increase in
equity-settled share-based payment expenses during the
Reporting Period.

The Group offers competitive remuneration packages
commensurate with industry practice and provides various
fringe benefits to employees. The Group conducts induction
training for all of its new employees and on-going training
from time to time during their employment. The nature of
training offered depends on their specific field of operation.

The objective of the Group’s remuneration policy is to maintain
fair and competitive packages based on business requirements
and industry practice. In order to determine the level of
remuneration paid to its employees (including directors and
senior management), the following factors are considered:

o workload, responsibility and job complexity;

° business requirements;

o individual performance and contribution to results;

o company performance and profitability;

° retention considerations and the potential of individuals;
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o corporate goals and objectives;

o market rates and changes in relevant markets, including
supply and demand fluctuations and changes in
competitive conditions; and

o general economic situation.

KEY RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group’s financial condition, results of operations,
businesses and prospects may be affected by a number of risks
and uncertainties. The followings are the key risks and
uncertainties identified by the Group. There may be other risks
and uncertainties in addition to those shown below which are
not known to the Group or which may not be material now
but could turn out to be material in the future.

Business Risk

Future growth of the Group relies, to a certain extent, on the
successful maintenance and expansion of the Group's sales to
key customers. As a result, any loss of key customers or
substantial reduction in the amount of purchase by them could
significantly and adversely affect the business, results of
operations, financial condition and prospects of the Group.
Further, the business of the Group is currently concentrated in
Meizhou of Guangdong Province. Any adverse economic or
market development in this region or any other regions that
the Group operates may materially and adversely affect the
demand for the merchandise of the Group.
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Operational Risk

Most of the Group's sale and distribution of merchandise are
derived from merchandise procured from its suppliers. Any
adverse change of the Group's relationship, including
termination or change in requirements as imposed by the
suppliers, with its suppliers may adversely affect the business
operation of the Group. Further, the Group’s operation can
also be adversely affected if there occur any material delay in
product delivery by the Group’s suppliers.

Industrial Risk

The products and services offered by the Group are mainly
used for or closely related to building or home improvement
purposes. Accordingly, business, results of operations and
prospects of the Group are driven, to a considerable extent, by
the growth of the real estate market and the relevant
government policies in China.

Financial Risk
The business and operation of the Group are exposed to
financial risks on currency, interest rates, credit and impairment

assessment and liquidity.

Details of financial risk management of the Group are set out
in note 39(b) to the consolidated financial statements.
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MANPOWER AND RETENTION RISK

The competition for talents in the cities that the Group
operates leads to the risk that the Group may not be able to
attract and retain key personnel and talents with the most
appropriate and required skills, experience and competence
which would meet the business objectives of the Group from
time to time. The Group will continue to evaluate our
remuneration system and policy from time to time and target
to provide attractive remuneration package to attract, retain
and motivate suitable candidates and personnel.

REPORT AND CHINESE LEGAL OPINION ON
THE SITUATION OF LITIGATION AND
ARBITRATION OF RELATED SUBSIDIARIES
OF THE GROUP BY THE MANAGEMENT

The management report and Chinese legal opinion on the
litigation and arbitration of our affiliated subsidiaries are
detailed in the appendix on pages 305 to 360.
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DIRECTORS
Executive Director

Mr. Yu Runkun (5R;83#), aged 38, was appointed as our chief
executive officer of the Company on 29 December 2023. Mr.
Yu is responsible for the Company’s strategic management,
investor relations, business development, corporate finance
and legal and regulatory compliance of the Group. Mr. Yu
holds a bachelor’s degree in financial management from
Guangdong Ocean University. Mr. Yu joined the Group in May
2011 and worked as a finance manager in the accounting and
finance department of Guangdong Jiyi Household Building
Materials Chain Co., Ltd. (BERE —REEMBHEHBR R A])
("Jiyi Household”) until December 2013. From January 2014 to
July 2017, he was re-designated as the director of internal
audit department of the Group, and was mainly responsible
for conducting independent assessments of the Group’s
operations, risk management, establishing organisational and
departmental internal controls, identifying areas for
improvement, and supporting the achievement of the Group’s
strategic and business objectives. From August 2017 to
December 2023, he served as the finance director of the
Group and was mainly responsible for overseeing the Group’s
financial accounting and reporting, financial operations,
strategic financial planning, taxation and ensuring the Group’s
compliance with relevant corporate regulations. From
December 2023 to June 2025, he served as chief executive
officer of the Company. On 6 June 2025, he was appointed as
executive Director.
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Independent Non-Executive Directors

Ms. Zhang Chuwen (“Ms. Zhang"), aged 35, was appointed
as an independent non-executive Director with effect from 6
June 2025. Ms Zhang has 14 years of experience in finance.
She graduated from Guangdong Xinan Vocational and
Technical College* (&R HT 2B X 5 1T220% ) with a degree in
In May 2021,
Accounting Professional Qualification Certificate from the
Ministry of Finance of China. From July 2011 to October 2013,
she worked as an accountant at Shenzhen Dafu Lai Industrial

finance in 2011. she obtained the Junior

Group Company Limited, a company involved in trade,
building materials, and property leasing. Her primary
responsibility was managing the company’s accounting tasks.
From November 2013 to April 2018, she served as an
accountant at Shenzhen Zhonggqi Xinxing E-Commerce
Company Limited, which specialises in third-party credit
services and comprehensive business registration services for
online merchants. She was responsible for the company’s
accounting work. From April 2018 to September 2019, she
worked as an accountant at Shenzhen Flashback Technology
Company Limited, a company focused on the second-hand
mobile phone recycling business. Her main role was to handle
the accounting functions. Since October 2019, she has been
the Finance Supervisor at Zhongfeng Distillery Group Company
Limited, a company that produces and sells alcoholic
beverages, where she oversees the accounting and financial
operations.
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Mr. Wei Zhihang (“"Mr. Wei"”), aged 39, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director with effect from 6 June
2025. Mr. Wei is an accomplished finance professional with
over 15 years of experience in financial management. He holds
a Bachelor’s degree in Accounting from Jinan University and is
currently pursuing a Master's degree in Economics at
Zhongnan University of Economics and Law. Mr. Wei serves as
the Chief Financial Officer at Guozhong (Shenzhen) Digital
Research Group, where he oversees financial strategy and
operations. Previously, he held senior roles in tax management
and financial analysis, demonstrating expertise in corporate
governance, compliance, and risk management. Mr. Wei is
recognised for his strong leadership, analytical skills, and
commitment to delivering value through effective financial
practices.

Mr. Chi Shimin (“Mr. Chi"), aged 42, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director with effect from 6 June
2025. Mr. Chi received a Bachelor’'s degree in Business
Administration from Hebei University of Economics and
Business in July 2006. He has over 15 years of experience in
the finance industry and possesses cross-sector management
expertise, covering finance, legal services, and technology. He
is skilled in corporate governance, compliance risk
management, and strategic investment.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Wong Chi Kong (E%°I), was appointed as the company
secretary of the Company on 31 July 2024. The Company
engaged an external professional company secretarial services
provider, Red Sun Capital Limited, to provide compliance and
full range of company secretarial services to the Group in order
to assist the Group to cope with the changing regulatory
environment. Mr. Wong Chi Kong, the representative of Red
Sun Capital Limited, was appointed as the Company Secretary.
According to the requirements of Rule 3.29 of the Listing
Rules, Mr. Wong Chi Kong had taken no less than 15 hours of
relevant professional training for the year ended 31 December
2024.
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The Board are pleased to present their report and the audited
financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2024.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding.
The activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out in note 43
to the consolidated financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW AND PERFORMANCE

A review of the business of the Group and a discussion and
analysis of the Group’s performance during the year under
review and a discussion on the Group’s future business
development and outlook of the Company’s business, possible
risks and uncertainties that the Group may be facing and
important events affecting the Company occurred during
the year ended 31 December 2024 are provided in the
sections headed “Chairman’s Statement” and “Management
Discussion and Analysis” on pages 6 to 10 and pages 11 to 23
of this annual report. An account of the Company's
relationships with its key stakeholders is included in the
paragraph headed “Relationships with Employees, Suppliers
and Customers” of the report of the Directors on page 50 of
this annual report.

An analysis of the Group’s performance during the year ended
31 December 2024 using financial performance indicators is
provided in the section headed “Management Discussion and
Analysis” on pages 11 to 23 of this annual report.

An analysis of the principal risks and uncertainties faced by the
Group and the particulars of events affecting the Group since
the end of the Reporting Period are set out respectively in the
paragraph headed “Key Risks and Uncertainties” on pages 21,
and the paragraph headed “Event after the Reporting Period”
on pages 301 to 303 of this annual report.
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In addition, more details regarding the Group’s performance
by reference to environmental and social-related key
performance indicators and policies, as well as compliance
with relevant laws and regulations which have a significant
impact on the Company are provided in the section headed
“Environmental, Social and Governance Report” of the on
pages 74 to 107 of this annual report.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the Reporting Period are set out in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income on page 112 to 113 of this report.

The Board does not recommend any payment of final dividend
for the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: Nil). The Board
has adopted a dividend policy on 31 December 2018. Details
of which is set out of page 30 of this annual report.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group and of the
Company during the year are set out in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity and note 44 to the
consolidated financial statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Distributable reserves of the Company as at 31 December
2024, calculated in accordance with the Companies Law,
Chapter 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of
the Cayman Islands (the “Companies Law"”) amounted to
approximately RMB382.5 million.
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the Reporting Period are set out in note 17 to
the consolidated financial statements.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a dividend policy on 31 December
2018 (the "Dividend Policy”), pursuant to which the Company
may declare and distribute dividends to the shareholders of the
Company to allow shareholders to share the Company’s profit
and for the Company to retain adequate reserves for future
growth.

Under the Dividend Policy, provided the Group is profitable
and without affecting the normal operations of the Group, the
Company may consider to declare and pay dividends to the
shareholders of the Company. In deciding whether to propose
a dividend and in determining the dividend amount, the Board
shall take into account, among others, the operating results,
cash flow, financial condition, capital requirements of the
Group, the interests of the shareholders and any other factors
that the Board may consider appropriate. Declaration of the
dividend by the Company is also subject to the Companies
Laws, the articles of association of the Company and any
applicable laws, rules and regulations.

The Dividend Policy will continue to be reviewed from time to
time and shall in noway constitute a legally-binding
commitment by the Company in respect of its future dividend.
There can be no assurance that a dividend will be proposed or
declared in any specific periods.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in share capital of the Company during
the Reporting Period are set out in note 35 to the consolidated
financial statements.
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BORROWINGS

Details of the Group’s borrowings as at 31 December 2024 are
set out in note 30 to the consolidated financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the
Company'’s articles of association and there is no restriction
against such rights under the laws of the Cayman Islands,
which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a
pro-rata basis to existing shareholders of the Company.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
LISTED SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased,
sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during
the year ended 31 December 2024.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the Reporting Period and up to the date
of this annual report were:

Executive Directors

Ms. Hou Wei (Resigned on 6 June 2025)

Mr. Liu Xianxiu (Resigned on 6 June 2025)

Mr. Yang Baikang (Resigned on 6 June 2025)

Mr. Yu Runkun (Chairman) (Appointed on 6 June 2025)

Non-executive Director

Mr. Hou Bo (Resigned on 6 June 2025)
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Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Chen Zenghua (Resigned on 6 June 2025)

Mr. Hou Lianchang (Resigned on 6 June 2025)

Ms. Chen Tao (appointed on 24 June 2024
and resigned on 3 September 2024)

Mr. Wong Yee Nok Enoch (appointed on 23 February 2024
and resigned on 25 March 2024)

Ms. Zhang Chuwen (appointed on 6 June 2025)

Mr. Wei Zhihang (appointed on 6 June 2025)

Mr. Chi Shimin (appointed on 6 June 2025)

In accordance with article 112 of the Company’s articles of
association, Mr. Yu Runkun, Ms. Zhang Chuwen, Mr. Wei
Zhihang and Mr. Chi Shimin will retire and, being eligible, will
offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual

general meeting.

The Company has received, from each of the independent
non- executive Directors, an annual confirmation of his/her
independence pursuant to rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The
Company considered all of the independent non-executive
Directors to be independent.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors who are proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting has a service contract
with the Company which is not determinable within one year
without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

None of the Directors had engaged in or were interested in
any business which competed or was likely to compete, either
directly or indirectly, with the business of the Group during the
Reporting Period.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Save for disclosed elsewhere in this annual report, no
transaction, arrangement or contract of significance to which
the Company, or any of its subsidiaries was a party, and in
which a Director or an entity connected with a Director had or
is having a material interest, whether directly or indirectly,
subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year.
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NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKING

The controlling shareholders of the Company entered into a
deed of non-competition in favour of the Company dated 6
October 2015 (“Deed of Non-competition”) as set out in the
paragraph headed “Relationship with Controlling
Shareholders” in the Prospectus, pursuant to which the
controlling shareholders of the Company have undertaken to
the Company that she/it will not, and will procure her/its close
associates (other than members of the Group) not to directly
or indirectly be involved in or undertake any business (other
than our business) that directly or indirectly competes, or may
compete, with our business or undertaking, or hold shares or
interest in any companies or business that compete directly or
indirectly with the business engaged by the Group from time
to time. The controlling shareholders have provided an annual
declaration and confirmed their compliance of all the
undertakings provided under the Deed of Non-competition.
There are no matters which required to be deliberated by the
independent non-executive Directors in relation to the
compliance and enforcement of the Deed of Non-competition
and it is considered that the terms of the Deed of Non-
competition have been complied by the controlling
shareholders.

CHANGE IN INFORMATION OF DIRECTOR

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Biographical Details
of Directors and Senior Management” in this annual report,
there are no other changes in the information of Directors,
which are required to be disclosed pursuant to rule 13.51B(1)
of the Listing Rules.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS
AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The biographical details of Directors and senior management
of the Group are set out in the “Biographical Details of
Directors and Senior Management” section on pages 24 to 27
of this annual report.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE
COMPANY

As at 31 December 2024, the interests and short positions of
each director and chief executive of the Company in the
shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company or
any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part
XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of
the Laws of Hong Kong, the “SFO™)), which were required to
be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to Divisions 7 and 8 of the SFO; as recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company pursuant to section 352
of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”)
as set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules, were as follows:
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Long positions in the shares and underlying REATRDREBERGED ZHFE
shares of the Company
Number of
shares Approximate

(After share
consolidation

percentage of
the issued

Name of Director Nature of interest Class of shares adjustments) share capital
G EE

(RBRBES HEBTRE

EEpR EmME gk kid) RER) BABES

(Note 1)

(et 1)

Ms. Hou Wei Interest in a controlled Ordinary shares 89,819,673 34.06%

(“Ms. Hou") corporation (Note 2)

ERLE(MErt]) SEEEER(ME2) Rl 89,819,673 34.06%

Beneficial owner Ordinary shares 9,892,613 3.75%

ERFEBA E R 9,892,613 3.75%
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Number of
shares

(After share
consolidation

Approximate
percentage of
the issued

Name of Director Nature of interest Class of shares adjustments) share capital
& E

(RBHBEH HEBITRE

EEHE FEmME B a FER) BHABE DL

(Note 1)

(B 1)

Mr. Hou Bo Interest in a controlled Ordinary shares 1,112,400 0.42%

(“Mr. Hou") corporation (Note 3)

R EE([EEED) = EE e (i 3) Tk 1,112,400 0.42%

Mr. Liu Xianxiu Beneficial owner (Note 4)  Options 200,000 0.08%

BIBEF Lt EnlEBAMiF4) RE AR i 200,000 0.08%
Mr. Yang Baikang Beneficial owner Ordinary shares 20,000 0.00%*
HIREE S & En#EAA TR 20,000 0.00%*

Beneficial owner (Note 4)  Options 200,000 0.08%

EnBAHiF4) AR 200,000 0.08%

Mr. Hou Lianchang Beneficial owner Ordinary shares 40,000 0.01%

(=P EmEEA TR 40,000 0.01%

Beneficial owner (Note 4) ~ Options 200,000 0.08%

EnBEBAMiF4) RE AR i 200,000 0.08%

* less than 0.01% * 2#0.01%

36



Notes:

The percentage figures were calculated based on 263,765,522 ordinary
shares (“Shares”) of the Company having a par value of HK$0.01 each

in issue as of 31 December 2024.

Ms. Hou was beneficially interested in 100% of the issued share capital
of Xinling Limited (“Xinling”). Xinling was the registered holder of
89,819,673 Shares. Under Part XV of the SFO, Ms. Hou was therefore
deemed to have interests in 89,839,673 Shares in which Xinling was

interested.

Mr. Hou was beneficially interested in 100% of the issued share capital
of Jiesi Global Investments Limited (“Jiesi”). Jiesi was the registered
holder of 1,112,400 Shares. Under Part XV of the SFO, Mr. Hou was
therefore deemed to have interests in 1,112,400 Shares in which Jiesi

was interested.

As at 27 July 2022, the Company granted Share Options of 200,000
(after share consolidation adjustments) to each of the members in the
Board. For details of the exercise period and vesting period of the Share
Options, please refer to the paragraph headed “Share Option Scheme”

in this section on page 40 of this annual report.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, none of the

Directors and chief executive of the Company had or was

deemed to have any interests or short positions in any Shares,

underlying shares or debentures of the Company and its

associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the

SFO),

which were required to be notified to the Company and

the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of the SFO

or which were required to be kept pursuant to section 352 of

the SFO or which were required to be notified to the Company

and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES,
DEBENTURES AND UNDERLYING SHARES
OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 December 2024, the following persons (other than
the Directors or chief executive of the Company) had interests
or short positions in the Shares or underlying shares of the
Company which would be required to be disclosed to the
Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV
of the SFO, or which were recorded in the register required to
be kept by the Company under section 336 of the SFO:

Aggregate long positions in the Shares and
underlying shares of the Company

FERRRARARD - EHEE
RERROzEEZR XA

RZE-_WNF+-_A=+—H U TALT
(RARMEZSZSTEABRIN RARQ
AR SRR P B IR IEE S MR K
BIEXVERE 2 R 3D EMEXBARA NG HE
MR R - SRE RN AR AR B FEFH
kB IGHIE 336 IEBFE 2 Bz
FIRA

RAEXARDREBRD 2HFRER
]

Number of
shares Approximate
(After share percentage of

Name of consolidation the issued
Shareholder Nature of interest Class of shares adjustments) share capital
5 & E

(RBRGBEH HEBTRE

BREREa B REGER RER) BABESH

(Note 1)

(et 1)

Xinling Beneficial owner Ordinary shares 89,819,673 34.05%
(Note 2) (Note 4)

RE BEREAA BB 89,819,673 34.05%
(Btat2)(Hiat4)

Ms. Hou Wei Beneficial owner Ordinary shares 9,892,613 3.75%
(Note 2) (Note 4)

&L BB A EIEAX 9,892,613 3.75%

(Kiat2)(Hiat4)

38



JIYI HOLDINGS LIMITED & — 3= H R A 7
ANNUAL REPORT 2024 $F 3R

Report of the Directors

EEEHRE

Number of
shares Approximate
(After share percentage of
Name of consolidation the issued
Shareholder Nature of interest Class of shares adjustments) share capital
R&GEE
(RBRGEH HEBTRA
BREE & EREE R E|R AERE) BABES
(Note 1)
(Btax1)
Yiju Holdings Limited Beneficial owner Ordinary shares 11,052,600 4.19%
(“Yiju Holdings™) (Note 3) (Note 4)
R TR AR A A BEmfEA A gl 11,052,600 4.19%
(DREEEERR ) (Btat3)(Hiat4)
Ms. Ouyang Huiping Interest in a controlled  Ordinary shares 11,052,600 4.19%
(“Ms. Ouyang”) corporation (Note 4)
B 322 tm Ry rEEs (ir4) BB 11,052,600 4.19%
(TERFZ 2+ 1)
Notes: Hiat -
1. The percentage figures were calculated based on 263,765,522 Shares 1. BB LB FDHIRENR-_Z-_NF+=-A
with a par value of HK$0.01 each in issue as of 31 December 2024. =+—HB%17263,765,522 R G REE0.01%
TRZROEE -
2. Xinling was the registered holder of 89,819,673 Shares. 2. <8 /589,819,673 Ixfi&th 2 B FA A ©
3. Ms. Hou was beneficially interested in 100% of the issued share capital 3. BLLEZEBREI100% 2 EHEITHA - fR4E
of Xinling. Xinling was the registered holder of 89,819,673 Shares. /89,819,673 MR 2 ERIFFB A < RIBFEH K
Under Part XV of the SFO, Ms. Hou was therefore deemed to have MEMGROIEXVE - Bt - EREALTHE MRS
interests in 89,819,673 Shares in which Xinling was interested. Ms. Hou AR 4B B 4 %5 #989,819,673 AR AL 17 7 1 45
also had a personal holding of 9,892,613 Shares and as a result, Ms. o EREEAEE892,6138  AtERZL
Hou held 99,712,286 Shares or 37.80% in aggregate of the Company’s BEH3E99,712,286 % - 15 A A B BITRR A 425
total issued share capital. #)37.80% °
4. Ms. Hou Wei and Ms. Ouyang being parties acting in concert, are 4. —BITB AT EHREZ L KBS - HARR AR

collectively deemed to have interest in 110,764,886 Shares, representing
41.99% of the total issued share capital of the Company as of 31
December 2024.

110,764,886 IRIR 0 R #EB = - HER AR F]
R-IZT-_E+-—A=1+—ACBTREEsH
41.99%
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, the
Company had not been notified of any other persons (other
than the Directors or chief executive of the Company) who
had interests or short positions in the Shares or underlying
shares of the Company which would be required to be
disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2
and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were recorded in the
register required to be kept by the Company under section
336 of the SFO.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Pursuant to the share option scheme adopted on 6 October
2015 ("Share Option Scheme”), the Company may grant share
options (the “Share Option”) to any directors, employees,
advisers, consultants, suppliers, customers and distributors
who in the sole discretion of the Board, will contribute or have
contributed to the growth and development of the Group so
as to provide incentives or rewards for their contribution to the
success of the Group’s operation.

Summary of the terms of the Share Option Scheme is as

follows:
(a) Purposes

The purposes of the Share Option Scheme are to enable
the Group to grant options to the eligible participants to:
(i) motivate them to optimise their performance efficiently
for the benefit of the Group; and (ii) attract and retain or
maintain on-going business relationship with the eligible
participants whose contributions are or will be beneficial
to the long-term growth of the Group.
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(b) Eligible Participants

(c)

Any employees (whether full time or part time), directors
(including executive, non-executive and independent
non- executive directors), advisers, consultants, suppliers,
customers and distributors of the Group (“Eligible
Participants”) who, in the sole opinion of the Board, will
contribute or have contributed to the growth and
development of the Group.

Maximum number of Shares available for
issue

The maximum number of Shares which may be allotted
and issued upon the exercise of all outstanding options
granted and yet to be exercised under the Share Option
Scheme and any other share option schemes of the
Company must not, in aggregate, exceed 30% of the
total number of Shares in issue from time to time. The
total number of Shares in respect of which options may
be granted under the Share Option Scheme and any
other share option schemes of the Company shall not
exceed 10% of the total number of Shares in issue as at
the date of listing of the Shares, being 36,000,000
Shares, unless the Company obtains the approval of the
shareholders in general meeting for refreshment.

The shareholders of the Company passed an ordinary
resolution at the annual general meeting of the Company
held on 2 June 2023 to approve the renewal of the 10%
general limit on the number of shares which may be
allotted and issued upon the exercise of the options to
be granted under the Share Option Scheme, being 10%
of the total number of Shares in issue as of 2 June 2023
and amounting to 26,376,552 Shares.

As a result, the total number of shares available for issue
under the Share Option Scheme was 26,376,552 shares
(after Share Consolidation Adjustments), representing
10% of the issued shares as at the date of this annual
report.
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(d)

(e)

(f)

(9)
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Maximum entitlement of each Eligible
Participant

The total number of Shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of options (whether exercised or outstanding)
granted in any 12-month period to:

(i)  each Eligible Participant must not exceed 1.0% of
the total number of Shares in issue; and

(i) a substantial shareholder of the Company or an
independent non-executive director must not
exceed 0.1% of the total number of Shares in issue
and not exceed HK$5.0 million in aggregate value.

Period within which the Shares must be
taken up under an option

An option must be exercised within 10 years from the
date on which it is granted or such shorter period as the
Board may specify at the time of grant.

Minimum period, if any, for which an
option must be held

No minimum period for which the option has to beheld
before it can be exercised is specified in the Share Option
Scheme.

Period open for acceptable of an option
and amount payable upon acceptance

An offer of grant of an option may be accepted by an
Eligible Participant within 21 days from the date of the
offer of grant of the option. A consideration of HK$1.00
is payable on acceptance of the offer of grant of an
option.

(d)

(e)

(f)

(9)
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(h) Basis of determining the subscription price

()

of an option

The exercise price must be at least the highest of: (i) the
closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotation sheet on the date of grant; (ii)
the average closing prices of the Shares as stated in the
Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for the five
trading days immediately preceding the date of grant;
and (iii) the nominal value of a Share.

Validity of the Share Option Scheme

The Share Option Scheme has a life of 10 years and will
expire on 5 October 2025 unless otherwise terminated in
accordance with the terms of the Share Option Scheme.
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Share options granted on 27 July 2022 (the R-B-_—_F+tHA=-t++tHELZ

"FY22 Share Options”)

BRE(CE-_MBREEBRE]D

On 27 July 2022, the Company granted a total of 69,100,000 W-—ZT—-—F+/F—-++H - K”ﬂﬂiﬁﬁ
share options (the “Share Options”) to certain eligible JRiEFTEIRE TAERKLEER LA R
participants under the Share Option Scheme. These options 69,100,000 19 B A% i ([BEARHE ) - 2R
were to subscribe for a total of 69,100,000 ordinary shares of  # 5 & 32§ 4 £ 69,100,000 Hx$ B f% 7
HK$0.10 each in the Share Capital of the Company. The HEHKREEQCI0OB T L@ - 2 XHEKR
details of this grant of the Share Options were disclosed in the #EE B ZFHBENAAGIARA T - —F+
announcement of the Company dated 27 July 2022 and are AZ=Z++RB A AHERNEE  FHHWT :

set out as follows:

Total number of Share Options granted

ERHBREAR

Exercise price of the Share Options
granted
ERHBREZITEE

Validity period of the Options
BB IR RE 2 B AU

44

69,100,000
69,100,000 17

HK$0.56 per share, as stated in the daily quotations sheet
issued by the Stock Exchange on 27 July 2022, the average
closing price of approximately HK$0.56 per Shares as
quoted in the Stock Exchange's daily quotation sheets for
the five business days immediately preceding the Date of
Grant and the nominal value of HK$0.10 per Share, subject
to adjustments

KM 0.S6 T (ABMRAN T F+A=-++H
FrEmE RRERMIIAE)  RONREERLBHHA
BELEAEBIMBAREBRMBNTFHURTELER
0.56 BT R EAR0.10BTTHEE - Al THE

The Options are exercisable for a period of 10 years from
the Date of Grant (27 July 2022 to 26 July 2032)
BREXNELDBRES +FHR(CE__FEA -+t
HEZZT=-F+A=+H)AT17F
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The following table disclose details of the Company’s FY22 T &REZEHEELEMEEREZARNT
Share Options held by Directors and other employees and & = — Bf i & BE RS DA B i S5 BB RRE PR
movements in such holding during the year ended 31 Z T Q&+ -A=+—HI|FFEE2&

December 2024: =FE
Outstanding
and
Outstanding exercisable
and at the
exercisable 31 December
at the date 2023 and
of grant Exercised Cancelled Lapsed 2024
RELAH R &bt
R RERHE K
Date of grant BHEH RATE =Xy GRS BEM TERAUMTHE
Granted to Directors HEEEF
27 July 2022 “E--F+A-t+tH 1,000,000 - - - 600,000
Granted to senior HERERERT
management
27 July 2022 IS o ey o o = 2,163,600 - - - 2,163,600
Granted to employees BESRT
27 July 2022 “E-CFLAC+4H 80,000 - - - 80,000
Granted to consultants ElEEESq
27 July 2022 “E-CF+LAC+4H 4,180,000 - - - 4,180,000
Total @t 7,423,600 - - - 7,023,600

Note 1: As a result of the Share Consolidation became effective on 13 it 1 : AR AHN T -_—_F+_A+=B4%

December 2022, adjustments were made to the exercise price of the B ARE () AR AERT B 2 ISR A (i) BT
outstanding FY2022 Share Options and the number of Consolidated A5 17.03013) &+ R (i) E e ™48 BI 2
Shares falling to be issued upon the exercise of the outstanding 17.03(13) &M I ol R EFEH AR = =
FY2022 Share Options in accordance with (i) the terms and conditions TE+—ANBEMNE072-20205% % &
of the Share Option Scheme; (i) Rule 17.03(13) of the Listing Rules; BEREHEMNARE 2 BT (BT E
and (iii) the Supplementary Guidance on Main Board Listing Rule BINY T = —EE M RITERERIE S T
17.03(13) and the Note immediately after the Rule attached to the FERR-_ZEZ_MHRFERRITERRERE
Frequently Asked Question No. 072-2020 issued by the Stock TR TETZE RO EE FLRAE -

Exchange on 6 November 2020 (the “Stock Exchange Supplementary

Guidance”).
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Prior to adjustment After adjustment

RARA RARE

Number of
Existing Shares
to be issued
upon full
exercise of the
outstanding

Adjusted
exercise price

Adjusted number
of Consolidated
Shares to be
issued upon full
exercise of the
outstanding

Exercise price per FY2022 Share per Consolidated FY2022 Share
Date of grant Existing Share Options Share Options
R-BZZHH R-BZZUH
FERRE FERBRERK
i RATE I THENERR
BROERET TEERT
BREA RI2BE  BREMFRGBz BOZEHRH
Rt AH Rz THEE ROEE ERBTHEE ZEREHA
(HK$) (HK$)
() ()
27 July 2022
“ECFHAZTtA 0.56 37,118,000 2.80 7,423,600

5,000,000 out of the 37,118,000 outstanding FY2022 Share 7 _E X Fr&] BA#Y 37,118,000 17 # 5,000,000
Options stipulated above were granted to and unexercised by N =T - HFEEREDKR TESEDN
the Directors. Details of those Directors and the adjustmentsto  AEEEZITHF - ZFEERKBHZF T

be made to the exercise price of those FY2022 Share Options BB FEEREZTEELRZEF T
and the number of Consolidated Shares falling to be issued ::E]HBZEBZrc'ﬂffiﬂﬁﬁﬁﬁx%%%%lﬂ@&
upon full exercise of those outstanding FY2022 Share Options 1§ 73172 & 0IRMN BB EH AR 27 15H
are as follows: T
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As at 31 December 2024
R-B-mE+-A=t-H
Prior to adjustment After adjustment
RAZA RAE%
Number of Adjusted number
Existing Shares of Consolidated
to be issued Shares to be
upon full issued upon full
exercise of the Adjusted exercise of the
outstanding exercise price outstanding
Exercise price per FY2022 Share  per Consolidated FY2022 Share
Name of director Date of grant Existing Share Options Share Options
R-BZZBR R-BZZHR
FERRER K EERRERA
TRMESH TEMERY
TE&ERT TR&RT
sRRAE BI2RE  BREHRGz  BEZaHRH
Esng RinBH Rty TR E Rt #E RRRAEE L EARHE
(HKS) (HK$)
(1) (1)
Mr. Liu Xianxiu 27 July 2022 0.56 1,000,000 2.80 200,000
AEERE ZECCELACTtA
Mr. Yang Baikang 27 July 2022 0.56 1,000,000 2.80 200,000
BHERE ZECCEYACTEA
Mr. Hou Lianchang 27 July 2022 0.56 1,000,000 2.80 200,000
EMERE ZECCEYACTtA
3,000,000 600,000

Among them, Mr. Liu Xianxiu and Mr. Yang Baikang are
executive Directors, Mr. Hou Lianchang is independent non-

executive Director.

e Y=

Hep JBEFRENRGHREERRNITE
FTERBIIFATES -
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For details of the Share Reorganisation, please refer to (i) the
Company’s announcement dated 4 November 2022, 9
December 2022 and 17 February 2023 respectively in relation
to, among other things, the Capital Reorganisation; (ii) the
circular of the Company dated 24 November 2022 (the
“Circular”) in relation to the Company’s extraordinary general
meeting held on 9 December 2022 (the "EGM"); and (iii) the
announcement of the Company dated 9 December 2022
regarding, amongst other things, the poll results of the EGM.

The fair values of the FY2022 Share Options granted under the
Share Option Scheme were determined and measured using
the Binomial Model on 27 July 2022. The significant inputs
into the model were the exercise price shown above, risk-free
interest rates of 2.78%, volatility of 42.78% and dividend yield
of 0%. As any changes in the subjective input assumptions can
materially affect the fair value estimates, the valuation models
for the Share Options granted do not necessarily provide a
reliable single measure of the fair value of the Share Options.
The related accounting policy for the fair value of the Share
Options granted is disclosed at note 3 to the consolidated
financial statements.

The variables and assumptions used in computing the fair
value of the Share Options are based on the Directors’ best
estimate. The value of an option varies with different variables
of certain subjective assumptions.

For details of the Share Option Scheme, please refer to the
paragraph headed “Statutory and General Information — D.
Other Information — 1. Share Option Scheme” in Appendix IV
to the prospectus dated 27 October 2015.
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ARRANGEMENT TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time during the year ended 31 December 2024 and up
to the date of this report was the Company, its holding
company, any of its subsidiaries or follow subsidiaries or a
party to any arrangement to enable the Directors to acquire
benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in or debentures
of the Company or any other body corporate.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts by which any person undertook the management
and administration of the whole or any substantial part of the
business of the Company were entered into between the
Company and any person who is not a Director or not
engaged in the full-time employment of the Group or existed
during the Reporting Period.

MAJOR SUPPLIERS AND CUSTOMERS

During the Reporting Period, the Group's five largest customers
in aggregate accounted for approximately 64.2% of the
Group's total turnover. The largest customer accounted for
approximately 29.3% of the Group's total turnover.

During the Reporting Period, the Group's five largest suppliers
in aggregate accounted for approximately 41.2% of the
Group's total purchases. The largest supplier accounted for
approximately 13.7% of the Group's total purchases.

To the best of the knowledge of the Directors, none of the
Directors, their respective associates or any shareholder (which
to the knowledge of the Directors owns more than 5% of the
Company's share capital) had an interest in any of the five
largest suppliers or customers.

JIYI HOLDINGS LIMITED & — 3= H R A 7
ANNUAL REPORT 2024 $F 3R

Report of the Directors
EEEHRE

BEROIEET 2L

REBEE-Z-_NFt-A=1+— EIJJ:EF“&
BEAREBHLE - ARF) - BERA
ﬁfﬂﬂﬁﬁ%@ﬁ?ﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁ%gEQETEJET%’U
FRERT MR LS EFAERBEAR
RA AT E R A B R I D S ERERE N
EEHE -

BEEEHN

REmEHR - SEARQF R IESEFH I
BERARAEEZBES 2 FAAT 2R
3o BERAT AR FAER QR 2 EE
MIERBOERZERRITREEZAHH
BRBEEHFE -

TRREBRREFR

RI|EHE AEERATFPARGARER
HBETHLI64.2% - RAB P IEAREBEE
HEA429.3% ©

RBERHE > AEBRAHER S HEAE
E AR 41.2% - ZAHERGAEER
RIRRBRAM13.7% °

AEEMRAN MEES  REEEIHE
ABREFEMAAER RNRRIABS5% A L
ZEABRRNERREARERRELTHES

=N

FEZS o

49



JIYI HOLDINGS LIMITED E—#Z=BEIR A=
ANNUAL REPORT 2024 3R

Report of the Directors
EEEHRE

RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES,
SUPPLIERS AND CUSTOMERS

The Group understands that employees are valuable assets.
The Group provides competitive remuneration package to
attract and motivate the employees. The Group regularly
reviews the remuneration package of employees and makes
necessary adjustments to conform to the market standard.

The Group's business is built on a customer-oriented culture,
and are focused on establishing relationships with customers.
The Group also understands that it is important to maintain
good relationship with its suppliers and customers to fulfil its
immediate and long-term goals. To maintain its market
competitiveness within the industry, the Group aims at
delivering constantly high standards of quality in the service to
its customers. During the Reporting Period, there was no
material and significant dispute between the Group and its
suppliers and/or customers.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the significant related party transactions undertaken
in the normal course of business are set out in note 42 to the
consolidated financial statements, of which certain transactions
also constitute connected transactions as defined in Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules but were exempted from disclosure
requirements under the Listing Rules.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS

Each Director or other officer of the Company shall be entitled
to be indemnified out of the assets of the Company against all
losses or liabilities which he or she may sustain or incur in or
about the execution of the duties of his or her office or
otherwise in relation thereto in accordance with the Articles of
Association.

Directors and officers liability insurance are currently in force
and in place to protect the Directors, officers and/or the
directors of the associated corporation of the Company against
potential costs and liabilities arising from claims brought
against them. Permitted indemnity provision are set out in such
insurance contracts.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

The Company has maintained a sufficient public float as
required under the Listing Rules throughout the year ended 31
December 2024.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

A report on the principle corporate governance practices
adopted by the Company is set out in the “Corporate
Governance Report” on pages 53 to 73 of this report.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE RELEVANT LAWS
AND REGULATIONS

As far as the Board is aware, saved as disclosed in this report,
there was no material breach of or non-compliance with the
applicable laws and regulations by the Group that has a
significant impact on the business and operation of the Group
during the Reporting Period.
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EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

There is no material subsequent event undertaken by the
Company or by the Group after 31 December 2024 and up to
the date of this annual report.

AUDITORS

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2024 have been audited by McMillan Woods
(Hong Kong) CPA Limited, who will retire and, being eligible,
offer itself for re-appointment at the forthcoming annual
general meeting of the Company.

On behalf of the Board

Yu Runkun
Chairman

Hong Kong, 17 September 2025
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CODE ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
PRACTICES

The Company is committed to maintaining high standard of
corporate governance to safeguard the interests of the
shareholders of the Company and to enhance corporate value
and responsibility. The Board comprises three executive
Directors, one non-executive Director and three independent
non-executive Directors. The Board has adopted the code
provisions of the Corporate Governance Code (“CG Code”)
set out in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules.

Save as disclosed below, the Company had complied with the
CG Code throughout the Period under Review.

() Non-compliance with the Rules 3.10(1),
3.10A and 3.21 of the Listing Rules

Reference is made to the announcements of the
Company dated 3 September 2024 and 6 June 2025.

Following the retirement of Ms. Chen Tao at the annual
general meeting of the Company dated 3 September
2024, (a) the number of independent non-executive
director falls below the minimum number as required
under Rule 3.10(1) of the Listing Rules; (b) the number of
the audit committee members also falls below the
minimum number as required under Rule 3.21 of the
Listing Rules; and (c) the number of independent non-
executive director falls below one-third of the Board
members as required under Rule 3.10A of the Listing
Rules.

Following the appointment of Ms. Zhang Chuwen, Mr.
Wei Zhihang and Mr. Chi Shimin as independent non-
executive Directors of the Company on 6 June 2025, (a)
the number of independent non-executive Directors
meets the minimum number as required under Rule
3.10(1) of the Listing Rules; (b) the number of the audit
committee members meets the minimum number as
required under Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules; and (c) the
number of independent non-executive Director
represents at least one-third of the Board members as
required under Rule 3.10A of the Listing Rules.
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Disclaim of opinion from the Auditor

Code provision D.1.3 of the CG Code stipulates that,
unless it is inappropriate to assume that the company will
continue in business, the directors should prepare the
accounts on a going concern basis.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group
incurred a net loss of approximately RMB330.0 million.
As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s net current
liabilities were approximately RMB8.3 million and the
Group's current liabilities (including current liabilities that
are in default or cross default or contain early repayment
on demand clauses) were approximately RMB570.0

million.

In addition, as of 31 December 2024, certain bank
borrowings of the Group in the amount of approximately
RMB154.3 million were not repaid in accordance with
the scheduled repayment dates. Accordingly, as of 31
December 2024, bank and other borrowings in the
aggregate principal amount of approximately RMB154.3
million were in default or cross-default. Subsequent to
31 December 2024, certain other bank and other
borrowings of the Group have not been repaid in
accordance with the scheduled repayment dates.

These events or circumstances indicate existing material
uncertainties which may cast significant doubt on the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern.
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COMPLIANCE WITH MODEL CODE

The Directors have adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuer (the “Model Code")
as set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules as the code of
conduct for Directors in dealing in the Company’s securities.
Specific enquiries have been made to all Directors and all
Directors have confirmed that they have fully complied with
the required standard of dealings as set out in the Model Code
throughout the year ended 31 December 2024. Relevant
employees who are likely to be in possession of unpublished
inside information of the Group are also subject to compliance
with written guidelines or no less exacting terms than the
Model Code throughout the year ended 31 December 2024.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board is committed to providing effective and responsible
leadership for the Company. The Directors, individually and
collectively, must act in good faith in the best interests of the
Company and its shareholders. The Board has established
three board committees, being the Audit Committee, the
Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee
(each a “Board Committee” and collectively the “Board
Committees”), to oversee different areas of the Company’s
affairs.

The Board currently comprises one executive Director, namely
Mr. Yu Runkun (Chairman) and three independent
non-executive Directors, namely, Ms. Zhang Chuwen, Mr. Wei
Zhihang and Mr. Chi Shimin.

As at the date of this report, the Board composition comprises
one female Director. The Board would continue to maintain at
least one female Director on the Board.
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Their biographical details and (where applicable) their family
relationships are set out in the section headed “Biographical
Details of Directors and Senior Management” on pages 24 to
27 in this annual report. A List of Directors identifying their
roles and functions is available on the Stock Exchange’s and
the Company’s website.

Save as otherwise disclosed, there is no relationship between
any members of the Board, and no information relating to the
Directors is required to be disclosed pursuant to rules 13.51(2)
and 13.51(B)(1) of the Listing Rules.

The Board sets the Group's overall objectives and strategies,
monitors and evaluates its operating and financial performance
and reviews the corporate governance standard of the Group.
It also decides on matters such as annual and interim results,
major transactions, director appointments or re-appointments,
investment policy, dividend and accounting policies. The Board
has delegated the authority and responsibility for
implementing its business strategies and managing the daily
operations of the Group’s businesses to the executive Directors
and members of senior management. The functions and
power that are so delegated are reviewed periodically to
ensure that they remain appropriate.

All Directors are required to declare to the Board upon their
first appointment, the directorships or other positions they are
concurrently holding at other companies or organisations.
These interests are updated on an annual basis as and when
necessary.
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APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF
DIRECTORS

In accordance with article 108(a) of the Company'’s articles of
association, at each annual general meeting one-third of the
Directors for the time being, or, if their number is not three or
a multiple of three, then the number nearest to but not less
than one-third, shall retire from office by rotation provided
that every Director (including those appointed for a specific
term) shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least once
every three years. A retiring Director shall be eligible for re-
election. The Company at the general meeting at which a
Director retires may fill the vacated office.

In accordance with article 112 of the Company’s articles of
association, The Board shall have power from time to time and
at any time to appoint any person as a Director either to fill a
casual vacancy or as an additional Director but so that the
number of Directors so appointed shall not exceed the
maximum number determined from time to time by the
Shareholders in general meeting. Any Director appointed by
the Board to fill a casual vacancy shall hold office only until the
first annual general meeting of the Company after his
appointment and be eligible for reelection at such annual
general meeting. Any Director appointed by the Board as an
addition to the existing Board shall hold office only until the
next following annual general meeting of the Company and
shall then be eligible for re-election at such annual general
meeting.

In accordance with article 112 of the Company’s articles of
association, Mr. Yu Runkun, Ms. Zhang Chuwen, Mr. Wei
Zhihang and Mr. Chi Shimin will retire and, being eligible, will
offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting.

The executive Director have entered into a service contract
with the Company and is appointed for a specific term of three
years unless terminated by not less than three months’ notice
in writing served by either the executive Director or the
Company.

The independent non-executive Directors have each signed an
appointment letter with the Company and is appointed for a
specific term of three years.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTION

The Company’s corporate governance function is carried out
by the Board pursuant to provision A.2.1 of the CG Code,
which include: (a) to develop and review the Company’s
policies and practices on corporate governance; (b) to review
and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of the Directors and senior management of the
Group; (c) to review and monitor the Company’s policies and
practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements; (d) to develop, review and monitor the code of
conduct and compliance manual (if any) applicable to
employees of the Group and the Directors; and (e) to review
the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and relevant
disclosure in the corporate governance report of the annual
report of the Company.

The Board has performed the abovementioned corporate
governance functions during the year ended 31 December
2024.

BOARD MEETINGS

The Board held 4 Board meetings during the year ended 31
December 2024, and a tentative schedule for two regular
Board meetings for 2024 has been provided to the Directors at
the beginning of the year. The attendance of each Director at
the Board meetings is set out on page 67.

Between scheduled regular Board meetings, Directors may
approve various matters by way of passing written resolutions.
Additional Board meetings may be arranged if required. In
addition, at least 14 days' notice of a regular Board meeting
shall be given and the Company aims at sending the agenda
and the accompanying board papers to Directors at a
reasonable time before the intended date of a Board meeting.
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The Company Secretary assists in preparing the agenda for the
Board meeting and ensures that all applicable rules and
regulations regarding Board meetings are complied with.
Minutes of the Board and Board committees’ meetings are
kept by the Company Secretary, which are available to all
Directors for inspection.

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing
the consolidated financial statements of the Group and the
responsibilities of the external auditor to the shareholders are
set out in the “Independent Auditor’s Report” on pages 108
to 111.

DIRECTORS’ CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL
DEVELOPMENT

Pursuant to Code Provision C.1.4 of the CG Code, all Directors
should participate in continuous professional development to
develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. For the year
ended 31 December 2024, each of the Directors has been
given relevant guideline materials to ensure that they are
apprised of the latest changes in the commercial, legal and
regulatory requirements in relation to the Company’s
businesses, and to refresh their knowledge and skills on the
roles, functions and duties of a listed company director.

New Directors, on appointment, will be given an induction
package containing all key legal and Listing Rules’
requirements as well as guidelines on the responsibilities and
obligations to be observed by a director. The package will also
include the latest published financial reports of the Company
and the documentation for the corporate governance practices
adopted by the Board.

The Company also continuously updates Directors on the latest
developments regarding Listing Rules and other applicable
regulatory requirements to ensure compliance and enhance
their awareness of good corporate governance practices.
Circulars or guidance notes are also issued to Directors where
appropriate to ensure their awareness of best corporate
governance practices.
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INDEPENDENCE OF INDEPENDENT NON-
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The role of the independent non-executive Directors is to
provide independent and objective opinions to the Board,
giving adequate control and balances for the Group to protect
the overall interests of the shareholders and the Group. They
serve actively on the Board and its committees to provide their
independent and objective views.

Non-Compliance with Rules 3.10(1), 3.10A and
3.21 of the Listing Rules

During the Year ended 31 December 2024, as announced by
the Company dated 3 September 2024, Ms. Chen Tao
resigned as the independent non-executive director and ceased
to be the member of the Audit Committee and member of the
Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee of the
Company. Following the resignation of Ms. Chen Tao, the
Board comprised only two independent non-executive
Directors and failed to meet the requirements of (i) at least
three independent non-executive directors on the Board under
Rule 3.10(1) of the Listing Rules; (ii) Audit Committee
comprising only non-executive directors with a minimum of
three members under Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules; and (iii)
independent non-executive directors representing at least one-
third of the Board.
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Following the appointment of Ms. Chen Tao on 24 June 2024,
the Company had complied with the requirements under Rules
3.10(1), 3.10A and 3.21 of the Listing Rules. For details, please
refer to the announcements of the Company dated 24
November 2023, 1 January 2024, 23 February 2024, 25 March
2024 and 24 June 2024, respectively.

As at the date of this report, the Company has appointed
three independent non-executive Directors, representing more
than one-third of the Board. One of the independent non-
executive Directors namely, Mr. Chen Zenghua, has the
appropriate professional qualifications, or accounting or
related financial management expertise as required by rule
3.10(2) of the Listing Rules. The Company has received from
each of the independent non-executive Directors a written
confirmation of his independence and has satisfied itself of
such independence in accordance with the independent
guidelines as set out in rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board is supported by three Board Committees, namely
the Audit Committee, the Nomination Committee and the
Remuneration Committee. Each Board Committee has its
defined and written terms of reference approved by the Board
covering its duties, powers and functions. Their terms of
reference are available on the respective websites of the Stock
Exchange and the Company.

All Board Committees are provided with sufficient resources to
discharge their duties, including access to management or
professional advice if considered necessary.
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Audit Committee

As the date of this report, the Audit Committee comprises
three independent non-executive Directors, namely Ms. Zhang
Chuwen, Mr. Wei Zhihang and Mr. Chi Shimin. Mr. Chi
Shimin, who has appropriate professional qualifications and
experience in accounting matters, was appointed as the
chairman of the Audit Committee.

The primary duties of the Audit Committee are to assist the
Board by providing an independent view of the effectiveness
of the financial reporting process, risk management and
internal control systems of the Group, to oversee the external
and internal audit processes, to develop and review the
Group's policies and to perform other duties and
responsibilities as assigned by the Board.

There were 3 meetings of the Audit Committee held during
the year ended 31 December 2024. The attendance of each
Director at the Audit Committee meetings is set out on page
67. During the year under review, the members of the Audit
Committee reviewed the accounting principles and practices
adopted by the Group, reviewed the consolidated financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2023 and for the six months ended 30 June 2024, reviewed
the risk assessment results, the internal audit activities for 2024
and discussed the audit plans for the year ended 31 December
2024 with the external auditor.

In addition, the Audit Committee held one meeting in

September 2025. The Audit Committee reviewed the Group’s
annual results for the year ended 31 December 2024.
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The Audit Committee monitors the audit and non-audit
services rendered to the Group by the external auditor and
ensures that the engagement of external auditor in non-audit
services will not impair its audit independence or objectivity.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the fees in respect of
the audit and non-audit services provided to the Group by
McMillan Woods (Hong Kong) CPA Limited, is set out as
follows:
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Statutory audit services
Non-audit services

1,264,000
Nil 42

Remuneration Committee

As at 31 December 2024 and the date of this report, the
Remuneration Committee comprises three independent non-
executive Directors, namely Ms. Zhang Chuwen, Mr. Wei
Zhihang and Mr. Chi Shimin. Ms. Zhang Chuwen, is the
chairman of the Remuneration Committee. The primary duties
of the Remuneration Committee include (but without
limitation): (i) making recommendations to the Directors
regarding the Group’s policy and structure for the
remuneration of all Directors and senior management and on
the establishment of a formal and transparent procedure for
developing remuneration policies; (ii) making
recommendations to the Board on the remuneration packages
of our Directors and senior management; (iii) reviewing and
approving the management’s remuneration proposals with
reference to the Board's corporate goals and objectives; and
(iv) considering and approving the grant of share options to
eligible participants pursuant to the Share Option Scheme.
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There was 2 meetings of the Remuneration Committee held
during the year ended 31 December 2024. The attendance of
each Director at the Remuneration Committee meeting is set
out on page 67. During the year under review, the members
of the Remuneration Committee reviewed the existing
remuneration policy and package of all existing Directors and
senior management.

Details of the Directors’ emoluments for the year ended
31 December 2024 are set out in note 14 to the consolidated
financial statements.

Nomination Committee

As at the date of this annual report, the Nomination
Committee comprises three independent non-executive
Directors, namely Ms. Zhang Chuwen, Mr. Wei Zhihang and
Mr. Chi Shimin. Mr. Wei Zhihang is the chairman of the
Nomination Committee. The primary duties of the Nomination
Committee is to identify individuals suitably qualified to
become Board members and select, or make recommendations
to the Board on the selection of, individuals nominated for
directorships.

There were two meetings of the Nomination Committee held
during the year ended 31 December 2024. The attendance of
each Director at the Nomination Committee meeting is set out
on page 67. During the year under review, the members of the
Nomination Committee reviewed the structure, size and
composition of the Board and reviewed the objectives set for
implementing the board diversity policy on annual basis to
ensure the effectiveness.

64

REE-_Z-_NMFE+-_A=+—HILFER
ERT2RAFHEESERE -  SESHREHM
ZEgERNEREBERAIENETE - RNE
BEFE FTMLZEgXkEERI2BEAE
ERERERERIRAE FHMBE RFBE -

E_T_NMEF_A=T-HIEFENES
M F RN A M B mRMIFE 14

REEES

RAFHRAY REZBERE-2BIFE
WITES  IIREXZTL BEMEERE
WEEL - REMELERIREZREGEF -
RAEZBENTIERAR/VMEAGREENR
ARETEFEENENAL  UHERZAH
ATHEEFAFMRAEF SRR

RBE-_T_NF+_A=+—HLFER
ERTMARRZEEEE BEFNER
ZEGERNHEBREANF7TH - RE
BEE REAZEEKBEERTEFEAOR
B RRERAEARY R REREEEZ T
HEMRE 2 B AREARIE -



JIYI HOLDINGS LIMITED & — 3= H R A 7
ANNUAL REPORT 2024 $F 3R

Corporate Governance Report

The Company believes that diversity of Board members can be
achieved through consideration of a number of factors,
including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, ethnicity, professional experience,
skills, knowledge, length of service and the legitimate interests
of the Company’s principal shareholders. All Board’s
appointment are based on the merits of the candidates and
the Board believes that doing so will be consistent with
achieving a diversity of perspectives.

Meeting with Independent Non-executive
Directors

Code provision C.2.7 of the CG Code states that the chairman
of the board of directors of a listed issuer should hold meetings
with the independent non-executive directors at least annually
without the presence of other directors.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, one meeting was
held between the Chairlady and the independent non-
executive Directors, with each of the independent non-
executive Directors present. The Chairlady will continue to
make arrangements for holding at least one meeting with the
independent non-executive Directors for every subsequent
year.

Nomination Policy

The Nomination Committee has developed a nomination
policy. Such nomination policy is established with the aims of
ensuring the Board maintains a balance of skills, experience
and diversity of perspectives appropriate to the requirements
of the business of the Group.
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To assess and evaluate whether an individual candidate is
suitably qualified to be appointed as a Director, the
Nomination Committee shall take into account, among other
things:

— the qualifications, skills, knowledge, ability and
experience of the individual candidate;

— the potential time commitment and attention to perform
duties as a director under the Listing Rules and the
applicable laws and regulations;

— the potential contributions that the individual candidate
can make to the diversity of the Board, including but not
limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills,
knowledge and length of service;

— the personal ethics, integrity and reputation of the
individual candidate (and where appropriate, adequate
background checks and other verification processes shall
be conducted against the individual candidate);

— the current structure, size and composition of the Board
and the Company’s corporate strategy;

— Board succession planning considerations and the long-
term needs of the Company;

— (in case of a candidate for an independent non-executive
Director), the independence of such candidate with
reference to, among other things, the independence
criteria as set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules; and
the guidance and requirements relating to independent
non-executive directors set out in Code Provision B.3.4 of
Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules; and

— any other factors and matters as the Nomination
Committee may consider appropriate.
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The Nomination Committee will review the nomination policy EZZEE@HEVBFH —INIREHE N
at least annually and discuss any revisions and updates that &7 A] B2 4% KE‘]EH{ GIREH WmES
may be required, and recommend the same to the Board for @42 HHEE =2 A HHLE o

approval.

The individual attendance records of each Director at the HE—Z_E+_-_A=+—HAFE &
physical meetings of the Board, Audit Committee, ZEEHF=EEE  BEXLEe FHEZEE
Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee and at NIZZZE@@ZUNLARATIRERE 2
the general meeting of the Company during the year ended  RIlEECeEEF 0T ¢

31 December 2024 are set out below:

=

Number of physical meetings attended/held during his/her tenure
REEHALE BT2ERERRY

Audit Remuneration Nomination General

Name of Director Board Committee Committee  Committee Meeting
EEn EZe ERZEE FMEEE RERZEE BREAE®
Executive Directors HITES

Ms. Hou Wei BT 44 NATER N/A B A 22 1/1
Mr. Liu Xianxiu AERKAE 44 NATER 22 NIA TR 1/1
Mr. Yang Baikang oLl s 44 NANER NATER  NATER 17
Non-executive Director FHITEE

Mr. Hou Bo ERIEE 44 NANER NATER  NATERE 1/1

Independent non-executive BIFHTES

Directors
Mr. Chen Zenghua PRIBE LA 414 33 22 22 17
Mr. Hou Lianchang REE LA 4/4 33 212 22 1N
Ms. Chen Tao Btk t 414 33 22 22 17
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FINANCIAL REPORTING

The Board acknowledges its responsibility to prepare the
Group's financial statements which give a true and fair view of
the Group's state of affairs, results and cash flows for the year
and in accordance with the HKFRS Accounting Standards
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants, and the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance. The Group has selected
appropriate accounting policies and has applied them
consistently based on prudent and reasonable judgements and
estimates. The Board considers that the Group has adequate
resources to continue in business for the foreseeable future
and not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events
or conditions that may affect the business of the Group or cast
doubts on its ability to continue as going concern.

The responsibilities of the Company’s external auditors with
respect to financial reporting are set out in the section headed
"Independent Auditor’s Report” in this annual report.

INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK
MANAGEMENT

The Board recognises its responsibility to ensure the Group
maintains a sound and effective internal control and risk
management system. However, risk-taking is an inherent
element of the Group’s business and operation. The Group’s
risk management and internal control systems are designed to
manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve
business objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not
absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss. It is
also designed to safeguard assets against misappropriation
and unauthorised disposition and to manage operational risks.
Review of the Group's internal controls covering major
financial, operational and compliance control as well as risk
management functions. The Group’s risk management
framework includes the following elements:

o identify significant risks in the Group’s operation

environment and evaluate the impacts of those risks on
the Group's business;
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o develop necessary measures to manage those risks; and

° monitor and review the effectiveness of such measures.

The implementation of risk management framework of the
Group was assisted by the Group's internal audit department
which was responsible for the internal audit function so that
the Group could ensure new and emerging risks relevant to
the Group's operation are promptly identified by management,
assess the adequacy of action plans to manage these risks and
monitor and evaluate the effectiveness of the action plans.

The Board would perform annual review on any significant
change of business and the external environment and establish
procedures to respond to the risks resulting from significant
change of business and the external environment.

With respect to procedures and internal controls for the
handling and dissemination of inside information, the Group: i)
carries out its daily operation with regards to the “Guidance
on Disclosure of Inside Information” issued by the Securities
and Futures Commission of Hong Kong; and ii) closely
communicates with its legal advisor regarding whether the
relevant information is likely to have impact on the price of the
shares of the Company or their trading volume and thus is
considered as inside information that needs to be disclosed
pursuant to the Inside Information Provisions under Part XIVA

of the SFO and the Listing Rules.
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The Audit Committee is responsible for reporting to the Board
the implementation of the Group's risk management, internal
control policy which among other things, included the
determination of risk factors, evaluation of risk level the Group
could take and effectiveness of risk management measures.
During the Reporting Period, a review was conduct by the
Audit Committee together with the Group’s internal audit
department in compliance with Code Provision D.2 of the CG
Code. The Board acknowledges the review of the effectiveness
of the risk management and risk control systems should be an
on-going process and plans to conduct reviews quarterly
commencing from the coming financial year. For resolving
defects and weaknesses of internal controls and accounting
procedures of the Group which the external auditors and the
Group's internal audit department have identified and reported
to the Company, the Company would pay full attention to the
recommendations made by the external auditors and the
Group's internal audit department and make appropriate
improvements. Based on the reports from the Group's internal
control department and the Audit Committee, the Board
considers the Group's risk management and internal control
system is adequate and effective and the Group has complied
with the provisions on risk management and internal controls
as set out in the CG code.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Lo Wai Siu (“Mr. Lo") has resigned as company secretary
of the Company on 29 December 2023. Ms. Chong Wai Shan
("Ms. Chong”) has been appointed as company secretary of
the Company on 29 December 2023 and resigned as company
secretary of the Company on 14 May 2024. Mr. Lo has been
appointed as company secretary of the Company on 14 May
2024 and has resigned as company secretary of the Company
on 24 June 2024. Ms. Liu Yulan has been appointed as
company secretary of the Company on 24 June 2024 and
resigned as company secretary of the Company on 1 July
2024. Mr. Yuen Wai Keung has been appointed as company
secretary of the Company on 1 July 2024 and resigned as
company secretary of the Company on 30 July 2024.
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Mr. Wong Chi Kong has been appointed as company secretary
of the Company on 31 July 2024. He fulfills the requirements
under rule 3.28 of the Listing Rules. The biographical details of
Mr. Wong Chi Kong is set out in the paragraph headed
“Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management” of
this annual report.

During the Reporting Period, Mr. Wong Chi Kong took no less
than 15 hours of relevant professional training in compliance
with rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

The general meetings of the Company provide an opportunity
for communication between the Shareholders and the Board.
The Company shall in each year hold a general meeting as its
annual general meeting. All general meetings other than
annual general meetings shall be called extraordinary general
meetings (“"EGM").

Right to convene EGM

Any two or more members of the Company, at the date of the
deposit of a written requisition holding not less than one-tenth
of the paid up capital of the Company which carries the right
of voting at general meetings, shall at all times have the right
to require an EGM to be called by the Board for the transaction
of any business specified in such requisition.

The written requisition must specify the objects of the meeting,
signed by the requisitionists and deposit it with the Company
Secretary of the Company at the Company’s principal place of
17/F.,
Consortium Building, No. 121 Des Voeux Road Central, Hong

business in Hong Kong at Unit 1704, Far East

Kong.
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If the Board does not within 21 days from the date of deposit
of the requisition proceed duly to convene the EGM to be held
within a further 21 days, the requisitionists themselves or any
of them representing more than one-half of the total voting
rights of all of them, may convene the EGM, but any EGM
shall not be held after the expiration of three months from the
date of deposit of the requisition.

An EGM so convened by the requisitionists shall be convened
in the same manner, as nearly possible, as that in which
meetings are to be convened by the Board.

Right to put enquiries to the Board

Shareholders may, at any time, direct questions or requests for
information to the Directors or management through the
communication channel provided in “Contact Us” section in
the Company’s website at www.jiyiholdings.com or in writing
and sent by post to the Company’s principal place of business
in Hong Kong.

Right to put forward proposals at general
meetings

As a matter of Cayman Islands law, no shareholders are
permitted to propose new resolutions at the general meetings
if the intention to propose the new resolutions is not specified
in the notice convening the general meeting. However,
procedures for proposing candidate(s) for election as Directors
at a shareholder’s meeting are set out in the Corporate
Governance section of the “Investor Relations” section of the
Company's website at www jiyiholdings.com.
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INVESTORS RELATIONS REEZRRZ

The Company believes that communicating with its AQAGHEEEBEFHR(ERIE2HBIL)
shareholders, investors and other stakeholders by electronic EZHEJRER « & EEHE LEMEFNOEBBLENE
means, particularly through its website, is an efficient way of ~ F{EEHEREHE R - KA HIEEBF A
distributing information in a timely and convenient manner. &S TRNERH [EEEBE] Z6 -

The Company’s website has a dedicated “Investor Relations”

section which publishes the following information:

—  the Board, committee charters, key corporate governance — EH@ - - Z59ZR - FEHEEA
policies and constitutional documents; BRRERXM

N\,

N TSR ELATEEMA

— announcements, press and release made to the market —

and media;

— annual and half yearly reports and all material — FERKIFEERENS AR
information lodged with the Stock Exchange; and BEAER &

— notices of general meetings and explanatory materials, if — PREAK&@@mE NRHBAME (0E) -
any.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, there had been no  REE_—_ZE_ME+_A=+—HI-FE -
significant change in the Company’s constitutional documents.  ZR/A B ZF2 (417 M8 K& E) -
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R - HERERHE

REPORT

ABOUT THIS REPORT

The Group is pleased to present this Environmental, Social and
Governance Report (the “Report”) to provide an overview of
the Group’s management and efforts in terms of maintaining
sustainable developments in respect of environmental, social
and governance aspects.

ESG GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE

The Group is committed to ethical corporate citizenship and to
promoting sustainability in all of its activities. We demonstrate
these commitments through transparent and responsible
management of our environment and social values. These
values respect and are informed by those of all of our
stakeholders, including the communities with which we
interact. The requirements listed below apply to the Group’s
operations. Every subsidiary, each manager and employee, as
well as any contractor performing work on behalf of the
Group must support this policy.

The Board is responsible for establishing the Group’s ESG
strategies, and for ensuring the effectiveness in the control of
ESG risks and internal control mechanism. The internal audit
department is in charge of the overall implementation of the
Group's ESG strategies. The Head of internal audit department
organized periodical meeting with other department heads
and is responsible for collecting relevant information on its
ESG aspects for preparing the ESG Report. The Head of
internal audit department reports to the board of directors (the
“Board"”), which assists in the identification and evaluation of
the Group’s ESG risks and the effectiveness of the internal
control mechanism. The Head of internal audit also examines
and evaluates the Group’s performances in different areas
such as environment, safety production, labour standards, and
product responsibilities in the ESG aspects.
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Scope of reporting
Reporting framework

This report has been prepared in compliance with Appendix
C2 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”)
(the “Listing Rules”) —
Reporting Guide” and is presented under two categories,

“Environmental, Social and Governance
namely environmental and social.

For the Group's corporate governance practices, please refer
to pages 53 to 73 for the section “Corporate Governance

Report” contained in this annual report.
Reporting period

This Report demonstrates our sustainability initiatives during
the reporting period from 1 January 2024 to 31 December
2024.

Contact us

The Group welcomes stakeholders to provide their opinions
and suggestions on our sustainability initiatives. You can
provide valuable advice in respect of this Report or the Group’s
performances in sustainable development by post at Unit
1704, 17/F., Far East Consortium Building, No. 121 Des Voeux
Road, Hong Kong.
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STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

The Group understands the importance of developing long-
term relationships and constant dialogues with various
stakeholders. We seek to balance the views and interests of
these various constituencies through constructive conversation.
Through collaborating with the stakeholders, the Group strives
to further improve its ESG initiatives to create greater value for
the community on a continuous basis.

Shareholders

The Company has established a number of efficient channels
of distributing information to its shareholders. The Company
regularly reviews these channels to ensure its effectiveness and
ensure effective and timely dissemination of relevant
information to its shareholders at all times. Shareholders are
also encouraged to raise any question to the Company
Secretary.

Customers

The Group is committed to providing quality services and
products to achieve customer satisfaction. Customer feedback
is invaluable as the Group operates in extremely competitive
markets. Under different product categories, we have
designated teams serving key customers. We also have
experienced sales attendants on site who would introduce
brands and products based on customers’ requirement, and
assist the customers by offering advice and guidance on
product functions, features, dimensions and installations. To
better serve our customers or potential customers who do not
visit our sales outlets, we have service hotlines and website for
handling inquiries from them.
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Employees

The Group had 21 employees as at 31 December 2024 (2023:
21). The Group offers competitive remuneration packages
commensurate with industry practice and provides various
fringe benefits to employees. The Group conducts induction
training for all of its new employees and on-going training
from time to time during their employment. The nature of
training offered depends on their specific field of operation. As
the Group continues its expansion, opportunities are always
available for hardworking employees.

Suppliers

The Group is committed to upholding laws and regulations
that are relevant to its business and closely monitor the
Group's policies relating to maintaining of business ethics.

Government

The Group is mainly engaged in the sale and distribution of
merchandise and the provision of interior design and
engineering services. These activities are mainly subject to the
jurisdictions of laws of the PRC. Along with different
government laws, rules and regulations, each operating
company makes tremendous effort to ensure that it is
complied with the relevant laws and regulations.

R - HEREREHSE
(=

R-ZE-_NMF+-_A=+—H A&EEA
QNNZB(ZEBEZ=F 21%)EE - KEETR

EERHEITRERERN AR F NH M
BRIRHZ AWM INERN - NEBSEMAN

(== ﬁﬁ@kﬁiﬁ%\\&ﬁéﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ;ﬁﬁ?\ﬁ%ﬁfﬁ
SEIE - PTEREIEIINEER T ES EE
BREME ° Eﬂﬁéﬁé‘%l/.@n,\%@ﬁ ZhT
1FR B MM S EE T -

HIER

AEEB NN B TREERE AR OX
RUBZERAEEEFEBRAE BN
& o

B

AEEEBERFHE LD HEmALEHRE
AR R TR - ZFABHERAETH

BUEARRIEERRTE o ER AR BAE
2?2 RAER  REERTHELEXRSE S

PARELR 8 ST AR BRI BOEAR ©

77



JIYI HOLDINGS LIMITED E—#Z=BEIR A=
ANNUAL REPORT 2024 3R

Environmental, Social and Governance Report

R - HERERHE

MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT

The management and staff of the Group’s respective major
operations have participated in the preparation of the Report
to assist the Group in reviewing its operations and identifying

EEHRTME

AEEXIZEBNERERETHELHE
REAHRE - B A ERs HEFER
REREBRE HelEREHE - Wit

relevant ESG issues and assess the importance of related fHESE
matters to its businesses and stakeholders. The Group had

compiled questionnaires to collect information from relevant & K& a:%BRIRES - LAUREHERBEEFT -
departments, business units, and stakeholders of the Group to B RiHFMDEHE K} -

identify key ESG issues.

The Group has taken into account the feedback from relevant
stakeholders in determining the significant ESG aspects @ RES&HER  DZEMABEIFNENX
covered in the Report. A summary of significant ESG issues for — £& - {RIZIEE EE M HAREEE AIBIE - it
the Group based on relative importance is displayed below:

The ESG Reporting Guide
BB HERERKREES

Environmental

RiE
A1. Emissions
Al. BER

A2. Use of Resources

A2. FAER

A3. The Environmental and Natural Resources
A3. IRENKAEIR

A4. Climate Change
A4 RIREME
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AEBEREABREPOREEARE

gREAZENHEMNT

Material ESG issues

ERRE  HEREREE

No material emission issues

BEERMER

Paper consumption
MRFERE

Electricity consumption
Water consumption

FAK

Impacts on the environmental and natural resources
HIRBERRARAE RN E

No material climate change issues

TEBAREECER
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The ESG Reporting Guide
RE  HERERBREES

Social

e

B1. Employment
B1. (2fE

B2. Health and Safety
B2. EEHZE

B3. Development and Training
B3. EE&IF

B4. Labour Standards
B4, A TIZE

B5. Supply Chain Management
BS. HrEsEEIR

B6. Product Responsibility
B6. EmETT

B7. Anti-corruption
B7. RES

B8. Community Investments

B8. ttEIKRE

R HERERHE

Material ESG issues
BEXRE  HEREREE

Recruitment, promotion and dismissal
REE - B KRR E
Compensation and benefits

#r B Ko 13 7

Safety management measures
ZREREE

Development and training
R RIED

Prevention of child and forced labour
BriEE T NMoalss T

Suppliers sourcing and selection mechanism

1 7 SRR % B S A

Product quality and safety
EmmERLZE

Customer satisfaction

EEmMEE

Customer data protection and privacy

EFPEMRENLE

Anti-corruption
RES
Whistle-blowing mechanism

SRR

Corporate social responsibility
rEHEEE

In FY2024, the Group confirmed that it has established RIZZTZWHBHBFE  AEEBRCE IR
appropriate and effective management policies and internal 3%~ H @ R EGEER U EE BRI EE
control systems for ESG issues and confirmed that the BURRAEEEIERSE - WHERFTIREARR
disclosed contents comply with the requirements of the ESG ~ &IRIE - HEREAMEIEIIMER

Reporting Guide.
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A. ENVIRONMENTAL

80

A1. Emissions

Environmental conservation remains a key focus for
the Group. Therefore, we are dedicated to
maintaining our energy consumption and emission
at low level in every single step. The conscientious
use of resources and adoption of best practices
across the Group’s businesses underlie its
commitment to safeguarding the environment. The
Group encourages environmental protection,
complies with relevant environmental legislation s
and promotes awareness towards environmental
protection to the employees.

In light of the nature of business and operation, the
Group does not involve in production of related air,
water, land pollution, greenhouse gas, hazardous
waste and non-hazardous waste and does not have
any direct or significant impact on the environment
and natural resources. Nevertheless, the Group is
aware that the daily operation of the office and
warehouse consume paper, electricity and water.
The Group recognises the impact caused by these
consumption and the production of waste. For the
past several years, the Group has been putting
emphasis in energy conservation, rolling out IT
initiatives to help decrease unnecessary wastage
and reduce carbon emission and adopting different
policies on use of resources with an aim to reduce

the impact on the environment.
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A2. Use of Resources

The Group is committed to protecting the
environment by enhancing our operational
efficiency and energy efficiency to reduce energy,
water, paper and waste by following initiatives:

Paper

o Using E-fax to minimise printing needs

o Handling documents electronically except for
formal Documents

o Using recycled paper and double-sided
printing except for formal and confidential
documents

Paper Consumption: 0.2 tonnes (2023: 0.2
tonnes)

Total consumption of paper of the Group was
about 0.2 tonnes (FY2023: 0.2 tonnes).

Electricity

o The use of electricity in the office of the
Group must comply the principles of power
saving, safety first, high efficiency and low
consumption

o Light and electronic appliances like air-
conditioners, computers, photocopy
machines, printers in workplace must be
turned off when not in use
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Electricity Consumption: 568,080 kWh
(FY2023: 466,554 kWh)

Total consumption of electricity at the Group’s
headquarter in the PRC and other subsidiaries was
568,080 kWh (kilowatt-hour) (FY2023: 461,307
kWh) and 0 kWh (FY2023: 5,247 kWh) respectively,
which produced about 446 tonnes carbon (FY2023:
362 tonnes carbon) and 0.0 tonnes carbon
(FY2023: 0.1 tonnes carbon) respectively (Assuming
that 0.785 kg (kilogram) of carbon will be produced
by 1 kWh electricity consumption).

Water

Posting notices at common areas of the office
reminding staff members to reduce water

consumption and the importance of water saving.

Water Consumption: 10,587 m? (FY2023:
5,203 m3)

Total consumption of water at the Group’s
headquarter in the PRC and other subsidiaries was
5,203 m?3 (cubic meter) (FY2023: 5,203 m?3) and
0 m? (FY2023: 0 m3) respectively. The Group had
not encountered any issue in sourcing water that is
fit for purpose.
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The consumption of electricity and water reported
above are stated in the total amount of their
measuring units. As the Group is operating a variety
of store portfolios, intensity data (e.g per store or
per gross sales area) were not prepared because
such indicators may not be meaningful.

Stationery and Furniture

Reusing stationery, furniture and equipment among
offices and branches instead of buying new ones or
disposing of such materials.

Waste

Encouraging recycling through installation of
plastic, paper and aluminum recycling boxes at the
headquarters.

Packaging

During the course of the Group’s business
operation, it does not generally involve the use of
packaging materials and thus its impacts on the
environment are considered to be minimal.
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A3.

A4,

The Environment and Natural
Resources

During the year, the Group consumed both less
electricity and less water. With the reduction of
Company’s headcount, the consumption of
electricity increased by approximately 21.8%. On
the other hand, with the closures of retail stores
and the Company’s internal policies to control
water wastage, the consumption of water of the
Group increased by approximately 103.5% during
the year ended 31 December 2024. The Group also
continued its campaign to promote paperless
working practice, of which the paper consumption
remained less than 1 tonnes during the Reporting
Period.

Save as disclosed above, the Group’s business has
no direct or significant impact on the environment
and natural resources.

Climate Change

The Group is actively studying the strategies and
policies of the PRC government and agrees that the
environment and climate change will pose risks to
the Group, such as extreme weather that could
damage the Group’s operating equipment and
increase the Group’s operating costs. In addition,
the Group has also identified opportunities for
quality operations, committed to improving the
competitiveness and anticipated potential risks to

resist force majeure.
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B. SOCIAL

B1. Employment

The Group adopts fair and open recruitment
mechanism with all positions being openly recruited
regardless of age, gender, race, nationality, religion,
marital status or disability. Apart from internal
transfers, all vacancies are published to public via
different recruiting channels such as advertisement,
online recruitment channels, recruitment fairs,
recruitment through Personnel Exchange Center
and recommendation.

A formal induction together with a tour of the
workplace is provided to all employees on the first
day of employment. This aims to welcome the new
employees and give them a better understanding of
the Group. A brief introduction of employee
handbook is provided to ensure new employees are
aware of relevant policies and code of conduct.
Employee handbook together with various
guidelines and benefits are uploaded on the
Group's intranet network for the access for all staff
members.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group complied with
the Labour Law of the PRC, the Employment
Ordinance (Chapter 57 of the Laws of Hong Kong)
and all other relevant Hong Kong/PRC employment
laws and regulations that deal with working hours
and rest period and had a total of 21 (as at 31
December 2023: 21) full time employees.
Breakdowns of the current employees by position
and gender, age and years of service are set forth
below respectively:
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R HERERHE

DISTRIBUTION BY AGE 1R F #2815 0D
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The Group achieved relatively lower turnover rate in general
frontline positions and young workforce, and the total number
of employees was unchanged for the Reporting Period as
compared to FY2023. The number of senior management
employees was steady.

The Group strives to provide a work environment with equal
opportunities regardless of gender and age. As at 31
December 2024, the Group’s male to female employee
maintained at 13:8. The Group had also recruited from a
diverse age group. Around 62% of our workforce were fell in
the age group of 30-50, while around 38% were in the age
groups of 51 or above, respectively.
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B2. Health and Safety

The Group strives to promote safety awareness,
improve occupational environment and reduce
occupational risks. The Group continuously
promotes safety awareness among employees and
committed to providing a healthy and safe working
environment for our employees and complies with
the relevant laws and regulations. The Group has
dedicated adequate resources and effort to uphold
and improve the Group’'s safety management
measures in order to reduce the risks relating to
labour safety, such as:

Guidelines

o Adopting and reviewing from time to time
written guidelines and policies for work safety
and occupational health safety

o Ensuring a healthy and safe workplace and
compliance with all relevant workplace health
and safety laws
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Insurance R

e Maintaining various insurance policies of s REBZHEREEIREZS
endowment insurance, medical insurance, THRE (B EZRE - BERFR
unemployment insurance, industrial injury @ KERE - TIHRR -
insurance, maternity insurance, and housing EERBEEEAES)

accumulation fund for employees’
compensation and liability

Other safety Measures Bt L 2B

TEHASR P NERE - TER
demonstration of the use of fire extinguisher NEEFRE - IBEfh A B

o Conducting fire drill regularly and

so as to enhance the fire safety awareness

e Providing regular training sessions on accident e REEBRBBEBASIHIHLE
prevention and management to the EIERN T RENIRE
employees

Work Related Injury TIE

e There was no fatality or injury case related to o Rz -_WEE-F
work during the years ended 31 December —=F+-A=1+—HItF
2024 and 2023 B EIFAABBTEMN
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B3. Development and Training

The Group believes that investing in employees is
essential to the future strength and success of its
business. The Group conducts various internal
trainings for different level of staff members. There
is a general regular training section to all employees
once a month during the morning meeting. For
new employees, they are required to take a one-
week training on specific job duty. The managers of
each department will take turns to different
departments to provide training on product
knowledge, sales skills, store management, market
development and business operation etc.

Besides, the Group also encourages and offers the
opportunities for its staff members to take external
training from the suppliers.

All these trainings are designed to enhance and
broaden employees’ skill sets.

The Group encourages communication and
interaction of the staff members with the
management. The Group provides a wide spectrum
of informal communication platforms regularly.
There are advisory boxes in the office, and regular
experience sharings between middle and senior
management. Through these gatherings,
management is alerted to the issues raised by staff
members and can carry out responsive measures to
improve operations if appropriate. Besides, this
enhanced the sense of belongs of staff members.
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Furthermore, the Group arranged some regular and
irregular activities to facilitate as communication
platforms for the management and staff members
such as follows:

e Chinese New Year Gathering (" $TEEHE")
is the most prestigious event of the year,
attended by all staff in the Group. Lots of
lucky draws and games make the evening full
of energy and excitement. This event provided
chances to appreciate all of the staff members
with for the effort during the year.

o The Group believes that happy staff make
happy customers and endeavor to provide
happy working environment. The Group
promotes the relationship between staff to
make them like family members. To promote
work life balance, the Group organised
wellness activities like climbing the Baisui
Mountain (" Bl " BB EZEHREEE)) and
Tianbaigong Mountain (" XA A" B K EH
RS E)) in the past years.
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B4. Labour Standards

The Group believes in nurturing and developing top
talents regardless of race, gender, age, religious
belief, pregnancy, marital status, family status or
disability. The Group also respects human rights
and oppose to the abuse of child labour or forced
labour in our businesses. There is no use of child
labour or forced labour in the Group during the
Reporting Period.

The Group also has policies to ensure all employees
and job applicants enjoy equal opportunities and
fair treatment. All employees have the right to
complain in case of discrimination, suspected
misconduct and illegal acts via established
procedures. The Group will investigate each
complaint thoroughly, resolving it fairly and in the
strictest confidence.

The Group is also in compliance with all relevant
laws and regulations, including but not limited to
Labour Contract Law of the PRC, Provisions on the
Prohibition of Using Child Labour and Employment
of Children Regulations (chapter, 57B of the Laws
of Hong Kong) in Hong Kong, etc. Recruitment and
employment are carried out in full compliance with
relevant laws and regulations such as the
Employment Ordinance, Chapter 57, Laws of Hong
Kong and the guidelines issued by the human
resources department. The Group did not have any
cases related to child labour or forced labour in this
year.
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B5.

B6.

Supply Chain Management

The Group believes that sourcing and selection of
suppliers play a crucial part in enriching our brand
and product mix. The assessment on suppliers
places emphasis on their market positioning, image
of their brand projected, product design,
production capacity, quality and price range,
anticipated market acceptance of their products,
supply lead time, reliability, creditworthiness and
past experiences in conducting business with them.
The Group’s procurement team regularly looks for
quality suppliers in the market, and will engage
new suppliers upon their satisfaction of our internal
review and approval, which includes interview with
their responsible personnel and site visit to the
suppliers’ premises.

Product Responsibility

To enhance customers’ satisfaction of the
merchandise, the Group has stringent control over
the quality of merchandise. The Group carefully
selects suppliers, and pursuant to the supply or
distribution agreements. The Group'’s suppliers shall
ensure the quality of products and may also be
required to provide us with the after-sale services
for the products sold to the Group. The Group
conducts inspections on the quality, measurement
and other specifications of the merchandise before
accepting delivery from the suppliers. The Group is
entitled to return or exchange the products to the
suppliers if they are found to be defective or
otherwise in unsaleable condition.
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In general, no products return or exchange by
customers is allowed except for malfunctions of or
manufacturing defects in products. Nevertheless, to
foster customer loyalty and enhance customer
satisfaction, the Group may allow product return or
exchange to be made with a valid receipt within
seven days after purchase provided that the
merchandise is in good and saleable condition. The
Group also offers product warranty period of one
to three years depending on the nature of
merchandise. During the warranty period, the
Group provides maintenance and repair services to
the customers for free and will also exchange any
defective products for free on the condition that
such products have been installed in accordance
with the manual and were used under normal
conditions. Defective products could be returned to
the suppliers for repair or replacement if the
relevant supplier is found to be liable for such
defect.

Customer data protection and privacy

In addition, the Group is dedicated to protecting
intellectual property rights as well as consumer data
and privacy. Without the permission of the
customers, consumer data will not be used for
publicity or other purposes.

For the years ended 31 December 2024 and 31
December 2023, the Group has not identified any
non-compliance cases relating to product
responsibility.
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B7. Anti-corruption

The Group takes its fraud prevention or anti-
corruption responsibilities very seriously. In addition
to the ongoing review of the effectiveness of the
internal control systems, the Group has established
a whistleblowing policy to direct employees to
report to the Group's internal audit department
about possible improprieties in any matter related
to the Group. The Group also established policy
and guidelines about fraud prevention. They are
Commercial Bribery Control Rule ({7 2 B B [y &5
SPAIY), Financial Fraud and Complaint Rule and Fraud
Prevention (BF BUEE B[ &6 [z 12 22 41 /2 ), Inspection
and Reporting Procedures ({ R BEE K IREERF))
and Management Override Prevention Policy (£ [f

LIFE R EBEBR)).

During the years ended 31 December 2024 and 31
December 2023, no legal case regarding corruption
was brought against the Group or its employees.
Also, there were no material cases of non-
compliance with laws and regulations on anti-
money laundering in the PRC and Hong Kong.
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B8. Community Investments

The awareness of corporate social responsibility has
been increasing in the market. The Group realises
the importance of different stakeholders’
expectations. In achieving long term, stable and
healthy business prosperity and growth, the Group
strives to balance the interests between
stakeholders and is committed to improve the
community’s wellbeing.

The Group encourages the employees to play an
active role in the communities where they live and
work. In the past years, the Group was engaged in
different events with an aim to fulfill its social
responsibility. For example, in the past few years, the
Group launched “Jiyi Inspirational Student Fund” (£
—E)EBhE ) for the poor but outstanding students
in Meizhou Jiaying University (18 JI| 71 3% & K 2),
aiming at providing better environment for those
hardworking and ambitious students to achieve their
dreams.

The Group will continue to explore other means to
contribute more to the environment and strive to
facilitate the building of a healthy and sustainable
society.

R HERERHE

BS. #E®RE

mis LR R TEHTEE
8o AEEEBE T RBRES
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IRIE - HERERRS

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND

GOVERNANCE REPORTING INDEX

RiR  HERERBRERS

Subject areas, aspects,
general disclosures and
Key Performance

Indicators (KPIs) Description Section/Declaration
TEEHE - -EBEH- — K
WERBARENESZ Bl =3:0 -1

A. Environmental

A RE

A1: Emissions

emissions data

AV HER)

General Disclosure *A1. Emissions™*
— MR EE *A1HERD *
KPI' A1.1 The types of emissions and respective *A1. Emissions*

RS RUER A1

BEpRE SR AR BB BUR

*A1.BER *

KPI'AT.2

Greenhouse gas emissions in total and,
where appropriate, intensity

Not applicable to the Group’s

business

FAREMIEIRAL.2

BERBHNEEN (WER)BE

NERRARENEF

KPI'A1.3

Total hazardous waste produced and,
where appropriate, intensity

Not applicable to the Group’s

business

RASRAE WIEIZ A3

FELEEREMEER WER)EE

NERARA R E X

KPI'A1.4

Total non-hazardous waste produced and,

where appropriate, intensity

*A1. Emissions*

FAREMIEIEALA

ELBEERZEVMEER WER)EE

AT BER) *

KPIAT.5

Description of measures to mitigate
emissions and results achieved

*A1. Emissions*

FASERIEIRALS

8 2R E BRSO HE B M P A AR

*A1BERE) *

KPI'A1.6

Description of how hazardous and non-
hazardous wastes are handled, reduction
initiatives and results achieved

*A1. Emissions*

FASRAERUEIZ A6

R A ENEZREMNIA
R E L BRI M TSR

*A1. B *
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Subject areas, aspects,
general disclosures and
Key Performance

Indicators (KPIs) Description Section/Declaration
TEEHE - -BH- - —K
WERBARENEEZ B =n:0p -1

A2: Use of Resources

A2: ERFH

General Disclosure *A2. Use of Resources*
—MRIKEE *A2. EIRER*
KPI A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption *A2. Use of Resources*

by type in total and intensity

BB E IR IR A2.1 REARE DM EE R R EEEIRERE *A2. EIRER*
ENEE

KPI A2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity *A2. Use of Resources — Water*

BARE R IEIRA2.2 BRKEREE *A2. BIRMER — 7Kk*

KPI A2.3 Description of energy use efficiency *A2. Use of Resources —
initiatives and results achieved Electricity*

RSB WIEIR A2.3 B IR 2 A a5t 8 R PTSACR *A2.ERER — &

KPI A2.4 Description of whether there is any issue *A2. Use of Resources — Water*

in sourcing water that is fit for purpose,
water efficiency initiatives and results

achieved
RSB BIEIZA2.4 il SR EGE A KR _ER] A AR - LA A2 ERER — K>

Kb Tt R7k e st 8 M PSR

KPI' A2.5 Total packaging material used for finished *A2. Use of Resources —
products and, if applicable, with reference Packaging *
to per unit produced

BRIEBIRIZA2.5 SR METABREMHNEE N (ERA) A2 BRFER — B
FHEEEMhE
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RIg - HER

EalE

Subject areas, aspects,
general disclosures and
Key Performance

Indicators (KPIs) Description Section/Declaration
TEEHE - -EB@-: —K
BERBARENESZ Bl =3:0p -1

A3: The Environment and Natural Resources

AIRBERBARER

General Disclosure

— R FE

KPI'A3.1

Description of the significant impacts of
activities on the environment and natural
resources and the actions taken to
manage them

*A3. The Environment and
Natural Resources*

R ERIEIZ A3

R RFADHRENRABRNEKX
FTENCRREERFEZENTY

*A3IRBERAAER*

A4: Climate Change

Ad: BAEEZE

General Disclosure

— R

KPIA.4.1

Description of the significant climate-
related issues which have impacted, and
those which may impact, the issuer, and

*A4. Climate Change*

FASRAE IR IR AL

the actions taken to manage them
Al RE S ¥R T

B &R A RE S Y EBIT AELETEN
EARGHEBESEE @ REHITE
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Subject areas, aspects,
general disclosures and
Key Performance

Indicators (KPIs) Description Section/Declaration
TERER -EBE - —R

BRERARERER A -0 2l

B. Social

B. #&

B1: Employment

B1: (&

General Disclosure *B1. Employment*
— AR ER *B1.f&{R% *
KPIB1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment *B1. Employment

type, age group and geographical region

— STAFF DISTRIBUTION BY
POSITION AND GENDER

— DISTRIBUTION BY AGE

— DISTRIBUTION BY YEARS
OF SERVICE*

BASR AR AFEIE B .1

RIER - RIBAE - SR M= S
DB T

*B1. 1B
— BB RMRIEI S
— REKRED

— BRREFEED*

KPIB1.2

Employee turnover rate by gender, age
group and geographical region

*B1. Employment*

FASEMIEIRB1.2

RIS FEAR MR E D HES R
X

*B1. &% *
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RIg - HER

EalE

Subject areas, aspects,
general disclosures and
Key Performance

Indicators (KPIs) Description Section/Declaration
TEEHE - -EB@-: —K
BERBARENESZ Bl =3:0p -1

B2: Health and safety

B2: LS

General Disclosure

*B2. Health and Safety*

safety measures adopted, how they are
implemented and monitored

— R FE *B2. 2R ML 2

KPI B2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities -

RAG AR 1R B2.1 B TEREMIETA AR L X -

KPI B2.2 Lost days due to work injury -

BASR AR A E1R B2.2 EAITEREANITERE -

KPIB2.3 Description of occupational health and *B2. Health and Safety*

R AE R B2.3

FORPTER MR B R B R 21576 - A
KRBT RERTTA

*

*B2. ffR Ed

\ED"
Ja
Hp

B3. Development and training

B3. /R KiEd

General Disclosure

*B3. Development and Training*

employee category

—MRIKEE *B3. R M IEFI *
KPI B3.1 The percentage of employee trained and *B3. Development and Training*

BRS AR IR 1R B3.1

REBBHEIDNZIIEET L

*B3. B R K+

KPI B3.2

The average training hours completed per
employee by gender and employee
category

*B3. Development and Training*

FAS A 51 B3.2

RUERIMEERREI D EAES
SRS SlE 24

24

il
dr

*B3. B R M IEI*
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R HERERHE

Subject areas, aspects,
general disclosures and
Key Performance

Indicators (KPIs) Description Section/Declaration

TEHE BH - —R

BRENBRENER Bk 558

B4: Labour Standards

B4 55 TiZ%

General Disclosure *B4. Labour Standards*

— AR R *B4. B THRAE*

KPI B4.1 Description of measures to review *B4. Labour Standards*
employment practices to avoid child and
forced labour

A IR B4 1 i HERE N ERAREET & *B4. 45 T AE *
s 55 T

KPI B4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate *B4. Labour Standards*
such practices when discovered

R A ISR B4.2 AR ER B AR ERBBIE A *B4. 45 TZAE *
ERERH 22 5%
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Subject areas, aspects,
general disclosures and
Key Performance

Indicators (KPIs) Description Section/Declaration
TEEHE - -EB@-: —K
BERBARENESZ Bl =3:0p -1

B5: Supply Chain Management

BS: i e 48 E 12

General Disclosure

— R FE

KPI'B5.1

Number of suppliers by geographical
region

*B5. Supply Chain
Management*

RASR AR G 1R B5.1

iR eI DR HEREE

*B5. B E IR *

KPI'B5.2

Description of practices relating to
engaging suppliers, number of suppliers
where the practices are being
implemented, how they are implemented
and monitored

*B5. Supply Chain
Management*

BASR4E AN FE1R B5.2

it AR EEENES - MERT
BREMNNHEEEEE - UEERED
METT MBS TTA

*B5. fitpEGEE 1R *

KPI'B5.3

Description of practices used to identify
environmental and social risks along the
supply chain, and how they are
implemented and monitored

*B5. Supply Chain
Management*

FASAE M IE 1R B5.3

A BRI A IRIR Mt & R
BRI - ARMBRIMIT RERTTA

*B5. B E IR *

KPI B5.4

Description of practices used to promote
environmentally preferable products and
services when selecting suppliers, and how
they are implemented and monitored

*B5. Supply Chain
Management*

B FE1RB5.4

A REHERR (R E S BRRE D
NRISEVED] - AR BBEARITMEERT
7

*B5. fit RS IR
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R HERERHE

Subject areas, aspects,
general disclosures and
Key Performance

Indicators (KPIs) Description Section/Declaration
TEEHE - -BH- - —K
WERBARENEEZ B =n:0p -1

B6: Product Responsibility

B6: EmE(T

General Disclosure

*B6. Product Responsibility*

— RN ER

*B6. EmE(E*

KPI B6.1

Percentage of total products sold or
shipped subject to recalls for safety and
health reasons

*B6. Product Responsibility*

B B IE 1R B6.1

EEXDEXERBRTEAR 2 RREE
EhmERH B DL

*B6. EmE T *

KPI B6.2

Number of products and service related
complaints received and how they are
dealt with

*B6. Product Responsibility*

B 515 B6.2

BRI E m MRS IR B LA
EIDAPZA

*B6. EmEE*

KPI B6.3

Description and practices relating to
observing and protecting intellectual
property rights

*B6. Product Responsibility*

FRSAE M IE 1R B6.3

BB ST RS E R R X8
{51

*B6. EmEIE*

KPI B6.4

Description of quality assurance process
and recall procedures

*B6. Product Responsibility*

BN E12B6.4

08 B e B AR N B WAE R

*B6. EmET*

KPI B6.5

Description of consumer data protection
and privacy policies, how they are
implemented and monitored

*B6. Product Responsibility*

RAg4E I51EB6.5

B BEEERRE RALBEER - ARk
HERTRERTE

*B6. EmE T *
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Subject areas, aspects,
general disclosures and
Key Performance

Indicators (KPIs) Description Section/Declaration
TEEHE - -EB@-: —K
BERBARENESZ Bl =3:0p -1

B7: Anti-corruption

B7: &S

General Disclosure

*B7. Anti-corruption*

— R FE

*B7. RE)T*

KPI'B7.1

Number of concluded legal cases
regarding corrupt practices brought
against the issuer or its employees during
the reporting period and the outcomes of
the case

RAG AR 1R BT 1

RBEMAHRITAREERRELLD
BEREMNBESFRARMFEE MaFrAE

KPIB7.2

Description of preventive measures and
whistle-blowing procedures, how they are
implemented and monitored

*B7. Anti-corruption*

R AR IE1ZB7.2

BT EtE e R BB RE R - AR IEFEH
TREER T E

*B7. RE)T*

KPIB7.3

Description of practices used to promote
environmentally preferable products and
services when selecting suppliers, and how
they are implemented and monitored

*B7. Anti-corruption™*

RS 4E IE1ERT7 .3

A BREHERR (R E S RRRE D
KBRFEHER] - A RIBRRAIT REEER
7

*B7.REF*
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Subject areas, aspects,
general disclosures and
Key Performance

Indicators (KPIs) Description Section/Declaration
TEEHE - -BH- - —K
WERBARENEEZ B =n:0p -1

B8: Community Investments

BS: (TR E

General Disclosure *B8. Community Investments*
— RN ER *B8.ILIBIRE *
KPI B8.1 Focus areas of contribution (e.g. *B8. Community Investments*

education, environmental concerns, labour
needs, health, culture, sport)

T *B8. HLRIZE *

FASE B IR 1R BB ETEREE (MHE  REEHE
FoR o R2E - e BE)

KPI B8.2 Resources contributed (e.g. money or *B8. Community Investments™*
time) to the focus area

FAS B MIE1RBS.2 EEIBREMEBMNER(NSENER) | B8 HRIRE
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
JIYI HOLDINGS LIMITED
(incorporated in Cayman Islands with limited liability)

McMillanWoods

Professionalism at the forefront

DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

We were engaged to audit the consolidated financial
statements of Jiyi Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (hereinafter collectively referred to as the
“Group”), set out on pages 112 to 303 which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December
2024, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of
changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows
for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated
financial statements, including a summary of material
accounting policy information.

We do not express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements of the Group. Because of the significance of the
matters described in the Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion section
of our report, we have not been able to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence to provide a basis for an audit
opinion on these consolidated financial statements. In all other
respects, in our opinion, the consolidated financial statements
have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

Material uncertainties relating to the going
concern basis

As disclosed in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements,
the Group incurred a net loss of approximately RMB330.0
million for the year ended 31 December 2024. As of that date,
the Group had significant outstanding bank borrowings of
approximately RMB154.3 million that were either in default,
cross-defaulted, or subject to early repayment clauses. A
winding-up petition was also filed against the Company, and
several court enforcement actions were taken against key PRC
subsidiaries. In addition, the Group had substantial overdue
liabilities including unpaid taxes, wages, and supplier
payments.

The directors have prepared the consolidated financial
statements on a going concern basis, based on certain plans
and measures intended to improve the Group’s liquidity
position and restructure its indebtedness, as set out in Note 2.

However, due to the multiple uncertainties surrounding the
successful implementation and outcome of these plans, we
were unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to
support the assumptions and plans prepared by management
regarding the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern,
and therefore, whether the use of the going concern basis of
accounting is appropriate.

Consequently, we were unable to determine whether any
adjustments might have been necessary to the consolidated
financial statements, including potential adjustments to reduce
the carrying amounts of assets to their recoverable amounts,
to provide for additional liabilities, and to reclassify non-current
items as current.
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND
AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give
a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRS Accounting
Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA") and the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal
control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
directors of the Company are responsible for assessing the
Group'’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as
applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless the directors of the
Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee assists the directors of the Company in

discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group'’s
financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our responsibility is to conduct an audit of the Group'’s
consolidated financial statements in accordance with Hong
Kong Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA
and to issue an auditor’s report. However, because of the
matters described in the Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion section
of our report, we were not able to obtain sufficient appropriate
audit evidence to provide a basis for an audit opinion on these
consolidated financial statements.

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the
Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities
in accordance with the Code.

McMillan Woods (Hong Kong) CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Wong Ka Bo, Jimmy

Practising Certificate Number: PO7560
24/F, Siu On Centre,

188 Lockhart Road, Wanchai,

Hong Kong

17 September 2025
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GoEaRHEMEEKRER

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #EZ—ZT _NF+_A=+—HILFE

2024 2023
—E_ME =&
NOTES RMB'000 RMB’000
HiaE AR¥FT AREFIT
(Restated)
(&%)
Revenue WA 6 311,017 629,482
Cost of sales SHER AN (300,820) (628,865)
Gross profit EH 10,197 617
Other income H A 8 82 103
Other losses, net H b8 H5E 9 (3,612) (15,831)
Distribution and selling expenses DB RIHER (1,468) (1,565)
Administrative expenses TR (14,314) (16,136)
Provision for impairment loss on WHEKREMEZ
prepayment for acquisition of AR FRIEZ
investment properties BEBERE 24 (26,707) —
Provision for impairment losses under FEEA{E B EIEEA T ~
expected credit loss model, net B ETE S - ERE 11 (263,965) (365,882)
Loss on fair value change of RANEEHEZ
financial assets at fair value through ~ £ BEEEE
profit or loss (“FVTPL") ([ZRARESAERE]) (200) -
Loss on disposal of financial assets RAREBEEEEY
at FVTPL TREEINERBE (204) -
Provision for impairment loss on B BEBERE
goodwill - (52,033)
Provision for litigation compensation  FFFARSEFARE A
and legal expenses EFEE 29 (16,710) (28,028)
(316,901) (478,755)
Finance costs LRI 10 (12,650) (9,801)
Loss before tax FRFLATE 1B (329,551) (488,556)
Income tax expense FS i 12 (413) (10,600)
Loss for the year FAEE (329,964) (499,156)
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mEREkEMEERER

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HZ -~ _JNF+-A=1+—HIFE

2024 2023
“E-MF —B-=F
NOTES RMB'000 RMB’000
KtaE AR¥FT AEBTFT
(Restated)
(&%)
Other comprehensive income: Hih 2 mE s -
Item that maybe reclassified HIZAJEEN DEEE
subsequently to profit or loss: BmIHE -
Exchange differences arising on BMEBINEBIEEXZ
translation of foreign operations bE W =%E (4,800) (23,295)
Other comprehensive income for the ~ FREM U
year, net of income tax B AT EH (4,800) (23,295)
Total comprehensive loss for the year  F A2 EE BB (334,764) (522,451)
Loss for the year attributable to: AT & RIS FAEIE
— Owners of the Company — RRARER A (330,403) (499,164)
— Non-controlling interests — JEEAR MR 439 8
(329,964) (499,156)
Total comprehensive loss for the year A R & EIGFEAZE
attributable to: EERE
— Owners of the Company — RABHER A (335,203) (522,459)
— Non-controlling interests — FEIEAR M 439 8
(334,764) (522,451)
Loss per share attributable to owners ~ NA BHEE AEIEFEA
of the Company for the year BREE 16
— Basic (RMB cents per share) —ERNANR%S) (125.26) (189.25)
— Diluted (RMB cents per share) — S (ARE ) (125.26) (189.25)
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e R

At31December2024 R—Z_ME+_-_A=+—H

31 December 31 December 1 January
2024 2023 2023
—E-ME —E-=F —E-=F
+=-A=+—-H +-A=+—H —A—H
NOTES RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
HizE AREF T ARET T ARMFT
(Restated) (Restated)
(&5) (E51)
Non-current assets FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment  #1% - & & & & 17 16,060 17,863 19,705
Right-of-use assets FREEE 18 9,510 11,944 9,152
Investment properties KEM% 19 43,810 47,420 61,520
Goodwill EES 20 - - 52,033
Prepayment for acquisition of ~ WEEIREME 2
investment properties R KIE 24(d) 7,270 33,977 33,977
Financial assets at FVTPL BAFETABRZ
ETREE 21 - 1,178 1,178
Deferred tax assets EERIEEE = - 10,633
76,650 112,382 188,198
Current assets TEEE
Inventories FE 22 - 1,448 1,218
Amounts due from related JE Uk BA RS 5 2R
parties - - 3,945
Trade and other receivables B 5 N At FEUGR
and prepayments VAR FEA 300R 24 347,587 498,180 795,061
Contract assets BHBE 23 208,685 288,270 364,929
Restricted cash XBRHIRE 25 392 103 182
Bank balances and cash RITER MRS 26 5,041 5,642 7,017
561,705 793,643 1,172,352
Total assets BEEAE 638,355 906,025 1,360,550
Current liabilities mEAEE
Trade and other payables BHREMENTIE 28 242,155 134,402 120,246
Bank borrowings RITERK 30 154,320 254,325 232,038
Other borrowings HAfER 30 3,600 2,760 3,360
Lease liabilities HEaE 33 4,762 5,030 1,999
Convertible loan notes HIRERER 31 50,776 47,430 44,014
Contract liabilities BHEE 32 4,632 993 3,483
Provision for litigation and FAMERE R
legal expenses EEd 29 44,738 28,028 -
Amount due to related parties  FE{SBaEE 5 5138 27 35,019 207 -
Income tax payables FES AT 1S AL 29,961 28,645 28,678
569,963 501,820 433,818
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At31December2024 R —Z_ME+_-_A=+—H

31 December 31 December 1 January
2024 2023 2023
—E-ME —E-=fF —E-=F
+=A=t—H +=-A=+—8H —H—H
NOTES RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ik ARB¥F T ARBFT ARBFT
(Restated) (Restated)
(&%) (E31)
Net current (liabilities) RE(EE)EERE
assets (8,258) 291,823 738,534
Total assets less current HEERRBEE
liabilities 68,392 404,205 926,732
Non-current liabilities FREEE
Deferred tax liabilities EEHIBEERE 34 20,974 21,877 21,877
Lease liabilities HEBE 33 - 146 222
20,974 22,023 22,099
Net assets EEFE 47,418 382,182 904,633
Capital and reserves e
Share capital AR 35 2,390 2,390 112,112
Reserves i 43,858 379,061 791,798
Equity attributable to RDBEE AENL
owners of s
the Company 46,248 381,451 903,910
Non-controlling interests IR 1,170 731 723
Total equity EReE 47,418 382,182 904,633

FINREICENEAMBRRER -F
THEAATERAEEESHERKET
% Wl FMIEFERRERE

The consolidated financial statements on pages 112 to 303
were approved and authorised for issue by the board of
directors on 17 September 2025 and are signed on its behalf by:

Mr. Yu Runkun Mr. Yang Hui
R L BERE
DIRECTOR DIRECTOR
EF EF
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Attributable to owners of the Company

Contingent Property Share-based Non-
Share Share  consideration Other  revaluation Translation ~ payments  Statutory Accumulated controlling Total
capital  premium reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve reserves losses Total  interests equity
HREA
IARE NREf AR

B EHER B RRR B EifR BR OLEEE  ZMER gt FERER  HEAE
RUBOO  RWBOOO  AMBODD  RWBOOO  RMBODD  RMBODD  AMBOOO  RVBODD  AMBOD  RMBODD  AUBOW  AWBOD
ARETR  ARETT  ARETT ARETZ  ARETZ ARETT  ARETZ ARETT ARETZ  ARETR ARETZ ARETZ

(Note a) (Note b) (Note ¢)
(Hiita) ) (Wiztc)

At 1 January 2024, it 3

as restated —-A-R(&5) 239 782,346* 201* (54,850)* 29,855+ (14,492)% 11,903* 18,956 (396,878)* 381,451 731 382,182
Loss for the year FRER - - - - - - - - (330403) (330403 439 (329964)
Other comprehensive income EnEp2EkE

forthe year - - - - - (4,800) - - - (4,800) - (4,800)
Total comprehensiveincome EhRERGEE

forthe year - - - - - (4,800) - - (330403 (335,203) 839 (334,764)
At31 December 2024 i 2

T2R=t-H 23% 782, 346* L01* (54,850)% 29,855* (19,292)¢ 11,903* 18956*  (727,281)* 46,248 1170 4418

As 1 January 2023 W-E==%-f-B

(as previously reported) (nEafeasg) 12,112 672,624 2 (54,850) 29,855 8,303 11,903 18956 102,757 904,381 3 905,104
Prir year adjustments (Note 4) HERER (W) - - - - - - - - (4m) (4m) - ()
At 1 Janary 2003, R-B_=F

asrestated —A—R(E5) 12,112 672,624 2 (54,850) 29,855 8,803 11,903 18,95 102,286 903910 3 904,633
Loss forthe year FREE - - - - - - - - (%9164 (499,164) 8 (499,156)
Other comprehensive income EREnEEYE

for the year - - - - - (23,295 - - - (23,295 - (23,295
Total comprehensive income FREENEEE

for the year - - - - - (23295) - - (499,164) (522,459) 8 (522,451)
Shares merger (Vote 35) Rivad () (109722) 109722 - - - - - - - - - -
At 31 December 2023, R-E_=F

asfestated TZR=+-H(&5) 239 782,346* 201* (54,8501 29,855* (14,492 11,903* 1895* (396,878 381,451 31 382,182

= These reserve accounts represent the consolidated reserves totalling ~ * ZEHER B RRGAMBIRRARANGEFHE
approximately RMB43,858,000 (2023: RMB379,061,000) as reported in HMETHARM 43,858,000t (Z T == : AR
the consolidated statement of financial position. # 379,061,000 7T) °
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mEEEEER

For the year ended 31 December 2024 ===+ =_A=+—HItFE

Share premium

Under the Companies Law of the Cayman Island (2009 Revision), the
share premium of the Company may be applied for payment of
distributions or dividends to shareholders provided that immediately
following the date on which the distribution or dividend is proposed to
be paid and the Company is able to pay debts as they fall due in the

ordinary course of business.

Other reserves

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, other reserves mainly comprise (i)
the capital injection from its equity holders of the Company and net
accumulative effect of deemed distributions and contributions between
the Company and its equity holders of the Company since 2014, of
approximately RMB91,523,000 in total, and offsetting (ii) the aggregate
deemed cost of the consideration amounting to RMB145,450,000 paid
to the Company for the issuance of 9,999 new shares to the
shareholders upon the completion of the Reorganisation as detailed in

the Company’s annual report for the year ended 31 December 2015.

According to the relevant rules and regulations in the People’s Republic
of China (the “PRC"), each of the Company’s PRC subsidiaries shall
transfer 10% of their net income after tax, based on the subsidiary’s
PRC statutory accounts, as statutory reserves, until the balance reaches
50% of the respective subsidiary’s registered capital. Further
appropriations can be made at the directors’ discretion. The statutory
reserves can be used to offset any accumulated losses or convert into

paid-up capital of the respective subsidiary.

st -

B (8

BEREHEARE(ZTETNFEIR) AR
ETE’\JH%?}B—EFEJEHEAFﬂ%iﬁH 2SS, '@
SRER N D IKEIE Z AH& - AR BEZES
KB BEBBIED N E BN E -

§

HAtFE

R-B-—mER-—FT-—=F+—-F=+—H &
fhiFEEEZBE () S —NEARER A=
BNEERARRRERNRBERITEAZBRIE
APEREENRFGTFHEAHRNARE
91,523,000 7T * 3 K 84 (ii) 1A B 48 52 K 1% A1 B 3R
2£179,999 IRFTAR 3 N X4 F AN R BRI B MERE
A A £ AR ¥ 145,450,000 7T (FF R AR A&
E_T—RF+ZA=1+—BLLFENFR) -

RIBREARLME (T E ) 2 8RR R ROE
B ARBEZ EHEINE R BABBERTIZ K
AFE(EMNBRAZPEAERBE /L) Z
10% BEERFE EEFBBRERANE AR
HMERZ50% B - ERAWISIELE—F
B2 o SATE R P AN R 5 B BERT B 2 R) 2 (E(A]
ZETBEREBRSARER -
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HZ -~ _NF+-A=1+—HIFE

2024 2023
—E_NE —E =&
NOTES RMB’000 RMB’'000
HiaE AR¥FT ARBTFT
(Restated)
(&%)
OPERATING ACTIVITIES ReEwEs
Loss before tax PR Al &S 1R (329,551) (488,556)
Adjustments for: AT RIEEL AR
Depreciation of property, ME - BEREBETE
plant and equipment 13 1,714 1,999
Depreciation of right-of-use assets CREEENE 13 2,472 2,149
Provision for impairment loss on WHBIREME 2
prepayment for acquisition of BNRIEZ
investment properties BIEE R E 26,707 -
Write-down of inventories WoREFE 13 218 =
Loss on fair value change of BEATESABERZ
financial assets at FVTPL CRLEEREERE
e 200 -
Loss on disposal of financial assets BRAVEFABRZ
at FVTPL TREENEEE 204 =
Finance costs B TSR 10 12,650 9,801
Interest income FLEWA (2) (11)
Provision for impairment losses under  FBHf{= EEIEEAIE
expected credit loss model, net ZREEERE - F8E 11 263,965 365,882
Impairment loss on Goodwill B2 R ERE o 52,033
Loss from changes in fair value of REMERNFEESHZ
investment properties &8 9 3,610 14,100
Provision for litigation compensation — FFFAMERE RAEES
and legal expenses 16,710 28,028
Operating cash flows before EEERERI 2L
movements in working capital Ben=E (1,103) (14,575)
Increase/(decrease) in restricted cash R H& £ 1240 (289) 79
Decrease/(Increase) in inventories FEERL,/ () 1,230 (230)
Increase in trade and other receivables & 5 & E th fE W F I8
A0 (141,198) (52,401)
Decrease in contract assets BHEERD 7,411 60,059
Increase in trade and bills payables and & 5 N Z= % fE < FUB
other payables LA B2 E A & A< 5k I8
A0 98,941 7,226
Increase/(decrease) in contract liabilities & 418 &1 hn,” O 4>) 3,639 (2,490)
Cash generated from operations CERSIRE (31,369) (2,332)
Income tax paid BT S H - -
NET CASH GENERATED FROM RETHMEREFHE
OPERATING ACTIVITIES (31,369) (2,332)
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HZ -~ _JNF+-A=1+—HIFE

2024 2023
—E-NE —E =4
NOTES RMB’'000 RMB’000
Kia AR¥FT ARET T
(Restated)
(&%)
INVESTING ACTIVITIES REER
Advance to related parties IR B KA A - 3,945
Proceeds on disposal of financial HEEBREBERNANTE
assets at fair value through JIfR 2 € RBEMS
profit or loss IR 774 -
Interest received 2 YA E 8 2 11
NET CASH GENERATED FROM RETBHRERER
INVESTING ACTIVITIES 776 3,956
FINANCING ACTIVITIES BEEE
Advance from related parties M) A 5 B3R 34,812 207
Proceeds from discounted commercial BhIE 2= 15 [ BRIR
bills and discounted letter of credit ERFEMEHIE = 22,290
Repayment of bank and BERITREAMERK
other borrowings = (603)
Interest paid for bank borrowings RITEREMFE = (26)
Repayment of lease liabilities EEHEAE
— principal portion — A& E» (428) (921)
NET CASH GENERATED FROM mMEEE MG
FINANCING ACTIVITIES HEFE 34,384 20,947
NET DECREASE IN CASH AND ReRASEEY
CASH EQUIVALENTS R 3,791 22,571
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS R—A—BzZBEZ2K
AT 1 JANUARY HEZEEBEY 5,642 7,017
Effect of foreign exchange rate SN TE RSB &
changes (4,392) (23,946)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS Rt+t=-—A=+—8B2z8R
AT 31 DECEMBER, represented ERBEESEEY KU
by bank balances and cash RITEBRRBA SRR 5,041 5,642
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 BEZ=—Z=—NF+=-A=+—HIFE

2.1

120

GENERAL

Jiyi Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated
in the Cayman Islands as an exempted company with
limited liability under the Companies Law (as revised) of
the Cayman Islands and its shares are listed on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. The controlling
shareholder of the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred as to the “Group”) is Xinling
Limited, both an ultimate and immediate holding
company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands (“BVI")
which is wholly-owned by Ms. Hou Wei. Ms. Hou Wei is
the ultimate controlling individual of the Group. The
address of the Company's registered office is to
Windward 3, Regatta Office Park, P.O. Box 1350, Grand
Cayman KY1-1108, Cayman Islands and the address of
its principal place of business is Unit 1704, 17/F., Far East
Consortium Building, No. 121 Des Voeux Road Central,
Hong Kong.

The Company is an investment holding company and the
principal activities of the Company’s principal subsidiaries
are set out in Note 43.

The functional currency of the Company is Hong Kong
dollars (“HK$") while the consolidated financial
statements of the Group are presented in Renminbi
("RMB") to enable the shareholders of the Company to
have a more accurate picture of the Group’s financial
position and performance.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for
the year ended 31 December 2024 have been prepared
in accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA") and the disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

2.1

—REH

E—ERAERAGTARRRADRAS
HERERSHSQRE(RER]) T
M REREER QA - HRMHN
EEBMAaRIMARAR LT - AR
AR EME AR (el [ RNEE ) 2 &
BRNMBEEERBRRBMEBRLAF]
HARRBRAUHS ([RBREXHS])
AMKLZ AR AEHBELEEHE
B o BRI T RAREEHRLIEHA
N A FEM B 2 4 & Windward
3, Regatta Office Park, P.O. Box 1350,
Grand Cayman KY1-1108 Cayman
Islands * & H = 2 & X b B 2 ik B
BEAPREHBINIGERERAE
17181704 F -

ARBR—AREZERAR > MAR
AIXEMBARZEEXBEMNHE
43 °

BEARB 2B RET(E
o)) EARB A M BRERAA
RETARE] 23] AEARRFR
REERET @RAKEZ BRI KK
I o

mAEE

AEEHE_ZE-_NWF+_A=1—
HIEFEZHGEEMBRRIZBRELSY
R AR((BESTMAE]) EMs
BEBMGREEN([HBMBERELE
A1) LA R & B A AHE G 89 2 5& R T 4%
%o



JIYI HOLDINGS LIMITED £ —1Zi3 B R A A
ANNUAL REPORT 2024 &R

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A B SRR R

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z=—_F_UF+_A=+—HIFE

2.2 GOING CONCERN BASIS

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group
incurred a net loss of approximately RMB330.0 million.
As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s net current
liabilities were approximately RMB8.3 million and the
Group's current liabilities (including current liabilities that
are in default or cross-default or contain early repayment
on demand clauses) were approximately RMB570.0
million.

In addition, as of 31 December 2024, certain bank
borrowings of the Group in the amount of approximately
RMB154.3 million were not repaid in accordance with
the scheduled repayment dates. Accordingly, as of 31
December 2024, bank and other borrowings in the
aggregate principal amount of approximately RMB154.3
million were in default or cross-default. Subsequent to
31 December 2024, certain other bank and other
borrowings of the Group have not been repaid in
accordance with the scheduled repayment dates.

In addition, on 12 June 2023, a winding-up petition (the
"Petition”) was filed by Qingdao Rongshikaiyuan Trading
Company Limited (the “Petitioner”) with the High Court
of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region (the
“High Court of Hong Kong”) for the winding-up of the
Company under the provision of the Companies
(Winding Up and Miscellaneous Provisions) Ordinance
(Chapter 32 of the Laws of Hong Kong). The Petitioner’s
ultimate beneficial owner is an individual named Zhang
Zongai. A copy of the winding-up petition was delivered
by the Petitioner to the Company’s office on 5 July 2023.
The Petition is in relation to the Petitioner’s claim for the
Outstanding Convertible Bonds in the principal amount
of HK$41,555,555.00 that had become mature on 31
August 2022. As at 12 June 2023, the Company is
allegedly indebted to the Petitioner in the aggregate sum
of HK$57,482,397.55, with HK$41,555,555.00 being
the outstanding principal under the Bond and
HK$15,926,842.55 being the accrued interest
thereunder.

2.2 FERKEHEHE

HE_T-_WNF+-_A=+—HLHF
EvK%lEi%ﬁé%%AE%
3300BB L R_ZFE-_MF+A
=+—H AEEHNRDHEEFEL
BARKESIAEETLAAEENRHE
E(BREEHKNZ NN SIRA
RERBEERINORBDER)ARAR
#5700 B & T °

o HE—T-_WE+—_A=+—
B $E.I$&EI%MH%%ﬁ
@ﬁ@ﬁAE%1M3E%ﬁm S TR
TER - At - @i_7_@¢+_
H7+—E REBEHNRARE
1%3@%%Mﬁﬁ&ﬁMF% B
HRXXNEH - R_ZT_MF+ A
=+—H% AEBUWRZREEENK
AEAEER THARITREMMEK -

N RZEZ=F,"A+=8 -
SRMRATEEERAR (25 AD
BEEBEFIEI2E(AE (BB KL
TR GO &) B9 6 3R B A8 RF BT T I
E%%%ﬁ@%ﬁmﬁﬁhnﬁiﬁ
BEFT2F)) ABARQAEE-
EmAmm%ﬁﬁ%ﬁAEMA’%
ARRE - EBAER_TE_=F+
ARAAKBEREBNRLTEAREARR
ANER EHESMREBARLALE
#41,555,555.00 8 TER =T ==
NA=+—BEHEZ MARITE AR
BEHREHNBER - RZTZ=F <A
TR ARFEBEBEREBFAZE
JH 48 %8 /57,482,397558 00 E &
41,555,555.00 B TL BEH 2 REEXR
% 1%15,926,842 558 T A EEFHFI S -
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2.2 GOING CONCERN BASIS (continued) 22 BEKERE »)

These events or circumstances indicate existing material ZEEHRBERARPEENEATE
uncertainties which may cast significant doubt on the FEE o AJAE I AR E BB T e
Group's ability to continue as a going concern. In view of BREARE EREEBR AQ
the circumstances, the directors of the Company (the FEE((EE ) PDREZEAERE
“Directors”) have carefully considered the future liquidity KrFHEL R EBHARMNERR T B
and performance of the Group and the sources of BERE - AEECSIFENUL T2 R
financing available to the Group. The Group has DU BN E S B’ ¢

formulated the following plans and measures to reduce
liquidity pressure:

122

The Company has actively maintained a dialogue
with its lenders, noteholders and creditors (the
“Creditors”) regarding negotiation of the
repayment terms of the Company’s bank
borrowings, convertible loan notes and
other borrowings. As at the date of this
announcement, the Creditors have indicated that
considering the supportive policies of the
national and local governments and the signs of
the property market stablising, the Creditors
believe the Company is able to overcome its
financial difficulties and the Company will be
able to agree on repayment terms with the
Creditors that can be feasibly carried out. The
Creditors have also, through the dialogue with
the Company, indicated that they will not take
additional legal proceedings in relation to the
outstanding borrowings of the Group. As of the
date of this announcement, there is no court
proceedings relating to the outstanding
borrowings of the Group which will have any
material impact on the operations, financial
position or results of the Group. The Company is
actively engaging with the Creditors and the
Directors believe that the Group will be able to
reach an agreement with the Creditors in respect
of feasible repayment terms. The Company may
also explore the possibility of equity fund raising
activities to raise proceeds to repay some of the
Group’s borrowings, which would aid in the
negotiation of more favorable repayment terms;

BAREEAN(EEADRAR
AIRTTER - AIBBRERERER
H & SRRV IE FARBOE T TRERS
WG RERGHS - BEAR
TEHH ERAKRT  TREIE
R K77 BT B ST 55 R IA 2 B3
WEMSBRNTR @ B8 AR
EARARARM R - B
ARG RS ERREA B E A
TTRVIE FRARFUER ek © EREA
TMEBBERRARNEFERTR
HAgp AEE AR EENER
RERBRINERIETF - BEALRE
B S EAREE R EES
KB BEVEF AL - MaxF o aa
CEHAKENRE  BBARR
AXEEREFNEATE - AR
AIEEREER ARG EFH
EARKE A RSB AT 1T R BRI
B AEK R - NABTR
AIRERAETIRERE TSNS
SESEERBEH D BRI R
o BB ER R EREN

ymm =+ .
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HEZ=—Z-NF+=-A=+—HIFE

2.2 GOING CONCERN BASIS (continued)

The Company has been actively evaluating the
current financial and operating conditions with a
view of unlocking the intrinsic value of the Group’s
business and assets as the domestic business
environment gradually recovers. The Group will
continue to actively adapt to market changes
and capture demands. The Group intends to
continue developing its higher profit margin
interior design and building engineering services
business to improve profitability. As at the date
of this announcement, the Group has secured 35
contracts with a total contract sum of
approximately RMB1,087 million;

The Group will continue to accelerate the
collection of pre-sale payment and other
receivables and to seek suitable opportunities to
dispose of corporate fixed assets and investment
properties to generate additional cash inflows;
and

The Group has been taking measures to control
administrative costs and avoid unnecessary capital
expenditure in order to maintain liquidity. The
Group will also actively evaluate additional
measures to further reduce non-essential
expenditure.

2.2 BFEKEEE )

PEEBAERIRREHER - A
Al —EEBGREE A8 B
AR - LABRRR SR B S S AT
BEEMNANEEEB SBRBFER
BEEMSEEL ZEEMET
ko KEFEEERRABEXRE
SHNENRTRBEETIRERSE
% IRAEFEES - BEAR
LR SEDEBISHER
BHRSETENF10867BTAR
s

7N B S F5 B DN R UL [T R R K
Hi Rl YSEE#EH
ELXETEERKELE M
B NEERINRERA &

AREE—BEREUEM - AEHITT
BB AN B 3t o 1 s B ) B AN
X BREFESRBME - A&
B IS E R R L RRIME B - DA
— R IFBEFT

123



JIYI HOLDINGS LIMITED £ —1ZBH TR A 7]
ANNUAL REPORT 2024 iR

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
ZE M IEEHRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 BEZ=—Z=—NF+=-A=+—HIFE

2.2

124

GOING CONCERN BASIS (continued)

The Board is of the opinion that, taking into account
the above plans and measures implemented during
the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group will
have sufficient working capital to finance its
operations and meet its financial obligations as and
when they fall due within the next twelve months
from 31 December 2024. The Directors have also
considered the cash flow projections of the Group
prepared by the management for a period of not less
than 12 months from the end of the Reporting Period.
The Directors are of the opinion that, in view of the
above plans and measures, the Group will have sufficient
working capital for the foreseeable future to finance its
operations and to meet its financial obligations as and
when they fall due as agreed with its creditors.
Accordingly, they are satisfied that the consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2024 have been properly prepared on a going concern
basis.

Notwithstanding the above, there remains a material
uncertainty as to whether the Group will be able to
realize the above plans and measures. The Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern will depend on the
following:

(@ Its debts, including bank and other borrowings and
senior notes, would be successfully extended;

2.2 FEKEREE )

EE2RA T REZE20245F128
BRI FEEREN Els 8 &5 -
AEBEHRERENEEESRHEE
BERHEESRETH2024F12H31
HET-EARNIHNMBEEE - E
ENEEREEEMRUAER B R
ESHRER DR 1218 A BRENES R
EBA -EFZRAE ERLAFER
T AEBEAIBRARREHES
FEMEELESAEKEREESR
fr B B E R A EX T E R BT
MBERBE Bt BREEMEE_ZT
“—NE+ZA=+—BLFENKE
MHRRDEFESCEEERIUBE
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EEMNA LA AREERESER it
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2.2 GOING CONCERN BASIS (continued) 22 BEKERE »)

(b)  Successful and timely implementation of plans to (b) BRI Kz B3 B e st 2 LA AN R 5
accelerate the pre-sale and sale of properties under BEHhERERTYENTEE &
development and completed properties, accelerate FHE IR R 8H & B FAY UL
the collection of outstanding sales proceeds, control B - PSR R IE B AR
costs and control capital expenditure to generate NEEFZEWFRER/A K

sufficient net cash inflows; and

(c)  Successful sale of assets when required. (€0 MNBEERKINEEEE -

If the Group were unable to continue as a going concern, WMEREFBEEZGERCL BTl g%
adjustments may be necessary to write down the carrying HETHABRUBEENREAERLS
amount of assets to their net recoverable value, to H A B FE - ptr] gt H IR e A
provide for any further liabilities that may arise and to —FSaBETERE UEIERBEE
reclassify non-current assets and non-current liabilities as FIERDEEL R ENDOBEAREE
current assets and current liabilities respectively. The ENTHAE ZEHBNZEL K
effect of these adjustments has not been reflected in the RN AEFHEEZ _ET_WE+_HA
Group's consolidated financial statements for the year =+—HItFEENGEEMBERERD -

ended 31 December 2024.
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B IF R R EE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HKFRS ACCOUNTING
STANDARDS

Amendments to HKFRS Accounting
Standards that are mandatorily effective
for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following
amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
("HKICPA™") for the first time, which are mandatorily
effective for the annual period beginning on 1 January
2024 for the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements:
Amendments to HKFRS 16  Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback
Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities
as Current or Non-current
Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants
Amendments to HKAS 7

and HKFRS 7

Supplier Finance
Arrangements

The application of the amendments to HKFRS Accounting
Standards and interpretation in the current year has had
no material impact on the Group’s financial positions and
performance for the current and prior years and/or on
the disclosures set out in these consolidated financial
statements.
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2.3 APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HKFRS ACCOUNTING
STANDARDS (continued)

New and amendments to HKFRS
Accounting Standards in issue but not yet

effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards that have
been issued but are not yet effective and may be relevant

to the group.

Amendments to HKFRS 9

and HKFRS 7

Amendments to HKFRS 9

and HKFRS 7

Amendments to HKFRS 10

and HKAS 28

Amendments to HKFRS
Accounting standard

Amendments to HKAS 21

and HKAS 1

HKFRS 18

Amendments to HK Int 5

Amendments to the
Classification and
Measurement of Financial
Instruments?

Contracts Referencing
Nature-dependent
Electricity?

Sale or Contribution of
Assets between an
Investor and its Associate
or Joint Venture!

Annual Improvements to
HKFRS Accounting
Standards — Volume 113

Lack of Exchangeability?

Presentation and Disclosure
in Financial Statements*

Presentation of Financial
Statements —
Classification by the
Borrower of a Term Loan
that Contains a
Repayment on Demand
Clause*

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be

determined
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025
g Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2026
4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HKFRS ACCOUNTING
STANDARDS (continued)

New and amendments to HKFRS
Accounting Standards in issue but not yet
effective (Continued)

The Group is in the process of assessing the impact of
these new and amendments to HKFRs Accounting
Standards. So far it has concluded that the adoption of
them is unlikely to have a significant impact on the
consolidated financial statements except for HKFRS 18
Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements
which is detailed below.

HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in
Financial Statements

HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial
Statements, which sets out requirements on presentation
and disclosures in financial statements, will replace HKAS
1 Presentation of Financial Statements. This new HKFRS
Accounting Standard, while carrying forward many of
the requirements in HKAS 1, introduces new
requirements to present specified categories and defined
subtotals in the statement of profit or loss; provide
disclosures on management-defined performance
measures in the notes to the financial statements and
improve aggregation and disaggregation of information
to be disclosed in the financial statements. In addition,
some HKAS 1 paragraphs have been moved to HKAS 8
and HKFRS 7. Minor amendments to HKAS 7 Statement
of Cash Flows and HKAS 33 Earnings per Share are also
made.
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2.3 APPLICATION OF NEW AND

AMENDMENTS TO HKFRS ACCOUNTING
STANDARDS (continued)

New and amendments to HKFRS
Accounting Standards in issue but not yet
effective (Continued)

HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in
Financial Statements (Continued)

HKFRS 18, and amendments to other standards, will be
effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2027, with early application permitted. The
application of the new standard is expected to affect the
presentation of the statement of profit or loss and
disclosures in the future financial statements. The Group
is in the process of assessing the detailed impact of
HKFRS 18 on the Group’'s consolidated financial
statements.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with HKFRS Accounting
Standards, which includes all HKFRS Accounting
Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs")
and Interpretations issued by the HKICPA. In addition,
the consolidated financial statements include applicable
disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
("Listing Rules”) and by the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on the historical cost basis except for certain
properties and financial instruments that are measured at
fair values at the end of each reporting period, as
explained in the accounting policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the
measurement date, regardless of whether that price is
directly observable or estimated using another valuation
technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a
liability, the Group takes into account the characteristics
of the asset or liability if market participants would take
those characteristics into account when pricing the asset
or liability at the measurement date. Fair value for
measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these
consolidated financial statements is determined on such
a basis, except for share-based payment transactions that
are within the scope of HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment,
leasing transactions that are accounted for in accordance
with HKFRS 16, and measurements that have some
similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such as net
realisable value in HKAS 2 Inventories or value in use in
HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes
into account a market participant’s ability to generate
economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and
best use or by selling it to another market participant
that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

For financial instruments and investment properties
which are transacted at fair value and a valuation
technique that unobservable inputs is to be used to
measure fair value in subsequent periods, the valuation
technique is calibrated so that at initial recognition the
results of the valuation technique equals the transaction
price.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based
on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value
measurements are observable and the significance of the
inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety,
which are described as follows:

o Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in
active markets for identical assets or liabilities that
the entity can access at the measurement date;

o Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the
asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

o Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset
or liability.

The principal accounting policies are set out below.

Basis of consolidation

These consolidated financial statements include the
financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries
for the end of each reporting period. A subsidiary is an
entity (including a structured entity), directly or indirectly,
controlled by the Company. Control is achieved when
the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns
from its involvement with the investee and has the ability
to affect those returns through its power over the
investee (l.e., existing rights that give the Group the
current ability to direct the relevant activities of the
investee).
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than a
majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the
Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances in
assessing whether it has power over an investee,
including:

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group
obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the
Group loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income
and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of
during the year are included in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income from the date the Group gains control until the
date when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

o the contractual arrangement with the other vote
holders of the investee;

J rights arising from other contractual arrangements;
and

o The Group’s voting rights and potential voting
rights.

The financial statements of subsidiaries are prepared for
the same reporting period as the Company, using
consistent accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries
are consolidated from the date on which the Group
obtains control, and continue to be consolidated until
the date that such control ceases.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Profit or loss and each component of other
comprehensive income are attributed to the owners of
the parent of the Group and to the non-controlling
interests, even if this results in the non-controlling
interest having a deficit balance. All intra-group
transactions, balances, income and expenses are
eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are
changes to one or more of the three elements of control
described in the accounting policy for subsidiaries below.

Changes in the Group’'s ownership interests in
subsidiaries that do not result in the Group losing control
over the subsidiaries are accounted for as equity

transactions.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the profit
or loss on disposal is calculated as the difference between
(i) the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration
received and the fair value of any investment retained
and (ii) the previous carrying amount of the assets
(including goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary and
any non-controlling interests. The Group's share of
components previously recognised in other
comprehensive income is reclassified to the consolidated
income statement or retained profits, as appropriate, on
the same basis as would be required if the Group had
directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Business combinations and goodwiill

Effective from 1 January 2020, the Group can elect to
apply an optional concentration test, on a transaction-by-
transaction basis, that permits a simplified assessment of
whether an acquired set of activities and assets is not a
business. The concentration test is met if substantially all
of the fair value of the gross assets acquired is
concentrated in a single identifiable asset or group of
similar identifiable assets. The gross assets under
assessment exclude cash and cash equivalents, deferred
tax assets, and goodwill resulting from the effects of
deferred tax liabilities. If the concentration test is met,
the set of activities and assets is determined not to be a
business and no further assessment is needed.

Business combinations are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a
business combination is measured at fair value, which is
calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date fair values
of the assets transferred by the Group, liabilities assumed
by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree and
the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for
control of the acquiree. For each business combination,
the Group elects whether to measure non-controlling
interests that are present ownership interests and entitle
their holders to a proportionate share of the entity’s net
assets in the event of liquidation at fair value or at the
non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of the
acquiree’s identifiable net assets. Acquisition-related
costs are expensed as incurred.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Business combinations and goodwill
(Continued)

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the
financial assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate
classification and designation in accordance with the
contractual terms, economic circumstances and pertinent
conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the
separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts of
the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the
previously held equity interest is remeasured at its
acquisition date fair value and any resulting gain or loss is
recognised in the consolidated income statement.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the
acquirer is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date.
Contingent consideration classified as an asset or liability
that is a financial instrument and within the scope of
HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments, is measured at fair value
with changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss in
accordance with HKFRS 9. Other contingent
consideration that is not within the scope of HKFRS 9 is
measured at fair value at each reporting date with
changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss.
Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not
remeasured and subsequent settlement is accounted for
within equity.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Business combinations and goodwiill
(Continued)

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of
the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of
any non-controlling interests in the acquiree, and the fair
value of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in
the acquiree (if any) over the net of the acquisition-date
amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and the
liabilities assumed. If, after assessment, the net of the
acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets
acquired and liabilities assumed exceeds the sum of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-
controlling interests in the acquiree and the fair value of
the acquirer’s previously held interest in the acquiree (if
any), the excess is recognised immediately in the
consolidated income statement as a bargain purchase
gain.

After initial recognition, goodwill is carried at cost less
accumulated impairment losses, if any, and is presented
separately in the consolidated statement of financial
position.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Business combinations and goodwill
(Continued)

Goodwill is tested for impairment annually or more
frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate
that the carrying value may be impaired. The Group
performs its annual impairment test of goodwill as at 31
December. For the purposes of impairment testing,
goodwill is allocated to each of the Group's cash-
generating units (or groups of cash-generating units) that
is expected to benefit from the synergies of the
combination, irrespective of whether other assets or
liabilities of the Group are assigned to those units or
groups of units. Impairment is determined by assessing
the recoverable amount of the cash-generating units
(group of cash-generating units) to which the goodwill
relates. If the recoverable amount of the cash-generating
units (group of cash-generating units) is less than its
carrying amount, the impairment loss is allocated first to
reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to
the unit (group of cash-generating units) and then to the
other assets of the unit on a pro-rata basis based on the
carrying amount of each asset in the unit. Any
impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed
in subsequent periods.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating
unit (or group of cash-generating units) and part of the
operation within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill
associated with the operation disposed of is included in
the carrying amount of the operation when determining
the gain or loss on the disposal. Goodwill disposed of in
these circumstances is measured based on the relative
value of the operation disposed of and the portion of the
cash-generating unit retained.

BEARSFTHE )
E¥REHEEE®)

BEAGFEREAN  MERER
EMRBEAEEMEARRAEER
BRE AlgRAEmETAR - &
SERt-_A=t—HETHENF
FORERH - RERNHANE - B8
DEERHA NS O E £ R UE
hESNASESRSESBEM (KA
TELEGHER)  MTmAREEMD
BEXBECOE TREEMNENM
ARl BEBEBTEEMERBNER
TEABMCREELEMAR) WA
WoeHEEE HREELBEV(RE
EABEMAR) B E e RERERE
8- RIFERRRERTE - S B ATRER
BREBETENERPAMED - &
BEEEEREIRZEML R ELEM
R ED R 2 ERIEBREE - &
NZBEMNAREERMERESE %
WOINEEEZEMLANEMEE - 3LE
BHERNERREBETENHER
HEAfE (O o

FREBIEERGELENM (KBLE
EEMAER]) - BREMAED EHEK
HE AIREEHENRER - A
P E X B A B AZKOKRE
B EHFBERATHENEEREMN
HEXBNEEEENIRSES SN
FTREREDETE ©

137



JIYI HOLDINGS LIMITED £ —1ZBH TR A 7]
ANNUAL REPORT 2024 iR

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

n'.R

For the year ended 31 December 2024 BEZ=—Z=—NF+=-A=+—HIFE

138

B IF R R EE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a
performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control”
of the goods or services underlying the particular
performance obligation is transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or
a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series
of distinct goods or services that are substantially the
same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is
recognised over time by reference to the progress
towards complete satisfaction of the relevant
performance obligation if one of the following criteria is
met:

o the customer simultaneously receives and consumes
the benefits provided by the Group’s performance
as the Group performs;

e the Group's performance creates or enhances an
asset that the customer controls as the Group

performs; or

e the Group's performance does not create an asset
with an alternative use to the Group and the Group
has an enforceable right to payment for
performance completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when
the customer obtains control of the distinct good or
service.

3.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)

A contract asset represents the Group’s right to
consideration in exchange for goods or services that the
Group has transferred to a customer that is not yet
unconditional. It is assessed for impairment in accordance
with HKFRS 9. In contrast, a receivable represents the
Group’s unconditional right to consideration, i.e. only the
passage of time is required before payment of that
consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group'’s obligation to
transfer goods or services to a customer for which the
Group has received consideration (or an amount of
consideration is due) from the customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to the
same contract are accounted for and presented on a net
basis.

Overtime revenue recognition: measurement
of progress towards complete satisfaction of
a performance obligation

Input method

The progress towards complete satisfaction of a
performance obligation is measured based on input
method, which is to recognise revenue on the basis of
the Group’s efforts or inputs to the satisfaction of a
performance obligation relative to the total expected
inputs to the satisfaction of that performance obligation,
that best depict the Group’s performance in transferring
control of goods or services.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)

Overtime revenue recognition: measurement
of progress towards complete satisfaction of
a performance obligation (Continued)

Variable consideration

For contracts that contain variable consideration
(variation order of construction work), the Group
estimates the amount of consideration to which it will be
entitled using either (a) the expected value method or (b)
the most likely amount, depending on which method
better predicts the amount of consideration to which the
Group will be entitled.

The estimated amount of variable consideration is
included in the transaction price only to the extent that it
is highly probable that such an inclusion will not result in
a significant revenue reversal in the future when the
uncertainty associated with the variable consideration is
subsequently resolved.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group updates
the estimated transaction price (including updating its
assessment of whether an estimate of variable
consideration is constrained) to represent faithfully the
circumstances present at the end of the reporting period
and the changes in circumstances during the reporting
period.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)

Overtime revenue recognition: measurement
of progress towards complete satisfaction of
a performance obligation (Continued)

Existence of significant financing component

In determining the transaction price, the Group adjusts
the promised amount of consideration for the effects of
the time value of money if the timing of payments
agreed (either explicitly or implicitly) provides the
customer or the Group with a significant benefit of
financing the transfer of goods or services to the
customer. In those circumstances, the contract contains a
significant financing component. A significant financing
component may exist regardless of whether the promise
of financing is explicitly stated in the contract or implied
by the payment terms agreed to by the parties to the
contract.

For contracts where the period between payment and
transfer of the services is less than one year, the Group
applies the practical expedient of not adjusting the
transaction price for any significant financing
component.

For contracts where the Group transferred the associated
goods or services before payments from customers in
which the Group adjusts for the promised amount of
consideration for significant financing components, the
Group applies a discount rate that would be reflected in
a separate financing transaction between the Group and
the customer at contract inception. The Group recognises
interest income during the period between the payment
from customers and the transfer of the associated goods
or services.

BEAESTHE®

BEEEHWA @)

BERFEITERR W2t © T EAE
EZEEE(E)

FHEEABES D

BEXZEBRE - Wi E 2 5 EE
(TmARXES) REFIAKEIE
HEERNEPERERARBIEX
BENG  AREERERERER
ZEEBAEARNESE - EAEQ%’IE
AT AHEBEERBERND

qmﬂéﬁﬁﬁ*aTEHEEEJJ‘SGE\%’UEJZIS%/?
BT HE S FIEHF - 5

BEFHEEARRERD

SR RAERRGERDE TR —
FZAH  AEBEEMAATEREDE
TREMNEARE LD HBZXHE -

RAEEREEANRATEEEBEM
IRBAEPAEEAEERNFE F
DZEBRESBZEAME A%
B 706 #0516 R FE A A R B AR &R [ R
BEPZBUBMER S 2B X - KE
EeRREFLPNREEEREE MK
PR 75 HARE 2 FI S UL A o

141



JIYI HOLDINGS LIMITED &£ — =8 H R T
ANNUAL REPORT 2024 iR

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
ZE M IEEHRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 BEZ=—Z=—NF+=-A=+—HIFE

142

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Leases
Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys
the right to control the use of an identified asset for a
period of time in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified or arising from
business combinations on or after the date of initial
application, the Group assesses whether a contract is or
contains a lease based on the definition under HKFRS 16
at inception, modification date or acquisition date, as
appropriate. Such contract will not be reassessed unless
the terms and conditions of the contract are
subsequently changed.

The Group as a lessee

Allocation of consideration to components of a
contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and one
or more additional lease or non-lease components, the
Group allocates the consideration in the contract to each
lease component on the basis of the relative stand-alone
price of the lease component and the aggregate stand-
alone price of the non-lease components.

The Group also applies practical expedient not to
separate non-lease components from lease component,
and instead account for the lease component and any
associated non-lease components as a single lease
component.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. EXEFBEm®

(Continued)

Leases (Continued) HE®)

The Group as a lessee (Continued) FEEERABA (E)

Short-term leases FEHIEE

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition AEBH ARG ABEHEBRA12@A
exemption to leases of office premises and retail stores SN TETEEEEERIPHAE
that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the XRTEEHEERASNHEERR
commencement date and do not contain a purchase 0Ne -  WHAE 2 AENHNEE S
option. Lease payments on short-term leases are W?ﬁﬁ/ﬁ%ﬁ?}zw R EERER
recognised as expense on a straight-line basis or another AR .

systematic basis over the lease term.

Right-of-use assets EHEESE
The cost of right-of-use asset includes: FREEENARTE

HERBZMPTESRE

. the amount of the initial measurement of the lease

liability;

e any lease payments made at or before the o  RFHB B ZAIEL 2 EmHE
commencement date, less any lease incentives BN RERBREEERSE
received;

e any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and s AEKEEAZAMVIFZEEK

PN

e an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group in o ANEBIFRKRMBEBRIBEAEE - Ik
dismantling and removing the underlying assets, EHRBEEMESkEHEEE
restoring the site on which it is located or restoring EREZBEEAHRIGHEFTRE
the underlying asset to the condition required by AREEM 3% FE A Z HFTAA -

the terms and conditions of the lease.
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B IF R R EE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Right-of-use assets (Continued)

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line
basis over the shorter of its estimated useful life and the
lease term.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably
certain to obtain ownership of the underlying leased
assets at the end of the lease term are depreciated from
commencement date to the end of the useful life.
Otherwise, right-of-use assets are depreciated on a
straight-line basis over the shorter of its estimated useful
life and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate line
item on the consolidated statement of financial position.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under
HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments (“HKFRS 9”) and initially
measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair value at initial
recognition are considered as additional lease payments
and included in the cost of right-of-use assets.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group
recognises and measures the lease liability at the present
value of lease payments that are unpaid at that date. In
calculating the present value of lease payments, the
Group uses the incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the
lease is not readily determinable.

The lease payments include:

e fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments) less any lease incentives receivable;

o variable lease payments that depend on an index or
a rate, initially measured using the index or rate as
at the commencement date;

o amounts expected to be payable by the Group
under residual value guarantees;

o the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group
is reasonably certain to exercise the option; and

o payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if the
lease term reflects the Group exercising an option
to terminate the lease.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Lease liabilities (Continued)

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are
adjusted by interest accretion and lease payments.

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a
corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use
assets) whenever:

o the lease term has changed or there is a change in
the assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in
which case the related lease liability is remeasured
by discounting the revised lease payments using a
revised discount rate at the date of reassessment.

o the lease payments change due to changes in
market rental rates following a market rent review
in which cases the related lease liability is
remeasured by discounting the revised lease
payments using the initial discount rate.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item
on the consolidated statement of financial position.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Lease modifications

The Group accounts for a lease modification as a
separate lease if:

o the modification increases the scope of the lease by
adding the right to use one or more underlying
assets; and

o the consideration for the leases increases by an
amount commensurate with the stand-alone price
for the increase in scope and any appropriate
adjustments to that stand- alone price to reflect the
circumstances of the particular contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a
separate lease, the Group remeasures the lease liability
based on the lease term of the modified lease by
discounting the revised lease payments using a revised
discount rate at the effective date of the modification.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease
liabilities by making corresponding adjustments to the
relevant right-of-use asset. When the modified contract
contains a lease component and one or more additional
lease or non-lease components, the Group allocates the
consideration in the modified contract to each lease
component on the basis of the relative stand-alone price
of the lease component and the aggregate stand-alone
price of the non-lease components.
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B IF R R EE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessor
Classification and measurement of leases

Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified as
finance or operating leases. Whenever the terms of the
lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
incidental to ownership of an underlying asset to the
lessee, the contract is classified as a finance lease. All
other leases are classified as operating leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in
profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the
relevant lease. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating
and arranging an operating lease are added to the
carrying amount of the leased asset, and such costs are
recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the
lease term except for investment properties measured

under fair value model.

Allocation of consideration to components of a
contract

When a contract includes both leases and non-lease
components, the Group applies HKFRS 15 to allocate
consideration in a contract to lease and non-lease
components. Non-lease components are separated from
lease component on the basis of their relative stand-
alone selling prices.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessor (Continued)
Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits received are accounted for
under HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value.
Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition are
considered as additional lease payments from lessees.

Lease modification

The Group accounts for a modification to an operating
lease as a new lease from the effective date of the
modification, considering any prepaid or accrued lease
payments relating to the original lease as part of the
lease payments for the new lease.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual
group entity, transactions in currencies other than the
functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are
recognised at the rates of exchanges prevailing on the
dates of the transactions. At the end of the reporting
period, monetary items denominated in foreign
currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that
date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the
rates prevailing on the date when the fair value was
determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in
terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not
retranslated.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of
monetary items, and on the retranslation of monetary
items, are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s
operations are translated into the presentation currency
of the Group (i.e. RMB) using exchange rates prevailing
at the end of each reporting period. Income and
expenses items are translated at the average exchange
rates for the period, unless exchange rates fluctuate
significantly during that period, in which case the
exchange rates at the date of transactions are used.
Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity
under the heading of translation reserve.

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that is, a disposal
of the Group'’s entire interest in a foreign operation, or a
disposal involving loss of control over a subsidiary that
includes a foreign operation, or a partial disposal of an
interest in a joint arrangement or an associate that
includes a foreign operation of which the retained
interest becomes a financial asset), all of the exchange
differences accumulated in equity in respect of that
operation attributable to the owners of the Company are
reclassified to profit or loss.

Exchange differences relating to the retranslation of the
Group’s net assets in Hong Kong dollars to the Group’s
presentation currency (i.e. RMB) are recognised directly in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in
translation reserve. Such exchange differences
accumulated in the translation reserve are not reclassified
to profit or loss subsequently.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax
currently payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for
the year. Taxable profit differs from profit before tax
because of income or expense that are taxable or
deductible in other years and items that are never taxable
or deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is
calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in
the consolidated financial statements and the
corresponding tax bases used in the computation of
taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred
tax assets are generally recognised for all deductible
temporary differences to the extent that it is probable
that taxable profits will be available against which those
deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such
deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from the initial recognition
(other than in a business combination) of assets and
liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable
profit nor the accounting profit and at the time of
transaction does not give rise to equal taxable and
deductible temporary differences. In addition, deferred
tax liabilities are not recognised if the temporary
difference arises from the initial recognition of goodwvill.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences associated with investments in
subsidiaries, except where the Group is able to control
the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable
that the temporary difference will not reverse in the
foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from
deductible temporary differences associated with such
investments are only recognised to the extent that it is
probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits
against which to utilise the benefits of the temporary
differences and they are expected to reverse in the
foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at
the end of each reporting period and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to
be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply in the period in which
the liability is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax
rate (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the
manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the
reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount
of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for
investment properties that are measured using the fair
value model, the carrying amounts of such properties are
presumed to be recovered entirely through sale, unless
the presumption is rebutted. The presumption is rebutted
when the investment property is depreciable and is held
within a business model whose objective is to consume
substantially all of the economic benefits embodied in
the investment property over time, rather than through
sale.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing
transactions in which the Group recognises the right-of-
use assets and the related lease liabilities, the Group first
determines whether the tax deductions are attributable
to the right-of-use assets or the lease liabilities.

3.
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B IF R R EE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are
attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies
HKAS 12 Income Taxes requirements to right-of-use
assets and lease liabilities separately. The Group
recognises a deferred tax asset related to lease liabilities
to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be
available against which the deductible temporary
differences can be utilised and a deferred tax liability for
all taxable temporary differences.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is
a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and when they relate to
income taxes levied to the same taxable entity by the
same taxation authority.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in
which case, the current and deferred tax are also
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in
equity respectively. Where current tax or deferred tax
arises from the initial accounting for a business
combination, the tax effect is included in the accounting
for the business combination.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets that
are held for use in the production or supply of goods or
services, or for administrative purposes (other than
properties under construction as described below).
Property, plant and equipment are stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position at cost less
subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent
accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Buildings in the course of construction for production,
supply or administrative purposes are carried at cost, less
any recognised impairment loss. Costs include any costs
directly attributable to bringing the asset to the location
and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating
in the manner intended by management and, for
qualifying assets, borrowing costs capitalised in
accordance with the Group’s accounting policy.
Depreciation of these assets, on the same basis as other
property assets, commences when the assets are ready

for their intended use.

If a property becomes an investment property because its
use has changed as evidenced by end of owner-
occupation, any difference between the carrying amount
and the fair value of that item (including the relevant
leasehold land under HKFRS 16 or prepaid lease
payments under HKAS 17) at the date of transfer is
recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in property revaluation reserve. On the
subsequent sale or retirement of the property, the
relevant revaluation reserve will be transferred directly to
retained profits.
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B IF R R EE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of
assets other than properties under construction less their
residual values over their estimated useful lives, using the
straight- line method. The estimated useful lives, residual
values and depreciation method are reviewed at the end
of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes
in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is
derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic
benefits are expected to arise from the continued use of
the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or
retirement of an item of property, plant and equipment
is determined as the difference between the sales
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is
recognised in profit or loss.

Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals
and/or for capital appreciation.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost,
including any directly attributable expenditure.
Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties
are measured at fair value, adjusted to exclude any
prepaid or accrued operating lease income.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of
investment properties are included in profit or loss for
the period in which they arise.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Investment properties (Continued)

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or
when the investment property is permanently withdrawn
from use and no future economic benefits are expected
from its disposal. Any gain or loss arising on
derecognition of the property (calculated as the
difference between the net disposal proceeds and the
carrying amount of the asset) is included in profit or loss
in the period in which the property is derecognised.

If a property occupied by the Group as an owner-
occupied property becomes and investment property, the
Group accounts for such property in accordance with the
policy stated under “Property, plant and equipment and
depreciation” up to the date of change in use, and any
difference at that date between the carrying amount and
the fair value of the property is accounted for as a
revaluation in accordance with the policy “Property, plant
and equipment and depreciation” above.

Impairment on property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets other
than goodwill

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews
the carrying amounts of its property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets with finite useful lives
to determine whether there is any indication that these
assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such
indication exists, the recoverable amount of the relevant
asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the
impairment loss (if any).
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B IF R R EE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Impairment on property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets other
than goodwill (Continued)

The recoverable amount of property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets are estimated
individually. When it is not possible to estimate the
recoverable amount individually, the Group estimates the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which
the asset belongs.

In addition, corporate assets are allocated to individual
cash-generating units, when a reasonable and consistent
basis of allocation can be established, or otherwise they
are allocated to the smallest group of cash generating
units for which a reasonable and consistent allocation
basis can be established. The Group assesses whether
there is indication that corporate assets may be impaired.
If such indication exists, the recoverable amount is
determined for the cash-generating unit or group of
cash-generating units to which the corporate asset
belongs, and is compared with the carrying amount of
the relevant cash-generating unit or group of cash-
generating units.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money
and the risks specific to the asset (or a cash-generating
unit) for which the estimates of future cash flows have
not been adjusted.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Impairment on property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets other
than goodwill (Continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-
generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying
amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-
generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount. For
corporate assets or portion of corporate assets which
cannot be allocated on a reasonable and consistent basis
to a cash-generating unit, the Group compares the
carrying amount of a group of cash-generating units,
including the carrying amounts of the corporate assets or
portion of corporate assets allocated to that group of
cash-generating units, with the recoverable amount of
the group of cash-generating units. In allocating the
impairment loss, the impairment loss is allocated first to
reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill (if applicable)
and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis based on
the carrying amount of each asset in the unit or the
group of cash-generating units. The carrying amount of
an asset is not reduced below the highest of its fair
valueless costs of disposal (if measurable), its value in use
(if determinable) and zero. The amount of the
impairment loss that would otherwise have been
allocated to the asset is allocated pro-rata to the other
assets of the unit or the group of cash-generating units.
An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or
loss.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Impairment on property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets other
than goodwill (Continued)

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit or
a group of cash-generating units) is increased to the
revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that
the increased carrying amount does not exceed the
carrying amount that would have been determined had
no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or a
cash-generating unit or a group of cash-generating units)
in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised
when a group entity becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument. All regular way purchases
or sales of financial assets are recognised and
derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular way
purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial
assets that require delivery of assets within the time
frame established by regulation or convention in the
market place.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value except for trade receivables arising
from contracts with customers which are initially
measured in accordance with HKFRS 15. Transaction
costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or
issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than
financial assets or financial liabilities at FVTPL) are added
to or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets
or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial
recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the
acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at
FVTPL are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability
and of allocating interest income and interest expense
over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the
rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts
and payments (including all fees and points paid or
received that form an integral part of the effective
interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or
discounts) through the expected life of the financial asset
or financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter
period, to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. EXSHBE®
(Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued) E®MIE®)
Financial assets THEE
Classification and subsequent measurement of CHEELEREZE

financial assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are BFAUTIRER S 7S = H 1% 15

subsequently measure data mortised cost: ARG £ :

e the financial asset is held within a business model e REMAKDRANEESREZH
whose objective is to collect contractual cash flows; BEAXANFEZEREE &
and

e the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to o EAHBRARBIRNETERAHEAN
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and BenEadrREINEAE RA
interest on the principal amount outstanding. BBARL%EHE o

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are BEUTIRENESMEEEBIZAT

subsequently measured at fair value through other Bt AHmermikzs ([ AFESA

comprehensive income (“FVTOCI"): Hih2mkam]) st E

e the financial asset is held within a business model o REMALERKERALIRER
whose objective is achieved by both selling and EVEBEREARNBECERE
collecting contractual cash flows; and B R

e the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to s EAHBRREBIRNETERAHELAN
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and B nadrREINEAE KRR
interest on the principal amount outstanding. BBARLXEHE o
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets (Continued)

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at
FVTPL, except that at the date of initial application of
HKFRS 9/initial recognition of a financial asset the Group
may irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes in
fair value of an equity investment in other comprehensive
income if that equity investment is neither held for
trading nor contingent consideration recognised by an
acquirer in a business combination to which HKFRS 3
Business Combinations applies.

A financial asset is held for trading if:

o it has been acquired principally for the purpose of
selling in the near term; or

o on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of
identified financial instruments that the Group
manages together and has a recent actual pattern
of short-term profit-taking; or

o it is a derivative that is not designated and effective
as a hedging instrument.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a
financial asset that are required to be measured at the
amortised cost or FVTOCI as measured at FVTPL if doing
so eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting
mismatch.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets (Continued)

(i)

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective
interest method for financial assets measured
subsequently at amortised cost. Interest income is
calculated by applying the effective interest rate to
the gross carrying amount of a financial asset,
except for financial assets that have subsequently
become credit-impaired (see below). For financial
assets that have subsequently become credit-
impaired, interest income is recognised by applying
the effective interest rate to the amortised cost of
the financial asset from the next reporting period. If
the credit risk on the credit-impaired financial
instrument improves so that the financial asset is no
longer credit-impaired, interest income is
recognised by applying the effective interest rate to
the gross carrying amount of the financial asset
from the beginning of the reporting period
following the determination that the asset is no
longer credit-impaired.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets (Continued)

(i) Financial assets at FV/TPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for
being measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI or
designated as FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value
at the end of each reporting period, with any fair
value gains or losses recognised in profit or loss.
The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss
includes any dividend or interest earned on the
financial asset and is included in the “other gains

and losses” line item.

Impairment of financial assets and other items
subject to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9

The Group performs impairment assessment under
expected credit loss (“ECL") model on financial assets
(including trade and other receivables, amounts due from
related parties and bank balances), and other items
(contract assets) which are subject to impairment under
HKFRS 9. The amount of ECL is updated at each
reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial
recognition.

3.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items
subject to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9
(Continued)

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all
possible default events over the expected life of the
relevant instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12 m
ECL") represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is
expected to result from default events that are possible
within 12 months after the reporting date. Assessment
are done based on the Group’s historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the
debtors, general economic conditions and an assessment
of both the current conditions at the reporting date as
well as the forecast of future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade
receivables and contract assets. The ECL on these assets
are assessed individually for debtors with significant
balances and/or collectively using a provision matrix with
appropriate groupings.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss
allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has
been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The
assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised
is based on significant increases in the likelihood or risk
of a default occurring since initial recognition.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. EXETEE®
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued) €T R %)
Financial assets (Continued) TREE &)

CMEERFETE B BHEE

Impairment of financial assets and other items

subject to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 BRI 9918 e EF A HEMELR 2
(Continued) JBU1E (4)
(i)  Significant increase in credit risk () 1=EEEERAE FH

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the reporting date with
the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition. In
making this assessment, the Group considers both
quantitative and qualitative information that is
reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly:

o an actual or expected significant deterioration
in the financial instrument’s external (if
available) or internal credit rating;

o significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant
increase in the credit spread, the credit default
swap prices for the debtor;
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items
subject to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9

(Continued)

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

existing or forecast adverse changes in
business, financial or economic conditions
that are expected to cause a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its
debt obligations;

an actual or expected significant deterioration
in the operating results of the debtor;

an actual or expected significant adverse
change in the regulatory, economic, or
technological environment of the debtor that
results in a significant decrease in the debtor’s
ability to meet its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above

assessment, the Group presumes that the credit risk

has increased significantly since initial recognition

when contractual payments are more than 30 days

past due, unless the Group has reasonable and

supportable information that demonstrates

otherwise.

3.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items
subject to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9
(Continued)

0

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

Despite the aforegoing, the Group assumes that
the credit risk on a debt instrument has not
increased significantly since initial recognition if the
debt instrument is determined to have low credit
risk at the reporting date. A debt instrument is
determined to have low credit risk if i) it has a low
risk of default, ii) the borrower has a strong
capacity to meet its contractual cash flow
obligations in the near term and iii) adverse changes
in economic and business conditions in the longer
term may, but will not necessarily, reduce the ability
of the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow
obligations. The Group considers a debt instrument
to have low credit risk when it has an internal or
external credit rating of ‘investment grade’ as per
globally understood definitions.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of
the criteria used to identify whether there has been
a significant increase in credit risk and revises them
as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are
capable of identifying significant increase in credit
risk before the amount becomes past due.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. EXETHE®
(Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued) col - m=NE-)
Financial assets (Continued) TREE &)

170

Impairment of financial assets and other items
subject to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9
(Continued)

(ii)

(iii)

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group
considers an event of default occurs when
information developed internally or obtained from
external sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely
to pay its creditors, including the Group, in full
(without taking into account any collaterals held by
the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that
default has occurred when a financial asset is more
than 90 days past due unless the Group has
reasonable and supportable information to
demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is
more appropriate.

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or
more events that have a detrimental impact on the
estimated future cash flows of that financial asset
have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is
credit-impaired includes observable data about the
following events:

(@) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or
the borrower;
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. EXEFEBE®
(Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued) ERMITE#)
Financial assets (Continued) THEEE (&)
Impairment of financial assets and other items THEERALETEBHEREE
subject to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 BRI 9918 e EF A HEMELR 2
(Continued) JBU1E (4)
(iii)) ~ Credit-impaired financial assets (Continued) (i) E1EERER L5 EE (&)
(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or past (b) EBXRAEH @ WHEREHIE
due event; 15
(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or (0 MERAMEEERZERA
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s HE 77 B fig R B IR R 2 5
financial difficulty, having granted to the MBS A AIER @ [FER
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reorganisation.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items
subject to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9
(Continued)

(iv)  Write-off policy

v)

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the counterparty is in
severe financial difficulty and there is no realistic
prospect of recovery, for example, when the
counterparty has been placed under liquidation or
has entered into bankruptcy proceedings, or in the
case of trade receivables, when the amounts are
over five years past due, whichever occurs sooner.
Financial assets written off may still be subject to
enforcement activities under the Group's recovery
procedures, taking into account legal advice where
appropriate. A write-off constitutes a derecognition
event. Any subsequent recoveries are recognised in
profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the
probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the
magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and the
exposure at default. The assessment of the
probability of default and loss given default is based
on historical data adjusted by forward-looking
information. Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased
and probability-weighted amount that is
determined with the respective risks of default
occurring as the weights.

3.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items
subject to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9
(Continued)

v)

Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in
accordance with the contract and the cash flows
that the Group expects to receive, discounted at
the effective interest rate determined at initial
recognition.

Where ECL is measured on a collective basis or
cater for cases where evidence at the individual
instrument level may not yet be available, the
financial instruments are grouped on the following
basis:

° Nature of financial instruments (i.e. the
Group's certain trade receivables and contract
assets are each assessed as a separate group.
Trade receivable and contract assets with
significant outstanding balances and amounts
due from related parties are assessed for ECL
on an individual basis);

° Past-due status;

° Nature, size and industry of debtors;
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 BEZ=—Z=—NF+=-A=+—HIFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items
subject to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9
(Continued)

v)

Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management
to ensure the constituents of each group continue
to share similar credit risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset unless the
financial asset is credit-impaired, in which case
interest income is calculated based on amortised
cost of the financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in
profit or loss for all financial instruments by
adjusting their carrying amount, with the exception
of trade receivables and contract assets where the
corresponding adjustment is recognised through a
loss allowance account.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the

contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire,

or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially

all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to

another entity. On derecognition of a financial asset

measured at amortised cost, the difference between the

asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the consideration

received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities and equity
Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either
financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with the
substance of the contractual arrangements and the
definitions of a financial liability and an equity

instrument.
Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a
residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting
all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the
Company are recognised at the proceeds received, net of
direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities including trade and bills payable and
other payables, bank borrowings and convertible loan
notes are subsequently measured at amortised cost,
using the effective interest method.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to
get ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the
cost of those assets until such time as the assets are
substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss
in the period in which they are incurred.
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B IF R R EE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities and equity (Continued)
Convertible loan notes

The component parts of the convertible loan notes are
classified separately as financial liability and equity in
accordance with the substance of the contractual
arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability
and an equity instrument. A conversion option that will
be settled by the exchange of a fixed amount of cash or
another financial asset for a fixed number of the
Company’s own equity instruments is an equity
instrument.

At the date of issue, the fair value of the liability
component (including any embedded non-equity
derivatives features) is estimated by measuring the fair
value of similar liability that does not have an associated
equity component.

A conversion option classified as equity is determined by
deducting the amount of the liability component from
the fair value of the compound instrument as a whole.
This is recognised and included in equity, net of income
tax effects, and is not subsequently remeasured. In
addition, the conversion option classified as equity will
remain in equity until the conversion option is exercised,
in which case, the balance recognised in equity will be
transferred to share premium. Where the conversion
option remains unexercised at the maturity date of the
convertible note, the balance recognised in equity will be
transferred to retained profits. No gain or loss is
recognised in profit or loss upon conversion or expiration
of the conversion option.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HEZ=—Z-NF+=-A=+—HIFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities and equity (Continued)
Convertible loan notes (Continued)

Transaction costs that relate to the issue of the
convertible loan notes are allocated to the liability and
equity components in proportion to the allocation of the
gross proceeds. Transaction costs relating to the equity
component are charged directly to equity. Transaction
costs relating to the liability component are included in
the carrying amount of the liability portion and amortised
over the period of the convertible loan notes using the
effective interest method.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and
only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged,
cancelled or have expired. The difference between the
carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised
and the consideration paid and payable is recognised in
profit or loss.

Cash and bank balances

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flow, cash and bank balances comprise cash on hand
and demand deposits, and short term highly liquid
investments that are readily convertible into known
amounts of cash, are subject to an insignificant risk of
changes in value, and have a short maturity of generally
within three months when acquired, less bank overdrafts
which are repayable on demand and form an integral
part of the Group’s cash management.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Cash and bank balances (Continued)

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of
financial position, cash and bank balances comprise cash
on hand and cash at bank balances, which are not
restricted as to use.

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal
or constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and
it is probable that a future outflow of resources will be
required to settle the obligation, provided that a reliable
estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.
When the effect of discounting is material, the amount
recognised for a provision is the present value at the end
of the reporting period of the future expenditures
expected to be required to settle the obligation. The
increase in the discounted present value amount arising
from the passage of time is included in finance costs in
the consolidated income statement.

A contingent liability recognised in a business
combination is initially measured at its fair value.
Subsequently, it is measured at the higher of (i) the
amount that would be recognised in accordance with the
general guidance for provision above; and (ii) the amount
initially recognised less, when appropriate, cumulative
amortisation recognised in accordance with the guidance
for revenue recognition.
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4. PRIOR YEAR ADJUSTMENTS

(a) In the preparation of the Company’s consolidated

financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2024, the Company implemented a
series of measures in response to the unauthorised
guarantee arrangements. The Company engaged
independent advisors to conduct a special
investigation (the “Investigation”) into two
incidents of unauthorised guarantee arrangements
(the “Incidents”), commissioned appraisers to issue
valuation reports on the related collateral, and
conducted a comprehensive review to identify any
other undisclosed unauthorised financial assistance,
in order to assess the potential impact of these
matters on the Company’s business operations and
financial condition. During the investigation, the
independent advisors further discovered that Ms.
Hou Wei's personal credit report indicated her
involvement as a guarantor in two finance lease
transactions, where the borrowers were the
Company's non-wholly owned subsidiaries,
Guangjilian (Guangzhou) Trading Co., Ltd.
("Guangjilian”) and Guangxi Jiyi New Energy
Technology Co., Ltd. (“Guangxi Jiyi”), but these
transactions were not disclosed in the 2022 and
2023 annual reports.
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4. PRIOR YEAR ADJUSTMENTS (Continued) 4. LEERFAE#)

(a) (Continued) (a) &)

180

Regarding the first unauthorised guarantee
arrangement, Mr. Deng Jianshen (spouse of Ms.
Hou Wei), Ms. Hou Wei, and Ms. Huang Wenging
obtained a loan of RMB 20,000,000 on 2
November 2020, which constituted a private
lending arrangement. The guarantor for this loan
was the Group’s subsidiary, Jiyi Industrial Group
(Shenzhen) Co. Ltd. (“Shenzhen Jiyi").

During a meeting held on 5 January 2022 to discuss
the Group’s overall operational status and financing
arrangements, Mr. Hou Bo (a non-executive director
of Jiyi Holdings), Mr. Ye Yihui, Mr. He Yanye, and
Mr. Hou Lianchang (independent non-executive
directors of Jiyi Holdings Limited) were absent. At
this meeting, Ms. Huang Wenging requested that
Shenzhen Jiyi be added as a guarantor. All
participants unanimously agreed to appoint
Shenzhen Jiyi as the guarantor for the unauthorised
guarantee provided to Mr. Deng Jianshen, Ms. Hou
Wei, and Ms. Deng Yiyi.

The second unauthorised guarantee arrangement
involved Guangdong Jiyi Home Building Materials
Chain Co., Ltd. ("Jiyi Home"). On 28 January 2022,
Jiyi Home authorised the prior Chief Financial
Officer, Ms. Deng Yiyi, to sign a personal loan
agreement with Bank of Communications Co., Ltd.,
Meizhou Branch, for a loan amount of RMB
7,000,000. The guarantors for this loan were Jiyi
Home, Mr. Deng Jianshen, Ms. Hou Wei, and Ms.
Deng Yiyi. The borrower was Ms. Deng Yiyi
personally.

Similarly, during a management meeting held on
16 January 2022, the same four directors were
absent. These four directors were unaware of both
unauthorised guarantee arrangements.
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4. PRIOR YEAR ADJUSTMENTS (Continued)

(a) (Continued)

In relation to the Incidents, the guarantees provided
by Ms. Deng Yiyi, Mr. Deng Jianshen, and Ms. Hou
Wei essentially constituted “financial assistance
provided by a listed issuer’s group to connected
persons or jointly held entities” as regulated under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules, which legally
requires disclosure and board approval. As the
borrowers of both loans were not financial
institutions, their knowledge of compliance
requirements was limited, and they failed to strictly
follow standardized lending procedures.
Consequently, even though partial management
approval was obtained, formal authorisation from
the board of directors of Jiyi Holdings Limited was
not secured.

Additionally, during the 2022 audit period,
Guangjilian and Guangxi Jiyi signed finance leases
with Herald International Financial Leasing Co., Ltd.
("Herald Leasing”) to lease 8 and 13 new energy
vehicles, respectively. As the timing of these
transactions was near the end of 2022, the
Company was unable to record them promptly.
Although Mr. Luo Weizhao, the prior Chief
Financial Officer and Company Secretary, received
the relevant documents forwarded by Ms. Hou Wei,
he neither processed the accounting entries nor
informed the auditors. This resulted in the omission
of these transactions from the 2022 and 2023

financial statements.
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4. PRIOR YEAR ADJUSTMENTS (Continued)

182

(a) (Continued)

0]

Adjustment related to the
unauthorised guarantee
arrangements

The valuation report carried out by Vincorn
Consulting and Appraisal Limited, independent
and qualified professional valuers who are not
connected to the Group or its fair value
estimation process, shows that the borrowers
of the two loans have already pledged their
available collateral assets against existing
guarantee arrangements. The value of these
assets is sufficient to cover the amounts under
the two unauthorised guarantee arrangements.
As a result, these arrangements did not have a
material impact on the consolidated financial
statements for the years ended 31 December
2022, 2023, and 2024. The assessment
concludes that no adjustments to the overall
financial impact assessment are necessary.
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4. PRIOR YEAR ADJUSTMENTS (Continued) 4. LEERAE#)

(a) (Continued) (@) (&)
(i) Adjustment related to the unrecorded (i) REALZHEBEHES
finance leases B2 A

For the accounting treatment of the
unrecorded finance lease transactions, the
independent advisors determined that, as of
31 December 2024, the unrecorded finance
leases liabilities of Guangxi Jiyi and
Guangjilian primarily involved five aspects: 1
vehicle from Guangxi Jiyi, which the group
claimed it has been sold and could not be
recovered, is valued at approximately
RMB237,000 (2023: RMB235,000) based on
the corporate credit report; issued from China
Construction Bank Corporation 12 vehicles
repossessed by Herald Leasing from Guangxi
Jiyi, valued at approximately RMB2,744,000
(2023: RMB2,744,000) according to the credit
report and settlement agreement; 1 vehicle
transferred from Guangjilian to administrative
officer Sun Chaohai, valued at approximately
RMB111,000 (2023: RMB186,000); 4 vehicles
repossessed by Herald Leasing from
Guangjilian, valued at approximately
RMB879,000 (2023: RMB900,000) per the
settlement agreement; and 3 vehicles involved
in litigation with Beijing Jinchan Huitian
Investment Management Co., Ltd., valued at
approximately RMB712,000 (2023:
RMB688,000). These matters collectively
resulted in liabilities of approximately
RMB4,683,000 (2023: RMB4,871,000). The
valuation did not account for potential penalty
fees, as professional judgment deemed that
even if such penalties were incurred, their
amount would not materially affect the overall
financial assessment conclusion.

The Group has quantified the financial impact
on its consolidated financial statements, and
the effects are presented in the table below.
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PRIOR YEAR ADJUSTMENTS (Continued)

(b) Adjustment relating to the unrecorded
finance leases

A summary of the effect of the restatement on the
applicable line items within the Company’s
consolidated statement of financial position as at
31 December 2023 and 1 January 2023 were as

4. LFERE @)

(b) MEACENMEEES
BZAE

BIEARBR B _=F+
A=T—BAR-_ZT_=F—A—
B4R & B ISR R N E R IR B
RF BT -

follows:
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
REMBHRAR
As at 31 December 2023
RZEZ=%+tZA=t—-H
As previously Prior year
reported adjustment As restated
MRS TEERE 2]
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFTL AREFL AREF
Note (a)(ii)
i3t a)i)
Non-current assets FrBEE
Right-of-use assets EREEE 7,147 4,797 11,944
Current assets RBEE
Trade and other receivables and B 5 KAt U K
prepayment B HIE 499,117 (937) 498,180
Total assets EELE 902,165 3,860 906,025
Current liabilities REBEE
Lease liabilities MERE 269 4,761 5,030
Net current assets REBEEFE 297,521 (5,698) 291,823
Total assets less current liabilities ~ #EEFRBERE 405,106 (901) 404,205
Non-current liabilities FRBas
Lease liabilities HEEE = 146 146
Net assets BERE 383,229 (1,047) 382,182
Capital and reserves RER#E
Reserves @ 380,108 (1,047) 379,061
Equity attributable to owners of AARERAEMR
the Company i 382,498 (1,047) 381,451
Total equity Exmam 383,229 (1,047) 382,182
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4. PRIOR YEAR ADJUSTMENTS (continued) 4, FFEFE#)
(b) Adjustment relating to the unrecorded (b) MEXRTEHZNWHEHRES
finance leases (Continued) 2R E)

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

SRUBARE
As at 1 January 2023
R-ZE-=£-7—H
As previously Prior year
reported adjustment As restated
MRS TFERE E]
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREFT ANREFT AREFT
Note (a)(ii)
Fiaz @i
Non-current assets FRBEE
Right-of-use assets RREEE 7,067 2,085 9,152
Current assets REBEE
Trade and other receivables and prepayment B 5 REMBYE AR
A 795,437 (376) 795,061
Total assets EEAE 1,358,841 1,709 1,360,550
Current liabilities REEE
Lease liabilities HEBRE 41 1,958 1,999
Net current assets RBEEFE 740,368 (2,334) 738,534
Total assets less current liabilities HEERREBERE 926,981 (249) 926,732
Non-current liabilities FhRBEE
Lease liabilities HEakE - 22 222
Net assets BEERE 905,104 (471) 904,633
Capital and reserves BRAER e
Reserves 1 792,269 (471) 791,798
Equity attributable to owners of NG 2PN 5
the Company 904,381 (471) 903,910
Total equity ERaH 905,104 (471) 904,633
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4. PRIOR YEAR ADJUSTMENTS (continued) 4. LFERE @)
(b) Adjustment relating to the unrecorded (b) EREHZENHEHEER
finance leases (Continued) BAzAEE)
A summary of the effect of the restatement on the BIBARRIRBE_ZT_=F
applicable line items within the Company’s T A=t+—HIEFENGZEE
consolidated statement of profit or loss for the year = NiE A IE B A &2 28 an
ended 31 December 2023 were as follows: T

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
ZEMBRRE
As at 31 December 2023
RIZZ=F+-A=1—H

As previously Prior year
reported adjustment As restated
NS TEEHE E]
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
AREFT AREFT ARETFT
Note (a)(ii)
Hizt (@i
Administrative expenses THHAX (15,640) (496) (16,136)
Finance costs IR AR (9,721) (80) (9,801)
Loss before tax BRATER (487,980) (576) (488,556)
Loss for the year ERER (498,580) (576) (499,156)
Total comprehensive loss for the year ~ FRZHABELE (521,875) (576) (522,451)
Loss for the year attributable to: A& A EEERER
— Owners of the company —KRAEEA (498,588) (576) (499,164)
Total comprehensive loss for the UTEREEERZE
year attributable to: BB
— Owners of the company — RAFERA (521,883) (576) (522,459)
(521,875) (576) (522,451)
Loss per share attributable to owners A2 R)#EHE A ELEER
of the Company for the year EREE
— Basic (RMB cents per share) —ER(ARER) (189.03) (0.22) (189.25)
— Diluted (RMB cents per share) —EE(ARED) (189.03) (0.22) (189.25)
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies,
which are described in Note 3, the directors of the
Company are required to make judgements, estimates
and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other
sources. The estimates and underlying assumptions are
based on historical experience and other factors that are
considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from
these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed
on an on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates
are recognised in the period in which the estimate is
revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the
period of the revision and future periods if the revision
affects both current and future periods.

Critical judgements in applying accounting
policies

The following are the critical judgements, apart from
those involving estimations (see below), that the directors
of the Company have made in the process of applying
the Group’s accounting policies and that have the most
significant effect on the amounts recognised in the
consolidated financial statements.

Going concern basis

These consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on a going concern basis, the validity of which
depends upon the successful implementation of the
initiatives at a level sufficient to address the working
capital requirements of the Group. Details are explained
in note 2.2 to the consolidated financial statements.

5.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Critical judgements in applying accounting
policies (Continued)

Deferred taxation on investment properties

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax arising from
investment properties that are measured using the fair
value model, the directors of the Company have
reviewed the Group’s investment property portfolios and
concluded that the Group’s investment properties are
not held under a business model whose objective is to
consume substantially all of the economic benefits
embodied in the investment properties over time.
Therefore, in determining the deferred taxation on
investment properties, the directors of the Company
have determined that the presumption that the carrying
amounts of investment properties measured using the
fair value model are recovered entirely through sale is not
rebutted. The Group recognised additional deferred taxes
relating to Land Appreciation Tax (“LAT") and Enterprise
Income Tax (“EIT"”) on changes in fair value of such
investment properties as appropriate.

5.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Critical judgements in applying accounting
policies (Continued)

Classification between investment properties
and owner-occupied properties

The Group determines whether a property qualifies as an
investment property, and has developed criteria in
making that judgement. Investment property is a
property held to earn rentals or for capital appreciation
or both. Therefore, the Group considers whether a
property generates cash flows largely independently of
the other assets held by the Group. Some properties
comprise a portion that is held to earn rentals or for
capital appreciation and another portion that is held for
use in the production or supply of goods or services or
for administrative purposes. If these portions could be
sold separately or leased out separately under a finance
lease, the Group accounts for the portions separately. If
the portions could not be sold separately, the property is
an investment property only if an insignificant portion is
held for use in the production or supply of goods or
services or for administrative purposes. Judgement is
made on an individual property basis to determine
whether ancillary services are so significant that a
property does not qualify as an investment property.

Principal versus agent

When another party is involved in providing goods or
services (including the trading of bulk commodity) to a
customer, the Group determines whether the nature of
its promise is a performance obligation to provide the
specified goods or services itself (i.e. the Group as a
principal) or to arrange for those goods or services to be
provided by the other party (i.e. the Group as an agent).
The Group is a principal if it controls the specified good
or services before that good or services is transferred to a
customer.

5.
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B IF R R EE

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the
future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty
at the end of the reporting period that may have a
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next
financial year.

Impairment assessment of trade receivables
and contract assets

Trade receivables and contract assets with significant
balances and credit-impaired are assessed for ECL
individually. In addition, the Group uses provision matrix
to calculate ECL for the trade receivables and contract
assets which are individually insignificant. The Group has
engaged an independent qualified professional valuer to
estimate the ECL of the Group’s trade receivables and
contract assets. The provision rates are based on internal
credit ratings as groupings of various debtors that have
similar loss patterns. The provision matrix is based on the
Group's historical default rates taking into consideration
forward-looking information that is reasonable and
supportable available without undue costs or effort.
Estimated losses are based on historical observed default
rates over the expected life of the trade receivables and
their related contract assets and are adjusted for forward-
looking information. At every reporting date, the
historical observed default rates are reassessed and
changes in the forward-looking information are
considered.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates.
The information about the ECL and the Group’s trade
receivables and contract assets are disclosed in Notes
39(b), 24 and 23, respectively
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(Continued)

Revenue recognition on contract work of
interior design and building engineering
services

The Group recognised contract revenue by reference to
the progress towards complete satisfaction of a
performance obligation at the end of the reporting
period which measured based on the proportion of
contract costs incurred for work performed to date
relative to the estimated total contract costs. The
recognition of contract revenue therefore relies on the
management’s estimation of the progress and outcome
of the project, which involves the exercise of significant
management estimation, particularly in estimating the
budgeted contract costs, which are prepared by the
management of the Group on the basis of agreements,
guotations or other correspondences from time to time
provided by the subcontractors, suppliers or vendors
involved and the experience of the management. In order
to keep the budget accurate and up-to-date, the
management of the Group conducts periodic reviews of
the budgets of service contracts by comparing the
budgeted amounts to the actual amounts incurred.
Construction revenue and contract assets are estimated
by using the percentage of completion method, which is
calculated based on the costs incurred on each
construction contract at the end of the respective
accounting period divided by the total estimated costs
for the contract and then multiplied by the estimated
construction revenue expected to be earned.
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B IF R R EE

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(Continued)

Revenue recognition on contract work of
interior design and building engineering
services (Continued)

Notwithstanding that management reviews and revises
the estimates of both contract revenue and costs for the
construction contract as the contract progresses, the
actual outcome of the contract in terms of its total
revenue and costs may be higher or lower than the
estimates and this will have significant impact on the
revenue and profit recognised.

At 31 December 2024, the contract assets recognised
based on the percentage of completion method is
RMB208,685,000 (2023: RMB288,270,000).

Revaluation of investment properties

The Group carries its investment properties at fair values,
with changes in fair values being recognised in the
consolidated income statement. The Group engaged
independent valuation specialists to determine fair values
as at 31 December 2024. The valuers used valuation
techniques based on an income approach by referencing
the rental income of comparable market data. The
carrying amount of investment properties at 31
December 2024 was approximately RMB43,810,000
(2023: RMB47,420,000). Further details are disclosed in
Note 19.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(Continued)

Impairment for right-of-use assets and
prepayment for acquisition of investment
properties

Right-of-use assets and prepayment for acquisition of
investment properties are stated at costs less
accumulated depreciation and impairment, if any. In
determining whether an asset is impaired, the Group has
to exercise judgement and make estimation, particularly
in assessing: (1) whether an event has occurred or any
indicators that may affect the asset value; (2) whether
the carrying value of an asset can be supported by the
recoverable amount, in the case of value in use, the net
present value of future cash flows which are estimated
based upon the continued use of the asset; and (3) the
appropriate key assumptions to be applied in estimating
the recoverable amounts including cash flow projections
and an appropriate discount rate. When it is not possible
to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset
(including right-of-use assets), the Group estimates the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which
the assets belong. Changing the assumptions and
estimates, including the discount rates or the growth rate
in the cash flow projections, could materially affect the
net present value used in the impairment test.

The carrying amount of right-of-use assets and
prepayment for acquisition of investment properties as at
31 December 2024 was approximately HK$9,510,000
(2023: HK$11,944,000) and HK$7,270,000 (2023:
HK$33,977,000) respectively.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(Continued)

Provision for litigation and legal expenses

The recognition and measurement of provisions for
litigation-related obligations involve significant
judgement, particularly in assessing whether a present
obligation exists under HKAS 37 Provisions, Contingent
Liabilities and Contingent Assets. Management evaluates
the likelihood of an unfavourable outcome based on
external legal advice, case merits, historical precedents,
and the specifics of each claim. Where an outflow of
economic resources is probable and a reliable estimate
can be made, a provision is recognised at management'’s
best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the
obligation. This estimate includes potential
compensation, settlements, legal fees, and related costs.
Due to the inherent uncertainty in litigation outcomes,
actual expenses may differ materially from initial
provisions. Estimates are reviewed annually and adjusted
to reflect developments in proceedings, new evidence, or
changes in legal strategy.
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6. REVENUE

(i) Disaggregation of revenue from

contracts with customers:

6. WA

()

THEFEHWA :

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE-ZE-NF+=-A=+—HLEHFE

Provision of
interior design
Sale and and building
distribution of  engineering
merchandise services Total
RHER
HER Rt &
DM BEIRR® et
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBFT ARMFT ARMTT
Types of goods and EmRkR%EER
services
Sale and distribution of  $5& K7 % M
merchandise
— Building materials — & 23,680 - 23,680
— Bulk commaodity — RrEmE S
trading 240,420 - 240,420
Provision of interior RHEEANRFT R
design and building EETERS
engineering services
— Interior design — EARKE - 7,874 7,874
— Building engineering ~ — EE T 2R
services - 39,043 39,043
Total st 264,100 46,917 311,017
Geographical markets #tEmHiE
The PRC s 264,100 46,917 311,017
Timing of revenue W B R B e
recognition
At a point in time PR P B 264,100 - 264,100
Over time B8 PR ) - 46,917 46,917
Total @t 264,100 46,917 311,017
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6. REVENUE (continued) 6. WA

(i) Disaggregation of revenue from
contracts with customers: (Continued)

(i) PHFEFEHWA (B

For the year ended
31 December 2023

196

BHE-T-=4%
TZA=t+—HLEE
Sale and

distribution of

merchandise Total
7t fast
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT ARBFT
Types of goods and services EmER#EER
Sale and distribution of HE RS ENm
merchandise
— Building materials — &M 3,142 3,142
— Home improvement — REREME
materials 81 81
— Bulk commodity trading — ARFEmES 626,259 626,259
Total et 629,482 629,482
Geographical markets h & 1 35
The PRC A 629,482 629,482
Timing of revenue recognition U A #E:2FE
At a point in time PR B[ Bh 629,482 629,482
Over time & A - -
Total et 629,482 629,482
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6. REVENUE (continued)

(ii) Performance obligations for contracts

with customers

Sale and distribution of merchandise

The Group sells a range of building materials, home
improvement materials, and furnishings to the
wholesale market and directly to customers through
its own retail outlets. During the course of business,
the Group engages in trading of bulk commodities
with its customers from time to time.

For sales of building materials, home improvement
materials and furnishings to the wholesale market,
revenue is recognised when control of the goods
has transferred, being when the goods have been
delivered to the wholesaler’s specific location
(delivery). Following the delivery, the wholesaler has
full discretion over the manner of distribution and
price to sell the goods, has the primary
responsibility when on selling the goods and bears
the risks of obsolescence and loss in relation to the
goods.

6. WA

(i) EEFHNENNENEE

HER 7 #HR
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6. REVENUE (continued) 6. WA

(ii) Performance obligations for contracts

(i) EXFNENNBENER

198

with customers (Continued)

Sale and distribution of merchandise
(Continued)

The Group generally allows a credit period ranging
from 0 day to 360 days upon delivery, depending
on the type of products sold. For those new
customers, the Group will request deposits from
them who entered into the sales contracts, this will
give rise to contract liabilities at the start of a
contract, until the customers obtain control of the
goods. The amounts of deposits requested vary
amongst different contracts.

For sales of home improvement materials and
furnishings to retail customers, revenue is
recognised when control of the goods has
transferred, being at the point the customer
purchases the goods at the retail outlet. Payment of
the transaction price is due immediately at the
point the customer purchases the goods.

The wholesalers, retail customers and customers of
bulk commodity trading have neither rights of
return nor rights to defer or avoid payment for the
goods once the goods are accepted by them. A
contract liability is recognised for consideration
received for which revenue has not yet been
recognised.

(%)

HER D HEE SR (&)

KREE—MAFN TR, H1E0H
Z360BZ2EEH RIFEE
EmHERME - MREHEF
mE ' AEBEERITLHES
NzHBEPZNRE  WEER
EHRBREELEANAEE BEE
BEPFREEmEGIERLE M
KeeeBHRTTREHMAE
FTNR o

ATERFHEREREMH
REEME - WAR S 6%
ERRER IEFPNTE/ERE
BEEmZBRH X HEBNE

PR E & a2 W B BN As 2 H e

HEm TEEPAAREMmE
HEF—BRXEM  AERE

RN E mT B RN R
R AEEAAERKRAZE
WHRERRANERE



JIYI HOLDINGS LIMITED £ —1Zi3 B R A A
ANNUAL REPORT 2024 &R

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A B IF AR EE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HEZ=—Z-NF+=-A=+—HIFE

6. REVENUE (continued)

(ii) Performance obligations for contracts

with customers (Continued)

Sale and distribution of merchandise
(Continued)

For the trading of bulk commodity, the Group
would sell a commodity within a short period after
purchase under which profit would be generated or
loss may be incurred from these transactions. Since
these trading contracts are entered into for the sole
purposes of the receipt or delivery of the
commodity in accordance with the Group'’s
expected purchase or sale and, accordingly, these
contracts are accounted for as revenue and cost of
sales. Revenue is recognised when control of the
commodity has transferred, being when the
commodity have been delivered to the customers’
specific location (delivery). Following the delivery,
the customers have full discretion over the manner
of distribution and price to sell the commodity, has
the primary responsibility when on selling the
commodity and bears the risks of obsolescence and
loss in relation to the commodity.

The Group generally allows a credit period ranging
from O day to 360 days upon delivery, depending
on the type of products sold. For those new
customers, the Group may request deposits from
them who entered the sales contracts, this will give
rise to contract liabilities at the start of a contract,
until the customers obtain control of the goods.
The amounts of deposits requested vary amongst
different contracts.

6. WA
(i) EEFMENNBEBHNERE
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6. REVENUE (continued) 6. WA

(i) EXFNENNBENER

(ii) Performance obligations for contracts

200

with customers (Continued)

Interior design and building engineering
services

The Group provides interior design and building
engineering services to customers. Such services are
recognised as a performance obligation satisfied
over time as the Group creates or enhances an
asset that the customer controls as the asset is
created or enhanced. Revenue is recognised for
these services based on the stage of completion of
the contract using input method.

The Group's interior design and building
engineering service contracts include payment
schedules which require stage payments over the
service period once certain specified milestones are
reached. The Group requires certain customers to
provide upfront deposits ranged from 20% to 60%
of total contract sum, when the Group receives a
deposit before interior design and building
engineering services commences, this will give rise
to contract liabilities at the start of a contract, until
the revenue recognised on the specific contract
exceeds the amount of the deposit.
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6. REVENUE (continued)

(ii) Performance obligations for contracts

with customers (Continued)

Interior design and building engineering
services (Continued)

A contract asset, net of contract liability related to
the same contract, is recognised over the period in
which the interior design and building engineering
services are performed representing the Group'’s
right to consideration for the services performed
because the rights are conditioned on the Group's
future performance in achieving specified
milestones. The contract assets are transferred to
trade receivables when the rights become
unconditional. The Group typically transfer the
contract assets to trade receivables when the Group
issued invoice to the customers based on the value
of work.

Retention receivables, prior to expiration of defect
liability period, are classified as contract assets,
which ranges from one to five years from the date
of the practical completion of the construction. The
relevant amount of contract asset is reclassified to
trade receivables when the defect liability period
expires. The defect liability period serves as an
assurance that the interior design and building
engineering services performed comply with
agreed-upon specifications and such assurance
cannot be purchased separately.

6. WA
(i) EEFMENNBEBHNERE
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6. REVENUE (continued) 6. WA

(i) EXFNENNBENER

(ii) Performance obligations for contracts

202

with customers (Continued)

Interior design and building engineering
services (Continued)

The Group considers the promised amount of
consideration contain significant financing
component and accordingly the amount of
consideration is adjusted for the effects of the time
value of money taking into consideration the credit
characteristics of the Group. The Group applies a
discount rate that would be reflected in a separate
financing transaction between the Group and the
customer at the date of transfer of the associated
goods or services. The Group recognises interest
income during the period between the payment
from customers and the transfer of the associated
goods or services.
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REVENUE (continued)

(iii) Transaction price allocated to the

6. WA

(iii) P EEREFSNMNEKRT

remaining performance obligation for

contracts with customers

The transaction price allocated to the remaining

performance obligations (unsatisfied or partially
unsatisfied) as at 31 December 2024 and 31
December 2023 and the expected timing of

recognising revenue are as follows:

At 31 December 2024

BREENRSZE

RZFB_NEF+—A=+—HK
R ZF+-_A=1+—HBHHE
ERTROBEE(CRERKIS
REK) 2R FE R TEHBERK
AR

R-ZE-_NF+=-A=+—H

Sale and
distribution of

Provision of
interior design
and building
engineering

merchandise services Total
HER REZERARTR
pEEm BEIERRE et
RMB'000 RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR®EFTT AREFT AREF T
Within one year —FA - 310,803 310,803

At 31 December 2023

RZE—_=F+=-A=+—H

Provision of
interior design

Sale and and building
distribution of engineering
merchandise services Total
HE K REZEARTR
DiHEm  EEIRERS #5
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETT AERETF T N
Within one year —FR = 318,214 318,214
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SEGMENT INFORMATION

Information reported to the Chief Executive Officer of
the Company, being the chief operating decision maker
(CODM), make decisions about resource allocation based
on the revenue by types of goods or services delivered or
provided and reviews reports on the financial
performance of the Group as a whole. No other discrete
financial information is reviewed by the CODM for the
assessment of performance of the Group. Therefore, no
other segment information is presented. The Group is
currently organised into the following two revenue
streams as follows:

1. Sale and distribution of merchandise

2. Provision of interior design and building engineering

services
Segment revenues and results

The following is an analysis of the Group'’s revenue and
results by reportable segments:
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7. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Segment revenues and results (Continued)

Year ended 31 December 2024

7. DEEE )

DEHBARFE(#)

BE_E_NF+-A=t+t—HLEFE

Provision of
interior design
Sale and and building
distribution of  engineering
merchandise services Total
HER RHEARR
piEEm BEIRRERK #Et
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥FT AR¥FT AR®FTT
Segment Revenue 2 EBUA
External sales HNER SH & 264,100 46,917 311,017
Segment cost of sales 7 EBH & A A (260,965) (39,855) (300,820)
Segment gross profit 2EER 3,135 7,062 10,197
Other income HAb YA 82
Other losses, net HAniE R 558 (3.612)
Distribution and selling DHERHEERAX
expenses (1,468)
Administrative expenses ITHRAX (14,314)
Provision for impairment loss IR &Y 2
on prepayment for BNREZ
acquisition of investment VERIEY SEi=E
properties (26,707)
Provision for impairment EHREEEBERET
losses under expected ZREEERE
credit loss model, net R (263,965)
Loss on fair value change of ZAREEHE 28
financial assets at FVTPL BEEE (200)
Loss on disposal of financial ZAEEE 2 &Rt
assets at FVTPL BEIEER (204)
Provision for litigation FABEEEER
compensation and legal £Ee
expenses (16,710)
Finance costs AR I (12,650)
Loss before tax MRBLATE B (329,551)

205



JIYI HOLDINGS LIMITED £ —1ZBH TR A 7]
ANNUAL REPORT 2024 iR

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
ZE M IEEHRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 BEZ=—Z=—NF+=-A=+—HIFE

7. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

206

Segment revenues and results (Continued)

Year ended 31 December 2023

7. DEERE )

DEHBARFE#)

BE

CEC=FTA=+—RHILEFE

Provision of
interior design
Sale and and building
distribution of engineering
merchandise services Total
HER RHEARR
DiHEm BEEIRRSE HET
RMB’'000 RMB’'000 RMB’000
ARETFT ARETFT AREFT
Segment Revenue 2 EBUA
External sales HANEREH B 629,482 = 629,482
Segment cost of sales 7 EBEH & A A (628,865) - (628,865)
Segment gross profit DEER 617 - 617
Other income EMUA 103
Other losses, net Hin K558 (15,831)
Distribution and selling SIHRHERX
expenses (1,565)
Administrative expenses THRAX (16,136)
Provision for impairment BEEEBEBRRERET
losses under expected B EE B
credit loss model, net R (365,882)
Provision for impairment loss 2 2 BB & 1B # &
on goodwill (Note 20) (Kta£20) (52,033)
Provision for litigation FAREFAEER
compensation and legal £EEe
expenses (28,028)
Finance costs BTG RN (9,801)
Loss before tax BRELATE B (488,556)
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)
Segment revenues and results (Continued)

The accounting policies of the operating segments are
the same as the Group’s accounting policies described in
Note 3. Segment gross profit represents the gross profit
earned by each segment without allocation of other
income, other gains and losses, distribution and selling
expenses, administrative expenses, provision for
impairment losses under expected credit loss model, net
and finance costs. This is the measure reported to the
CODM for the purposes of resource allocation and
performance assessment.

Inter-segment sales are charged at costs.

The CODM makes decisions according to operating
results of each segment. No analysis of segment asset
and segment liability is presented as the CODM does not
regularly review such information for the purposes of
resources allocation and performance assessment.
Therefore, only segment revenue and segment gross
profit are presented.

DEER (&)

DEHBARER @)
BN B BE ﬁ33%Lz

KRB EEER - HBEAE

S H DRI « R AR
BiE - HRRHENST  TREX -
TS BB EA T 2 AR R R -
FERMERATRBZ EF - 1A
REBSEREBIEAEIBEER
HEZHIHE

N

7 BPE SHE IR AR -

BRERRERBEE DB 2RER
BIELAR - BIEZ2VNDHEERD
MEEIT  RESZERKERRE
I 4 5t &R 0 B e R IR A TE HIE B
BRAEFR - Atk - B2 5BWA KR
D ERBER ©
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7. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 7. DEER @)
Segment revenues and results (Continued) DEMARELE (&)
Geographical information HEEF
The Group’s operations are located in the PRC (country AEEBEBURFE(FAEER) KE
of domicile) and Hong Kong. o
Information about the Group's revenue from external BRARNEBEREIINBELZWMAZE
customers is presented based on the location of the BIZBERTRP M E5 - BREAAE
relevant customers. Information about the Group’s non- BIErHEEZER IR EEMIEA
current assets is presented based on the geographical EZ5

location of the assets.

Revenue from

external customers Non-current assets
REIMBEFE ZWA ERBEE
(Note)
(Btaz)
2024 2023 2024 2023

—ENFE —T-=F ZENF —T-=F
RMB’000 RMB’000  RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ Tt ARMTrr AR¥TrT ARKTT

(Restated)
(&%)
The PRC F 311,017 629,482 75,750 109,864
Hong Kong BB - = 900 1,340
311,017 629,482 76,650 111,204
Note: et -
Non-current assets excluded financial assets at fair value through profit ERBEENBIEIR AT EFABRNESREE
or loss and deferred tax assets. FREFIIBE E ©
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 7. DWER @)
Segment revenues and results (Continued) DEMARELE (&)
Information about major customers ERHFEEFZEH
Revenue from customers of the corresponding years RIAEFEE  KEBEMASEEEAHEE
contributing over 10% of the total sales of the Group are BI10% A EZ2BERZWAIT -
as follows:
2024 2023
—E-mE —E_=F
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARE TR ARETT

Customer A EEA 90,948' N/A T *

Customer B =FB 38,495" N/A T@EMA*

Customer C =FC 36,097" N/A Ti@EMA*

Customer D EFD N/A RiEF * 496,753"

Customer E ®PE N/A RiEA* 63,526’

Customer F EPFF N/A B * 59,061

1 Revenue from bulk commodity trade. C RERTEMES WA °

Z The customers contributed less than 10% of the total revenue of S ZERFRMASEBKRAN10% AT °
the Group.

* No bulk trade sales made in 2024 were purchased by & ZEINFNARE FHE ER P R
the customers’ related parties (2023: approximately FEE(ZE==F : AR¥ 344,590,000
RMB344,590,000). JT) °
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8.

210

OTHER INCOME 8. HflgA
2024 2023
—ZT-F T =F
RMB'000 RMB’000
AR¥ETFT AREFor
Sundry income HIFA 80 92
Bank interest income ERITH S HBA 2 11
82 103
OTHER LOSSES, NET 9. HMBEXFHE
2024 2023
—ZT-mEF T =F
RMB'000 RMB’000
AR¥E T ARBFr
Loss from changes in fair value of KEMFENFEES 2 EE
investment properties (Note 19) (Kt 19) 3,610 14,100
Net foreign exchange gains HNIESTE 3 2R T RE = 1,414
Others =nii} 2 317
3,612 15,831
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10. FINANCE COSTS 10. BAFE R AR

2024 2023
—E_ME —E=HF
RMB'000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARET T
(Restated)
(&%)
Interest on bank borrowings IRITIERA B 9,647 6,956

Effective interest expense on HRBRERZR 2 ERFE
convertible loan notes (Note 31) Rz (Ba£31) 2,989 2,757
Interest on lease liabilities HEAEHNE 14 88
12,650 9,801

11. PROVISION FOR IMPAIRMENT LOSSES

"N AHEEERER N 2RE

UNDER EXPECTED CREDIT LOSS MODEL, EiERE R
NET
2024 2023
—E-EFE =&
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ T ARET T
Impairment losses charged/(reversed) FAIA T &IBEZEET A/ (EE)
in profit and loss on ZBIEEE
— contract assets — BHEE 72,174 16,600
— trade receivables — B S RIWGIAE 113,098 349,640
— other receivables and deposits — EHfth e FRIB M & 78,693 (358)
263,965 365,882

Details of impairment assessment are set out in Note

39(b).

BAERHA IS B MR 39(b) °
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12.

212

INCOME TAX EXPENSE 12. FIBHAX
2024 2023
—E_ME ===
RMB'000 RMB’000
AR¥FoT AR FT

PRC EIT R ST R

— Current tax — BPHAFR 18 1,316 =
— Overprovision in prior years — BEFEREEEEE = (33)
1,316 (33)
Deferred tax (Note 34) IR IE (ff 7t 34) (903) 10,633
413 10,600

The Company is incorporated in the Cayman Islands as
an exempted company with limited liability under the
Companies Law of the Cayman Islands and is exempted
from the Cayman Islands income tax.

The Company's subsidiary in the BVI was incorporated
under International Business Companies Act of the BVI
and is exempted from the BVI income tax.

No provision for taxation in Hong Kong has been made
as the Group’s income neither arises in, nor is derived
from, Hong Kong.

Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the
“EIT Law"”) and Implementation Regulation of the EIT
Law, the tax rate of the PRC subsidiaries is 25% for both
years.

ARARRERERERRDANF S
SEMKLREREERAR - EH
RHMRASEESMEH -

ADF 2B AR TR B R B
EERHEAREREBEL RS
T FK ST - 7 B o A 2 B B B
8%t -

BERFEHBAELEE  RA/N
SEZWAYFRNBBELEIREE
& o

RIEFBEERMAERE(EEMER
B REEMBHABRMGS - P&
f AR MBS 2 R 525% °
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12. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued) 12. FREHMA#)
The income tax expense for the years can be reconciled FRFEHESTEGEER NEM
to the profit before tax per the consolidated statement of FHKRER BN EREAT

profit or loss and other comprehensive income as follows:

2024 2023
—E-_mE =4
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR¥FT AR®TT
(Restated)
(&31)
Loss before tax BrFi R E 1A (329,551) (488,556)
Tax at PRC EIT rate of 25% BPBEPEMEHTE25%
B I (82,388) (122,139)
Tax effect of income not taxable BERGBMAZ RBTE
for tax purpose (1,963) (4,288)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible NAJ T F S 2 G &
for tax purpose 75,847 97,470
Overprovision in respect of prior years i85 [E & B E G = 33
Tax effect of temporary differences  EAEBAFHRERFEEREZ
utilised from previous periods k-7 - 13,947
Tax effect of tax losses utilised from  EHABAHARKHIBEEEZ
previous periods k-7 (739) =
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised KR IEE1E 2 IS s/ £ 3,151 22,052
Tax effect of temporary differences ~ AR MEER 2 B
not recognised TE 6,505 3,525
Income tax expense for the year FANPTER A 413 10,600
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13.

214

LOSS FOR THE YEAR

13. FREE

Loss for the year has been arrived at after charging:

FRERTHEIRR A N FIREER

2024 2023
—E-E —ECo=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥FT ARBT T
(Restated)
(&87%1)
Directors’ remuneration (Note 14) EE2HM (Hat14) 1,356 3,529
Other staff salaries, allowances and ~ HME TH & - 2B K
benefits in kind EWE 5,181 3,382
Retirement benefit scheme REME TEH ZRIK
contributions for other staff BFET I fEK 80 230
Total staff costs 8 TR AR48%8 6,617 7,141
Cost of inventories FEKA 300,820 628,865
Auditor’s remuneration 1% £ Bl 35 M 1,264 970
— audit service — BZAR 1,264 970
— non-audit service — EEZRTS - -
Provision for impairment loss on W EME 2
prepayment for acquisition of FERNRIBZ
investment properties REEE R 26,707 -
Depreciation of property, plantand ~ #1% - = N REITE
equipment (Note 17) (Btat17) 1,714 1,999
Depreciation of right-of-use assets ~ {FFEEERTE
(Note 18) (KrzE18) 2,472 2,149
Write-down of inventories* WORFE * 218 =
Variable rental payments in respect of B AEMEK
office premises and retail stores TEER A EEES MR
— Lease rental payment** — HERS I 720 195
Rental income HEWA = =
Less: direct operating expenses B FAEEERBAZ
incurred for investment properties KHEMFEMSI B 2B
that generated rental income EiERMX
during the year = (18)
= (18)
@ The amount represents the write down of inventories included in * ZeREEREEATMBESNFERS

administrative expenses.

*E The amount represents the short-term leases entered with lease

term ended within one year.

* %

MAER °

ZEREMAI L 2 RS - R —F
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14. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S AND 14. 55 ESTHRAEBREES

EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS HY 5 A

(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s () EERBRESTHAENF
emoluments EM
Directors’ and chief executives’ remuneration for FANEERESITHA BB
the year, disclosed pursuant to the application BEFEA EMHEBEEEADFE
Listing Rules and the Hong Kong Companies FlREN T :

Ordinance, is as follows:

For the year ended 31 December 2024 BZz—_ZEZ2-_MWE+=-—B=+—H
LHFE

Retirement Equity-
Performance benefit settled
Salaries and related scheme  share-based

Fees allowances bonuses contributions expenses Total
DRAXA
#ER ZHER RIEN HRHBA

Name of Directors ~ EE#t% ik 28 Tt HE 5= 53 @t

NOTES ~ RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
Wiz  AREFrn ARBFT  ARBTT  ARMTT ARETR ARRFZ

Executive directors ~ H{TES

Ms. Hou Wei EExt (i 586 - - - - 586
Mr. Yang Baikang BRREE (i) 147 - - - - 147
Mr. Liu Xianxiu ERLE (i) 147 - - - - 147
880 - - - - 880
Non-executive FUTES
director
Mr. Hou Bo RREE (iv) 146 - - - - 146
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14. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S AND 14. B2 ESTBRABREES

EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS (Continued) R =)

(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s (a) EERBESTHRAENS
emoluments (Continued) B ()
For the year ended 31 December 2024 BE-FT-_NF+=-A=+—8
(Continued) WEFEE (&)

Retirement Equity-

Performance benefit settled
Salaries and related scheme  share-based
Fees  allowances bonuses contributions expenses Total
DREXA
HER  REAAE  BKER  URBA
Name of Directors ~ EZ#% e BE AL HEMR  EEZEX a3t

NOTES ~ RMB’000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
Wit ARBFr ARETT ARBFr  ARMTT AREFT  ARMTR

Independent BUFHTES

non-executive

directors
Mr.ChenZenghua  FREERE v) 110 = - - - 10
Mr.Houlianchang ~ REE%4E (v 110 - - - _ 110
Ms. Chen Tao Bkt (vi) - - - _ _ _

20 s s s s 20

Chief executive THAR

officer
Mr. Yu Runkun REMEE (i) 110 - - - - 110
Total st 1,356 - - - - 1,356
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14. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S AND 14. 55 ESTHRAEBREES

EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS (Continued) M =)
(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s () EERBRESTHAENF
emoluments (Continued) B ()
For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE_ZT-_=—#+—-H=+—8H
IFFE
Retirement Equity-
Performance benefit settled
Salaries and related scheme  share-based
Fees  allowances bonuses  contributions expenses Total
WRA
ek £EE RAEH URDA
Name of Directors ~ EZ4 5 2 T HEfR  ERZRX @i

NOTES ~ RMBOO0 ~ RMBO00  AMBOO0  AMBOO0  ARMBOO0  AMB'000
Wi ARMTT ARRTT ARETT ARETT ARRTT AREFI

Executive directors ~ B{TES

Ms. Hou Wei BELL (i 1,440 139 - 6 - 1,585

Mr YangBakang  BEELE (i) 240 - - - - 240

Mr. Liu Xianxiu AEALHE (i) 240 112 - 2% - 376
1,920 251 - 30 - 2,201

Non-executive FUTES

director

Mr. Hou Bo RREE (i) 240 = = = = 240

Independent BUFHTES

non-executive

directors

Mr. Ho Hin Yip GIESi%s (ix) 240 - - - - 240

Mr. Ye Yihui EZRAL (v) 10 - - - - 10

Mr Houlianchang ~ EBES %4 (v 120 - - - - 120
470 ~ ~ ~ ~ 470

Chief executive THAR

officer

Ms. Deng Yiyi BEggt (xi) - 600 - 18 - 618

Total st 2,630 851 - 48 - 3,529
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14. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S AND 14. B2 ESTBRABREES

EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS (cContinued) HEEN =)
(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s () EERBRETHABENF
emoluments (Continued) [5,1€-9)
Notes: HfaE -
(i) Appointed on 12 February 2015. (i) RZZE—RAF_A+_HEZE-
(i) Appointed on 7 November 2018. iy MZE-—NF+—-—AtBEZRE-
(i) Appointed on 5 June 2015. iy W-T—AESPEBEZEFE-
(iv)  Appointed on 5 June 2015. vy MZZE-—RAFARBEZE-
(vy  Appointed on 29 December 2015. v) R-ZE—AF+-A=t+hBAEZ
£
(vi)  Appointed on 6 November 2015. (viy RZZE-—RAF+—-ARBERE-
(viiy  Appointed on 24 June 2024, resigned on 3 September (viiiy RZTZWNEASA-+HAEZ
2024. - TR=Z=_NFENB=HFHE -
(vii)  Appointed on 29 December 2023. (vii) RZZEZ=F+-A=+ILBEZ
£
(ix)  Appointed on 6 November 2015, resigned on 29 (ix) RZZE—AF+—ABEZE-
December 2023. WHRZBEZ=F+=—A =+ LBE
£
(x)  Appointed on 6 November 2015, resigned on 24 X RZE-—RAF+—ASBEEZRE-
November 2023. WRZZE_=F+— A= THHE&
£
(xiy  Appointed on 29 November 2015, resigned on 29 x) R-ZZE—AF+—A-t+HLBEZ
December 2023. £ WYR=ZZT=_=F+=—A=+h
HEHE ©
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14. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S AND 14. B ES1THRAEBRES
EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS (Continued) HEM =)

(@) EERBRESTHRABNH

(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s

emoluments (Continued)

Performance related bonuses is recommended by
the remuneration committee of the Company and
is approved by the board of directors, with
reference to the Group’s operating results,
individual performance and comparable market
statistics.

The executive directors’ and chief executives’
emoluments shown above were mainly for their
services in connection with the management of the
affairs of the Company and the Group. The non-
executive directors’ emoluments shown above were
for their services as directors of the Company and
its subsidiaries, if applicable. The independent non-
executive directors’ emoluments shown above were
mainly for their services as directors of the
Company.

In addition to the directors’ remuneration presented
above, the Group also provides other non-monetary
benefits (such as cars) to Ms. Hou Wei. During the
year ended 31 December 2024, depreciation of
property, plant and equipment in relation to these
non-monetary benefits amounted to nil (2023: nil).

No emoluments were paid by the Group to the
directors as an inducement to join, or upon joining
the Group, or as compensation for loss of office
during both years.

There was no arrangement under which a director
or the chief executive waived or agreed to waive
any remuneration during both years.

(=)

REMAELBHANRRFMEZE
TEE YHEFSHE BH
E2EAKBEERE  BA
RN A B LTS #UE

EXFRZATESERNESTTHR
ABZFHEBRREBESEER
ARBMAREER 2 RIS ZF
B o £ XFTRIEITE S 2 5 B
REFEERNRRRENRB QA
(WEREFZ2HM - EXFR
ZEIUFAITESTHNERBH
FERERARRES ZHBH -

Br EXZ2I 2 ERFHMIN 0 N
B AR L TIRHEEMIFE B
B (1) - BE—F -/
FT-A=1t—HLLFE FH
ZEFTEEN2ME  BEK
BENERT(ZT=F T)-

RWEFE  NEEREARES
SN FMIERBEFMAREE K
IO B 22D S VB S BER A 1E

RREFE - HEEERITHAE
B L FA 5 3K ) 7 7A S A 1) 5 B
ZZZHE o
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14. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S AND 14. B2 ESTBRABREES

EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS (continued) EEN =)
(b) Employees’ emoluments (b) EEFTA
The five highest paid employees of the Group AEERBE-_ZT_MOF+ = A
during year ended 31 December 2024 included =t+—HUEFEZRAER T M
three directors (2023: three directors) and nil (2023: EEBE=-REF(ZZE_=4F:
one) chief executive of the Company, details of —HREF)RARAIZER(ZE
whose remuneration are set out in the disclosures T=F: —RZ)ERETHRAE
above. Details of the remuneration for the year BEZHMFBHN EXZHE
ended 31 December 2024 of the remaining two EFEE - HE_T_ME+_A
(2023: one) highest paid employee who is neither =+—HRLtEE #BT=2%(=
director nor chief executive of the Company are as To=F: —H)WIkARAE
follows: EdmRERTHRABZ&Z= T HIE
B HMEFBOT -
2024 2023
—E-E —E_=4F
RMB'000 RMB’000

AREFT ARETT

Salaries, allowance and other e R REMEY

benefits in kind &H 852 941
Retirement benefit scheme R ET B

contributions = 15

852 956
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14. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S AND
EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

14. EE - EETHRAERES
B BN (40

(b) EEFHM =)

(b) Employees’ emoluments (Continued)

The number of the highest paid employee who is
not director nor chief executive officer of the
Company whose remuneration fell within the

WIEARRBEFHITHRABE 2 &
=2HMEEBATEEFHM A
2 -

following bands:

No. of employees

EEA™
2024 2023
—E_ME —E-=4F
Nil to HK$1,000,000 =% 1,000,000 7T 2 -
HK$1,000,001 to 1,000,001 Bt E
HK$1,500,000 1,500,000 7% 7T = 1

2,500,001 &L E
3,000,000 7T - =

HK$2,500,001 to
HK$3,000,000

(9]

Directors’ material interest in
transactions, arrangements or contracts

Save for disclosed, no significant transactions,
arrangements and contracts in relation to the
Group's business to which the Company was a
party and in which a director of the Company and
the director’s connected party had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at
the end of the year or at any time during the year.

15. DIVIDENDS

No dividend was paid or proposed for ordinary
shareholders of the Company during the year ended 31
December 2024, nor has any dividend been proposed
since the end of the reporting period (2023: Nil).

(9]

EERXE -  ZHEHEN
ZEKRER

BRATIEEIN - RARIBIENF
REXFEANETMAFHETBTAAR
RAEEREEWEIRETER
SEERAETAEARRZHER
SEEXEBEMIEARS - B
KREH -

15. BRE

BE-_E-_WME+_A=+—HIt=E
B BERAQR L BRBREIRMSSK

FOR AR, -

B ¥R & B R IR A AR

BRENZBBE(ZE—=1F : )
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16.

222

LOSS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic and diluted loss per share

attributable to the owners of the Company is based on

the following data:

16. BREE

RRBHEAANRIEBRER B EE
BIMEA NIRRT S

2024 2023
—E-_mE —E =4
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥FiT ARETFT
(Restated)
(&%)
Loss &8
Loss for the year attributable to M ETRERREEEE
owners of the Company for the (D= NI X = DN Y ]
purposes of basic and diluted loss FAEE
per share (330,403) (499,164)
2024 2023
—E-NE e =i
‘000 ‘000
Fie T
Number of shares RHEE
Weighted average number of HEAEERERBEMS 2
ordinary shares for the purpose of RN T E
basic loss per share 263,766 263,766
Weighted average number of MEEEREEBEEMNS 2
ordinary shares for the purpose of I AR N 1T
diluted loss per share 263,766 263,766

For the year ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, the
convertible loan notes had an anti-dilutive effect on the

basic loss per share and were ignored in the calculation

of diluted loss per share.

BE-_T_MER-_T-_=F1+=A
=T-BIEEE TRREREREY
BRENEBEAGREFER kit
BEREEFERY & ARSI’
BRERER 2 ERPE
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17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 17. ¥ - BERZE
Furniture,
fixtures and
Owned Motor office Leasehold

properties vehicles equipment improvements Total
RE
BE£ER

BENE AE BAERE HERE @t

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTT ARETT AR%RTT ARETT ARETRT

COST A
At 1 January 2023 RZZE-_=%—HF—H 29,429 4,425 1,184 2,600 37,638
At 31 December2023and  HMZZT==4F
1 January 2024 +=-A=+-8k
“TNF-A—H 29,429 4,425 1,184 2,600 37,638
Exchange realignment B i H R - 218 - - 218

At 31 December 2024 R-ZBE-ME

+=A=+—-H 29,429 4,643 1,184 2,600 37,856
DEPRECIATION nE
At 1 January 2023 RZZE-=%—F—H 11,597 2,790 987 2,559 17,933
Provided for the year FNEEHE13)
(Note 13) 1,475 452 31 41 1,999
Exchange realignment P H 5% - (157) - - (157)

At 31 December2023and WZZT==%F

1 January 2024 +=-A=+—-Rk
—ZE-FE-F—H 13,072 3,085 1,018 2,600 19,775
Provided for the year FREE (HaE13)
(Note 13) 1,319 351 44 - 1,714
Exchange realignment B R - 307 - - 307

At 31 December 2024 R-B-_MEF

+=A=+-A 14,391 3,743 1,062 2,600 21,796
CARRYING AMOUNT REE
At 31 December 2024 R-BE-MF

+=-B=+-A 15,038 900 122 = 16,060
At 31 December 2023 i —

+-A=t+—H 16,357 1,340 166 - 17,863
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17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 17. W%¥ - BERRE#®)
(Continued)
The above items of property, plant and equipment are btz BB REREEERE RHE
depreciated, after taking into account of their estimated AR BEEBREGEATIFX
residual values, on a straight-line method, at the e

following rates per annum:

Owned properties 3.3% BEME 33%
Motor vehicles 5% to 10% P21 5% % 10%
Furniture, fixtures and office equipment 5% to 10% HKE BETERERPLESRE 5%E10%
Leasehold improvements 5% to 10% HEERE 5% £ 10%
18. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 18. EREEE
offices
Motor Leasehold premises and
vehicles lands retail stores Total
MAEMER
R HE LT ZEHE #st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETT ARETT AR¥TT ARETT

At 31 December 2023 R-B-=F
and 1 January 2024, -I- H =+—H
as restated —E-mE
—H —H (E5)
Carrying amount BREE 4,797 6,668 479 11,944

At31December 2024 R-ZT-F
+ZH=1+—H
Carrying amount RHE 4,622 4,528 360 9,510
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18. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (continued)

During the year, major items included in the movement
of right-of-use assets as followings:

18. FHREEE#»)

FRN TEHEREFHAEEEZE
R :

2024 2023

—EMEF —E=F

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥FT ARETFIT

(Restated)

(&%)

Depreciation charge (Note 13) WeEER (Kit13) 2,472 2,149
Additions to right-of-use assets RS EE I - 3,142

During the year, total cash outflow for leases under
financing activities as followings:

EW ! @ﬁ/ﬁ@lﬁ?fﬂ%z}ﬁiumﬁ
WREWR -

2024 2023

—E-NE =4

RMB'000 RMB’000

AR¥Fr AREFr

Total cash outflow for leases HEZR e RLERE 720 195

For both years, the Group leases various offices premises
and retail stores for its operation. Lease contracts are
entered into for fixed term of 1 year to 10 years with
fixed payment. The Group does not have the option to
purchase the leased properties at a nominal amount at
the end of the relevant lease terms or any extension/
termination options which are solely at the Group's
discretion. The Group’s obligations are secured by the
rental deposits for such leases. Lease terms are
negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide
range of different terms and conditions. The Group
determines the lease period to be the non-cancellable
period based on the contractual terms of the contract.

RREFE AEEREZERLE
MERTEEHRFEHEEZR -HE
BRRBEFHIFE10FREER
BRI AR E I EEZENEBER
HERFRSBASBERBEREY X
TREASE B A BIFTTE 2 E TR, 4
RN AEEZEHHAREE
HERS BN o HE BRI E R
EBERER - WA Z ARG &
e ARERES N 2B KNIRKEE
MR AR -
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18.

226

B IF R R EE

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (continued)

The Group regularly entered into short-term leases for
retail booths. As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the
portfolio of short-term leases is similar to the portfolio of
short term leases to which the short-term lease expense
disclosed above.

The above items of right-of-use assets are depreciated on
a straight-line method over the lease term.

The Group has entered into Memorandum of
Understanding Agreement with Business Partners, a
commercial building will be constructed and developed
on the abovementioned land and the Group will be the
main constructor for the whole construction project. The
directors of the Company expected that parts of the
properties will be used as owned office and the
remaining parts will be leased out for earning rental
income when the commercial building completed.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group
leased out certain properties located in the PRC to
independent third parties and transferred right-of-use
assets to investment properties. The total carrying
amount of the right-of-use assets at the date of transfer
was approximately Nil (2023: RMB930,000).

Restrictions or covenants on leases

In addition, lease liabilities of approximately
RMB4,762,000 (2023: RMB5,176,000, as restated) are
recognised with related right-of-use assets of
approximately RMB4,622,000 (2023: RMB4,797,000, as
restated) as at 31 December 2024. The lease agreements
do not impose any covenants other than the security
interests in the leased assets that are held by the lessor.
Leased assets may not be used as security for borrowing
purposes.

Details of the lease maturity analysis of lease liabilities are
set out in Notes 33 and 39(b).

18. FHREEE»)

AREBETFRARTERUFILEHEE
R-B_WEFER_F_=F+= ﬂ
=t—H EHESHEAE EXHE
ZHERHEER 2 R ERS B -

taEREEERBNHERRER
EITE o

AEEERXBEEBHEINRE
TR B0 iR E R R
—EEEET  MAKESESEME
L;ZIEEE’J?E%L“% ZAN/NETE: =5
B BOZEMESRERE AR
=Sy ﬁﬁ%u DHRAFRETRIE
HAEABRERE S YA -

BHE_T_NFE+_A=1+—HIF
B AEEHHEETARTEZzDE
FRYE=F WHEFEREEEEE
EREME - RERBH FHES
EZBERENAT(ZEZ=F: A
R %930,0007T) °

G e

N RZZFE_WE+—_A=+—H
HEABHARY4,762,000L(=F
—=%: AR¥5,176,000 T(E%]))
ZEBFEAREENARY 4,622,000
T(ZZEZ=%F: AR%4,797,0007T
(B7))) -BREHEAFEHELEEZK
ﬁ%ﬁé’ﬂl\ + 78 B 155 7% N 4 e N £ ] 2
cHEBETSAEABRZER
ﬁﬁ‘ﬁé °
HEBBE 2 HEF RS TEFIBHRK
£33 % 39(b) °
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RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (continued)

Adjustment relating to the unrecorded
finance leases

The independent advisors further discovered that Ms.
Hou Wei's personal credit report indicated her
involvement as a guarantor in two finance leases
transactions , where the borrowers were the Company’s
non-wholly owned subsidiaries, Guangjilian and Guangxi
Jiyi, but these transactions were not disclosed in the
2022 and 2023 annual reports.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

During the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023,
the Group leases out commercial property units under
operating leases with rentals receivable monthly. The
leases typically run for an initial period of 1 year to 15
years and no unilateral rights to extend the lease beyond
initial period held by the Group and lessees. Majority of
the lease contracts contain market review clauses in the
event the lessee exercises the option to extend.

The Group is not exposed to foreign currency risk as a
result of the lease arrangements, as all leases are
denominated in the respective functional currencies of
group entities. The lease contracts do not contain
residual value guarantee and/or lessee’s option to
purchase the property at the end of lease term.

18.

19.

FHEEE®
FERACEMERENAR

B EREE - ER 19%?—“&1116’]1!

AERARERETR  WIERERAZE
TREBERERS  ERARZA

AN EM BRI BRER N EASE
= BEERFIARE2022 F K 2023
FFEEREPHEE -

REWE

BHE_ZT-_NMFR-FT-_=F+=A
=+t—HIEFE FAEEREBRKEH
EHEREDEENG  HeREBAK
B BE MNP RBBIFEISF -
ANEE B KA A I £ B 5 R R
NP FHREEREE - KEHHELHH
ﬁﬁ%%ﬂ/\ﬁﬁﬁﬁ%‘%%ﬁZﬁ%

/s/\ A 1|7N/T>)\ ©

7N % [ 3 8 (R 7H & 22 Bk 1 A SN
2 RASHEHEANEBERES
Bz EBstE HOLESHER
BEEERRESABEANESRLS
REEME 2 EEE-
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19. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued) 19. REWE »)

RMB’000
ARBTFT
At 1 January 2023 KRB -_=F— 61,520
Decrease in fair value recognised in profit or E’\EEWEEE”Z f B (HtaE9)
loss (Note 9) (14,100)
At 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024 RZB_=F+-_A=+—HBK
—ZE_mE—-F—H 47,420
Decrease in fair value recognised in profitor ~ B NERZ AFERD (A1£9)
loss (Note 9) (3,610)
At 31 December 2024 R=-EBE-_mME&E+=HA=+—H 43,810

REEREVMEQAFER  AEEER

In determining the fair value of the investment properties,

228

the Group engages the independent qualified
professional valuer to perform the valuation. The
management of the Group works closely with them to
establish the appropriate valuation techniques and inputs
to the model and explain the cause of fluctuations in the
fair value of the investment properties to the board of
directors.

In estimating the fair value of the properties, the highest
and best use of the properties is their current use. The
fair values of certain investment properties have been
adjusted to exclude prepaid or accrued operating lease
income to avoid double counting.

The following table gives information about how the fair
values of these investment properties are determined (in
particular, the valuation techniques and inputs used) at
the end of reporting period.

H*?’%i éi %%Fﬁfﬁﬁﬂﬁ&ﬁﬁﬁ °
a1E - LATIE
5@515@77‘%&%)\&?&2%@%? i

AEFTUERENEAFERDZ
R R QP ER - %%2?%&

REAEAEBRAEZ - BETREY
FZRFEEIEAR LAWB‘%?EHW
JEFHREHEWA - BREER

TREHABNAUNESPRETEZ
EREMERNFEZEM(LERMHE
TENRFTRBARE) o
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INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

19. BEWE &)

Investment properties

RENZ

Valuation technique and
fair value hierarchy

fELERATEER

Significant input(s)
EXBAYE

Relationship of
inputs to fair value

BABBRAVERE

2024: 10 units of a commercial building
namely Jiyi Household Material City
(with a gross floor area of 5,625.53
square metres) located at No. 2 Xianzi
Middle Road, Chengjiang Town,
Meixian District, Meizhou, Guangdong
Province, the PRC (Note 1)

“RComE NP EEREBNTIES
REPTHASHTR RN ERHZE
TH 10MEE T (REMERS,625.53
THR)  BE—KEEMH (A1)

2023: 10 units of a commercial building
namely Jiyi Household Material City

2024: Market approach
Level 2 (Note 2)

“EoNE TREE S
(Br#2)

2023: Market approach
Level 2 (Note 2)

2024: The market price per
square metre ranged from
RMBS5, 757 to RMB8,530

“E-QE HREEETX
NEARESTSTREAR

%8530

2023: The market price per
square metre ranged from

2024: The higher the market price
per square metre, the higher
the fair value and vice versa

“ZINE: miZEEEE A
ABEYS  RZMA

2023: The higher the market price
per square metre, the higher

(with a gross floor area of 5,625.53 RMBG6,825 to RMB9,000 the fair value and vice versa
square metres) located at No. 2 Xianzi

Middle Road, Chengjiang Town,

Meixian District, Meizhou, Guangdong

Province, the PRC (Note 1)

“EoCERPEERERNTESE —E-=F: Wk “TCZETRERRBTR ZTIZF mREEHR D
BRETEBHTR RN EHZE E2R(H72) NFEARE685TEAR ﬁiﬁéﬁim » 2T
FH10HE T (REEERS,625.53 #9,0007T
THR)  BE—KEEMH (A1)

2024: RMB43,810,000

2023: RMB47,420,000

NNGETPAES)E S

ZZCRF - AR%43,810,0007T

“T=F 0 AR%47,420,0007

Note 1: The land use rights of the commercial building were granted HiaET - ?ﬁ%@?ﬁfﬁ@iﬁ@%%gﬁﬁﬁ\_g

for a term expiring on 4 September 2048 for composite uses. MAFENAEABER - fERE R

Note 2: As disclosed in the Appendix, the subject property is currently Biat2 : MARIRE 2 MSRFTHER - {2 eV BF 2 B Al

subject to a litigation with a bank in Mainland China and the
court has ordered the bank to receive the interests of the
subject property as compensation. Considering the potential
limitation in receiving rental incomes by the property owner, we
have changed the valuation methodology to Market Approach
which is not based on the income potential of a property to
derive it's capital value. Since the observable quoted prices of
the comparables with adjustments are adopted in Market
Approach, it is thus regarded as a Level-2 approach.

1E7E £ 7R B K BE M) — SRR 1T HE 1T R A0
AR E 2 R R 1T CEAZ A B 2 0 FIL S,
EREE - ZRIETWEHASKAD
BERS MK EES AR ATS
o RAETRERWERNRATE R
HEHIREEE - AR MISERA L
AREAR BN AT BRBE - BUbiHag
BE -

FRAYBEBAFERE (T —_—

There were no transfers into or out of Level 2 during the

year (2023: Nil). F:m)e
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20. GOODWILL

For the purposes of impairment testing on goodwill,
management allocated goodwill to the Group’s cash-
generating unit (“CGU") identified. The Group’s goodwill

20. &

arising on acquisition of the subsidiaries was allocated to

the online distribution and e-marketing services and

home decoration.

Uﬁi?i

?ﬁ?ﬁ%@ﬁﬁ‘ﬁﬂ?ﬁﬁ'ﬁ% '

SERECHRENAEERCELBN
7N [ A Uk
NAIMEEANHEE SRS
fﬁ&%%”fﬁﬂﬁ%u&%%%ﬁfﬁ °

EfiZ]) o

EBEEHE

mED

Online
distribution
and Home
e-marketing decoration
services CGU CGU Total
BREDHER
AR S RS REHE
HeELEN HEELEEBN st
RMB’'000 RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARETT AREFT  ARETFT
Cost %N
At 1 January 2023, N-_E-_=F—A#
31 December 2023 and —H —ZT-=4F
31 December 2024 M= e
+—HA=+—H 37,411 15,797 53,208
Accumulated impairment ZRiHEEEE
losses
At 1 January 2023 R-T =4
—H—H 1,175 - 1,175
Impairment loss recognised AN HERABEE K
in the year 36,236 15,797 52,033
At 31 December 2023 and BA: —=FR
31 December 2024 S
+=—A=+—~H” 37,411 15,797 53,208
Net carrying amount BRTENFE
At 31 December 2023 AZE =4
+=-—A=+—8 — — —
At 31 December 2024 R-T_WF
+=-—A=+—H - - -
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FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
represent long-term unlisted equity investments (Note
39(0)).

 RAVEFABRSNERMEE

BAVESABRSNEREERRY
FEETRERE (MFE39(0) -

INVENTORIES . FE
2024 2023
—E-E =&
RMB'000 RMB’000
ARMFT  AREFT
Finished goods UK - 1,448

Inventories represent goods held for resale and interior
design and building engineering projects.

The provision for write-down of inventories is generally
made on those inventories which are sold subsequently
with the prices lower than the carrying amounts while
the reversal of provision for write-down of inventories is
only recognised for those inventories which are sold
subsequently with the prices higher than the carrying
amounts.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, write-down
of inventories amounted to RMB218,000 (2023: Nil) was
recognised.

FEEFEEE2ERMREARITR
REETIZIEE o

WORLF B Y B R R R B R IME R BR
HEBIERNEZFERE MM
MEFERE s BEERBERESNE
HEEZEBROEZFERER

BE_Z_WNF+_A=+—HIF
& - BRERMUR AR 218,0007T (=
To=FF)e
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23.

232

CONTRACT ASSETS 23. BHEE
2024 2023
—E-MFE —Eo=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®FT ARBTFT
Contract assets arising from: BUTNSEEELEZALHEE
Services contracts for provision of RHEFARGTRELETRRZ
interior design and building AR & 4
engineering services 310,803 318,214
Less: allowance for expected credit & : TEEIE BB EEE
losses (102,118) (29,944)
208,685 288,270

The contract assets primarily relate to the Group’s right
to consideration for work completed and not billed
because the rights are conditioned on the Group’s future
performance in achieving specified milestones at the
reporting date on construction works. The contract assets
are transferred to trade receivables when the rights
become unconditional.

At the end of the reporting period, RMB102,118,000
(2023: RMB29,944,000) was recognised as an allowance
for expected credit losses on contract assets. The Group’s
trading terms and credit policy with customers are
disclosed in Note 39(b) to the consolidated financial
statements.

BHEBETREANKEFE TR IR
FHAREN THRRIKENENAR -
FRERZFEMBRN AN EB R RE
AR EETREREEEREENR
KRR o % FRMMA S EMSRME Bl
BHEEBBEE SRR -

K&K AR® 102,118,000
(20234 : AR 29,944,000 7T ) FER
RENEEBHEEBERE -~&
EREFHNE S BRAREERRER
RS B ISR 39(b) ©
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23. CONTRACT ASSETS (Continued) 23. BREEW®
Typical payment terms of services contracts for provision REHEEANRGTREETREZREE Y
of interior design and building engineering which impact RN RIER(EEEMRERZEL
on the amount of contract assets recognised are as BESE)WNT :
follows:

o The Group’s services contracts include payment
schedules which require stage payments over the
construction period once certain specified
milestones are reached. The Group requires certain
customers, other than the local government or with
those of long term relationship, to provide upfront
deposits ranged from 20% to 60% of total contract
sum as part of its credit risk management policies.
When the Group receives a deposit before interior
design and building engineering services
commences, this will give rise to contract liabilities
at the start of a contract, until the revenue
recognised on the specific contract exceeds the
amount of the deposit.

o The Group also typically agrees a retention period
ranging from one to five years for 3% to 5% of the
contract value. As at 31 December 2024, the
retention receivables amounted to approximately
RMB46,875,000 (2023: RMB46,875,000) are
included in contract assets until the end of the
retention period as the Group’s entitlement to this
final payment become unconditional upon
expiration of the defects liability period and are
transferred to trade receivables.

o The Group classifies contract assets as current when
the Group expects to realise them in its normal
operating cycle.

REENREE D BIENRERE
* —BEINETETCRERER -
RIZERA ME T BRI VE L BE ER AT 3K o
REBEXRETER (EHEM
FFRPEENTFRIN) ZH
NTFELETE20% E60% 2 Al
Hize  EREGERKRERERK
BZ—HD  c RAKBEREANR
BT K B SR T 72 AR A B 46 BT UK ER IR
SR BRENRBKELESD
BfE EERBTANERZK
ABHIZRSSBEAIL -

AEENTBERERENEEZ
3% E5% BTN T —ERF 2R
BH - R _ZT_WmWFE+=A
=+t—H BRRBESHARE
46,875,000 L( Z T -=F : A
R # 46,875,000 ) st AB K E
EEZRBHERAL  REAR
REREEERERE NEE K
& B 18 SR 2 REF X 2 AR 1
NEREE 5 R o

EAEBRRAZFANEERRN
HEF2ERMNERE K&
BEeKENEED BRI
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23. CONTRACT ASSETS (Continued) 23. EHNEE®)
Movement in the contract assets and the contract HE_ T _WMEN_FTE_=F+—A8
liabilities balances during the years ended 31 December =t+—HBLFEENEERGHERE
2024 and 2023 are as follows: ER 2 BB ¢
2024 2023
—E_ME —Eo=F
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®FT ARETT

At 1 January n—H—H 288,270 364,929
Transfer from the contract assets HERREHNEEEREE

recognised to trade receivables Z FE W T8 (7.411) (60,059)
Less: allowance for credit losses B FEEEEERE

during the year (72,174) (16,600)
At 31 December R+=—A=+—H 208,685 288,270
Details of the impairment assessment are set out in Note BB T E R IBE A M 7E 39(b) ©
39(b).
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24. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLESAND 24. ES R EMEWRFREBEURE

PREPAYMENTS NS
2024 2023
—E-ME —ECo=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥FT ARET T
(Restated)
(&%)
Trade receivables from contracts BFAXNE S EWFE :
with customers:
Due from third parties: JEUREE =5 FRIE -
— sale and distribution of — HE KD HE @
merchandise 411,020 283,509
— interior design and building — EARGTRELEIRE
engineering services AR 7 64,254 50,827
Due from a related party: JE e — %2 BB 75 5K IE -
— sale and distribution of — HE R HEEm
merchandise 431 431
475,705 334,767
Less: allowance for credit losses B EEEEEE (129,687) (16,589)
346,018 318,178
Other receivables H {th fE W K18
Contract performance deposits BHRNIES (HiE @)

(Note (a)) 6,649 6,649
Project tender deposits (Note (b)) TRRBERZRS (HaEb)) 65,844 65,844
Other tax recoverable H fth AT U B35 18 4,356 1,447
Rental deposits HEZS 165 165
Receivables relating to the refund of & & P15 Z AR E RS

investment proceeds (Note (e)) JEU FRIE (M7 (e) 21,231 21,231
Others H A 5,751 8,399

103,996 103,735
Less: allowance for credit losses B EEEIEEE (102,427) (23,733)
1,569 80,002
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 BEZ=—Z=—NF+=-A=+—HIFE

24. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLESAND 24. ES R EMEWRFREBEURAE

PREPAYMENTS (continued) NFRIE (&)
2024 2023
—E-MF —Eo=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥FT ARBTFT
(Restated)
(&%)
Prepayments FNRE
Prepayments for purchase of goods BB E &R MEHREZ
and provision of services (Note (c) 87K (AfaE () 347,848 347,848
Less: allowance for credit losses R EEEERE (347,848) (347,848)
Prepayment for acquisition of WEIRE MR 2 AR FIA
investment properties (Note (d)) (Bta£(d)) 33,977 33,977
Less: Provision for impairment loss ~ J&l : WWEEIRE W 2
on prepayment for acquisition BRRIEZ
of investment properties BEBERE (26,707) —
7,270 33,977
Notes receivable arising from bulk ArEmE S EBEER
commodity trading business FEW & (BaE ()
(Note (1)) - 100,000
Trade and other receivables and B 5 I E A FE U FRIE DA K2
prepayments TR FRIE 354,857 532,157
Analysed as DR
Non-current JERH 7,270 33,977
Current ik 347,587 498,180
354,857 532,157
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24. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES AND

PREPAYMENTS (continued)
Impairment assessment

The management of the Group concluded that due to
general home price to fall in recent years, the
management of the Group concluded there was
indication for impairment and conducted impairment
assessment on the prepayment for acquisitions for
investment properties with carrying amount of
RMB33,977,000.

The Group's impairment assessment on prepayment for
acquisition of investment properties were conducted by
Vincorn Consulting and Appraisal Limited, independent
valuers not related to the Group. The recoverable amount
of the prepayment is based on the fair value less cost of
disposal, which is in turn based on the fair value of the

investment properties.

The fair value of the investment properties was
determined based on the market comparable approach
that reflects recent transaction prices for similar
properties, adjusted for differences in the nature, location
and condition of the land under review and other
method. There has been no change to the valuation
technique during the year.

2. ES R HEMEBWRIEUR A

FFRIE )
R FEAh

AEBERERE AROFREEL
BETH® AEEETEERAEERIE
PR THIEEBEEARARE
33,977,000 T &I U BE R B W 5 2 TR
HIEHEST TORBAIE o

SEKBREMFE 2 RNFIAHELE
[ 428 38 Bt 110 98 S 1 (LA )3 5= 7 3 e R
HERABET TREMRE - AN
RIEH A K E S BRBEALEERE
J}%Eﬁkzliﬁ&m M ARBER2RA
BIREMENLABEH

BEREMENALEBERRERMR
BRI HERNTISA LR
TETREER - WIRBAEE T A
B UEMRRNZERREM T AE
TTHE - REFER - HERMWALE
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 BEZ=—Z=—NF+=-A=+—HIFE

24. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLESAND 24. ES R EMERFREBEURAE

PREPAYMENTS (continued) NFRIE (&)
Fair value measurement of the Group’s EEEERENEHENLD R
owned investment properties BETE
Details of the Group’s prepayment for acquisition of HEREH KR NEBWEREME
investment properties and information about the fair ZIEMNZFERAE A BEREIREH
value hierarchy as at the end of the reporting period are N
as follows:
2024 2023
—E_mE —ET-=F
Fair value Fair value
Carrying  at Level 2 Carrying at Level 3
amount hierarchy amount hierarchy
et FE=HR

REEE AREE  REE®E  AREE
RMB’000  RMB’000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARBTFT ARBTRH ARETT ARETT

Prepayment for prepayment £ & LASMNIK

for acquisition of BBIREME
investment properties Z TERTRIE
outside Hong Kong 7,270 7,270 33,977 33,977
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HEZ=—Z-NF+=-A=+—HIFE

24. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLESAND 24. ES R EMEWRFREBEURE

PREPAYMENTS (continued) NFRIE (&)
Fair value measurement of the Group’s SEEEREMEHMENAR

EBETE®)

owned investment properties (Continued)

Notes: Bifet -

(@)  Contract performance deposits are advanced to customers at the (@) AHBNEERENRTREETIRERE
beginning of interior design and building engineering services BARBRANTEE - e SRRIGHE
contracts. The deposits are repaid to the Group based on the EREBHIGTRETAESR -
progress of services and terms of the contract.

The contract performance deposits are expected to be recovered TEER A B LIRS B R RS HAB R T —
within one year from the end of the reporting period. ERUgE o

(b) Project tender deposits are advanced to potential customers (b) TRRBERENELORZHARN T E
during the contract tendering period. The deposits are repaid to BE - RERBERFTKEERE TARAE
the Group when the tendering process is completed. H o

(©) As at 31 December 2024, included in the balance of an amount (c) R-IBE-WNE+—A=+—H ' fBHA

of approximately RMB347,848,000 (2023: RMB347,848,000)
represented a prepayment for purchase of goods mainly for the

new construction of a commercial building in the PRC.

At the end of 2023, in the post pandemic era, the business
environment continue to face numerous challenges, and
economic recovery will take time. Since the implementation of
austerity measures to curb real estate speculation and regulate
high housing prices, the Chinese real estate industry is facing a
difficult business environment. With the continuous
thunderstorms of various real estate developers, the real estate
and related upstream and downstream industries have been
severely impacted. In addition, the transparent prices of building
foundation materials and extremely low profits. In this context,
the Group carefully evaluated the recovery status of the above-
mentioned funds and made significant impairment adjustments.
However, a significant provision for impairment does not
necessarily mean that it cannot be fully recovered. While the
management of our group is striving for business transformation,
they are still working hard to collect historical payments in order

to further improve the company’s financial situation.

R#347,848,000c (ZE==F : AR¥
347,848,000 7T.) #8 £ Z gt A R BRI — &
PEEFREERZEMNRIE -

R2023FER - EREBEHR - KERE
REERRZNE - KEEERR - B8
HEH MBS ERE R BEEED A E
IR HEUASR - R BB EE 1T 2 IE I PR R &k
MR EIR - ERFIERNAERE
FBHE R E TEREITREXE T REE
R - I RERBIRHERES
FEEE - EZEER T AEBEEEF
fl B sz FEFIR M E BN - WA T AR
SREERE - BENL - BRASHARE
SHRUNERE T2 EENE - AEEE
BEESNETEGBENRE - (D7E4#
B NEWE S FRIAR Y - IAEE—
HEARNEESMR -
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 BEZ=—Z=—NF+=-A=+—HIFE

24. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES AND
PREPAYMENTS (continued)

2. ESGREHEMEWREURTE
FRE =)

SEERREMFBHENDR

Fair value measurement of the Group’s

240

owned investment properties (Continued) EBETE@®)
Notes: (Continued) MtaE - (&)
(d)  The properties were in the process of development of commercial (d) ZEVE TRBYYEREEREAEE

premises by an independent property developer. The properties
are located in Meizhou in the PRC and planned to be completed
by 2025. The management intends to lease out the properties for
earning rental income when the properties are fully constructed.
Full consideration was paid and no further cash outflow is

expected to be paid for the properties.

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, included in the balance of an
amount of approximately RMB21,231,000 represents the
principal and interest receivable from the two guarantors (the
“Guarantors”) of the Company'’s investment in Xinfeng Culture
Media Limited ({5 & XL EE AR Q)
pursuant to a repayment agreement (the

(“Xinfeng Culture”) in
“Repayment
Agreement”) signed between the Company and the Guarantors
on 1 November 2021, in which the Guarantors agreed to refund
the investment principal of approximately HK$21.32 million, with
a maturity date of 30 April 2024 and a 20% annual interest rate.
As at 31 December 2022, the Company has received payment for
the first two instalments, amount to HK$2,000,000. However,
the Guarantors had defaulted in the repayment of the instalment
since 31 August 2022. The Company is in the course of seeking
legal advice and will take appropriate legal actions against the
Guarantors and enforce the Company’s rights under the
Repayment Agreement, where appropriate, including but not
limited to, (1) enforcing the Company’s right to sell the acquired
20% of the issued shares of the Target Company back to the
vendor (the “Vendor”) under the terms of the acquisition

agreement (the “Acquisition Agreement”) at a consideration of

BT o RS WEMR T EEM - SEIR =
T_RFRET - BEEHENDEREEX
&S E A ARREVE 2 WA - B BB
RE - B TEBRZENEINRE
T

R-B-=FK B - —F+-A=+—
H - #REBH AR 21,231,000 TR EA
ATEERAR-_ZE-_—F+—A—B%
BEsES EA-S ANEE: :A{7S
ARBREBRERNGHN212EESET
IEAA-—T-_WFMA=1+H ' FFH=E
#20% - ERARA IR EEE X LEES
RAR([MEExb]) B ERA (THER
ADBAESRFE - R=ZE==_F+=A
=+—H  AR7FCKEEMEMTR
2,000,000 L A BRABZZF
::EAH +—RBERERS BN
c RARBESKERER  WKEHE
ﬁA%Hmaiéﬁ@&ﬁﬁ$Aﬂmﬁ
FiBpHETHERN - (ER) BIEETR
R (BB E G (T RERE]D K
o BEITAARUNRB21.32/ 88
TRBER(ER]) EEFTIKREEBZR A
20% B BATRMEER - 2 BERERA
BEERBREE FHAERNEHE - R(3)
ZREH RERAEBERRREWEE HE

T

HK$21.32 million, (2) demanding the Guarantors to repay all the RERHGEMEENRAKARER - B
unpaid interest under the Repayment Agreement and, (3) BB L (b51% B EITHRA - 8%

demanding the Vendor and the Guarantors to repay all the costs
and losses that the Company incurred from the Acquisition
Agreement and Repayment Agreement. For the background and
details of the acquisition of 51% issued share capital of Xinfeng
Culture, the Repayment Agreement and the profit guarantee
provided by the two guarantors, please refer to the
announcement of the Company dated 19 February 2019 and 10
October 2022.

sk A ERARBOBFNEROE S
LG F2EARRBHA-ZT—IEF
ZATNhBR=Z==F+A+BAZA%-
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24. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES AND
PREPAYMENTS (continued)

2. ESGNEHMEWREURTE
INECELE )

EEEEREMEBHENAR
EBEFE#E)

Fair value measurement of the Group’s
owned investment properties (Continued)

Notes: (Continued) et - (8)

(e)  (Continued) (e) (&)
Given the Guarantors had defaulted in the repayment of the BEINERAREEED NG  REZ=E
instalment, after taking due consideration on the repayment BIER AR E e jj&ﬁgﬁa'\]—jqﬁz@'l\ét
ability of the Guarantors and the recoverability of the amount, B R_E_NER-_ZT_=F+_A4
the Group recognised an allowance for impairment loss for the =+—H8 AEEGREKERANZ IR
full amount of outstanding principal and interest receivable from BEARERAB (EARLGA M B REM
the Guarantors, which is recorded in note 11 to the consolidated 1) ERBEEERE -
financial statements, as at 31 December 2024 and 2023.

(f) During the year ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Group (f) BE_Z_=Zfk-_Z-_—_F+=A1

had entered into several trade receivable (the “Notes”) factoring
arrangements and transferred those trade receivables to banks or
other financial institutions (the “Arrangements”). Under the
Arrangements, the Group may be required to reimburse the
banks or other financial institutions for loss of interest if any trade
debtors have late payment after the maturity date, which is
normally for one year terms from the initial day, or subsequently
found default. As such, the Group retained the substantial risks
and rewards, which include default risks relating to such Notes,
and accordingly, it continued to recognise the full carrying
amounts of the Notes as “note receivables” and the associated
borrowings from banks or other financial institutions. As at 31

=+—HIEFE  AEEBIZHEHES
X EE (R REBRYE - §%EE25
FEMGRIEER B IRITRE S B ([
BED) o RIBZEHE - MEME S EBARE
HA®%(AEAEBE—FHH) TEMRK
HEBBHIREL  AEERARBITHE
fib & RIS BE BRI BA8K - AER UL A
SEERBEEZSEZIRNERENRR
FEANEZRRKRER  FHit - ANEEE
BEERN2IEMERERR [ERER]
LA RABRBER IRTTS H b & BRI B 5K o 1
ZENFE+ZRA=1+—8H X&EEZXRE

December 2024, the Group does not have such Notes. (2023: ZEER(ZE =5 ZZZBENRE
original due date of such Notes were ranging from February to HANF_ZT_NEF_AZRAZMH) °

May 2024).
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24,

242

B IF R R EE

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES AND
PREPAYMENTS (continued)

The following is an aged analysis of trade receivables, net
of allowance for credit losses, presented based on the
invoice dates:

2. ES R HEMEBWRIBEUR A

NERENE )

UTRERBEZAHZINE FEHK
IR (IR EEBERERE) KRBT

2024 2023

—ENF —E=F

RMB'000 RMB’000

AR®FT AREFIT

Within 6 months NEA A 111,888 86,320
6-12 months ~NEt+ @A - 19,185
1-2 years —EWF 1,441 127,502
Over 2 years 8 38 PR 232,689 85,171
346,018 318,178

As at 31 December 2024, included in the Group's trade
receivable are debtors with aggregate net carrying
amount of approximately RMB234,130,000 (2023:
RMB231,858,000) which are past due as at the reporting
date. It is not considered as in default by considering the
background of the trade receivables and historical
settlement arrangement of these trade receivables. The
Group does not hold any collateral over the balances.

Details of impairment assessment of trade and other
receivables are set out in Note 39(b).

R-Z-—mME+—A=+—0" B\
FEBEN AR 234,130,000 (=
%‘fﬂi'AEMZﬂswomiﬁz
BERTARAEEE S EWFIE - ZE
BRREB AR - %FU&ﬁ%
SEBFBENERRZEE HEWK
HRBTENTE  EEaHRIEY
TERBEDN AEEBWERZFZHE
BIFAEMAEAR -

B NHEHMEWKE
BRI EE 39(b) ©

RIRRE B R EE 1B
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RESTRICTED CASH

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the restricted cash
mainly represents the security deposits provided to secure
certain bank borrowings.

BANK BALANCES AND CASH

The bank balances, including time deposits with original
maturities less than 3 months, carry interest at prevailing
market rates which ranged from 0.01% to 0.15% (2023:
0.01% to 0.2%) per annum.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group
performed impairment assessment on bank balances and
concluded that the probability of defaults of the
counterparty banks are insignificant and accordingly, no
allowance for credit losses is provided. Details of
impairment assessment are set out in Note 39(b).

AMOUNTS DUE (TO) FROM RELATED
PARTIES

The amounts due to related parties are non-trade related,
unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

25.

26.

27.

ZRFEEREE
RZE_MOER_ZFT_=ZF+_A4
=+—H ' IBRHBEcEBEEER
ETIRITERMBERAKIFIZS -
RITHBRRER S
RITEL(BERAR=EA LRI

EREF)RATHEENENT
0.01% £0.15% (ZF =% :0.01%
£02%):TE °

BE_T_NE+_A=1t—HLF
g $E.¥Tfﬁ<f‘f EERETTRERTE -
BHEmAYF HRITZEN A EME
Y AEKR - Hit - HEFREEER
B o RERT A RIS E M RE 39(b) ©

(FE{Y) FEUR R ES 75 3RO

FERTRARE T SIARIEE S AR - EIR
- RENRBIRERERE -

2024 2023

—E_ME = -

Related parties RAEE S RMB'000 RMB’000
AR®FT ABRBTT

Ms. Hou Wei (e (12,702) (207)
Ms. Deng Yiyi Rt (22,317) -
(35,019) (207)
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28. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 28. EF R HMENFKIE
2024 2023
—E - UE —ET=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ T ARBT T
(Restated)
(&%)
Trade payables (note (a)) B ZENFRIE (Mt (a) 139,178 41,768
Other payables H fth FE S FIE
Salaries and staff welfare payables B < N E TEF 8,563 5,597
Deposits received for building BWEBRETERBES
engineering services 4,361 4,361
Other tax payables Hfth {118 15,524 12,132
Withholding income tax in respect of & RER% SJ& {2 TEFIFTIS L
dividend payment 16,000 16,000
Bank interest payable FEATERITH.& 20,703 11,056
Other payables H Ath & (< FKIB 37,826 43,488
102,977 92,634
Trade and other payables B R HMENRIE 242,155 134,402
Notes: BisE -
(@)  The following is an aged analysis of trade payables presented (@ MHUTAERZEZAHEIZESHENFKE
based on the invoice date. ZIRERDAT ©
2024 2023
—EE T =
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥FT ARMTFIT
Within 6 months ~NEAA 98,309 144
Over 1 year HBiE—F 40,869 41,624
139,178 41,768
(b)  The credit periods on purchases of goods and subcontracting (b) BEEREIPEREZEEHNF0E
services ranged from 0 to 180 days. 180 H -
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29. PROVISION FOR LITIGATION AND 29. SRAAFEREREEGESE
LEGAL EXPENSES
2024 2023
—ENF —E=F
RMB'000 RMB’000
AREFT AR®TFT
Analysed for reporting purposes as:  BIRESTLT ¢
Current liabilities mENEE 44,738 28,028
Litigation Preservation Liquidated Penalty
cost fees  damages Interest interest Total
B REE ENg FE ks &t
RMB RMB RMB RMB RMB RMB

ARBTT ARETT ARETT AR®TT ARETT ARETT

At 1 January 2024 —Z-mE—-A—H 924 22 12,809 11,573 2,700 28,028
Additional provision in the year AN B KRB MEK 18 25 8,370 1,670 6,627 16,710
At 31 December 2024 U

+=ZA=+—H 942 47 21,179 13,243 9,327 44,738
The amount includes accrued litigation costs, RESTEATIENRAE B2 E -
preservation fees, liquidated damages, interest, and B FERIEEZ ‘g$'|§§szg§$
penalty interest. Details are disclosed in the Appendix. R BTEE o
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30. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS 30. SRIT R HABERK
2024 2023
—E_ME —E-=F
RMB'000 RMB’000
ARET T ARETF T
Secured fixed-rate bank borrowings B K E T F| RFITE K
(note (a)) (Htat (@)
— Within one year or on demand — —FARMREKR 154,320 154,325
Discounted commercial bills and WA EARBIREERE R
discounted Letter of Credit that BLIR= AR5 (BTt 24(f)
were not yet due (Note 24(f)) - 100,000
Unsecured loan from other unrelated 7K (5 E fth B8 N 7]~ #K
companies HEX
— Within one year or on demand — —FAHIZEK 3,600 2,760
Total bank and other borrowings R1T M B A (& FRARRE 157,920 257,085
Less: Loans due within one yearor &l : D AR EGB L —F
on demand classified as RERrES Sl
current liabilities B
— Bank borrowings — IRITAEK (154,320) (254,325)
— Other borrowings — HEfER (3,600) (2,760)
Loans due after one year —FREE I ER = -
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30. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS
(Continued)

Notes:

(a)

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the bank borrowings were
secured by property, plant and equipment, investment properties,
land use right in PRC recognised as right-of-use assets and the
property in the PRC held by Chief Executive Officer. The amount
of assets pledged are disclosed in the Note 40.

The bank borrowings were also jointly guaranteed by Ms. Hou

Wei and Mr. Deng Jianshen, spouse of Ms. Hou Wei.

The secured fixed-rate bank borrowings are denominated in
RMB.

Details of charges over the bank borrowings are disclosed in Note
40.

Details of overdue and litigation of the bank borrowings are

disclosed in the Appendix | and Ill.

The ranges of effective interest rates (which are also equal to
contracted interest rates) on the Group’s bank borrowings and

other companies’ borrowing are as follows:

30. BITREMER 2

Hisz -

(@ RZEZNFRZZFE-=F+=A=+—
B RITEXEDE - BEREE - &E
M ERAEFEREEEZFBE T HER
1 LA R AT B 48 L BT R B W (R4 © 3K
WEEZ SR BHNANRE RHIFE40 o

SRS SRR PR £ R AR s e S AR (R 5%
TEWRE) BEHER -

BHEREEFRRITEFTAAREE

RITEE R F BB MIFE40

RITIE A B MR B R BER AR E 2
PFEZ I RO o

REBRTERREM R BERZ ERF
K(HRERBOME)BELNT :

2024 2023
—E-E —E=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥FT AREFT
Effective interest rates (per annum): BEEFME(FF) :
Fixed-rate borrowings I 7 Tl 2= 5 3R 4.6%-14.40% 4.6%-14.40%
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31.

248

CONVERTIBLE LOAN NOTES

On 25 June 2019, the Company issued convertible loan
notes in an aggregate amount of HK$102,100,000
(equivalent to approximately RMB89,817,000), bearing
coupon interest of 6% per annum to eight independent
third parties (the “CB holders”). The convertible loan
notes are denominated in Hong Kong dollars. The
convertible loan notes entitle the CB holders to convert
them into ordinary shares of the Company at any time
during the conversion period at a conversion price of
HK$1.0 per convertible loan note, which is subject to the
adjustments pursuant to the terms and conditions of the

convertible loan notes as follows:

(i) a maximum of not more than one-third of the
principal amount of the convertible loan notes held
by such CB holders may be converted into
conversion shares from the twelfth month after the
issue of the convertible loan notes;

(i) a maximum of not more than one-third of the
principal amount of the convertible loan notes held
by such CB holders may be converted into
conversion shares from the fourteenth month after
the issue of the convertible loan notes;

(i) all the remaining of the principal amount of the
convertible loan notes held by such CB holder may
be converted into conversion shares from the
sixteenth month after the issue of the convertible

loan notes.

1. TRERERE

RZZE—NENAZ+HB KA F
MNBBLE=F (A RRESFEE
A1) 34T 4% 102,100,000%8 T (A&
R ARE 89,817,000 7T) A I EF
REE  BEF6% 2EZmMBE R -
AR EREEABITTEHE - TR
EREBRE T RRESFE AR
A 8 4 HA RS 9 (E (] B RS IR IR B B 15
AR EREER1.08 T (AIRE TR
REREB 2GR RGHFAE) G
REFREBERAR NG EBRAT :

() %FARRESHEAFEZA
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31. CONVERTIBLE LOAN NOTES (Continued)

The convertible loan notes shall mature on the date
falling eighteenth month after the date of issue. The
Company may, at any time prior to the maturity date,
redeem all or part of the outstanding convertible loan
notes at the redemption price of 105% of the
outstanding principal amount of the convertible loan
notes before the first anniversary of the date of issue and
108.5% of the outstanding principal amount of the
convertible loan notes after the first anniversary of the
date of issue, together with the accrued interest incurred
before the period from the redemption date and interest
for the period from the redemption date to the maturity
date at the rate of 6% per annum, by giving a prior
notice of not less than thirty days to the CB holders of
such convertible loan notes subject to the terms and
conditions of the convertible loan notes. Any convertible
loan notes outstanding on the maturity date shall be
redeemed by the Company subject to the terms and
conditions of the convertible loan notes.

At the maturity date (i.e. 24 December 2020), if the
convertible loan notes have not been converted or
redeemed, they will be redeemed at 108.5% of par,
unless the CB holders and the Company mutually agree
to extend the maturity date to 24 June 2021 (“Extension
Period”). The CB holders shall exercise the conversion
right to convert the convertible loan notes into
conversion shares during the Extension Period at the
conversion price of HK$1. Interest of 6% will be paid
quarterly up until the settlement date.

31.
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BASE105% 2 BB B RN ETA
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b 8 (5] B A 25 51/ B E RS A4 2R 6%
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31.
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B IF R R EE

CONVERTIBLE LOAN NOTES (Continued)

At initial recognition, the equity component of the
convertible loan notes amounted to approximately
RMB2,811,000, net of the transaction cost attributable
to equity component of approximately RMB16,000, was
recognised separately from the liability component. The
equity component is presented in equity as “convertible
loan notes equity reserve”. The early redemption option
is considered as closely related to the host debt. The
effective interest rate of the liability component is

16.50% per annum.

On 24 December 2021, the convertible bonds in the
amount of HK$60,544,445 (equivalent to approximately
RMB49,501,000) have been converted into 60,544,445
conversion shares by the CB holders, and the remaining
convertible bonds in the amount of HK$41,555,555
(equivalent to approximately RMB33,976,000) are
extended to 31 August 2022 (the “Extended CB Maturity
Date”) after mutually agreed by the Company and CB
holders. Except for the above, all the other terms and
conditions remain unchanged.
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31. CONVERTIBLE LOAN NOTES (Continued)

As at the date of modifications, taking into account the
terms of the extension, the fair value of convertible loan
notes were amounted to approximately HK$68,366,000
(equivalent to approximately RMB56,886,000) and
approximately HK$45,411,000 (equivalent to
approximately RMB37,128,000) on 24 June 2021 and 24
December 2021,
component and equity component were amounted to

of which the fair values of liability

approximately HK$68,333,000 (equivalent to
approximately RMB56,859,000) and approximately
HK$33,000 (equivalent to approximately RMB27,000) on
24 June 2021, and approximately HK$45,389,000
(equivalent to approximately RMB37,110,000) and
approximately HK$22,000 (equivalent to approximately
RMB18,000) on 24 December 2021 respectively. As a
result, the Group recognised a gain on modification of
convertible loan notes of approximately RMB5,360,000
in the consolidated statements of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income and transferred the amount of
approximately RMB10,000 from “convertible loan notes
equity reserve” to “retained profits” in the consolidated
statements of changes in equity for the year ended 31

December 2021.

As of the Extended CB Maturity Date, after considering
the difference between the market price of the
Company’s share and the exercise price of the convertible
loan notes and its impacts to the valuation of the fair
value of equity component of the convertible loan notes,
the amount of approximately RMB18,000 (2021:
RMB10,000) from “convertible loan notes equity reserve”
was transferred to “retained profits” in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity for the year ended 31

December 2022.

The effective interest rate of the liability component for
the extended convertible loan notes is approximately
15.0% (2021: 17.32%) per annum.

31.
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31.

252

CONVERTIBLE LOAN NOTES (Continued)

At the report date, the Outstanding Convertible Bonds
have reached the Maturity Date. On 12 June 2023, a
winding-up petition (the “Petition”) was filed by & &4
BT & B R A A (Qingdao Rongshikaiyuan Trading
Company Limited*) (the “Petitioner”) with the High
Court of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region
(the “High Court of Hong Kong”) for the winding-up of
the Company under the provision of the Companies
(Winding Up and Miscellaneous Provisions) Ordinance
(Chapter 32 of the Laws of Hong Kong). The Petitioner’s
ultimate beneficial owner is an individual named Zhang
Zongai (R
delivered by the Petitioner to the Company’s office on 5
July 2023.

). A copy of the winding-up petition was

The hearing for the Petition was taken place on 23
August 2023 as scheduled at the High Court of Hong
Kong before a Master, and the same court has directed
an adjournment of the hearing for the Petition to be
heard before a Master on Wednesday, 18 October 2023.
Furthermore, as provided by the Petitioner’s solicitors,
the Petitioner’s ultimate beneficial owner, an individual
named Zhang Zongai (5% 7= &), who was also the sole
director of the Petitioner, has passed away on 7 July
2023.

In view of the impact of the possible winding-up order
on the transfer of Shares, as disclosed in the
announcements of the Company dated 17 August 2023
and 23 August 2023, the Company is currently
preparing, with its engaged legal advisors, the application
to the High Court of Hong Kong for a validation order.
Shareholders are reminded that there is no guarantee
that any validation order would be granted by the High
Court of Hong Kong. In the event where a validation
order is not granted but the winding-up order is not
dismissed or permanently stayed, all transfers of Shares
after the commencement of the winding up shall be
void.
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31. CONVERTIBLE LOAN NOTES (Continued)

References are made to the announcements of the
Company dated 5 July 2023, 17 August 2023, 23 August
2023, 18 October 2023, 15 November 2023, 13
December 2023, 10 January 2024, 6 March 2024, 11
March 2024 and 12 April 2024, in relation to, among
other things, the Petition (the “Announcements”). A
settlement agreement entered into between the
Petitioner and the Company on 30 April 2024, consent
was reached accordingly between the two parties to
adjourn the hearing in connection with the Petition, and
in respect of which, consent summons was filed on 2
May 2024 and an order was granted on 3 May 2024 to
(i) vacate the hearing of the Petition on 6 May 2024; and
(ii) the hearing of the Petition before the Companies
Judge was adjourned to 30 September 2024 for the
fulfilment of obligations under the aforesaid settlement
agreement.

For further details in relation to the Outstanding
Convertible Bonds, please refer to the announcements of
the Company dated 23 April 2019, 25 June 2019, 24
December 2020, 31 December 2020, 24 June 2021, 16
July 2021, 24 December 2021, 17 January 2022 and 31
August 2022, the circular of the Company dated 14 May
2019, 26 January 2021, 30 July 2021 and 11 February
2022 in respect of the Extraordinary General Meeting
("EGM"), and the poll result announcement dated 30
May 2019, 22 February 2021, 10 September 2021 and 7
March 2022 in respect of the EGM.

31. TEREREE (»)
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31. CONVERTIBLE LOAN NOTES (continued) 31. IR EREE @)

MRBRPEHR-_ZE-_—&F+_A4
+T=B4E% RZET_OFR_-ZF
—=F+ZRA=+—HEHHKRTE
AR ESFITEERRITE S RTT
FARRESFEE TEITNEHRN

As a result of the Share Consolidation became effective
on 13 December 2022, the following adjustments were
made to the exercise price of the Outstanding
Convertible Bonds and the number of Consolidated
Shares falling to be issued upon the exercise of the

Outstanding Convertible Bonds as at 31 December 2024 HEELATHERE
and 2023:
Prior to adjustment After adjustment
AEAE A%
Adjusted
Number number of
of Existing Consolidated
Shares to be Shares to be
issued upon issued upon
full exercise Adjusted full exercise
of the exercise of the
Exercise price Outstanding price per Outstanding
per Existing  Convertible Consolidated Convertible
Share Bonds Share Bonds
REBITE
REBHTRE e R AT
fe R AT fE ARRESE
ARRES% BR HFRITN
BRAF HTFROH  SHRHOBZ BHRH
BB 2TEE REROHE KRBIOEE LHRYE
(HK$) (HK$)
(Eir) (B7)
Outstanding Convertible RIARTTEE AT IR
Bonds &% 1.00 41,555,555 500 8311111
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32. CONTRACT LIABILITIES 32. BHAERE

2024 2023
—E-mE =4
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR¥ T AR®TT
Deposits received from customers in = EIATIHEBBZBREF
relation to: WEES
— Sale and distribution of — HE KD HEE @
merchandise 4,119

— Provision of interior design and
building engineering services

— REEART MEE
TR 513

4,632 993

As at 1 January 2023 and 1 January 2024, the contract
liabilities amounted to RMB2,490,000 and RMB480,000
are recognised as revenue in profit or loss during the
years ended 31 December 2023 and 2024, respectively.
The directors of the Company considered that contract
liabilities would be realised within one year based on the
Group’s earliest obligation to transfer goods or services
to the customers and are classified as current liabilities.

The significant change in contract liabilities, which consist
of deposits received from customers, is directly tied to a
surge in advance payments for merchandise that had not
yet been shipped or transferred by the end of the period.
As referenced, the corresponding decrease in the
contract liability balance from the prior year occurred
because significant amounts were recognised as revenue
this year when the Group fulfilled its obligations by
transferring control of the related goods to those
customers, recognised as revenue.

Typical payment terms which impact on the amount of
contract liabilities recognised are set out in Note 6(ii).

N—_E-_=F—-—HA AR -_NF
—A—RH  a#HAaEAR% 2,490,000
T M AR # 480,000t 0 IR E = —
T —FE RS- pNE+—-_F=+—
HEFEZEEANERABBA - AR
AEERR AHBEHRREBEEAEE
MEFPEEEMIREcEEEER
—FRNEER - WO BRRBERE -

BHBENEAEHTIEARFANM
MESBXNEZBEBRIIMRERLE
X B 5 7 an AR B TR (S FRIB RO BUE - 10
SEMM - ATRA N B ERENRE
By RARANEREBET T &5
HAABREmAIEFIRERRER, - 1t
A E L TR SRIRRER AU -

FEMRRZANAESEZ KM
TRAGR TR B TA B FE 6(ii) ©
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33. LEASE LIABILITIES 33. HE&AE
2024 2023
—E_ME —ETo=F
RMB'000 RMB’000
AR¥FoT AR FT
(Restated)
(E31)
Within one year —&F RN 4,762 5,030
Within a period of more than one HBR—FEIZRMEZ
year but not more than two years HAfE A = 146
4,762 5,176
Less: Amount due for settlement B RBBEETAIRLZ
within 12 months shown + =18 A A E| ERE T
under current liabilities ZFRIE (4,762) (5,030)
Amount due for settlement after ERBEBENIRZT=
12 months shown under &8 A& B8R (E 1 2 508
non-current liabilities = 146
34. DEFERRED TAX 34, EEFIIE
For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated MR GREBIRARENmMES - 5T

statement of financial position, certain deferred tax BEBBEERBGED KN - 3
BHREMES @ BERIBLE SR DT

the analysis of the deferred tax balances for financial T

assets and liabilities have been offset. The following is

reporting purposes:

2024 2023

—E-NFE —E-=F

RMB'000 RMB'000

AR¥ T ARBFT

Deferred tax assets RIEFIEE B = =
Deferred tax liabilities FIER A A E (20,974) (21,877)
(20,974) (21,877)
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34. DEFERRED TAX (Continued) 34, EZEBIE (2)
The following are the major deferred tax liabilities and NTRRAFERERFEZEHER
(assets) recognised and movements thereon during the ZETEENREE) REES :

current and prior years:

Revaluation
Accrued of Allowance
rental and  investment ECL for
payroll  properties  provision inventories  Tax losses Total

Eile REWRZz BERR

RIE ENfiE BRERE FERG  HEEA At
RMBO00  RMB'000  RMB000  RMB000  RMB000  RMB'000
ARETTL AREFT ARKFT ARETT ARETT ARRTT

At 1 January 2023 RZTZ=%
—-A—-A (914) 21877 (9,343) - (376) 11,244
Charged to profit or loss SpEril
(Note 12) (Wt 12) 914 - 9,343 - 376 10,633
At31December2023and ~ W-ZT-=%
1 January 2024 +-A=+-Ak
—EomE
—-A—A = 21877 = = - 21877
Credited to profit or loss iTABR (M 12)
(Note 12) - (903) - - - (903)
At 31 December 2024 R-B-ME
t-A=1-H - 20,974 - - - 20,974
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34,
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DEFERRED TAX (Continued)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has
estimated unused tax losses of approximately
RMB150,862,000 (2023: RMB138,258,000) available for
offset against future profits. A deferred tax asset has
been recognised in respect of such losses amounting to
RMBO (2023: RMBO) during the year ended 31 December
2024. No deferred tax asset has been recognised in
respect of the remaining tax losses due to the
unpredictability of future profit streams. Included in
unrecognised tax losses are losses of RMB12,603,000
(2023: RMB43,125,000) that will expire from 2025 to
2029 (2023: 2024 to 2028). Other losses may be carried
forward indefinitely.

Under the EIT Law of the PRC, withholding tax is imposed
on dividends declared in respect of profits earned by the
Group's subsidiaries in the PRC from 1 January 2008
onwards. Deferred taxation has not been provided for in
the consolidated financial statements in respect of
temporary difference attributable to the retained profits
earned by the subsidiaries in the PRC amounting to
approximately RMB6,454,000 as at 31 December 2024
(2023: RMB97,837,000) as the Group is able to control
the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences
and it is probable that the temporary differences will not
reverse in the foreseeable future. The unrecognised
deductible temporary difference is amounting
approximately RMB40,120,000 as at 31 December 2024
(2023: RMB14,100,000).

34. IEIEFLIE (&)

RS R - A& B 0] 8 R s
FzEsr RBDABEBENARE
150,862,000 L (Z T == : AR¥
138,258,0007T) - "B E = Z — U4
TZA=+—HBLEFE EREHEE
BRERAECHREEEARKOL(ZE
—=F: AR¥O0) - BRRK AT
2 DA TEORIE - OB E R AR T RIIE
EERREEHEBEE - BKR_Z
_£¢i_$_h¢(_7: F:Z

TEET-)\F) BB IEEA
E%12m3mmxc_7__f£ AR
¥ 43,125,000 7T ) 5T A K #E 2R % 18 /&
18 o HAbE B IR AL -

BREBEFRMGEMGHRE BZZTFN
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ANEBEZ RN HE T IRR S AN
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IRV BRRARE R M B
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35. SHARE CAPITAL 35. A
Number of Share Share
shares capital capital
RO EE N TS
HKD'000 RMB’000
BT AREFT
Authorised ordinary shares EELBR
At 1January 2023 at HK$0.5each R=F-=F—F—H
FREECSHT 1,000,000,000 500,000 609,650
Share sub-division in Capital BAEA (Hit)
Reorganisation (note) 49,000,000,000 - -
At 31 December 2023 and 2024 RZBE-_=FR-_E-NF
at HK$0.01 each +-A=1+—H
FREE0.01ET 50,000,000,000 500,000 609,650
Issued and fully paid ordinary BETRBREAR
shares
At 1 January 2023 at HK$0.5each  R=ZF-_=%F—F—H
BRAES BT 263,765,522 131,883 112,112
Capital Reorganisation (note) BAEA (Hit) - (129,245) (109,722)
At 31 December 2023 and 2024 RZEZ=FR-T-mF
at HK$0.01 each +-A=1+—H
FREE0ET 263,765,522 2,638 2,390
Note k3

Pursuant to an extraordinary general meeting held on 9 December 2022
(the "EGM"), the resolutions approving the capital reorganization
involving the share consolidation, the capital reduction and the share
sub-division (the “Capital Reorganisation”) was duly passed by way of

poll.

Immediately upon the Capital Reduction becoming effective, the Share
Sub-Division was implemented on the basis that each issued and
unissued Consolidated Share of HK$0.50 each in the authorised share
capital of the Company was sub-divided into fifty (50) New Shares with

nominal value of HK$0.01 each.

RENR-Z = —F+= AABRTHRERENA
B ([RREFRIARE ) HERARER S RRHD
B 6t BRAHDR R B4R (TRAEA])) #R
BEARETARIEEBE -

RBRANHIRAE R - BRDFF AR AN R AR A
FEREECSOBITHEEBRITRAETAHR
MEBFRMAT T (50)REEERSREEO.01
PETTR AR 2 BEEELT -
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36.

260

SHARE-BASED PAYMENT
TRANSACTIONS

Equity-settled share option scheme of the
Company

In order to provide incentives and rewards to eligible
participants for their contribution or potential
contribution to the Group, the Company adopted share
option scheme on 6 October 2015. The maximum
number of Shares which may be allotted and issued upon
the exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to
be exercised under the Share Option Scheme and any
other share option schemes of the Company must not, in
aggregate, exceed 30% of the total number of Shares in
issue from time to time. The total number of Shares in
respect of which options may be granted under the
Share Option Scheme and any other share option
schemes of the Company shall not exceed 10% of the
total number of Shares in issue as at the date of listing of
the Shares, being 36,000,000 Shares, unless the
Company obtains the approval of the shareholders in
general meeting for refreshment.

The shareholders of the Company passed an ordinary
resolution at the annual general meeting of the Company
held on 30 May 2019 to approve the renewal of the
10% general limit on the number of shares which may
be allotted and issued upon the exercise of the options
to be granted under the Share Option Scheme, being
10% of the total number of Shares in issue as of 30 May
2019 and amounting to 69,120,000 Shares.

Details of the Company’s share option scheme, please
refer to “Report of the directors” of the Company’s
annual report.

36. AR BER 2 NARKRSZ

AR UBRAEZ 2 BRES
2|

RAGEBSLHERBRFHAEEZ
BRI ETEERUIRHAE R EE -
REIRZE—RAF+ANARMNER
HETE - AIRBRERERS RAAF
FREMEREAE SR EMBRFT
ER R RITEBRERITEMmA
TREERETHZEROEBE &%
TRBBETHEBETRODBEHD
30% o RIFEARBE R R A RQ EEMA
H b BE AR AR 8 AT BB 1% 0 MY BB AR I P
B REBRNBE - TEBARKRNG L
mABEEITRGEEH10% (A
36,000,000 J&f%170) * BRIEAR AT ER
RERAE R RALEEH -

ARARIBRER=_ZE—NFRA=1H
BORARBZBRRBFREG LLAEB
REERBBIESEMRBREEE
THTREBREREITEERR T
BRETIZROHEBE 210% — KR
B OREE-_ZT—-hAhFRA=1+H
B %17l M8 8 M10% £
69,120,000 fi%
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36. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT 36. AR BER 2 NARRZ @)
TRANSACTIONS (continued)
Share options granted on 27 July 2022 (the R-B-_—_F+tB=-++tBHE
“FY2022 Share Options”) HeBRE(=-F-__0HEF

EERE]D

On 27 July 2022, the Company granted 69,100,000 RZZE-_—F+A—-++H  KQF]
share options to certain directors, senior management, MAEBEETES  aREEE &
employees and consultants of the Group. These share 8 & B[ 1 69,100,000 7 i Iz #E o
options have exercise price at HK$0.56 with exercise ZEEBRETFEE A0S T 17fE
period of 10 years starting from the grant date. Details HAI10F  BRHE BB - FEH
are set out in the Company’s announcement dated 27 RAABBEHAZ-ZZE_-__F+ A4
July 2022. iy o el =E =N

261



JIYI HOLDINGS LIMITED &£ — =8 H R T
ANNUAL REPORT 2024 iR

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
ZE M IEEHRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 BEZ=—Z=—NF+=-A=+—HIFE

36. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT 36. ARG BER R H #)
TRANSACTIONS (Continued)
Share options granted on 27 July 2022 (the R-BE-_-F+tA=-++tHE
“FY2022 Share Options") (Continued) HeBRE(ZSEZ-ZBHF
EERED @
The following table discloses movements of the TREEHE_ZEZT_WWE+ A
Company’s FY2022 Share Options held by directors, =t+t—BR-_B_=F+_A=1+—
senior management, employees and consultants during BtFEEE  ahEEE EER
the year ended 31 December 2023 and 2024: BERBE AR S __MRFE
BRECZH -
Number of share options Number of share options
(Before Share Consolidation) (After Share Consolidation)
BREXR BREHE
(RRBE 6 (RRBE5E)

Exercised Share At 31.12.2022,

during Consolidation 31.12.2023 and

At 27.07.2022 theyear At31.12.2022  Adjustments 31.12.2024

R-2-Zf

t=A=t-AR,

ZEC=F

+ZA=t-H

R=%B=Z% R=Z=Z§ R-B-ME

Options BRE tA=ttH ERfTE T-A=t-H ROAHEE +-A=+-H

(Note 1)
(Hizt1)

Directors i 7,000,000 (2,000,000) 5,000,000 (4,000,000) 1,000,000

Senior Management BRERE 18,300,000 (7,482,000 10,818,000 (8,654,400) 2,163,600

Employees E& 8,700,000 (8,300,000) 400,000 (320,000) 80,000

Consultants B fE] 35,100,000 (14,200,000) 20,900,000 (16,720,000 4,180,000

69,100,000 (31,982,000) 37,118,000 (29,694,400) 7,423,600

Exercisable at the end of ~ FASRE EARAI{T{E
the reporting period 7,423,600
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36. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT
TRANSACTIONS (continued)

36. ARG BER R Z #)

Share options granted on 27 July 2022 (the R-ZEBE-_Z_Ft+tA=-+tHE

“FY2022 Share Options”) (Continued) HeBRE(=-S-_BREF
ERRE] @)
Note 1: As a result of the Share Consolidation became effective on 13 Ktat1 : BRI AR E-_—FE+=-A+=

December 2022, adjustments were made to the exercise price
of the outstanding FY2022 Share Options and the number of
Consolidated Shares falling to be issued upon the exercise of
the outstanding FY2022 Share Options in accordance with (i)
the terms and conditions of the Share Option Scheme; (i) Rule
17.03(13) of the Listing Rules; and (iii) the Supplementary
Guidance on Main Board Listing Rule 17.03(13) and the Note
immediately after the Rule attached to the Frequently Asked
Question No. 072-2020 issued by the Stock Exchange on 6

B AR - B () AR iR 82 R R M5
5 5 (i) £ T AR BI85 17.03(13) 5 ¢ K (iii)
EIR_ETRAIE 17.03(13) IEH i 78 5 3]
REBEHIMN_"Z=_TF+—AXAH
SR 072-2020 5% % B IR AR S B AT
KR R 2 B e B = (TBE R P 7 8 5l 1)
Ho_T - —BBFEERARTEREREZ
TEBER - —HREEHRITE
BIREEITERIE TRITZEMHRMHE

November 2020 (the “Stock Exchange Supplementary BEHFAZE -
Guidance”).
Prior to adjustment After adjustment
RBERA RAEE

Adjusted
Number number of
of Existing Consolidated
Shares to be Shares to be
issued upon issued upon
full exercise Adjusted full exercise
of the exercise of the
Exercise price outstanding price per outstanding
per Existing FY2022 Share Consolidated FY2022 Share
Share Options Share Options
fe R ATRERY
fef R ATRERY —¥=-=
—¥_C TREFEE
MBEE BRERE
BRERE BEITHER
BRITER BR HFRTZ
BRAE KFRT2 EHROZz &HRHZ
Date of grant b= BROAZTEE RERGHE KSHARBTHEE KHEHYAE

(HK$) (HK$)

(&) (&)

27 July 2022 —E-F

+H=++H 0.56 37,118,000 2.80 7,423,600
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36.
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B IF R R EE

SHARE-BASED PAYMENT
TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

Share options granted on 27 July 2022 (the
“FY2022 Share Options") (Continued)

The estimated fair value of the options granted on 27
July 2022 was HK$13,914,039. The Binomial model had
been used to estimate the fair value of the options. The
variables and assumptions used in computing the fair
value of the share options were based on the directors’
best estimate. The value of an option varied with
different variables of certain subjective assumptions.

The key inputs of the model were as follows:

Share price HK$0.56
Exercise price HK$0.56
Risk-free rate 2.78%
Dividend yield 0%
Expected volatility 42.78%
Time-to-maturity 10 years

The expected volatility reflects the assumption that the
historical volatility is indicative of future trends, which
may also not necessarily be the actual outcome. As at 27
July 2022, the weighted average exercise price for
FY2022 Share Options was HK$2.80 per share (or
HK$0.56 per share prior to Share Consolidation).

Expected volatility was determined by using the historical
volatility of the Company’s share price over 6.7 years
started from 6 November 2015 (“the Listing date”) of
the Company to 27 July 2022 (the “Valuation date”). No
other feature of the options granted was incorporated
into the measurement of fair value.

36. ARMDBER 2R

AR Z (#)

R-ZB--F+tA=+tHE
HeBRE(ZSE-__BHHE
EEREL®

R-ZE-_—E+A-++ABE B
M 2 et A F(EA13,914,03978 7T -
—HABRR D AR ETEREZATF
B-sTHEBEREATEMERNER
SBERBRNIEREST 2 &E G-
BREEEREZE TEBRENTH
HFEMAFMTRE o

BEZ FRBHABIRMT ¢

IR (B 0.56 87T
1B 0.56 /87T

[ Bea 1) 2= 2.78%
i Bl e 0%
TEHR R I8 42.78%
B HARFER 104

TEHA R 8 R B R SRR LR IR RE SR R
RKBE  MEBRBR TS —EWLL -
RZEZZFttA=-++tH' =
::Wﬁifﬁﬁﬁzm%iﬁﬁﬁ
BRER2.80% T (SR E BAl

B 0.5687T) °

BHRBEARNARKRERE -F
—hFEt+—AXNBULTRHDES
— 2 FEA-TER(HERRD
6 7F2EELRIBETE - StEAFE
RREI AR M2 R ERERNSE -
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36. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT

TRANSACTIONS (continued)

Share options granted on 27 July 2022 (the
“FY2022 Share Options") (Continued)

The Group recognised the total expense of
RMB11,903,000 for the year ended 31 December 2022
in relation to FY2022 Share Options granted by the
Company.

As of the date of approval of these financial statements,
the Company had a total of 7,423,600 share options
that had been granted but remained unexercised, in
addition to 4,000 share options that were yet to be
granted under the Scheme. The unexercised options
represented approximately 2.81% of the Company's
shares in issue, while the ungranted options represented
approximately 0.01%. Collectively, the 7,427,600
unexercised options amounted to approximately 2.82%
of the Company’s shares in issue as of that date.

At the end of the reporting period, the Company had
7,423,600 granted but unexercised FY2022 Share
Options outstanding under the Scheme. The exercise in
full of these share options would, under the present
capital structure of the Company, result in the issue of
7,423,600 additional ordinary shares of the Company
and additional share capital of HK$20,786,080 (before
issue expenses).

The shareholders of the Company passed an ordinary
resolution at the annual general meeting of the Company
held on 2 June 2023 to approve the renewal of the 10%
general limit on the number of shares which may be
allotted and issued upon the exercise of the options to
be granted under the Share Option Scheme, being 10%
of the total number of Shares in issue as of 2 June 2023
and amounting to 26,376,552 shares (after Share
Consolidation Adjustments).

36. ARG BER R Z #)

R-ZB-=—F+A=++tHE
HeBRE(ZSE-_BHHE
EERELD®

BE-_T-_—_F+-A=+—HLHF
B AEERABULARARELE=-F
TR EEERECASEBAR
11,903,000 7T °

HEZSUVBREREHERR - A2
AEREEARRITENERES £
7,423,60017 © LA RARIREZET &8I M R
89 4,000 19 BE AR AE o ARITIEHB AR ARG
RATBEBITRMNAIA2.81% ik
B BB P AE (5 490.01% ° 7,427,60015
RITEERESRERAAARZAE
BT HI492.82% ©

RBEER - BIEZE - AREH
7,423,600 ERHEHRITEN-Z
THBREEBERE ZEBERERE
BEITER  BRBEAQRBEABER
ZRIEE B 31T 7,423,600 REBINAO AR
7] I & BEINIR AR 20,786,080 78 7T
(RErETR%) -

ARARRRARZZEZ=FA=-HE
TARRAZBRRBFRE LLAERR
BRBBIEESENERETEET
& TREZEBREEITERA AR
MEBETZBRMHEE 210% —ARRE
M E T -_=F\A _HB 1T
B&1D B HI10% » +£5126,376,552 (%
(MDA PEAER) -
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SHARE-BASED PAYMENT
TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

Share options granted on 27 July 2022 (the
“FY2022 Share Options") (Continued)

As a result, the total number of shares available for issue
under the Share Option Scheme was 26,376,552 shares
(after Share Consolidation Adjustments), representing
10% of the issued shares as at the date of the Interim
Report.

The number of share options available for grant under
the scheme mandate was 26,376,552 (after Share
Consolidation Adjustments) as at 30 June 2023.

The number of shares that may be issued in respect of
options granted under all schemes of the Company
during the Reporting Period divided by the weighted
average number of shares of the relevant class in issue
for the same period was approximately 2.81%.

36. AR BER 2 NARKRZ @)

R-ZB--F+tA=+tHE
HeBRE(ZSE-__BHHE
EEREL®

Atk - BERREEET S8 T A] (277 A A%
R4 8 A 26,376,552 P& (K& IR DA 0
Big) (R HIRE AR BT
10% ©

R-ZE-=FA=+8" BE:2
EEIMERODZERESRE A
26,376,552 19 (F& & PrAEEE) o

R & HEREAR QR MA 8RR
B B8 AR i A B 1T 9 AR 1 21 B BR LA R BR
R R B 1T IG5 M N T H 8L
552.81% e

The number of share options available for RETBE R ¥ R B R RIS B IR
grant under the Share Option Scheme at the B EEHZEREEE
beginning and the end of the financial period
2023
Shares
—Eo=F
A&7
As at 1 January 2023 R-ZEBE_=%—H—H 4,000
Refreshment of the 10% general limit BN _E_=F"AZH
approved on 2 June 2023 BEZ 10% —RRIR %R 26,372,552
As at 31 December 2023 and 31 December 2024 R-ZZE-_=F+_-_A=+—HxK
—E-MFE+=ZA=+—H 26,376,552




36.

37.

JIYI HOLDINGS LIMITED £ — =& H R 2 T
ANNUAL REPORT 2024 &R

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A B IF AR EE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HEZ=—Z-NF+=-A=+—HIFE

SHARE-BASED PAYMENT
TRANSACTIONS (continued)

Arrangement to purchases shares or
debentures

At no time during the Reporting Period and up to the
date of this interim report was the Company or any of its
subsidiaries or a party to any arrangement to enable the
Directors to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition
of shares in or debentures of the Company or any other
body corporate.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT PLANS

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
for all qualifying employees in Hong Kong. The assets of
the schemes are held separately from those of the Group,
in funds under the control of trustees. The Group
contributes of 5% of eligible employees’ relevant
aggregated income with a cap of HK$1,500 per
employee per month, which contribution is matched by
employees.

The employees of the Group's subsidiaries in the PRC are
members of a state-managed retirement benefit scheme
operated by the government of the PRC. The subsidiary is
required to contribute a certain percentage of payroll
costs to the retirement benefit scheme to fund the
benefits. The only obligation of the Group with respect
to the retirement benefit scheme is to make the specified
contributions.

The total expense recognised in profit or loss of
RMB80,000 (2023: RMB230,000) represents
contributions payable to these plans by the Group at
rates specified in the rules of the plans.

36.

37.
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38.
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RETIREMENT BENEFIT PLANS (Continued)

During the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023,
the Group had no forfeited contributions under the PRC
Retirement Scheme and MPF Scheme and which may be
used by the Group to reduce the existing level of
contributions. There were also no forfeited contributions
available at 31 December 2024 and 2023 under the PRC
Retirement Scheme and MPF Scheme which may be used
by the Group to reduce the contribution payable in
future years.

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in
the Group will be able to continue as a going concern
while maximising the return to shareholders through the
optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The Group's
overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debts,
which includes bank and other borrowings, convertible
loan notes and lease liabilities disclosed in Notes 30, 31
and 33, respectively, net of bank balances and cash and
equity attributable to owners of the Company,
comprising issued share capital and other reserves.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure
on a semi-annual basis. As part of this review, the
directors consider the cost of capital and the risks
associated with each class of capital. Based on
recommendations of the directors, the Group will
balance its overall capital structure through the payment
of dividends, new share issues and share buy-backs as
well as the issue of new debt or the redemption of
existing debt.

The only externally imposed capital requirement is that
for the Group to maintain its listing on the Stock
Exchange it has to have a public float of at least 25% of
the shares. The Group receives a report from the share
registrars on a timely basis on substantial share interests
showing the non-public float and it demonstrates
continuing compliance with the 25% limit from the date
of the Listing.
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39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 39. €RTH

(a) €I BEEH

(a) Categories of financial instruments

(b)

2024 2023
—E-ME —E =4
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMFT ARETFT
(Restated)
(&%)
Financial assets SHEE
Financial assets at FVTPL BRATHEGABRZ
Unlisted equity securities I EMIRAE S - 1,178
Financial assets at amortised cost REIER AR
TREE 353,020 403,925
Financial liabilities EA- =N
Amortised cost BEEHACAR 449,985 406,631

Financial risk management objectives
and policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include
financial assets at FVTPL, trade and other
receivables, amounts due from related parties, bank
balances and cash, trade and other payables, bank
and other borrowings and convertible loan notes.
The risks associated with these financial instruments
include market risk (currency risk and interest rate
risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The policies on
how to mitigate these risks are set out below. The
management manages and monitors these
exposures to ensure appropriate measures are
implemented on a timely and effective manner.

(b)

MBEREEREBERBE

AEBEZFESHMTABRERR
THEAABR EMEE B
K E b FE U SR IE - JE R A ESE 77 5K
B RITEHRERE - BHRE
15 P& A R IE DA K2 B B S FRIE
RITREMERRATBBRERE
B EHZESRTAERB AR
BREMSER(EEER & X
REk) FERBRERSBERE
B o BB R F R 2 BURE N T
X o EREEERERZSER
NEREFEREBIERSAE
i
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39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

270

(b) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (Continued)

Market risk

(i)

Currency risk

Several subsidiaries of the Company have the
foreign currency bank balances which exposes
the Group to foreign currency risk. The

30. €M I A%

(b) BBEBREREBERBX

(%)

5 E AR

() EEmEE
RREETHBERRZINE

RITRBRE AR BAZING
R\ o AREBR HRE R

carrying amounts of the Group's foreign INESTEZ B EEZEM
currency denominated monetary assets at the BT :
end of the reporting period are as follows:
Assets
BE
2024 2023
—E-MFE —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥FT AER®TFT
HK$ B TT 335 232
us$ e 481 -

The Group currently does not have a foreign
exchange hedging policy. However, the
management of the Group monitors foreign
exchange exposure and will consider hedging
significant foreign exchange exposure should
the need arises.

In the opinion of management of the Group,
the expected change in foreign exchange rate
will not have significant impact on the
carrying amount of the foreign currency
denominated monetary assets, hence
sensitivity analysis is not presented.

REE B AT ESNE H R IR
oA AEBEEEER
KINERBR R NFERRE
BEIRERINE R -

REBERERS  BHH
DEE [ =R B B G 1 & S A NS
AHEZEREEREERBK
BEARE  RAHIE2IIH
RE DT ©
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39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

(ii)

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to fair value interest
rate risk in relation to bills payable as disclosed
in Note 30, lease liabilities as disclosed in Note
33, fixed-rate bank and other borrowings as
disclosed in Note 30 and fixed-rate convertible
loan notes as disclosed in Note 31. The Group
is also exposed to cash flow interest rate risk
in relation to variable-rate bank balances as
disclosed in Note 26. The Group manages its
interest rate exposures by assessing the
potential impact arising from any interest rate
movements based on interest rate level and
outlook.

The Group's cash flow interest rate risk is
mainly concentrated on the fluctuation of
interest rates movement on bank balances.

The Group currently does not use any
derivative contracts to hedge its exposure to
interest rate risk. However, the management
will consider hedging significant interest rate
exposure should the need arise.

30. €M I A%

(b) HBABEEEREREE
(#)

e E AR ()
(i) FIEE

REBEFRMAI0MBEEZ
JET A& - B EE33 P I ER
ZHERE W30
B& 2 B TE AR R1T R B A 1S
R EMEE3VFT R E 2 B E
MEARBREREBEAZT R
FEMERER - AEE TR
Bt 5% 26 P % B8 2 0% ) A K
ﬁﬁ?%%ﬁﬁ%m%ﬂ%
2 o NS EIE BRIE A R
7J<5F&EJ'_:?\%1EEH—JWIM‘
PELENBEEZEEERETN
RER o

z%%¢mﬁﬂ %ﬂ =1
BN E

6% [ 3R By X S 5 PR AR (T 0T

B KIS E P E B 2 F R
Rz - AT - BEEERRE
= EREBEINEAN KRG,

LA
0
A
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39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 30. €M I A%
(b) Financial risk management objectives (b) BEEREEBEEREE
and policies (Continued) (4&)
Market risk (Continued) FiEE R (E)
(ii) Interest rate risk (Continued) (i) FIEEE (&)
Total interest income from financial assets REHEKAGTEZEMEE
that are measured at amortised cost is as e A@zBam T
follows:
2024 2023
—E-NE S =
RMB'000 RMB’000

AREFT ARBETT

Other income E bl A
Financial assets at amortised HESHK A E 2 Rl
cost BE 2 1
Interest expense on financial liabilities not WIFRAFEF BT E
measured at FVTPL: ZemBEZFERY
2024 2023
—E-NFE —E-=F
RMB'000 RMB'000

AR® TR ARETT

Financial liabilities at amortised IR # R AFIE 2 &/

cost BE 12,650 9,801
No sensitivity analysis was presented as the HNERERRZEFEER
management considers that the exposure to THESBZESRENXERAR
cash flow interest rate risk for variable-rate WAEKX - B2 TG
bank balances are insignificant. JEDHT ©
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39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives

and policies (Continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment

Credit risk refers to the risk that the Group's
counterparties default on their contractual
obligations resulting in financial losses to the
Group. The Group’s credit risk exposures are
primarily attributable to trade and other receivables,
contract assets, amounts due from related parties
and bank balances and cash. The Group does not
hold any collateral or other credit enhancements to
cover its credit risks associated with its financial
assets.

The Group performed impairment assessment for
financial assets and contract assets under ECL
model. Information about the Group’s credit risk
management, maximum credit risk exposures and
the related impairment assessment, if applicable,

are summarised as below:

30. €M I A%
(b) BIBEBREEEERRE

(#&)
= B E B R E 1

EERBEAEEYFHERE
Z’Uiﬁﬁﬁ‘ﬁﬁﬁ$%lﬁﬁ%ﬁﬂéﬂﬁ

c AEEMEEREENA
%%&E@FEW,AE CEHE
- FEURRAES 5 ROB A M RTTE
HEEEHRR - $Ellﬂﬂiﬁﬁ
EAERm I E (S EIL R IE i
NREHESHEERBZEE
[RBR ©

AEBREAMEEBEELY

TREEMNANEEETRER

- FRAKBEEERRER -

E—jﬂ*gﬂ &*ﬁf‘%ﬂzﬁ%ﬁ(ﬁu
)z BB
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39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 39. €@ T B )

(b) BBEBREREBERBX

(b) Financial risk management objectives

274

and policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(Continued)

Trade receivables and contract assets arising
from contracts with customers

In order to minimise the credit risk, the
management of the Group has delegated a team
responsible for determination of credit limits and
credit approvals and to determine any debt recovery
action on those delinquent trade receivables arising
from contracts with customers. Before granting
credit to these customers, the Group reviews the
credit quality and defines credit limits by these
customers. Limits attributed to these customers are
reviewed once a year and each customer has a
maximum credit limit. The Group maintains a
defined credit policy to assess the credit quality of
these customers and seeks to maintain strict control
over its outstanding receivables so as to minimise
credit risk. In this regard, the directors of the
Company consider that the Group's credit risk is
significantly reduced.

The Group has concentration of credit risk as 21%
(2023: 10%) and 42% (2023: 23%) of the total
trade receivables was due from the Group's largest
trade receivables and the five largest trade
receivables respectively.

(%)

1= B /m B2 K 6l B =P 1 (48)

BEFENELZEZBWFIE
I:lmﬂgé

~REEREERERR  AEEE
EEEZKBEKEEEEEER

BMLEELE WREHEFE
MEEMIERE ZEUGIRIEL
EEFERKITE - RAZXKER
FPERHOEER  AEBEMHEE
EEREMATZEREFPHNEER
B nEEPRERBEFET
—RigE - AEREFPHARA
EERE - AEERAREEE
BRNFEZEEFPZEEREE
= UHHBEREHERERER
EWHIE NEEREEER
R MUETME - ARAEERE
AEENEERRD KERE

AEEZEERREY  RAR
}EH&ZIS’EEIFKFEH&HE S E TP

FEWEBR R 2 SRIED AL E 5 IR
,-AIE%@%EZM%(_?__E
10%) Kd2%( — F — = F:
23%) °
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39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives

and policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(Continued)

Trade receivables and contract assets arising
from contracts with customers (Continued)

In addition, the Group performs impairment
assessment under ECL model on trade balances
contract assets based on provision matrix. Except
for those trade receivables contract assets with
significant outstanding balances or credit-impaired,
which are assessed for impairment individually, the
remaining trade receivables and contract assets are
grouped under a provision matrix based on shared
credit risk characteristics by reference to the ageing,
repayment history and/or past due status of trade
receivables and contract assets. Impairment of
RMB113,098,000 (2023: RMB1,792,000) and
RMB72,174,000 (2023: RMB16,600,000) were
recognised for trade receivables and contract
assets, respectively during the year. Details of the
quantitative disclosures are set out below in this
note.

30. €M I A%
(b) BIBEBREEEERRE

(&)

1= B /m B2 K 6l B =P 1 (45)

BEFENELZEZEWFIE
REHNEE (%)

BEAN » REEIR R B ERERIEE
HEEEEREAHEZIERKE
HEEEITRERNE -BRAEBK
HEAEMNEHIE LB EER
BZEEIRBRAEBERENE
EIN BT E S EBGRIBRE L
EERBRBERZEZEFER
REEOE EREL2EESE
WHRIBEBRENEE R - B
B Rk/HEEMRR - FA B
B A K %113,098,0007t( — &
—=F: AR#¥1,792,0007T) &
AER#72,174,0000( —ZFE ==
F: AR¥16,600,0007T) 2 5
%iJ,,ff’i%FEuﬁz RIE KRG K EER
R EERBFBHNAWET
X o
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39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 39. €@ T B )

(b) BBEBREREBERBX

(b) Financial risk management objectives

276

and policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(Continued)

Other receivables and deposits

The directors of the Company make periodic
individual assessment on the recoverability of the
other receivables and deposits based on historical
settlement records, past experience, and also
gquantitative and qualitative information that is
reasonable and supportive forward- looking
information. The directors of the Company believe
that there are no significant increase in credit risk
of these amounts since initial recognition and the
impairment of RMB78,694,000 (2023: reversal of
impairment of RMB358,000) was recognised for
other receivables and deposits during the year.
Details of the quantitative disclosures are set out
below in this note.

Bank balances

Credit risk on bank balances is limited because the
counterparties are reputable banks with high credit
ratings assigned by credit agencies. Based on
above, the credit risk on bank balances is
considered to be insignificant by the management.

(%)

1= B /m B2 K 6l B =P 1 (48)

HittfEUHERZE

8 Uk B B 5 SR TR A e EL At R KR
RBEREEME  ARRESR
BRAEMNLE  BELERIUAKR
TEREMHER(AERZ N
AEHER HZESB 2K
51 14 3 77 & HA @ 51 574 o ZIS/“*
EEEE ZEeBEI2EER
EEPN RN E SN IR ZIS
S8z 12@ AEHEEBEIE
WA TN BREMEWEIEA
Iz & R E AR 78,694,000 7T
(ZZEZ=F: fEERARK
358,0007T) ° EEHWEE KB
A FE R SeEa

RITAEER

RITERZEERRER - RE
REFHREERFZRT X
BEERBRTSEETR 1R
BEEXFM - EREBRRBITE
B EERRYTENX -
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39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment

(Continued)

The Group's internal credit risk grading assessment

comprises the following categories:

30. €M I A%

(b) HBAREEEBEREE
(#)

1= B B2 K Bl B F 1 (&)

AEBHAIEERRZRTIHE
BIEATHER

Internal credit

Trade receivables and

rating Description contract assets Other financial assets
R EE R R EZRUREREHNEE HtEMEE
Low risk The counterparty has a low risk Lifetime ECL — 12-month ECL
of default and does not have not credit-impaired
any past- due amounts
NN HBFEIMENRBREEYEERN 2HEDREEEE— R2EAESREEER
BHEE W ELREERE
Watch list Debtor frequently repays after Lifetime ECL — 12-month ECL
due dates but usually settle in not credit-impaired
full
BRAE Ff“)\i‘« IJHH Rg&E% B 2HEHEEEE — 128 A EHEERR
BE i%ﬁ(, 55 TELREER
Doubtful There have been significant Lifetime ECL — Lifetime ECL —
increases in credit risk since not credit-impaired not credit-impaired
initial recognition through
information developed
internally or external sources
AR BRAEE EHNIINBER 2HEHEEEE — FHRBEEERE —
KR - BEMSHRUAR  FE8 T EEREERE TELREERE
ke 2 BE LN
Loss There is evidence indicating the Lifetime ECL — Lifetime ECL —
asset is credit-impaired credit-impaired credit-impaired
BB ERBBRTEERCHREER 2HESREEESE — FHIRBEEERE —
(] BHREERE EHREERE
Write-off There is evidence indicating that Amount is written off Amount is written off
the debtor is in severe financial
difficulty and the Group has no
realistic prospect of recovery
i BFEBBTEBABABRENE SBEHRME T RERM

R T B SRR
Ahtt
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39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 39. @ T R %)
(b) Financial risk management objectives (b) HBEBEEBEEREKE
and policies (Continued) ()
Credit risk and impairment assessment 1= B & b2 R o B 771 (&)
(Continued)
The table below details the credit risk exposures of TRV BEETTEEAEEEET
the Group’s financial assets, which are subject to BeAEBeRMmEEZEER
ECL assessment: %
2024 2023
—E_ME —E-=F
Internal 12-month or Gross carrying  Gross carrying
credit rating  lifetime ECL Notes amount amount
12EA%2H
RBEEFR BHEEFR izt SREAE RRAE
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREF7 ARETFT
(Restated)
(E31)
Financial assets at amortised cost
REERAIE AR
Trade receivables from contracts (Note i) Lifetime ECL 24
with customers (provision matrix) 475,705 288,088
RPEaXzESRYR (Fiati) PHEBEEER
(BfiEmE)
Lifetime ECL —
not credit-impaired - 46,679
2HRNEEEE —
WELREERE
475,705 334,767
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39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 39. R T A s
(b) Financial risk management objectives (b) HEEBEEBEEREKE
and policies (Continued) (&)
Credit risk and impairment assessment 1= B & p2 R BB 571 (&)
(Continued)
2024 2023
ZBIRE —F_=F
Internal 12-month or Gross carrying  Gross carrying
credit rating  lifetime ECL Notes amount amount
R2@AZZH
ABEETR FHEEER Mzt BEAE FREAE
RMB'000 RMB’000
ARMTF T AEETFT
(Restated)
(&%)
Other receivables and deposits (Note i) 12-month ECL 24 103,996 103,735
HitRUFBR RS (Kfatii) R2ERARSBEEER
Bank balances (Note i) 12-month ECL 26 5,041 5,642
RITHLR (Kiztii) REARBEEEE
Contract assets (Note i) Lifetime ECL 23
(provision matrix) 310,803 318,214
BREE (Hizti) 2HRHEEER
(Bfaer)
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39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

280

(b) Financial risk management objectives

and

policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(Continued)

Notes:

For trade receivables and contract assets, the Group has
applied the simplified approach in HKFRS 9 to measure
the loss allowance at lifetime ECL. Except for debtors with
significant outstanding balances or credit-impaired, the
Group determines the ECL on these items by using a
provision matrix and individual assessment, grouped by

internal credit rating.

As part of the Group’s credit risk management, the Group
applies internal credit rating for its customers. The
following table provides information about the exposure
to credit risk for trade receivables and contract assets
which are assessed based on provision matrix and
individual assessment within lifetime ECL (not credit-
impaired). Debtors with significant outstanding balances
or credit-impaired with gross carrying amounts of
RMB231,805,000 as at 31 December 2024 (2023:
RMB46,533,000) were assessed individually.

30. €M I A%

(b) BBEBREREBERBX

(%)

1= B /m B2 K 6l B =P 1 (48)

Hist -

HESRRFBAREHNEEMS -
AEECEAEBUBHREELE
9k 2 LT AR 2 HIRMERRE
BERFEBBREE - BAKERAKE
s E HRERREZ B URER
O AR R B AR [ I M 5
AHEEEZ SR A EREEER -
WRAIEEFRDAE

ERAEEGERREER 2 — 0
5 AEBEHHRFERAABEE
BT o TRIBHARE E 5 R WEIE
REHNEEEERRBRZER  BH
BErtiz2BEREEEE (&
WIEERME) N2 BEERT R
ARG - R=ZZTZWFE+= A
=+—H ARFERREFNEHRSK
B RS BRE 2 BUKER R 2 428K
B A K % 231,805,000 T( = &
—=%: AR¥46,533,0007T) E
HATEBIFTE o
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39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 39. €@ T B )

(b) Financial risk management objectives (b) HBEBREEEERKE
and policies (Continued) (&

= B E B R B E P ()

Credit risk and impairment assessment

(Continued)
Notes: (Continued) Hiat - (&)
(Continued) i (%)
Gross carrying amount FRE#AE
2024 2023
13 Z5I=F
Average Trade Contract  Amount of Average Trade Contract ~ Amount of
Internal credit rating ~ REPE SRR lossrate  receivables assets  impairment |oss rate receivables assets  impairment
TIFER EZEUZE ANEE AESE THEEX Z5RWGE ANEE HEEE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREFR ARETZ ARETZ ANEETTE  ARETT  AREFr
Low risk il 437% 10,529 - 460 0.93% 208,346 175,174 3,567
Watchlist BERE 21.49% 275,290 - 59,160 9.45% 23,757 3610 2,586
Doubtful A 33.71% 189,886 310,803 172,185 14.4% 102,664 139,430 40,380
Loss BiE - - - - - - - -
475,705 310,803 231,805 334,767 318,214 46,533

The estimated loss rates are estimated based on historical
observed default rates over the expected life of the
debtors and are adjusted for forward-looking information
that is available without undue cost or effort. The
grouping is regularly reviewed by management to ensure
relevant information about specific debtors is updated.
The contract assets have substantially the same risk
characteristics as the trade receivables for the same type
of contracts. The Group has therefore concluded that the
loss rates for trade receivables are a reasonable
approximation of the loss rates for contract assets.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group
provided RMB113,098,000 (2023: RMB1,792,000) and
RMB72,174,000 (2023: RMB16,600,000) impairment
allowance for trade receivables and contract assets
respectively, based on the provision matrix and individual

assessment.

EETBEEDRIEERA ZRHF
HE L B EL KM L3t
BAB S RKANTAE N IIT 2 AT 1
BRETHE - BEEEEHRA S
A DAREIRB BR E (BT AR AERE
AEREERN - ANEEZRBREE
HRRA K 2B 5 EURIEAEME
R At AEBZERRESE
WHIRZ BERESNEEBRX
BIRITEL

HE-_Z-_MF+-_A=+—H1t
FE - AEEAR R R & (E R
T ERESEBKIBRENEED
RIEHE AR 113,098,000 T (=&
—=%F: AR¥1,792,0007T) XA
R¥72,174000(Z T ==4:
AR #16,600,0007T) 2 FlEEE -
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39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 39. @RI T A %)
(b) Financial risk management objectives (b) AR EEEERKE

and policies (Continued) (#&)

Credit risk and impairment assessment 1= B & Bz I et {8 57 A (48)

(Continued)

Notes: (Continued) Hiat - (48)
(Continued) i. (#)
Gross carrying amount (Continued) EREAE(F)
The following table shows the movement in lifetime ECL TREREHEZFERZEBELELD
that has been recognised for trade receivables and BERAZZBERAGEEERNE
contract assets: 7

Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL

— provision  —individual ~ — individual

matrix assessment assessment

(not credit- (not credit- (credit-
impaired) impaired) impaired) Total

2HEH ZHEM 2HES
FEBE REBE FEEE
—BEEE  —@ERFME  — BRI

(NS (EMEE (BHE
EEHME) RERE) EEREME) it
RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

AEETT ANEETT AEETT ARKTT

At 1 January 2023 R-—ZE_=%—A—H 25,756 2,385 - 28,141
Changes due to financial ER=Z==F—H—H
instruments recognised as at RZEemIAMmE
1 January 2023:
— Impairment losses recognised — EERRERE 18,392 = - 18,392
As at 31 December 2023 and R-T-=F
1 January 2024 +t-A=+—HkK
—Z-_mF—A—H 44,148 2,385 - 46,533
Changes due to financial AR=Z-mFE—A—H
instruments recognised as at Rz ERMIAM
1 January 2024 2 :
— Impairment losses recognised — BERREEE 65,283 119,989 = 185,272
At 31 December 2024 R-B-@mF
+=A=+-H 109,431 122,374 - 231,805
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39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(Continued)

Gross carrying amount (Continued)

Changes in the loss allowance for trade receivable are
mainly due to the recognition of impairment allowance for
trade receivable with a gross carrying amount of
RMB475,705,000 (2023: RMB334,767,000) during the
year ended 31 December 2024.

The Group writes off trade receivables when there is
information indicating that the debtor is in severe financial
difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of recovery, e.g.
when the debtor has been placed under liquidation or has
entered into bankruptcy proceedings, or when the trade
receivables are over five years past due, whichever occurs
earlier. None of the trade receivables that have been

written off is subject to enforcement activities.

The Group assessed the loss allowance for amounts due
from related parties and other receivables and deposits on
12m ECL basis. In determining the ECL, the Group
performs periodic review on the financial position of the
debtors, its settlement status and other contractual
conditions to ensure it is financially viable to settle the
receivables. The Group has applied ranged to 0.12% to
35.19% (2023: 0.14% to 26.16%) of credit loss rates and
concluded that adequate impairment loss is made for

irrecoverable amount.

30. €M I A%

(b) BBEREREBERBX

(#&)

1= B /m B2 K 6l B =P 1 (45)

ffe - (&)
(%)
SREAE (E)

B RYCRIE BIEREEE T+
EHRBE-_T-_WNF+=A
=T —HIEFERREEEEAA
R ¥ 475,705,000t (=T = =4 :
AR#334,767,0007T) 2 B 5 EHK
I BER PR »

BEHEMBTREBARABREHTS
R % B3P 48 T IR A = AT AR A B (491
WEERS NETRRACEARE
B AEBESEKIAC BB
BAF(UREREERE)) A
AEEEMEE 5K H - ED
HSHEY R 2 FE MR IAZRHE 1T 58 IR
17178

i AEBERNREABHEESEE
HE T A R LT A Bk 7 R R S LA R Uk
HIEREE 2 EREE  REEE
HMiEEEEN  AEEEHEBAZ
WISAOR - EEMRKR R EME L
WGRGESTE AR - ARRIRE A B
R N ER EWFRIE - AEEBfE
F0.12% &3519% (=T = =4
0.14% £ 26.16%) Z = EF1E% -
AR AR /T AIME S EEEY
SR ERIE °
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39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 39. €T R »)
(b) Financial risk management objectives (b) AR EEEERKE
and policies (Continued) (%)
Credit risk and impairment assessment EEREERBEFFE (&)
(Continued)
Notes: (Continued) HtaE - ()
i. (Continued) i, (&)
The following tables show reconciliation of loss allowances TNEREURE BEE M YRIE R IR
that has been recognised for other receivables and T e UG R B 7 SR IE RE SR 2 iR B
deposits and amounts due from related parties: 2R ¢
12m ECL 12m ECL
— individual — individual
nent nent
(not credit- (not credit-
impaired) impaired) Total
1218 B & 1218 A A
FEEER FEEER
— & BIFE — {8 BIFHE
(IR (YR
FERE) FERE) st
RMB’'000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETFT ARETFT ARETFT

At 1 January 2023 R-B-=F—H—H 24,091 - 24,091
Changes due to financial AR =—Z—_=F—H—H
instruments recognised as at HREMITAEEEZ
1 January 2023: 2% : = - -
— Impairment losses recognised ~ — B R REEE = = -
— Exchange difference —ERERE (358) - (358)

As at 31 December 2023 and R=-8=-=

1 January 2024 +=A=+—-H8ERK
—ZE-_ME—-A—H 23,733 - 23,733
Changes due to financial AR=—Z=-mFE—H—H
instruments recognised as at EREBMIAEEZ
1 January 2024: -
— Impairment losses recognised ~ — BRI EEE 78,688 = 78,688
— Exchange difference —ERERE 6 - 6
At 31 December 2024 R-EB_MF
+=HA=+—H 102,427 - 102,427
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39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives

and policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

iii. For the purposes of internal credit risk management, the
Group has applied the general approach in HKFRS 9 to
measure the loss allowance at 12m ECL as there is no
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition.
The Group determines the expected credit losses for bank
balances by assessment of probability of default. During
the year ended 31 December 2024 and 2023 in view of
the nature of the balance and historical default rate and
forward looking information, the Group considers the
provision of impairment allowance for the bank balances

are insignificant.
Liquidity risk

In management of the liquidity risk, the Group
monitors and maintains a level of bank balances
and cash deemed adequate by the management to
finance the Group’s operations and mitigate the
effects of fluctuations in cash flows. The
management monitors the utilisation of borrowings
and ensures compliance with loan covenants.

The following table details the Group’s remaining
contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial
liabilities. The table has been drawn up based on
the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities
based on the earliest date on which the Group can
be required to pay. The maturity dates for other
non-derivative financial liabilities are based on the
agreed repayment dates. The table includes both
interest and principal cash flows.

30. €M I A%

(b) HBABEEEREREE
(#)

=B E B R E 1 ()

ffe - (&)

ii. FBABEERBREREMS  AEE
EREAEBMBEREENFE IR
—RAXFENREAEREES
BOEERE REAEERRE
)2 HE R A SR I S R 3 N - AN
EiE BT HENRE T RITAE R
WEHEEEE - BE_T-_F
F—ZT-_=F+-"H=+—RHItFE
& EREHRMMEE R L ELER
RATEEER - AEER B IR
FEERFHRMBERBILTERX -

REEBRBECRARE  A&KH
EEREFEREER SRR
SEHLERTESWRHEBRERN
ENBRELZ —EKFZRITHE
R RIRE o ”E?IEJE?T“F*”E’J
ERER - WHERE T E KL °

TRAVNAREZIFNTESRE
BZHTNEHBHIBER - ZEXB
DiRBEERAENRBRBRR
ERAKEARERNRZ &
FRmE - HIETAS AR
H 2 B Jh it E E KA Him
T ZRBERNIERAERE
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39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 39. @RI T A %)
(b) Financial risk management objectives (b) BIEBREEBEERKE
and policies (Continued) (4&)
Liquidity risk (Continued) HEELERE (E)
The table includes both interest and principal cash TREEMERAEZELR

c LA BRERFBHEM
KBRS EIRAREHR
weighted average interest rate at the end of Z I FIER o

reporting period.

flows. To the extent that interest flows are floating

[

rate, the undiscounted amount is derived from

Liquidity table MEE LXK
At 31 December 2024 R=EB-NME+=A=+—H
Weighted
average  On demand Total
interest  or less than 3 months undiscounted Carrying
rate 1month  1-3 months to 1year 1-5 years cash flows amount
g RERH AERR S

TRz SR1{EA 123188 3AAZE1E 1E5% RELE REE
% RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000
% ARETT ARETT ARETT AREFT AREFT  ARETR

Non-derivative financial ~ FfT4£4RERE

liabilities
Trade and other payables B 5 REMERHE = 242,155 - - - 242,155 242,155
Bank and other borrowings T REMER 7 158,622 - - - 158,622 157,920
Convertible loan notes RREREE 17.32 51,509 - - - 51,509 50,776
Lease liabilties HEaR 4.88 5,104 48 152 = 5304 4,762
Amount due to related parties &k 7 508 - 35,019 - - - 35,019 35,019

492,409 48 152 - 492,609 490,632
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39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 39. R T A s
(b) Financial risk management objectives (b) HEEBEEBEEREKE
and policies (Continued) (&)
Liquidity risk (Continued) mEBEZEE ()
Liquidity table (Continued) MEEEZ (B)
At 31 December 2023, as restated N-E-_=F+_-_A=1+—H(E
51))
Weighted
average  Ondemand Total
interest or less than 3 months undiscounted Carrying
rate 1 month 1-3 months to 1 year 1-5 years cash flows amount
i BRERR RERAES
TR SR1{ER 12388 3ERZ1E 125% mERR REE

% RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
% ARETT AREFT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETR

Non-derivative financial ¥4 RERE

liabilities
Trade and other payables EHREAMERTE - 134,402 - - - 134,402 134,402
Bank and other borrowings TR EMIER 7 257,085 - - - 257,085 257,085
Convertible loan notes TRRESZE 1731 47,430 - - - 47,430 47,430
Lease liabilities, as restated ~ FAEAfE £ 4388 5,083 12 58 146 5,299 5,176
Amount due to related parties & ZE 5 5B - 207 - - - 207 207

444,207 12 58 146 444,423 444,300
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39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

288

(c) Fair value measurements of financial

instruments

This note provides information about how the
Group determines fair values of various financial
assets and financial liabilities.

Fair value measurements and valuation
processes

Some of the Group’s financial instruments are
measured at fair value for financial reporting
purposes. The directors of the Company are
responsible to determine the appropriate valuation
techniques and inputs for fair value measurements.

In estimating the fair value, the Group uses market-
observable data to the extent it is available. Where
Level 1 inputs are not available, the Group engages
third party qualified valuers to perform the
valuation. The directors of the Company works
closely with the qualified external valuers to
establish the appropriate valuation techniques and
inputs to the model. The management reports the
valuation committee’s findings to the board of
directors of the Company to explain the cause of
fluctuations in the fair value.

30. €M I A%

(9]

TMITAZAVENE

AHf R AREAKBNAEE
EHsMEERERBEIRF
BZEF -

RFEEBRIEERERF

AEEHHeMITANERATE
AR MERBHmERE - AR
AEZRERATEAEEER
AR ETE KRB AR

REFTAFER - AEBEE R
ERATBRMISEE - ML ES
—RBARBBRIHER - BIAK
BZBE=7SAERMGEMET
EE - ARAEFHES ERINE
HEMBEZEE SRARILA
BEEDENBARE - EEE
ARABEFTEERFIEZES
MBEER  ABRBERTERD
HREA o
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39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(c) Fair value measurements of financial

instruments (Continued)

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets
that are measured at fair value on a
recurring basis

Investments in the unlisted equity securities
classified as financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss

The Group assessed that the minimum recoverable
amount of the investments will be covered by the
personal guarantee arrangement on the basis that
the guarantors have sufficient assets to support
their personal guarantee. In this regard, the
directors of the Company consider that
RMB200,000 loss on fair value change of financial
assets at FVTPL had been recognised for the year
ended 31 December 2024 (2023: Nil) and
RMB204,000 loss on disposal of financial assets at
FVTPL had been recognised for the year ended 31
December 2024 (2023: Nil). The investments in the
unlisted equity securities classified as financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss are
amounted to approximately RMBO (2023:
RMB1,178,000).

There were no transfers in different levels of the
fair value hierarchy during the reporting period.

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets and
financial liabilities that are not measured at
fair value on a recurring basis (but fair value
disclosures required)

The directors of the Company consider that the
carrying amounts of financial assets and financial
liabilities recorded at amortised cost in the
consolidated financial statements approximate their
fair values based on discounted cash flows analysis.

30. €M I A%

EMIEZAFEFE#®E)

EHZERFETEHNEIEEE
BEEN L FE

DEBRENFETAEDZHNE
HEENF LHRAEFFKE

REBEMBFRERE AT KESE
EBEABRTHETAME -
ARG RERABBRAREE
%ET BEZBAER B
T AKBEESRAE  HE2024
FNRANBILEFEEBERER
NEEFABSEZEREEAT
EEY @J%@?&AEMZOOOOOE
ZEI=F ) UREE

ToNF+ZA=1+— Etir
EHREEEANBET ABZE
ZeREEBKRARM204,000
TT(ZEZ=F:F) - BAFE
%Jr)\%%ﬁém%ﬁﬁﬁiéf%m;l%tm&
RBHRENRBARKOTL(Z

= /\EMLW&OOOE)

R|EHA - WEASRRRE LD
FERBRERE -

WHFEMEAFEFEERR
BEATE I NAEEESREER
ETRMEENDFE

ARAEERR  REMARS
MEDN  NEEAFHRERARK
BHEXAARZEREENER
BEMNREEELQAFERS
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40. CHARGES ON ASSETS 40. EEEKH
The Group has the following charges on assets for bank RWERR  NEEMMF30MEH 2
borrowings as set out in Note 30 at the end of the RITIERBUTEEE ¢

reporting period:

2024 2023
—BopmE —EF-=F
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®FT ARETT

Property, plant and equipment M BB REE 15,038 16,513
Investment properties REMHE 43,810 47,420
Right-of-use assets ERERE 968 1,200
Transfer to investment properties EREREME
(Note 19) (Htat 19) 59,816 65,133
41. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES M. REFTHEENEENHER
ARISING FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities TERFINMEEDELNAEEEE
arising from financing activities, including both cash and 2g) BEReRIRCEH - HE
non- cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing é@b?iﬂ’]ﬁﬁﬁﬁiﬁémgiﬂim
activities are those for which cash flows were, or future ReERERAEEZGZERERER
cash flows will be, classified in the Group’s consolidated DIEARMEETHNES -

statement of cash flows from financing activities.
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41. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES

M. BREETHEENEENYIR

ARISING FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES (4&)
(Continued)
Bank and Amount due
Lease other Convertible from related
liabilities borrowings  loan notes parties Total
BITR AR ek
HESE Hifg & EXEE BHIRE @t
RMB'000 RMB‘000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000
AREFT AREFT AREFT AREFT AREFT
(Restated)
(831
At 1 January 2024 RZEZF
(as restated) —A—H (&) 5,176 257,085 47,430 207 309,898
Financing cash flows BERENE
(Note (i)) (Hia%()) (428) - - 34,812 34,384
Non-cash transactions: FRERS
Notes receivable (Note (i)~ FEURZEIR (A7 (i) - (100,000) - - (100,000)
Borrowing reclassification BRENE - 835 - - 835
Exchange adjustments B 5 5% - - 357 - 357
Interest expenses FERAX 14 9,647 2,989 - 12,650
Accrued interest expenses JEETH & - (9,647) = = (9,647)
At 31 December 2024 R-ZZ-MmF
F=E == 4,762 157,920 50,776 35,019 248,477
At 31 December 2022 i —3
and 1 January 2023, +ZA=+—H
as restated R=_E-_=%
—R—HB(&31) 2,221 235,398 44,014 - 281,633
Financing cash flows BERERE
(Note () (Hizt()) (921) 21,661 - 207 20,947
Non-cash transactions: FRERS
New lease agreement THRERNRH
(Note (iif) (B (i) 3,788 - - - 3,788
Exchange adjustments N R - - 659 - 659
Interest expenses FIBFY 88 6,956 2,757 = 9,801
Accrued interest expenses FESTH 2 - (6,930) - - (6,930)
At 31 December 2023, RZIEZ=F
as restated +-A=+-
(E51) 5,176 257,085 47,430 207 309,898
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41. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES
ARISING FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
(Continued)

42,

292

Notes:

@

(ii)

(iii)

The financing cash flows mainly represent proceeds from bank
and other borrowings, repayment of lease liabilities, repayment
of bank and other borrowings and interest paid.

The note receivables represent a derecognition of bank and other
borrowings due to settlement of notes receivables by the
creditors.

The new lease agreement represents lease contract to purchase
motor vehicle.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Other than as disclosed elsewhere in these consolidated

financial statements, the Group has following

transactions and balances with related parties:

(a)

(b)

Guarantee from related parties

The management report and Chinese legal opinion
on the litigation and arbitration of our affiliated
subsidiaries are detailed in the appendix on pages
305 to 360. Specifically, there is a related party
guarantee of RMB20 million in the appendix on
pages 311 to 319, and a related party guarantee of
RMB7 million in the appendix on pages 324 to 329.

Compensation of key management
personnel

The remuneration of executive directors, being the
key management personnel, are set out in Note 14,
which is determined by the remuneration
committee having regard to the performance of
individuals and market trends.

41.

42,

METHELENEBHNYER

(%)

izt -

(0]

(ii)

(iii)

REARSREE ZBERTREMERAT
SR HEHREARE  EERTEEM
ERRENFE -

BB EEERABERKEEME

RHYSRITRE R R EAR B

FNEEHBEARBEERSERNEES
# e

)

R
2

(a)

(b)

SERA MR Z E M P
EI AEEBEBBITANATR

KRR

BARE S E IR

A& B B IR E A A A £ B A
RAEVEF RPH A BRI E EF
BEEER BBBELERE
3058 =360 A ffidk e HAH K&
FINMBEE39EMEBEN—%&
BEAEARE20008 T A
BR UEPREI24BZE329
B —FE B A AR 700
B ITH AR TR o

FTEEEASNHM

HITES(RTEEEAB)NF
E 14 BTV BFMES
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43. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 43. AT EEWB A TS
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY
Details of the subsidiaries directly and indirectly held by ARNARRERREEREERFTE 2
the Company at the end of the reporting period are set B AR ESEHY T -
out below.
Place of Issued and fully paid Proportion Proportion of
incorporation/ share capital/ ownership interest voting power
establishment/ Paid-up held by held by
Name of subsidiary operation registered capital  the Company the Company Principal activities
AL/ BRORMERET/ ALNRHEZ RARREZ
MEARER R/ EEHE BRAMES FrERERLA REELLA TERH

2024 2023 2024 2023
20045 2023F 204F  2013%F

% % % %
Zhan Yun Holdings Limited BVI USD50,000  100% 100%  100% 100%  Investment holding
REARAH AERUES 50,000% 7T RERR
Sino Legacy Investments Limited  BVI USD50,000  100% 100% 100% 100%  Investment holding
ABRARE 50,000%7 RERRK
Indirectly held subsidiaries:
EERAZHBAR -
Jiyi Investments Limited Hong Kong HK$1  100% 100% 100% 100%  Investment holding
E-RABRAT B 18T RE R
Jiyi Entertainment Limited Hong Kong HK$1  100% 100% 100% 100%  Investment holding
E-FRREERAA A 1787 RERRK
Jiyi International Trading (H.K.)  Hong Kong HK$100  100% 100%  100% 100%  Bulk commodity
Company Limited trading
S-BRES(B8)ERAT BR 10087 ARBEmEH
Win Giant Limited Hong Kong HK$1  100% 100%  100% 100%  Investment holding
&k 1A RERR
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43. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 43. ARTFEXEWE R AFE @)
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY
(Continued)
Place of Issued and fully paid Proportion Proportion of
incorporation/ share capital/ ownership interest voting power
establishment/ Paid-up held by held by
Name of subsidiary operation registered capital  the Company the Company Principal activities
MR/ BRORMERET/ AXTHEZ NG
WEAREE R/ EEhE HREMER FERERLH FELA TTER

2024 2023 2024 2023
2024%F 2023F  204F 203F

% % % %

Guangdong Jiyi Household The PRC RMB161,600,000  100% 100% 100% 100%  Sales of household
Building Materials Chain Co. building materials
Ltd.* (“Guangdong Jiyi") ¢

BRE-ZERMEHER  TE AE%161,600,0007C RERERM
RA(RRE-])0

Meizhou Jisheng Household The PRC RMB2,000,000  100% 100% 100% 100%  Investment holding

Building Materials Company
Limited* (“Meizhou Jisheng”)

BNTEERERNERAR & AR 2,000,0007T REER
(MR )0

Guangdong Jiyi Xinya Decoration The PRC RMB10,100,000  100% 100% 100% 100%  Provision of interior
and Design Construction design and building
Company Limited* engineering
(“Jiyi Xinya") 0 services

BERE-GRESRH IR T AR%10,100,0007 REZARTR
ARAR([&—{EH]) RETRRK

Jiyi Industrial Group (Shenzhen)  The PRC RMB10,000,000  100% 100% 100% 100%  Investment holding
Co. Ltd.* (“Shenzhen Jiyi") 0

S-EXSB(RINERAR & AE%10,000,0007 RE#AR

(TRYIE—1)0
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43. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 43. X ABEENMEB L BFHE &)

SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

(Continued)
Place of Issued and fully paid Proportion Proportion of
incorporation/ share capital/ ownership interest voting power
establishment/ Paid-up held by held by
Name of subsidiary operation registered capital  the Company the Company Principal activities
ML,/ BRARMERE/ ARABEZ NG
MEARER R/ gEh% HREMER FERERLA REELA TEER
2024 2023 2024 2023
024F  203F  204F 203F
% % % %

Shenzhen Xinjiale Cloud-based ~ The PRC RMB35,000,000  100% 100% 100% 100%  Provision of home
Decoration Technology Co., decoration and
Limited* 0 online distribution

and electronic
marketing services

AT REERERIR i AR 35,000,0007 RURERB LA
BRAR0 RBEEHERE

Meizhou Xinjiale Enterprise The PRC RMB1,000,000  100% 100% 100% 100%  Provision of home
Limited* 0 decoration

BHTHREERERAR T AR%1,000,0007C RftRE

Xinjiale Cloud-base Gaofeng The PRC RMB306,000 51% 51% 51% 51%  Provision of home
(Meizhou) Decoration decoration
Engineering Company
Limited* @

HRLERENEER(EN) o AR%306,0007 RftRE

KA TRARARO
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43. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

43. KRB EEM B A RFE @)

(Continued)
Place of Issued and fully paid Proportion Proportion of
incorporation/ share capital/ ownership interest voting power
establishment/ Paid-up held by held by
Name of subsidiary operation registered capital  the Company the Company Principal activities
HMRL/ BRORMERET/ AARREZ AARREZ
MEARER R/ EELY AREAMEE  FARERLA REELA TERH
2024 2023 2024 2023
0% 023%  204F  203F
% % % %

Xinjiale Cloud-base Qinyang The PRC RMB600,000  51% 51% 51% 51% Provision of home
(Meizhou) Decoration decoration
Engineering Company
Limited*

HRELZREFE(BN RS PE AR 600,000 RtRE
IRERARO

Meizhou Xingju Culture Media ~ The PRC RMB1,000,000 51% 51% 51% 51%  Provision of electronic
Company Ltd.* marketing services

BHERXLEREERARY & AR%1,000,0007 REBE S R

Guangdong Jicheng Building ~ The PRC RMB10,000,000 99% 99% 99% 99%  Investment holding
Materials Enterprise (Limited
Partnership)* 1

EREARMEX(BRAB)N HE AR 10,000,0007T RERKR

Jiyi (Shenzhen) Property The PRC RMB2,000,000  100% 100%  100% 100%  Estate management
Management Co., Ltd* !

S-(RINNEERERRA & AR2,000,0007 NEER
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43. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL

SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HEZ=—Z-NF+=-A=+—HIFE

43. A RRFEMBARFERE @)

(Continued)
Place of Issued and fully paid Proportion Proportion of
incorporation/ share capital/ ownership interest voting power
establishment/ Paid-up held by held by
Name of subsidiary operation registered capital  the Company the Company Principal activities
ML,/ BRORMERET AXTHEZ NG
WEAFER R/ gEh% BREMER FERERLE REELA TEER
2024 2023 2024 023
2020F  2023F  2024%F  2023F
% % % %

Meizhou Jiyi Building Materials ~ The PRC RMB10,000,000 65% 65% 65% 65%  Sales of household
Partnership (Limited building materials
Partnership)*

EGEL Iy 4 i AR%10,000,0007C HERERM
(BRa%)N

Jiyi (Shenzhen) Intelligent The PRC RMB5,000,000  100% 100% 100% 100%  Sales of electronic
Technology Co., Ltd* ! products

S-X(RI)EeERRAR  BE ARE5,000,0007C HEBTEM
L

Jiyi Zhiwo (Shenzhen) Intelligent  The PRC RMB5,000,000 51% N/A 51% N/A  Sales of electronic
Technology Co., Ltd* @ products

A AV IES: 288 i AE#5,000,0007 TEm MER HEETEm
BRARO

Shenzhen Shenjilian Trading The PRC RMB30,000,000  100% N/A 100% N/A  Bulk commodity
Co., Ltd* O trading

MITAEHESRERAT  E AR %30,000,0007C &R TER AFEmES

Guangjilian (Guangzhou) Trading  The PRC RMB30,000,000  100% 100% 100% 100%  Bulk commodity
Co., Ltd* 0 trading

BER(BM)BHERAR  HE A% 30,000,007 ArEmES
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43. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 43. ARTFEXEWE R AFE @)
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY
(Continued)
Place of Issued and fully paid Proportion Proportion of
incorporation/ share capital/ ownership interest voting power
establishment/ Paid-up held by held by
Name of subsidiary operation registered capital  the Company the Company Principal activities
HMRL/ BRORMERET AXTHEZ NG
MEARER R/ EEhE HREMER FERERLA REELH TTER

2024 2023 2024 2023
2024F  2023F  204F 203F

% % % %
Guangxi Jiyi New Energy The PRC RMB5,000,000 73% 73% 73% 73%  Investment holding
Technology Co., Ltd.* @
BRE-HMERHBIBERAT HE AR¥5,000,0007C REER
Shenzhen Jiyi New Energy The PRC RMB100,000,000 51% 51% 51% 51%  Investment holding
Technology Co., Ltd.* @
A& HERHBEBERAR HE AR %100,000,0007C REER
*  The English name is for identification purpose only * BN EBEHRES
i) These subsidiaries are wholly-foreign owned enterprises i) Z EHI B A B ATE R BIA A M SN B A 1
established in the PRC. o
if) The subsidiaries are foreign-invested enterprise established in the if) ZEME AR RERBIKZMINERE B
PRC. E
All the principal subsidiaries operate predominantly in FIBEXEMBRARNEENERESE
their respective places of incorporation/establishment. ZREMAR SRR ST B E o
The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Group which, ERIWTARBNEZTRETEFER
in the opinion of the directors of the Company, SEXEESEEFEZASENBA
principally affected the results or net assets of the Group. Al-EERR REAMMEBEARZ
To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion HEBEREBEFEREANTTE

of the directors, result in particulars of excessive length.

None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities HMENBARBEMAESZESFNRE
subsisting at the end of the reporting period or at any HARS iR S BRI R T 4R -

time during the reporting period.
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44. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

AND RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

44. RN B B AR R @ Rk

2024 2023
—EME —E-=F
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR¥T T ARBFT
Non-current assets ERBEE
Investment in the subsidiaries R B A ﬂﬁ’]&i fe - -
Amounts due from subsidiaries JrE YA BB 2 B R0A * - -
Right-of-use assets el ﬁééﬁg 43 273
43 273
Current assets REBEE
Amounts due from subsidiaries JFE U Ff BB A B R0 542 542
Prepayments and other receivables SCANE Iéﬁﬁﬂﬂfgﬂﬂl 590 590
Bank balances and cash RITEHR KRS 215 210
1,347 1,342
Current liabilities REBEE
Amount due to a related party JE 1<) R 5 BIR 11,038 2,832
Other payables H Ath & (< K18 5,470 2,019
Convertible loan notes AR EREE 50,776 47,430
Lease liabilities HEBE 44 269
67,328 52,550
Net current liabilities REEEFE (65,981) (51,208)
Net liabilities EESRE (65,938) (50,935)
Capital and reserves B #E
Share capital [N 2,390 2,390
Reserves (e (68,328) (53,325)
Total equity ez (65,938) (50,935)
* As at 31 December 2024, the gross carrying amount of * MN2024F 12 A31H » RIBRARRIRES

Investment in the subsidiaries was RMB217,703,000, and a full
provision for impairment was made for the this year (2023:
RMB254,468,000); The total gross carrying amount of Amounts
due from subsidiaries is RMB548,131,000, and the provision for
impairment in the this year was RMB548,131,000 (2023:
RMB566,124,000). As stated in Note 24(c), due to the
challenging economic environment, the Company has carefully
evaluated the recovery status of the aforementioned amounts
and made significant impairment.

A AR 217,703,000 7T © AFEEREEA
12 TR EE M (2023 : AR ¥ 254,468,000
7T) - R B AR ZUEREA T AARE
548,131,0007C * AFEFHRABEEHRS
%5 AR 548,131,000 7T (2023 : AR
566,124,000 7T ) ° BAZR R & 2 Mt 5% 24(0) BT
it EHARBMEFIBESERT AR
AIFEFE EZ S IER RS - 3
ETERSEERIRIE

299



JIYI HOLDINGS LIMITED £ —1ZBH TR A 7]
ANNUAL REPORT 2024 iR

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
ZE M IEEHRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 BEZ=—Z=—NF+=-A=+—HIFE

44. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 44, KR T M BER AR EHERE

AND RESERVES OF THE COMPANY (%)
(Continued)
Movement in the Company'’s reserves KATREEZEE
Contingent Share-based
Share consideration  Translation payment  Accumulated
premium reserve reserves reserve losses Total
MR AER
REE AARERE EifdE  2AREE ES) - -

RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000
AREFT  ARETE ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETZT

At 1 January 2024 R-ZEM-%-A—H 782,346 2,221 24,091 11,903 (873,886) (53,325)
Loss for the year FNER = = = = (9,244) (9.244)
Other comprehensive expense  ERE {2 FRX
for the year - - (5,759) - - (5.759)
At 31 December 2024 R-B-ME
+=A=t-H 782,346 2,221 18,332 11,903 (883,130) (68,328)

At 31 December 2022 and i "3

1 January 2023 +ZA=+-Ak
“Z-=%-f—H 672,624 2,221 24,425 11,903 (45,308) 665,865
Loss for the year ENER - - - - (828,578) (828,578)
Other comprehensive income & A E {2 I
for the year - - (334) - - (334)
Share merger RAHEH 109,722 - - - = 109,722
At 31 December 2023 RZBZ=f
+=A=t-H 782,346 2,221 24,091 11,903 (873,886) (53,325)
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z=—_F_UF+_A=+—HIFE

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period and prior
to the approval of these financial statements, the
Company implemented material changes to its board
composition and governance framework with effect from
6 June 2025. Mr. Yu Runkun was appointed as an
executive director and chairman of the board, whilst
relinquishing his role as chief executive officer. The
Company simultaneously appointed three new
independent non-executive directors: Ms. Zhang
Chuwen, Mr. Wei Zhihang and Mr. Chi Shimin. During
this intervening period, the board accepted resignations
from several directors. Ms. Hou Wei, Mr. Liu Xianxiu and
Mr. Yang Baikang stepped down from their positions as
executive directors, Mr. Hou Bo resigned as a non-
executive director, and Mr. Hou Lianchang and Mr. Chen
Zenghua concluded their terms as independent non-
executive directors.

Concurrent with these changes, Mr. Yu Runkun assumed
the duties of authorised representative under both the
Listing Rules and the Companies Ordinance, succeeding
Ms. Hou Wei in this capacity. The board also
reconstituted its committee leadership, appointing Ms.
Zhang Chuwen as chair of the remuneration committee,
Mr. Wei Zhihang as chair of the nomination committee,
and Mr. Chi Shimin as chair of the audit committee.
These post-reporting period developments form part of
the Company’s ongoing board succession planning and
governance enhancement programme. The board has
determined these matters to be non-adjusting events
that neither require modification of the amounts
recognised in these financial statements nor materially
affect the Company’s financial position or operations as
at 31 December 2024.

45. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD 45, 3R&EHIEE1E

RBEMBRERBEARMBRREN
&m’$Aﬂ§—g_£¢AHAE
BHEESHEMRERRBIELHER
B aEREERETRANITES
FEESXFE  RBHTTRARE
B RARAIRATEE=RNETH LI
BITEE : REXXZT  BEMEE
FOBEEEE - EULRERRE - EF
CERESLRESEER BHhaLt 2l
B BRREEBRTHERTES M
H 2 e A BAFRIG fE SE A RIAR |IF H B
SIEITE SR -

BB E S - BT R B R
Bt - M ETRADECRBIERDD
ATHRBARBSE EF@NEM
HRE@RERRE  ZEREXKE
REMEESTE REMELERE
FRERBELE  UNEEHELERR
REEEIR MEREMERELN
FH BARRE=RSREETRE

REREBICFTEIN—&D  EFSH

EREFHBFFABREMN  BRERY
A BEHRREERBN S RELES
T ARRBE_T_WNF+ =
A=+—HANMBRRKEEBKE
N2 X
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B IF R R EE

45. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD 45, R4 HIRE1E ()

302

(Continued)

On 12 June 2023, a winding-up petition (the “Petition”)
was filed by & S &t 5 T 7 & B R 2 & (Qingdao
Rongshikaiyuan Trading Company Limited) (the
“Petitioner”) with the High Court of the Hong Kong
Special Administrative Region (the “High Court of Hong
Kong”) for the winding-up of the Company under the
provision of the Companies (Winding Up and
Miscellaneous Provisions) Ordinance (Chapter 32 of the
Laws of Hong Kong). The Petitioner’s ultimate beneficial
owner is an individual named Zhang Zongai (58 &). A
copy of the winding-up petition was delivered by the
Petitioner to the Company’s office on 5 July 2023. The
Petition is in relation to the Petitioner’s claim for the
Outstanding Convertible Bonds in the principal amount
of HK$41,555,555.00 that had become mature on 31
August 2022. As at 12 June 2023, the Company is
allegedly indebted to the Petitioner in the aggregate sum
of HK$57,482,397.55, with HK$41,555,555.00 being
the outstanding principal under the Bond and
HK$15,926,842.55 being the accrued interest
thereunder.

On 17 June 2025, the Company received the order from
the High Court of the Hong Kong Special Administrative
Region for dismissal of the Petition filed on 12 June
2023.

E_T_=FR A+=-H BBXE

4 7T 78 & A R A 7 (Petitioner) [@] & /&
Rt ESE AR ((EEEEER )
RETERBFRAHK]D - ERiRE
(AR OB RIS 5-H1) (BHE

BIENRNE)HNFETER - FHRKA
MR Em#EA ABKSRE (Zhang

Zongai) o £ - BERBEXRMB AN —_F
T=FELHARABARXERRWAE -
AERHEBRAHINPITERESNR
BEE ZEBREFNASSEAR
75 ¥ 41,555,555.00 E%f%%aﬁ@—i@
——HFNA=t+—RHEHB -#HE=
_:EMH+—H’QEEMKEX
A48 %58 55 #57,482,397.55 » Hh
& #41,555,555.00 & (& % &) & 8 K&
&+ 7B¥15,926,842.55 BETAI S ©

E_ZE-_RFA++EH - 2RKE
ERAFNTHRESZFERHER-F

CTEFERATZEREABERERY
KElmS o
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45. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD 45

(Continued)

On 28 July 2025, a winding-up petition (the “Petition for
Unpaid Wages”) was filed by Mr. Lo Wai Siu (the
“Petitioner for Unpaid Wages”) with the High Court of
the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region (the “High
Court”) for the winding-up of the Company under the
provision of the Companies (Winding Up and
Miscellaneous Provisions) Ordinance (Chapter 32 of the
Laws of Hong Kong). A copy of the winding-up petition
was delivered by the Petitioner for Unpaid Wages to the
Company’s office on 30 July 2025. The Petition for
Unpaid Wages is in relation to the Petitioner for Unpaid
Wages's claim for the wages in arrears, unpaid annual
leave, reimbursement of disbursements in interest
accrued up to 30 June 2025 owed to the Petitioner for
Unpaid Wages less counterclaim of the Company per the
award by the Labour Tribunal dated 10 February 2025 in
aggregated amount of HK$325,966.69.

There is no other material subsequent event undertaken
by the Company or by the Group after 31 December
2024 and up to the date of this annual report.

WEMBEE @)

RZZTZRFELA=Z+/\B " #EK
EE(REFRFBAD RABEBRRITTH
EemEFEh((aFERDEXT —7
BREB(XRFZF]  EXRBA
7] OR 8 RAFETRIGS) 1501) ) (BB AR
FERNE)HRBIETER - REHRF
ARZE-_RFELA=THBBELRE
BRRIAKEARNPAE « K HE
2HERFGRBAHERIE  RX
NEREKBE-_ZE-_AF<A=1+H
MENMNEMNRIBERER BEL®
BHBRARABEBE-_ZS-_RAF— H‘I—EI
BT AEMERMIBHMNRE @ 8
A7 325,966.69 7T, ©

ARRARHIAEER -_FT_MFE+ A
St HRREERFHREMY EHL
HipEAIERHIREIR -
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The consolidated results, assets and liabilities of the Group for ARNEBEFEE AEBRKEZESTBHRER 2
the last five financial reporting periods as extracted from the BEFRAFEREH 2 GEESE  BELE
audited consolidated financial statements of the Group are &5 T :

summarised below:

RESULTS 4

For the year ended 31 December
BEt-A=t-HLEE
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
ZBoNE —T-=F T “T-_-F _T_TH
RMB’000  RMB'000  RMB’000  RMB'000  RMB’'000
AR®FrR AREFT AREFTT ARETT AREFT
(Restated)  (Restated)

(E71)) (E7))
Revenue N 311,017 629,482 559,763 458,296 446,915
(Loss)/profit before tax BRELRIEECHF) (329,551)  (488,556)  (39,799) 11,789 13,219
Income tax expenses g (413)  (10,600) (117) (3,925) (2,759)
(Loss)/profit for the year FREE/ (&7 (329,964)  (499,156)  (39,916) 7,864 10,460
Total comprehensive (loss)/ FR2EEE/
income for the year (W) a8 (334,764)  (522,451)  (33,065) 8,737 14,645
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EEREE
At 31 December
R+=ZA=+-—H
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
ZE-NE —T-=F —T--F —FT-_-F —T-TF
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT AREFT AREFT AREFT ARETT
(Restated)  (Restated)
(E71)) (&3)
Total assets EERAE 638,355 906,025 1,360,550 1,203,357 1,080,132
Total liabilities BEEE 590,937 523,843 455917 505479 405,691
Total equity R 47,418 382,182 904,633 697,878 674,441
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MANAGEMENT’S REPORT AND CHINA
LEGAL OPINION ON LITIGATION AND
ARBITRATION INVOLVING THE GROUP’'S
RELATED SUBSIDIARIES

The related subsidiaries of the Group were involved in litigation
and arbitration cases, all of which were caused by the
downturn of the domestic economy and the unprecedented
impact on the industry to which the Group belongs, the large-
scale expansion of the construction projects in the early stage,
the failure to timely collect government and other project
payments. In order to ensure that the Company’s business
continues to progress, it has been necessary to increase the
relevant borrowings and financing and to reduce and defer the
relevant expenses, which has further aggravated the pressure
on the Company’s capital and led to numerous litigation and
arbitration cases. In respect of the amounts involved in the
current litigation and arbitration cases, large amounts of the
cases were guaranteed by the relevant properties belonging to
the Company and its senior management, and the Company’s
receivables were sufficient to cover the payment of such
amounts, therefore, the management of the Company is of
the view that the litigation and arbitration cases involving the
related subsidiaries of the Group will not have a material
impact on the audit for the current period.

JIYI HOLDINGS LIMITED & — 3= H R A 7
ANNUAL REPORT 2024 $E 3R

Appendix
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EREER

N5 I RGP /B8 R R Ma ad S R ER 1
HHRBERKLE T AREMBITXER
RIFTAREMEEMSIE - ATHRETRMKR
EFEMEE - BUT T2 RIBIA K E AL T2
BEARERBOEN  ARERAREBFER
# o AETENERNEERE - ERHEE
MHEEASL  EMMNE T RARNE S E
N BHEHEZHRAFEREGEL - AW
RRPREREMS RN ET - HPAEH
MR AERTIRSEABMBNRENE
TERTER - M ARREKFIAED BN E &%
MO - it - ARIERERA
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RELATED SUBSIDIARIES (continued)
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Arbitration Case No.: Zhu Zhong Cai Zi (2023) No. 96
Arbitration Case (Related Case No.: (2023) Yue 14 Zhi
348)

Case cause: Contract dispute on financial loan

Zhuhai International Arbitration Court accepted this case
on 28 February 2023, based on the arbitration clauses in
the Comprehensive Credit Agreement, Loan Contract,
and Maximum Mortgage Contract signed between the
Applicant (China Zheshang Bank Co., Ltd. Zhuhai Branch)
and the Respondent | (Guangdong Jiyi Household
Building Materials Chain Co., Ltd.); the arbitration clauses
in the Maximum Guarantee Contract signed between the
Applicant and the Respondent Il (Guangdong Jiyi Xinya
Decoration Design Engineering Co., Ltd.), the
Respondent Il (Hou Wei), the Respondent IV (Deng
Jianshen), the Respondent V (Jiyi Industrial Group
(Shenzhen) Co., Ltd.), the Respondent VI (Deng Yiyi), and
the Respondent VII (Meizhou Weilongju Industrial Co.,
Ltd.); and the Applicant’s application for arbitration.

The arbitration judgment is set out below:

(i)  The Respondent | (Guangdong Jiyi Household
Building Materials Chain Co., Ltd.) shall, within ten
days from the date of delivery of this judgment,
return the loan principal of RMB108,000,000 to the
Applicant (China Zheshang Bank Co., Ltd. Zhuhai
Branch), and pay the interest (including interest and
compound interest) of RMB4,409,795.96
provisionally accrued up to 20 March 2023. The
above principal and interest shall be in the total
amount of RMB112,409,795.96;

C PR - IRPE T (2023) 5 96 5 A

M (BB - (2023) B 14%,348

RGBT R IR BB AMEIRIT
BHOBRARKEDITHERBA—
BRE—REEMEHBRAEIFE]
BERERERZ) (EBFRERD) (&
SRR A B A K& B A5 B i
BAZERE—EHEMRTIER
RAR WHBAZER  WEF

UESEER - WHBARLE —EX5E
ORINBRAR] ~ HWEHBANEER
WHRBEBACHNTEREEEARA
AFFT A ERBEREAGR) P RMHE
R EARNMPE B - R 2023F
2A28AXBT AR -

HEERATT

(—) HHRBA—ERE—REEME
HEARRAERAFREREY
B+ B AR AMNERITR
MAERRARKEDITRE/ERAN
& A K ¥ 108,000,000 7t 7 & 1+
FHZE2023F3A20BMFIE(E
FE - EF) AR 4,409,795.96
T R ERBHFT AR
112,409,795.96 7T :
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MANAGEMENT’S REPORT AND CHINA
LEGAL OPINION ON LITIGATION AND

EEERARNAEEEBENEQ A
BRBRMENEREE RS

ARBITRATION INVOLVING THE GROUP’S EEEZR®)

RELATED SUBSIDIARIES (continued)
Arbitration Case No.: Zhu Zhong Cai Zi (2023) No. 96 — + {h# 2%  T{hH 7 (2023) F 96 55 {h
Arbitration Case (Related Case No.: (2023) Yue 14 Zhi HEMF (5 - (2023) 2143348
348) (Continued) 5R) (&)

(i)  The Respondent | (Guangdong Jiyi Household (D) wHBABRE—FREEME

(i)

Building Materials Chain Co., Ltd.) shall, within ten
days from the date of delivery of this judgment, pay
to the Applicant (China Zheshang Bank Co., Ltd.
Zhuhai Branch), the penalty interest from 21 March
2023 to the date on which all principal and interest
judged in this judgment is actually settled, with
penalty interest to be charged at the rate of 7.5%
per annum based on the principal amount of
RMB108,000,000; and the Respondent |
(Guangdong Jiyi Household Building Materials
Chain Co., Ltd.) shall, within ten days from the date
of delivery of this judgment, pay to the Applicant
(China Zheshang Bank Co., Ltd. Zhuhai Branch),
compound interest from 21 March 2023 to the
date on which all principal and interest judged in
this judgment is actually settled, with compound
interest to be charged at the rate of 7.5% per
annum based on the unpaid interest (including
penalty interest);

The Respondent | (Guangdong Jiyi Household
Building Materials Chain Co., Ltd.) shall, within ten
days from the date of delivery of this judgment, pay
to the Applicant (China Zheshang Bank Co., Ltd.
Zhuhai Branch), a liquidated damage based on the
outstanding principal amount of R\MB108,000,000
at an interest rate of 6% per annum commencing
from 21 March 2023 to the date on which the
principal is settled;

HERARERAF REXEY
B+ BARBBFAMNERITR
MABERARKED T B 2023
F3IA2IHREAFREMH IR
MABABERBER LM
2 818 LA A R #108,000,000
ARG BEY  BRFMETIS%
A WEEABRE—RE
EMEEERARERAFIRE
REZHRTHRBBEBZAMNE
RITIRMBR QTR ED TN
B2023F3A21H#E = KEF*F
ERMEANMEAREEREEH
LEFER - ERIARZHFIE (R
FBEB) BEE - IRFFET5%
FTU

(Z) HEBA-ERE—HKERME

HBERARERRNE AEXREY
Hit+HAMEBEBAMNERITR
MERDAKEDITEZNELD
T BHASUREBERSARE
108,000,000 7T /& £ &1+ 1% F 7
K6%stI - B2023F3A21H
BETEASFEZAL
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Arbitration Case No.: Zhu Zhong Cai Zi (2023) No. 96
Arbitration Case (Related Case No.: (2023) Yue 14 Zhi
348) (Continued)

(iv) The Respondent | (Guangdong Jiyi Household
Building Materials Chain Co., Ltd.) shall, within ten
days from the date of delivery of this judgment, pay
to the Applicant (China Zheshang Bank Co., Ltd.
Zhuhai Branch), a People’s Court preservation fee
of RMB5,000.

Solution for Management Report: In accordance with the
relevant domestic legal litigation procedures, the next
step may be to carry out a compulsory auction of the real
estate owned by Guangdong Jiyi Household Building
Materials Chain Co., Ltd., located in Jiyi Decoration and
Building Materials City on Xianzi Middle Road, Fuwai
Village, Chengjiang Town, Meixian District, Meizhou, the
proceeds from the auction will be used for the repayment
of the enforcement amounts, and the assessed value of
the mortgaged real estate in this case is RMB181.6542
million, and the proceeds from the auction should be
able to repay the enforcement amounts in full. The
guarantee obligations to other guarantors will be relieved
after the auction of the real estate.

Impact on Jiyi Holdings and its subsidiaries: the principal
amount of the loan under this arbitration judgment of
RMB108,000,000 has been accrued and accounted for,
and interest expense of RMB5,400,000.00, penalty interest
of RMB2,700,000.00, compound interest payable of
RMB309,375.00, liquidated damage of RMB5,040,000.00,
arbitration fee of RMB505,810.73 and preservation fee of
RMB5,000 in 2023 shall be additionally accrued.

C PR - IRPE T (2023) 5 96 5 A

M (BB - (2023) B 14%,348
5R) (&)

(M) HEBA—EBERE—KEEME
HBERAFERAEFAREXREL
Hie+HAMEBEANERITR
MBERARKEDITINARE
brir2 & AK¥ 5,000 7T °

EREREEMATR - RREAME
MEREFRENX T —FUgfE
RE—ZRXEEMEHBRARMAAEN
LGN T 18 B2 (= 12 )T SRR INR B A
AR S — S A A U 89 B HE 1T 58 )
HE - MEMGREBARBERITR
B ARMBEANEEFHEERA
R#1.81654218 70 - ABFMSHIENE
ZUACREENTRIE - FERE
NS EMmERTNEREEESHE
B{:Fo

HE—ITREMNBARTMNTE : KK
MBEHIANBREAEZ AR
108,000,000 7T & 51 2 A BR - 20234
[EFEMmRF 58 A AR 5,400,000.00
R IR S B A R % 2,700,000.00
- fETIRIETAE R AR 309,375.00
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RELATED SUBSIDIARIES (continued)
Arbitration Case No.: Zhu Zhong Cai Zi (2023) No. 96 — + {h# 2%  T{hH 7 (2023) F 96 55 {h
Arbitration Case (Related Case No.: (2023) Yue 14 Zhi HEM (RS - (2023) B 14%),348
348) (Continued) 5R) (&)
Legal advice: FEREER

After verifying the Zhuhai International Arbitration
Court’s arbitration judgment Zhu Zhong Cai Zi
(2023) No. 96, it has been confirmed that the basic
information of the judgment in this case is true.

After verifying and comparing the data of
TianYanCha, the arbitration case was applied to the
court for compulsory enforcement by the original
applicant. Case No.: (2023) Yue 14 Zhi 348; Filing
date: 28 July 2023; Enforceee: Jiyi Industrial, Jiyi
Household Chain, Jiyi Xinya Decoration;
Enforcement target: RMB116,421,120;
Enforcement Court: Meizhou Intermediate People’s
Court.

Current status: Jiyi Industrial, Jiyi Household Chain,
Jiyi Xinya Decoration have not fulfilled the payment
of enforcement amount, and the Company’s senior
management, Hou Wei, Deng Jianshen and Deng
Yiyi, have been included in the list of restricted
consumption and bad faith enforceees.

BEZR SRR HERKIAET
(2023)F 96 5F ME E - ZEMHE
RAREXRISREE -

KEFBLEHRBEEIE - & HE
7&1#%&%‘5’35%/\@/2575‘5’35!%%@%”
1T 5 (2023)E 1491348
S SO B 202347 A28
H #ATA E—EX &—
KEEH £ EHEH - 1T
ZR o AR #116,421,1200T ¢
WITERT - MNP RARERT o

B &E—FX S REE
#H 5—1 fﬁﬂiﬁ I
WITHRIE RAlmBEABER
BiEm  HERERIARGER
RAEEHITAZE -
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MANAGEMENT’S REPORT AND CHINA
LEGAL OPINION ON LITIGATION AND
ARBITRATION INVOLVING THE GROUP’S
RELATED SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Arbitration Case No.: Zhu Zhong Cai Zi (2023) No. 96
Arbitration Case (Related Case No.: (2023) Yue 14 Zhi
348) (Continued)

4.  Risk assessment: the main debtor of the case is Jiyi
Household Chain, involving bank debt and huge
amount, according to the relevant domestic legal
litigation procedures, the next step may be the
compulsory auction of the assets belonging to the
above three enforceees (including but not limited
to the mortgaged real estate, projects under
construction, external investment equity, etc.), and
the proceeds from the auction will be used to repay
the enforcement amounts. The solution mentioned
that the applicant has the right to use the
mortgaged property for repayment by auction, and
the appraised value of the mortgaged property is
RMB180 million, which is far more than the debt
amount and is sufficient to repay the full amount of
the debt. After the repayment of the debt, other
joint and several liability holders, such as Jiyi
Industrial and Jiyi Xinya Decoration, etc., can be
released from joint and several guarantee liability.
The solution is feasible and in compliance with the
requirements of the legal procedures.
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MANAGEMENT’S REPORT AND CHINA
LEGAL OPINION ON LITIGATION AND
ARBITRATION INVOLVING THE GROUP’'S
RELATED SUBSIDIARIES (cContinued)

Il. Enforcement Case No.: (2024) Yue 0303 Zhi 3213
(Related Cases: (2021) Yue 0305 Min Chu 25030, (2021)
Yue 0305 Min Chu 25031, (2022) Yue 0303 Min Chu
16651)

Case cause: Dispute on civil loan contract

1. On 2 November 2020, due to the difficulties in cash
flow of the Company caused by the pandemic, the
defendant Deng Jianshen (supervisor of Guangdong
Jiyi Household Building Materials Chain Co., Ltd.)
signed a loan agreement with the plaintiff Huang
Wenging using his own properties and assets
purchased from Meizhou Weilongju Industrial Co.,
Ltd. as collateral, agreeing to borrow RMB20
million from the plaintiff Huang Wengqing in
batches. The loan term is 6 months from the date
of receipt of the loan by the defendant Hou Wei
and the defendant Deng Jianshen, with an annual
interest rate of 12% per annum and monthly
interest payment method. If the two defendants
mentioned above fail to repay the principal and
interest on time, they shall pay the overdue interest
to the plaintiff Huang Wenqing at a rate of 0.08%
per day from the overdue date.
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RELATED SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

. Enforcement Case No.: (2024) Yue 0303 Zhi 3213 = - #7755 : (2024)E0303%132135%% ([
(Related Cases: (2021) Yue 0305 Min Chu 25030, (2021) BEZ2 4 : (2021) 20305 #1250305% -
Yue 0305 Min Chu 25031, (2022) Yue 0303 Min Chu (2021) 203058 #125031%% * (2022)
16651) (Continued) B 0303 R4 1665158)(4&)
2. On 3 November 2020, the plaintiff Huang Wenging ~— - 2020F11 A3B BREEXEE
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transferred and paid the loan to the defendant Hou
Wei in batches through bank transfer. The
defendant Hou Wei used this loan to lend in batches
to domestic subsidiaries and Hong Kong companies
for operating expenses, and on 27 November 2020,
she paid interest of RMB166,666.67 to the plaintiff
Huang Wenging using her own funds. On 28
December 2020, 27 January 2021, 28 February
2021, and 1 April 2021, she paid interest of
RMB200,000 to the plaintiff Huang Wengqing,
respectively. The total amount of interest paid was
RMB966,666.67, and the principal and interest of
the loan were not repaid to the plaintiff Huang
Wenging since then.

BIRTTEEF X OHEERSMAT
BREREER - WEEHAE
EERDBETE AN B AT H
BEBARWEEEER - W 2020
FNMA2EHABEERRRE
BXNBEBIZINMNEARE
166,666.67 7T © 12020 12 A
28H 202141 H278 2021
F2H28H 2021F4 /818 &
AMREEXEXNFEARE
208 ENFIEARFFARKE
966,666.67 7T * I 1E KA R E =
SOBBEEBHRARR -



MANAGEMENT’S REPORT AND CHINA
LEGAL OPINION ON LITIGATION AND
ARBITRATION INVOLVING THE GROUP’'S
RELATED SUBSIDIARIES (cContinued)

Il. Enforcement Case No.: (2024) Yue 0303 Zhi 3213
(Related Cases: (2021) Yue 0305 Min Chu 25030, (2021)
Yue 0305 Min Chu 25031, (2022) Yue 0303 Min Chu
16651) (Continued)

3. InJune 2021, in order to repay a loan of RMB35
million from Jiyi Industrial to Bank of China, Hou
Wei gave RMB20 million (such amount was
originally prepared to repay Huang Wenging)
including interest to Deng Yiyi. Deng Yiyi raised a
total of RMB31.5 million to lend to Jiyi Industrial
(Deng Yiyi has a loan contract with Jiyi Industrial) to
repay the loan to Bank of China (as evidenced by a
transfer record). On 9 November 2021, the plaintiff
Huang Wenging and the defendant additionally
signed a “Guarantee Contract”, agreeing that the
defendant Deng Yiyi shall bear joint and several
liability guarantee for the debts agreed in the
aforementioned “Loan Contract”. The scope of the
guarantee covers all debt principal, interest,
liguidated damage, lawyer’s fee, property
preservation fee and other fees for the realization
of the creditor’s rights under the main contract.
The guarantee period is from the effective date of
the guarantee contract to the date of completion
of performance and repayment under the main
contract.
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RELATED SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Il. Enforcement Case No.: (2024) Yue 0303 Zhi 3213 =+ #{TZ% : (2024)E0303#13213%: ([

(Related Cases: (2021) Yue 0305 Min Chu 25030, (2021) B 221 (2021)20305K #1250305%

Yue 0305 Min Chu 25031, (2022) Yue 0303 Min Chu (2021)E 0305  #J250315% * (2022)

16651) (Continued) B 0303 R¥1166515%) (&)

4. On 13 May 2021, the plaintiff Huang Wenging /g 2021458130 ' REFFH
signed the “Supplementary Agreement to the Loan FHllREERIERBES R
Agreement” with the two defendants mentioned BrmEE) BERBRYE
above, extending the loan term from the originally #IERI2021F5 A2 B EmIER
agreed expiration date of 2 May 2021 to the Z201FE8A1HER FIBEX
expiration date of 1 August 2021, and changing AR EE AR EE — S A
the interest payment method to a one-time FIRAFIE -

payment of the remaining unpaid interest upon
maturity.
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RELATED SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Il.  Enforcement Case No.: (2024) Yue 0303 Zhi 3213 = - #775% : (2024)E0303%32135%% ([
(Related Cases: (2021) Yue 0305 Min Chu 25030, (2021) BZ2 4 (2021)20305 R #]2503057%

Yue 0305 Min Chu 25031, (2022) Yue 0303 Min Chu (2021)2 0305 #1250315% ~ (2022)
16651) (Continued) B 0303 R¥]166515%) (&)
5. On 7 January 2022, due to the fact that the property A 202F1A7H AWEEEE

mortgaged by the defendant Deng Jianshen is one of
the properties of Meizhou Weilongju Industrial Co.,
Ltd., which has not yet obtained a real estate permit,
in order to ensure the validity of the collateral, the
plaintiff Huang Wenging requested the addition of
the defendant Meizhou Weilongju Industrial Co., Ltd.
as a joint and several guarantor with the consent of all
its shareholders Deng Xuefen and Deng Xiufen. In
addition, as the loan was mainly used for Jiyi Industrial
Group (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. and the plaintiff Huang
Wenging originally knew that the loan was mainly
used for Jiyi Industrial the plaintiff Huang Wenging
requested the addition of the defendant Jiyi Industrial
Group (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. as a guarantor, which was
approved by the resolution of the shareholder
meeting of its wholly-owned shareholder Jiyi
Investment Limited (Hong Kong Company). They
signed the “Guarantee Contract” with the plaintiff
Huang Wenqing respectively, which contractually
obligated them to guarantee the debts contracted in
the “Loan Agreement” dated 2 November 2020 in
the principal amount of RMB20 million signed
between the plaintiff Huang Wenging and the
defendant Hou Wei and the defendant Deng
Jianshen, and the “Supplementary Agreement to the
Loan Agreement” signed between the plaintiff Huang
Wenging and the defendant Deng Yiyi. They agreed
that even if the maturity time of any debt under such
business contract exceeds the above-mentioned
agreed period, Party B (i.e. the defendant Meizhou
Weilongju Industrial Co., Ltd.) hereby confirms that
such debt is still included in the guarantee scope
under this contract and assumes the guarantee
liability. The scope of the guarantee covers all debt
principal, interest, liquidated damage, lawyer's fee,
property preservation fee and other fees for the
realization of the creditor’s rights under the main
contract. The guarantee period is three years from the
effective date of the guarantee contract.
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Enforcement Case No.: (2024) Yue 0303 Zhi 3213
(Related Cases: (2021) Yue 0305 Min Chu 25030, (2021)
Yue 0305 Min Chu 25031, (2022) Yue 0303 Min Chu
16651) (Continued)

Judgement result:

The Court of First Instance judged that: (1) Hou Wei and
Deng Jianshen shall repay the principal amount of the
loan of RMB20,000,000 and interest thereon to Huang
Wenging within seven days from the effective date of
this judgment, of which interest shall be calculated at the
rate of 12% per annum from 29 March 2021 to 1
August 2021, and the interest shall be calculated at the
rate of 15.4% per annum from 2 August 2021 to the
date of actual settlement; (2) Weilongju Company and
Jiyi Company shall be jointly and severally liable for
repaying the debts determined in item (1) of this
judgment; (3) Deng Yiyi shall pay Huang Wenging a
lawyer’s fee of RMB200,000 and the preservation
guarantee fee of RMB11,005 within ten days from the
effective date of this judgment; (4) the other litigation
requests of Huang Wenging shall be rejected.

The Court of Final Appeal judged that:

Affirm the item (1) and item (2) of the civil
judgment (2022) Yue 0303 Min Chu 16651 of the
People’s Court of Luohu District, Shenzhen,
Guangdong Province;

Il. Revoke the item (3) and item (4) of civil judgment
(2022) Yue 0303 Min Chu 16651 of the People’s
Court of Luohu District, Shenzhen, Guangdong
Province;

© EITESE - (2024)E0303#1321355 (7
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MANAGEMENT’S REPORT AND CHINA
LEGAL OPINION ON LITIGATION AND
ARBITRATION INVOLVING THE GROUP’S
RELATED SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Enforcement Case No.: (2024) Yue 0303 Zhi 3213
(Related Cases: (2021) Yue 0305 Min Chu 25030, (2021)
Yue 0305 Min Chu 25031, (2022) Yue 0303 Min Chu
16651) (Continued)

. The appellee, Deng Yiyi, is jointly and severally
liable to repay the appellant, Huang Wenging, the
principal amount of the loan of RMB20,000,000
and interest thereon by Hou Wei and Deng
Jianshen, the defendants in the original trial (of
which the interest from 29 March 2021 to 1 August
2021 is calculated at 12% per annum, and the
interest from 2 August 2021 to the date of actual
settlement is calculated at 15.4% per annum).

Solution: The main debtor in the case was Deng Jianshen,
who used his own real estate in Meizhou Weilongju
Industrial Co., Ltd. with a value of approximately RMB50
million as asset collateral, it is expected that the disposal
of the mortgaged real estate is the main way to enforce
the creditor’s rights, and the income from the disposal of
the mortgaged real estate can cover all the liabilities in
the case; and Jiyi Industrial Group (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. is
only a joint and several guarantor, although it has not
fulfilled the payment of enforcement amount, the
possibility of the property being ultimately enforced is
relatively low; in addition, as Jiyi Industrial Group
(Shenzhen) Co., Ltd., being a subsidiary of a listed
company, has agreed to the external guarantee without
a resolution of the board of directors, the guarantee
contract is invalid. Recently, Jiyi Industrial Group
(Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. will engage a lawyer in China to
request for an appeal and retrial of the item (2) of the
civil judgment (2022) Yue 0303 Min Chu 16651 of the
People’s Court of Luohu District, Shenzhen, requesting
for the rejection of the joint and several liability of Jiyi
Industrial Group (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. in respect of this
case. The Company’s senior management, Hou Wei,
Deng Jianshen and Deng Yiyi, have been included in the
list of restricted consumption.

/& nFF YA &’ﬁ:
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RELATED SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Il. Enforcement Case No.: (2024) Yue 0303 Zhi 3213 =+ #{TZ% : (2024)E0303#13213%: ([
(Related Cases: (2021) Yue 0305 Min Chu 25030, (2021) Bzt : (2021)E20305K#125030%% -
Yue 0305 Min Chu 25031, (2022) Yue 0303 Min Chu (2021) 20305 #]250315% * (2022)
16651) (Continued) B 03034116651 5%) (&)
Impact on Jiyi Holdings and its subsidiaries: As Jiyi HE—IEREMNBEARMNZE AR
Industrial Group (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. is a joint and E-FEHEEBR(FY) AR AT ZES
several guarantor, the amount of RMB28,366,572 in this BRE AE£5ARIEK28,366,572
case needs to be accrued as an estimated liability. TTEHEEAE -
Legal advice: ERER
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After verifying the enforcement case No. (2024)
Yue 0303 Zhi 3213, it has been confirmed that the
basic information of the judgment is true, but
(2024) Yue 0303 Zhi 3213 judgment (related cases:
(2021) Yue 0305 Min Chu 25030, (2021) Yue 0305
Min Chu 25031, (2022) Yue 0303 Min Chu 16651)

and other judgment information are missing.

After verifying and comparing the data of
TianYanCha, this case was applied to the court for
compulsory enforcement by the original applicant.
Case No.: (2024) Yue 0303 Zhi 3213; Filing date:
13 March 2024; Enforceee: Jiyi Industrial;
Enforcement target: RMB283,665,272;
Enforcement Court: the People’s Court of Luohu
District, Shenzhen.

Current status: Jiyi Industrial has not fulfilled the
payment of enforcement amount, and the
Company’s senior management, Hou Wei, Deng
Jianshen and Deng Yiyi, have been included in the
list of restricted consumption.
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RELATED SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Il.  Enforcement Case No.: (2024) Yue 0303 Zhi 3213 = . #{7Z9% : (2024)20303%32139%(%

(Related Cases: (2021) Yue 0305 Min Chu 25030, (2021)
Yue 0305 Min Chu 25031, (2022) Yue 0303 Min Chu
16651) (Continued)

B2t : (2021) 20305 R #]250305% »
(2021)E 0305  #250315% ~ (2022)
B 0303 R4 1665158)(4&)

4.  Risk assessment: Domestic banks in China usually 4 -

MHE PEBERRITREER

adopt the principle of recognizing houses rather
than companies for lending funds. As Jiyi Industrial
does not have any real estate available for loan
collateral, banks require individual shareholders or
spouses who are related to Jiyi Industrial and have
properties available for collateral as the main debtor
of the loan. However, the loan purpose should be
noted as for company operation, and the loan
funds are not allowed to be transferred to the
borrower’s personal account, and are strictly
stipulated to be transferred to the company’s
account only. Therefore, the loan is essentially used
for Jiyi Industrial operation, but in form, Deng
Jianshen (spouse of Hou Wei) is the borrower, and
Deng Jianshen himself and his property bear the
risk of repayment of the loan debt. The main
debtor of this case is Deng Jianshen, who used the
self-owned real estate of Meizhou Weilongju
Industrial Co., Ltd. as collateral. It is expected that
the disposal of the mortgaged real estate is the
main way to enforce the creditor’s rights. Weilongju
Company is not related to Jiyi Subsidiary, and its
asset disposal will not cause any impact on Jiyi
Subsidiary’s assets change. It is estimated that the
disposal and sale of Weilongju mortgaged assets
will be able to repay the debt, Jiyi Industrial is a
joint and several guarantor and will be relieved
from joint and several liability at that time.
Therefore, although it has not fulfilled the payment
of the enforcement amount at present, the
possibility of the real estate being ultimately
enforced is relatively low. The solution is feasible
and in compliance with the requirements of the
legal procedures.
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Enforcement Case No.: (2024) Yue 0311 Zhi 623 (Related
Case No.: (2023) Shen Zheng Zi No. 83829)

Case cause: Contract dispute on financial loan

In respect of the case of contract dispute between the
applicant for enforcement, Shanghai Pudong
Development Bank Co., Ltd. Shenzhen Branch, and the
enforceees (Deng Yiyi, Hou Wei, Deng Jianshen, Jiyi
Industrial Group (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. (the main
borrower), Guangdong Jiyi Household Building Materials
Chain Co., Ltd., and Guangdong lJiyi Xinya Decoration
Design Engineering Co., Ltd., the notarized debt
instrument (2023) Shen Zheng Zi No. 83829 of Shenzhen
Notary Office, Shenzhen, Guangdong, has become legally
effective. As the enforceees failed to fulfill the obligations
determined by the effective legal instrument, the
applicant for enforcement applied to this court for
compulsory enforcement on 1 March 2024, and this court
accepted it in accordance with the law. In accordance
with Article 251 and Article 264 of the “Civil Procedure
Law of the People’s Republic of China”, you (entity) are
hereby ordered to perform the obligations determined in
the effective legal instrument (including but not limited to
the following judgement obligations: payment of the
enforcement amount of RMB35,686,563.89 and interest,
and the enforcement fee of RMB103,087) within five
days from the date of the delivery of the Notice, and to
bear the interest on the debt, the application
enforcement fee and other relevant fees, etc. during the
period of delayed performance. The person who was
enforced in this case has filed an appeal and the
compulsory enforcement has been temporarily
suspended.
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Enforcement Case No.: (2024) Yue 0311 Zhi 623 (Related
Case No.: (2023) Shen Zheng Zi No. 83829) (Continued)

Solution: Jiyi Industrial is the main borrower (funds have
been used by Jiyi Industrial), Jiyi Household Chain and Jiyi
Xinya Decoration are joint and several guarantors. They
have not fulfilled the payment of enforcement amount
and have used the personal owned property of Deng
Yiyi, the then president, located at 17A, Block 2 (South
Tower), Bairui Garden, Keyuan Avenue, Nanshan District,
Shenzhen, as collateral. The current market value of this
property is estimated to be approximately RMB50-60
million. It is expected that the disposal of the mortgaged
real estate is the main way to enforce the creditor’s
rights, and the proceeds from the disposal of the
mortgaged real estate can fully pay the relevant funds
involved in the case. After the disposal of the real estate,
the guarantee liability to other guarantors will be
relieved.

Impact on Jiyi Holdings and its subsidiaries: The principal
amount of the loan involved in this case has been
accounted for, a supplementary accrual of interest
expense of RMB1,729,000.00 for 2023 is required, and
an enforcement fee of RMB103,087 is accrued as at 31
March 2024.

Legal advice:

1. After verifying the enforcement case No. (2024)
Yue 0311 Zhi 623 enforcement notice, it has been
confirmed that the basic information of the
enforcement of this case is true, but the notarized
debt instrument information (2023) Shen Zheng Zi
No. 83829 is missing.

© EITESR - (2024) 20311 #6235 (8

B 2255 1 (2023))R5 F5583829%% ) (4&)

BARR  E—BXRERTER(ED
EASE—EXEFER) £ —FREEH
E—EHREMBETERY  KAR
T MITHRIE - FATRELED
BEREAAZTBAEREMMNRIIT
m L E R e RERIREE 2 B (B )
TTAERER  WEERMHTEHE
E#) AR ¥ 5,000-6,0008 7T * B&HE
ERHEERANTEENZZERN -
BRERFEEEMSHRETARES
NEGSRHBEBARE - BEREI
BEEAMBERTNOBRRE TS SR -

N

HE—TREMBARTMNTE : KK
FRNERAESE AR SR
2023F E M B B A AR %
1,729,000.00 7T * 202443 A31 8 JE
EHRBITE AR 103,087 7T ©

ERER

1 BREFTHRITERSR 20248
0311623 AT TIMAMEZ =M
WITRREARBRABE - B
(2023) )% & F £ 83829 N & &
BEXEER -

321



JIYI HOLDINGS LIMITED E—#Z=BEIR A=
ANNUAL REPORT 2024 3R

Appendix (Continued)
B % (£8)

MANAGEMENT’S REPORT AND CHINA
LEGAL OPINION ON LITIGATION AND
ARBITRATION INVOLVING THE GROUP’S
RELATED SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

. Enforcement Case No.: (2024) Yue 0311 Zhi 623 (Related
Case No.: (2023) Shen Zheng Zi No. 83829) (Continued)

2. After verifying and comparing the data of
TianYanCha, the case was applied to the court for
compulsory enforcement by the original applicant.
Case No.: (2024) Yue 0311 Zhi 623; Filing date: 1
March 2024; Enforceee: Jiyi Industrial, Jiyi
Household Chain, Jiyi Xinya Decoration;
Enforcement target: RMB35,686,564; Enforcement
Court: the People’s Court of Guangming District,
Shenzhen.

3. Current status: Jiyi Industrial, Jiyi Household Chain,

Jiyi Xinya Decoration have not fulfilled the payment
of enforcement amount.
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MANAGEMENT’S REPORT AND CHINA
LEGAL OPINION ON LITIGATION AND
ARBITRATION INVOLVING THE GROUP’'S
RELATED SUBSIDIARIES (cContinued)

. Enforcement Case No.: (2024) Yue 0311 Zhi 623 (Related
Case No.: (2023) Shen Zheng Zi No. 83829) (Continued)

4.  Risk assessment: Domestic banks in China usually
adopt the principle of recognizing houses rather
than companies for lending funds. As Jiyi Industrial
does not have any property available for loan
collateral, banks require individual shareholders or
relatives who are related to Jiyi Industrial and have
properties available for collateral as the main debtor
of the loan. However, the loan purpose should be
noted as for company operation, and the loan
funds are not allowed to be transferred to the
borrower’s personal account, and are strictly
stipulated to be transferred to the company’s
account only. Therefore, the loan is essentially used
for Jiyi Industrial operation, but in form, Deng Yiyi
(Hou Wei's relative) is the borrower, and Deng Yiyi
herself and her real estate bear the risk of
repayment of the loan debt. The main debtor of
this case is Deng Yiyi, who used personal real estate
as collateral. It is expected that the disposal of the
mortgaged real estate is the main way to enforce
the creditor’s rights. Deng Yiyi's asset disposal will
not cause any impact on Jiyi Holdings's assets. It is
estimated that the disposal and sale of Deng Yiyi's
mortgaged assets will be able to repay the debt, Jiyi
Industrial, Jiyi Household Chain, Jiyi Xinya
Decoration are joint and several guarantors and will
be relieved from joint and several liability at that
time. Therefore, although they have not fulfilled
the payment of the enforcement amount at
present, the possibility of the real estate being
ultimately enforced is relatively low. The solution is
feasible and in compliance with the requirements
of the legal procedures.
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RELATED SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

V.
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Enforcement Case No.: (2024) Yue 1402 Zhi 175 (Related
Case No.: (2023) Yue 1402 Min Chu 900)

Case cause: Contract dispute on financial loan

On 29 January 2022, the plaintiff Bank of
Communications Co., Ltd. Meizhou Branch signed a
“Personal Loan Contract” with the defendant Deng Yiyi,
agreeing that Deng Yiyi, the then president, applied for a
loan amount from Bank of Communications Co., Ltd.
Meizhou Branch. Bank of Communications Co., Ltd.
Meizhou Branch agreed to grant a one-time credit of
RMB7,000,000 to Deng Yiyi for the daily operation and
turnover of Guangdong Jiyi Household Building Materials
Chain Co., Ltd., with a withdrawal validity period of 36
months. Guangdong Jiyi Household Building Materials
Chain Co., Ltd. and Deng Yiyi both signed a
commissioned loan agreement.

On 29 January 2022, the defendant Guangdong Jiyi
Household Building Materials Chain Co., Ltd. signed a
“Mortgage Contract” with the plaintiff Bank of
Communications Co., Ltd. Meizhou Branch, agreeing
that Jiyi Building Materials Company would provide a
mortgage guarantee for all the main contracts signed
between Deng Yiyi and Bank of Communications Co.,
Ltd. Meizhou Branch during the period from 29 January
2022 to 29 January 2027 through the commercial shops
(Certificate No.:
Guangdong Property Ownership Certificate Meizhou Zi
No. 0100073887 and 0100073888), west of Binfang
Avenue in Meizhou. The registration of the mortgages

under its name located at Sanlongju

was carried out in accordance with the law.
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RELATED SUBSIDIARIES (cContinued)

V.

Enforcement Case No.: (2024) Yue 1402 Zhi 175 (Related
Case No.: (2023) Yue 1402 Min Chu 900) (Continued)

On 30 January 2022, Bank of Communications Co., Ltd.
Meizhou Branch granted a loan of RMB7 million to Deng
Yiyi in installments according to the agreement, and then
transferred it to Guangdong Jiyi Household Building
Materials Chain Co., Ltd. in installments for daily business
turnover. After the loan was borrowed, Deng Yiyi was
able to repay the principal and interest of the loan as
agreed at first, but overdue repayment began on 20
August 2022. Bank of Communications Co., Ltd.
Meizhou Branch, after unsuccessful collection, filed the
litigation of this case.

Judgment result:

1. Confirm that the “Personal Loan Contract” (Contract
No.: 202201496185999040200000387) signed
between the plaintiff Bank of Communications Co.,
Ltd. Meizhou Branch and the defendant Deng Yiyi
on 29 January 2022 was terminated on 11 July
2023,

2. The defendant Deng Yiyi shall, within ten days from
the effective date of this judgment, repay the loan
principal of RMB6,672,630.69, interest of
RMB213,683.82, penalty interest of RMB5,951.20,
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RELATED SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

IV.  Enforcement Case No.: (2024) Yue 1402 Zhi 175 (Related PO « #{1TZ 5% : (2024) B 1402 #1175 5% (73
Case No.: (2023) Yue 1402 Min Chu 900) (Continued) B 2255 ¢ (2023) 21402 R #1900%% ) (4&)

3. Defendant Deng Yiyi shall pay the plaintiff Bank of
Communications Co., Ltd. Meizhou Branch the
interest, compound interest, penalty interest, and
penalty interest compound interest calculated from
21 February 2023, based on the actual outstanding
principal amount, at the interest rate specified in
the “Personal Loan Contract” until the date of
repayment of the loan, within ten days from the
effective date of this judgment;

4. The defendant Deng Yiyi shall pay a lawyer’s
fee of RMB49,649.11 to the plaintiff Bank of
Communications Co., Ltd. Meizhou Branch within
ten days from the effective date of this judgment;

5. The plaintiff has the right to claim priority
compensation for the debt determined in the
second, third, and fourth items of this judgment
against Guangdong Jiyi Household Building
Materials Chain Co., Ltd. for the proceeds obtained
from the auction, sale, and other disposal of its No.
1, 3, 5 to 8 Stores located at Building 9, Sanlongju,
west of Binfang Avenue, Meizhou [Real Estate
Certificate No.: Guangdong Property Ownership
Certificate Meizhou Zi No. 0100073887], within
the limit of RMB5.5337 million;
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RELATED SUBSIDIARIES (cContinued)

IV.  Enforcement Case No.: (2024) Yue 1402 Zhi 175 (Related PO « #{1TZ 5% : (2024) B 1402 #1175 5% (8
Case No.: (2023) Yue 1402 Min Chu 900) (Continued) B 2255 ¢ (2023) 21402 R #1900%% ) (4&)

The plaintiff has the right to claim priority
compensation for the debt determined in the
second, third, and fourth judgments of this
judgment against Guangdong Jiyi Household
Building Materials Chain Co., Ltd. for the proceeds
obtained from the auction, sale, and other disposal
of its No. 4 Store and the 2nd and 3rd floors
located at Building 9, Sanlongju, west of Binfang
Avenue, Meizhou [Real Estate Certificate No.:
Guangdong Property Ownership Certificate
Meizhou Zi No. 0100073888], within the limit of
RMB8.5061 million;

Defendants Hou Wei and Deng Jianshen shall bear
joint and several liability for repaying the debts
determined in the second, third, and fourth items
mentioned above. If the obligation to pay money is
not fulfilled within the period specified in this
judgment, double the interest on the debt during
the delayed performance period shall be paid in
accordance with Article 260 of the “Civil Procedure
Law of the People’s Republic of China”. The case
acceptance fee is charged as stipulated at
RMB60,417.52, with preservation fee of RMB5,000,
and announcement fee of RMB650, totaling
RMB66,067.52 (which has been prepaid by the
plaintiff), which should be borne by the defendants
Deng Yiyi, Guangdong Jiyi Household Building
Materials Chain Co., Ltd., Hou Wei, and Deng
Jianshen (which will be directly paid by the
defendants to the plaintiff when fulfilling this
judgment).
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Enforcement Case No.: (2024) Yue 1402 Zhi 175 (Related
Case No.: (2023) Yue 1402 Min Chu 900) (Continued)

Solution for Management Report: According to relevant
domestic legal litigation procedures, the next step may
be to carry out a compulsory auction of No. 4 Store and
the 2nd and 3rd floors located at Building 9, Sanlongju,
west of Binfang Avenue, Meizhou [Real Estate Certificate
No.: Guangdong Property Ownership Certificate Meizhou
Zi No. 0100073888], and the proceeds from the auction
will be used to repay the enforcement amount.

Impact on Jiyi Holdings and its subsidiaries: Due to the
property mortgage guarantee provided by Guangdong
Jiyi Household Building Materials Chain Co., Ltd. in this
case, the assessed value of the mortgaged real estate in
this case is approximately RMB12 million. The proceeds
from the auction should be sufficient to repay the
enforcement amount in full. After the real estate auction,
the guarantee liability to other guarantors will be
relieved. The amount of RMB7,011,427 in this case
requires provision for estimated liabilities.

Legal advice:

1. After verifying (2024) Yue 1402 Zhi 175
Enforcement Judgement and (2023) Yue 1402 Min
Chu 900 Civil Judgement, it has been confirmed
that the basic information of them is true, but
(2024) Yue 1402 zhi 175 Enforcement Judgement
information is missing.
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RELATED SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

IV. Enforcement Case No.: (2024) Yue 1402 Zhi 175 (Related PO - #7722 %E : (2024) 2 1402 117592 (3
Case No.: (2023) Yue 1402 Min Chu 900) (Continued) BAZ25% 1 (2023)E1402 R 4190058 (&)

2. After verifying and comparing the data of
TianYanCha, the case was applied to the court for
compulsory enforcement by the original applicant.
Case No.: (2024) Yue 1402 Zhi 175; Filing date: 21
March 2024; Enforceee: Jiyi Household Chain;
Enforcement target: RMB7,011,427; Enforcement
Court: The People’s Court of Meijiang District,
Meizhou.

3. Current status: Jiyi Industrial has not fulfilled the
payment of enforcement amount, and the two real
estates under its name have not yet received the
real estate auction instruments and entered into
the auction procedure.

4. Risk assessment: The main debtor in this case is
Deng Yiyi. Deng Yiyi signed a commissioned loan
agreement with the actual user, Jiyi Household
Chain, to transfer the bank funds borrowed by
Deng Yiyi to Jiyi Household Chain. The actual
borrower should be Jiyi Household Chain. In
addition to Deng Yiyi assuming the debt, creditors
also have the right to demand that Jiyi Household
Chain bear joint and several liability and prioritize
the sale of the mortgaged real estate. According to
relevant domestic legal litigation procedures, the
next step may be to carry out a compulsory auction
of the mortgaged real estate of the above-
mentioned enforceees. It is expected that the
proceeds of the auction can be used to repay the
enforcement amount. The disposal of this asset
may cause the impairment loss of the overall net
asset value of Jiyi Household Chain Company and
have an impact on it. The solution is feasible and in
compliance with the requirements of the legal
procedures.
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Enforcement Case No.: (2021) Yue 1403 Zhi 667 (Related
Case No.: (2021) Yue 1403 Min Te 350 case)

Case cause: Dispute on lease contract

In respect of the case of a dispute on lease contract
between the applicant for enforcement (Meizhou Jinxiu
Modern Logistics Park Co., Ltd.) and the enforceee
(Guangdong Jiyi Household Building Materials Chain Co.,
Ltd.), the civil judgment (2021) Yue 1403 Min Te 350
made by the court has become legally effective. The
enforceee shall pay the rent, operating fee, property
management fee, water and electricity fee, totalling
RMB4,093,485.83 up to 30 June 2021, and shall pay
interest on the funds occupied during the period of
overdue payment at the rate of 1.5% per month from 1
July 2021 onwards on the basis of the actual amount in
arrears to the applicant for enforcement, and the
enforceee shall also bear the application fee of
RMB43,335 for the enforcement of the case.
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V.

Enforcement Case No.: (2021) Yue 1403 Zhi 667 (Related
Case No.: (2021) Yue 1403 Min Te 350 case) (Continued)

Judgment result:

After voluntary negotiation between both parties, a
settlement agreement for enforcement that requires a
longer period of time to fulfill has been reached: 1. Apply
for enforcement target of RMB4,093,485.83, with
interest of RMB736,827.45 as of 30 June 2022. On 23
June 2022, after deducting the court’s enforcement
principal of RMB1,210,594.62, the remaining
enforcement principal was RMB2,882,891.21, with a
total principal and interest of RMB3,619,718.86; 2. The
repayment plan of the enforceee is as follows: Starting
from 1 September 2022, the aforementioned principal
and interest of RMB3,619,718.86 shall be repaid in
monthly installments. RMB177,977.64 shall be paid to
the applicant for enforcement before the 25th of each
month until the repayment is completed; 3. If the
enforceee fails to make any payment on time in any one
of the instalments, the applicant for enforcement has the
right to apply to the court for resumption of
enforcement, and has the right to demand that the
enforceee pay interest starting from 1 July 2022, at a
monthly interest rate of 1.5% based on the unpaid
principal.
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V.
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Enforcement Case No.: (2021) Yue 1403 Zhi 667 (Related
Case No.: (2021) Yue 1403 Min Te 350 case) (Continued)

Solution for Management Report: Jiyi Holdings and its
subsidiaries actively collect accounts receivable and other
receivables, and raise funds for their repayment.

Impact on Jiyi Holdings and its subsidiaries: The principal
involved in this case has already been accrued in the
current period, and an additional accrual of interest of
RMB778,380.62 (RMB2,882,891.21 X 18 X 1.5%)
should be made from 1 July 2022 to 31 December 2023,
at a monthly interest rate of 1.5% based on the unpaid
principal of RMB2,882,891.21.

Legal advice:

1. After verifying (2021) Yue 1403 Zhi 667
Enforcement Judgement, it has been confirmed
that the basic information of the enforcement of
the case is true, but judicial instrument information
of the related case (2021) Yue 1403 Min Te 350 is
missing.
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RELATED SUBSIDIARIES (cContinued)

V.  Enforcement Case No.: (2021) Yue 1403 Zhi 667 (Related ~ F - #7T725% : (2021) 2 14031667 5% (8

Case No.: (2021) Yue 1403 Min Te 350 case) (Continued) B Z2 5% ¢ (2021) B 1403 R 350 9% ==
") (&

After verifying and comparing the data of
TianYanCha, the case was applied to the court for
compulsory enforcement by the original applicant.
Case No.: (2021) Yue 1403 Zhi 667, Filing date: 3
March 2022; Enforceee: Jiyi Household Chain;
Enforcement target: RMB4,093,486; Enforcement
Court: The People’s Court of Meixian District,
Meizhou.

Current status: On 28 June 2022, the enforcement
of this case was terminated.

Risk assessment: The debtor in this case is Jiyi
Household Chain. Although the enforcement of
this case was terminated, the management’s
solution states that a portion of the enforcement
amounts have been paid and actively raised for
repayment. The outstanding principal has been
accrued for the current period, and interest has
been additionally accrued for the period from 1 July
2022 to 31 December 2023. This should be an
appropriate and legal approach.
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Enforcement Case No.: (2024) Yue 1423 Zhi 242 (Related
Case No.: (2023) Yue 1423 Min Chu 1552)

Case cause: Contract dispute on financial loan

1. The defendant Guangdong Jiyi Xinya Decoration
Design Engineering Co., Ltd. shall repay the plaintiff
Guangdong Fengshun Rural Commercial Bank Co., Ltd.
the loan principal of RMB3,470,000 and the interest
thereon within 15 days from the date of this judgment
becoming legally effective (the interest calculated as of
20 June 2023 is RMB285,082.31, and the interest from
21 June 2023 to the date of payment shall be calculated
and paid at the interest rate stipulated in the “Loan
Contract”
Fengshun Rural Commercial Bank Co., Ltd. and the
defendant Guangdong Jiyi Xinya Decoration Design
Engineering Co., Ltd.); 2. The defendants Meizhou
Jisheng Household Building Materials Co., Ltd.,
Guangdong Jiyi Household Building Materials Chain Co.,
Ltd., Liang Weizhen, Deng Jianshen, Ling Yongshan, and
Hou Wei are jointly and severally liable for the defendant
Guangdong lJiyi Xinya Decoration Design Engineering

0., Ltd.’s repayment of the plaintiff Guangdong
Fengshun Rural Commercial Bank Co., Ltd.’s
aforementioned debts; 3. The plaintiff, Guangdong
Fengshun Rural Commercial Bank Co., Ltd., has the
priority right to receive compensation for the accounts
receivable of RMB8,822,348 pledged by the defendant,
Guangdong Jiyi Xinya Decoration Design Engineering
Co., Ltd., in the project under the “EPC General Contract
for the Construction of Provincial Poverty-Stricken
Villages and Connected Ecological Livable and Beautiful
Rural Areas in Pantian Town, Fengshun County” of the
People’s Government of Pantian Town, Fengshun
County.

signed between the plaintiff Guangdong
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MANAGEMENT’S REPORT AND CHINA
LEGAL OPINION ON LITIGATION AND
ARBITRATION INVOLVING THE GROUP’'S
RELATED SUBSIDIARIES (cContinued)

VI. Enforcement Case No.: (2024) Yue 1423 Zhi 242 (Related
Case No.: (2023) Yue 1423 Min Chu 1552) (Continued)

Solution for Management Report: Guangdong Jiyi Xinya
Decoration Design Engineering Co., Ltd. should
accelerate the project acceptance and settlement with
the People’s Government of Pantian Town, Fengshun
County on the project under the “EPC General Contract
for the Construction of Provincial Poverty-Stricken
Villages and Connected Ecological Livable and Beautiful
Rural Areas in Pantian Town, Fengshun County”, and
recover the outstanding amount of RMB8,822,348 from
the People’s Government of Pantian Town, Fengshun
County. This amount can fully repay the principal of the
loan of RMB3,470,000 from Guangdong Fengshun Rural
Commercial Bank Co., Ltd. and the interest thereon.

Impact on Jiyi Holdings and its subsidiaries: The loan
principal involved in this case has been accrued, and an
additional loan interest of RMB275,865.00 needs to be
accrued.

Legal advice:

1. After verifying (2024) Yue 1423 Zhi 242
Enforcement Judgement, it has been confirmed
that the basic information of enforcement of this
case is true, but civil judgement information of
related case (2023) Yue 1423 Min Chu 1552 is
missing.
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VI.
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Enforcement Case No.: (2024) Yue 1423 Zhi 242 (Related
Case No.: (2023) Yue 1423 Min Chu 1552) (Continued)

After verifying and comparing the data of
TianYanCha, the case was applied to the court for
compulsory enforcement by the original applicant.
Case No.: (2024) Yue 1423 Zhi 242; Filing date: 13
March 2024; Enforceee: Jiyi Xinya Decoration, Jiyi
Household Chain; Enforcement target:
RMB3,755,082; Enforcement Court: The People’s
Court of Fengshun County.

Current status: Jiyi Xinya Decoration and Jiyi
Household Chain have not fulfilled the payment of
enforcement amounts.

Risk assessment: The debtor in this case is Jiyi Xinya
Decoration and Jiyi Household Chain. The
management’s solution states that the outstanding
receivables from the People’s Government of
Pantian Town, Fengshun County will be used as the
repayment source for the enforcement amounts
and the loan principal and interest will be
correspondingly accrued, which should be an
appropriate and reasonable approach.
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RELATED SUBSIDIARIES (cContinued)

VII.  Enforcement Case No.: (2023) Yue 0605 Min Chu 24560

Case cause: Dispute on a contract of sale and purchase

The plaintiff Guangdong Keyuan Electric Co., Ltd. has
had business dealings with the defendant Guangdong
Jiyi Household Building Materials Chain Co., Ltd. since
2015. The defendant Guangdong Jiyi Household Building
Materials Chain Co., Ltd. purchased electrical equipment
from the plaintiff Guangdong Keyuan Electric Co., Ltd.

According to the reconciliation between the plaintiff and
the defendant Guangdong Jiyi Household Building
Materials Chain Co., Ltd., the defendant Guangdong Jiyi
Household Building Materials Chain Co., Ltd. still owes
the plaintiff Guangdong Keyuan Electric Co., Ltd. a
principal goods payment of RMB1,358,168. According to
Article 7 and Article 9 of the “Contract of Sale and
Purchase” regarding payment terms and liability for
breach of contract for overdue payments, the defendant
Guangdong Jiyi Household Building Materials Chain Co.,
Ltd. shall bear the liability for breach of contract for
overdue payments. The defendant Chaoyang
Electromechanical Company and defendant Deng
Jianshen voluntarily provide joint and several liability
guarantee for the above-mentioned debts of Guangdong
Jiyi Household Building Materials Chain Co., Ltd. The
guarantee scope of the defendant Chaoyang
Electromechanical Company is RMB1,055,779.98. The
guarantee scope of defendant Deng Jianshen is all debts
of defendant Guangdong Jiyi Household Building
Materials Chain Co., Ltd. This case was filed on 7
September 2017.
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VIIl.  Enforcement Case No.: (2023) Yue 0605 Min Chu 24560 + - %, 17 2 5% : (2023) & 0605 £ #/] 24560

(Continued) 5% (&)
Judgment result: FIRAEER -

Guangdong Jiyi Household Building Materials Chain
Co., Ltd. shall pay Guangdong Keyuan Electric Co.,
Ltd. a goods payment of RMB1,358,168 and a
liquidated damage for overdue payment within ten
days from the date of this judgment becoming
legally effective (the liquidated damage calculation
method is based on the principal goods payment of
RMB1,358,168, calculated at 1.5 times the
benchmark interest rate of similar loans of the
People’s Bank of China for the same period from
13 March 2017 to 19 August 2019, and at 1.5
times the one-year loan quotation interest rate
published by the National Interbank Funding Center
from 20 August 2019 to the actual goods
repayment date).

Jiyi Industrial Group (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. shall bear
joint and several liability for repaying the debts
incurred by Guangdong Jiyi Household Building
Materials Chain Co., Ltd.
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Solution for Management Report: Guangdong Jiyi EEEREEMRATRE BRE—
Household Building Materials Chain Co., Ltd. actively EEMEE AR A A 5 1% 8 U E R
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raises funds for repayment.
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RELATED SUBSIDIARIES (cContinued)

VII.  Enforcement Case No.: (2023) Yue 0605 Min Chu 24560
(Continued)

Impact on Jiyi Holdings and its subsidiaries: The principal
amount of the goods payment involved in this case has
been credited as RMB1,107,399.08, and an additional
payable goods payment of RMB250,768.92 should be
accrued. An additional liquidated damage of
approximately RMB598,188 (81 months X 4.35% X 1.5
X RMB1,358,168 ~ RMB598,188) should be accrued
from 13 March 2017 to 31 December 2023.

Legal advice:

1. After verifying (2023) Yue 0605 Min Chu 24560
Civil Judgement and comparing the data of
TianYanCha, it has been confirmed that the basic
information of the case is true.

2. Current status: Jiyi Household Chain and lJiyi
Industrial have not fulfilled the payment of
judgment amount.

3. Risk assessment: The debtor in this case is Jiyi
Household Chain and Jiyi Industrial. The
management’s solution states that they will actively
collect accounts receivable and other receivables,
raise funds for repayment, and make corresponding
supplementary accrual for the principal of the
goods payment and liquidated damage. This should
be an appropriate and reasonable approach.
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VIIl. Enforcement Case No.: Mei Xian Lao Ren Zhong Zi An
[2023] No. 249 — Zhang Kaiyin, Mei Xian Lao Ren Zhong
Zi An [2023] No. 250 — Liao Qianghua, Mei Xian Lao Ren
Zhong Zi An [2023] No. 251 — Tang Haihua, Mei Xian Lao
Ren Zhong Zi An [2023] No. 252 — Ling Yongshan, Mei
Xian Lao Ren Zhong Zi An [2022] No. 53 — Zou Xiaoming
(Xinjiale)

Case cause: Dispute on labour contract

Arbitration result:

Total
Name Companies belonging to (RMB)

Zhang Kaiyin Guangdong Jiyi Xinya 135,573.3
Decoration Design
Engineering Co., Ltd.

Liao Qianghua Guangdong Jiyi Xinya 94,854.33
Decoration Design
Engineering Co., Ltd.

Tang Haihua Guangdong Jiyi Xinya 190,601
Decoration Design
Engineering Co., Ltd.

Ling Yongshan Guangdong Jiyi Xinya 321,559.5
Decoration Design
Engineering Co., Ltd.

Zou Xiaoming Shenzhen Xinjiale Cloud 62,636
Decoration Technology Co.,
Ltd.
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MANAGEMENT’S REPORT AND CHINA
LEGAL OPINION ON LITIGATION AND
ARBITRATION INVOLVING THE GROUP’'S
RELATED SUBSIDIARIES (cContinued)

VIIL.

Enforcement Case No.: Mei Xian Lao Ren Zhong Zi An
[2023] No. 249 — Zhang Kaiyin, Mei Xian Lao Ren Zhong
Zi An [2023] No. 250 — Liao Qianghua, Mei Xian Lao Ren
Zhong Zi An [2023] No. 251 — Tang Haihua, Mei Xian Lao
Ren Zhong Zi An [2023] No. 252 — Ling Yongshan, Mei
Xian Lao Ren Zhong Zi An [2022] No. 53 — Zou Xiaoming
(Xinjiale) (Continued)

Impact on Jiyi Holdings and its subsidiaries: This case
involves unpaid wages and unpaid provident fund, which
have been accrued and accounted for. The liquidated
damage should be additionally accrued at RMB259,855
(including RMB227,600 for Guangdong Jiyi Xinya
Decoration Design Engineering Co., Ltd. and RMB32,255
for Shenzhen Xinjiale Cloud Decoration Technology Co.,
Ltd.).

Legal advice:

1. After verifying the arbitration mediation letter of
Mei Xian Lao Ren Zhong Zi An [2023] No. 249, No.
250, No. 251 and No. 252, it has been confirmed
that the basic information of the arbitration content
of the case is true, but Mei Xian Lao Ren Zhong Zi
An [2022] No. 53 is missing.

2. Current status: Jiyi Xinya Decoration has not
fulfilled the payment of judgement amount.

3. Risk assessment: The debtor in this case is Jiyi Xinya
Decoration. The management’s solution states that
unpaid wages and unpaid provident fund have
been accrued and accounted for, which should be
an appropriate and reasonable approach.
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VIIl.  Enforcement Case No.: Mei Xian Lao Ren Zhong Zi An )\ -
[2023] No. 249 — Zhang Kaiyin, Mei Xian Lao Ren Zhong
Zi An [2023] No. 250 — Liao Qianghua, Mei Xian Lao Ren
Zhong Zi An [2023] No. 251 — Tang Haihua, Mei Xian Lao
Ren Zhong Zi An [2023] No. 252 — Ling Yongshan, Mei
Xian Lao Ren Zhong Zi An [2022] No. 53 — Zou Xiaoming
(Xinjiale) (Continued)
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After verifying and comparing the data of
TianYanCha, the labour arbitration case of Mei Xian
Lao Ren Zhong Zi An [2022] No. 53 was applied to
the court for compulsory enforcement by the
original applicant. Case No.: (2022) Yue 1403 Zhi
739; Filing date: 14 March 2022; Enforceee:
Xinjiale; Enforcement target: RMB42,636;
Enforcement Court: The People’s Court of Meixian
District, Meizhou.

Current status: The enforcement of the case was
terminated on 13 October 2022, with an
outstanding amount of RMB30,252.

Risk assessment: The debtor in this case is Xinjiale.
The management’s solution states that unpaid
wage and unpaid provident fund have been
accrued and accounted for, which should be an
appropriate and reasonable approach.
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RELATED SUBSIDIARIES (cContinued)

IX. Enforcement Case No.: (2023) Yue 0112 Zhi 11077
(Related Case No.: (2022) Yue 0112 Min Chu 32865)

Case cause: Dispute on a contract of sale and purchase

According to the civil judgment (2022) Yue 0112 Min
Chu 32865 which has become legally effective, issued by
the People’s Court of Huangpu District, Guangzhou, in
respect of the case of a contract of sale and purchase of
steel between the applicant Guangzhou Huaya Trading
Co., Ltd. and the enforceee Guangdong Jiyi Xinya
Decoration Design Engineering Co., Ltd., Meizhou
Weilongju Industrial Co., Ltd., and Deng Jianshen, the
enforceee shall pay the applicant a goods payment of
RMB1,832,985.03 and a liquidated damage of
RMB373,656.70 by 4 June 2023.

Current status: Jiyi Xinya Decoration has not paid the
enforcement amount, and the Company’s senior
management, Liang Weizhen and Deng Jianshen, have
been included in the list of restricted consumption.

Solution for Management Report: Guangdong Jiyi Xinya
Decoration Design Engineering Co., Ltd. actively collects
accounts receivable and other receivables, and raises
funds for repayment.

B ITES  (2023) 20112, 11077 55

(Rt 255 : (2022) 20112 R #]32865
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RELATED SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

IX.

344

Enforcement Case No.: (2023) Yue 0112 Zhi 11077
(Related Case No.: (2022) Yue 0112 Min Chu 32865)
(Continued)

Impact on Jiyi Holdings and its subsidiaries: The case
involves unrecorded payment for goods and liquidated
damage, which should be supplemented by the recording
of project construction cost of RMB1,832,985.03, non-
operating expense of RMB373,656.70, and liquidated
damage of RMB234,805.38 from 5 June 2023 to 31
December 2023 (183 days X 0.07% X RMB1,832,985.03
= RMB234,805.38).

Legal advice:

1. After verifying Enforcement Judgement (2023) Yue
0112 Zhi 11077, it has been confirmed that the
basic information of the enforcement is true, but
information for civil judgement of related case
(2022) Yue 0112 Min Chu 32865 is missing.

2. After verifying and comparing the data of
TianYanCha, the case was applied to the court for
compulsory enforcement by the original applicant.
Enforcement Case No.: (2023) Yue 0112 Zhi 11077;
Filing date: 5 July 2023; Enforceee: Jiyi Xinya
Decoration; Enforcement target: RMB1,832,985;
Enforcement Court: The People’s Court of Huangpu
District, Guangzhou; Date of termination of the
enforcement: 20 October 2023.
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MANAGEMENT’S REPORT AND CHINA
LEGAL OPINION ON LITIGATION AND
ARBITRATION INVOLVING THE GROUP’'S
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IX. Enforcement Case No.: (2023) Yue 0112 Zhi 11077 7, - 1T ZE % : (2023)E 0112, 11077 5%
(Related Case No.: (2022) Yue 0112 Min Chu 32865) (FABEZ5R : (2022) 20112 £ #132865
(Continued) SR (&)

3. Current status: Jiyi Xinya Decoration has not paid 3 IRk E—EHEMREX T

the enforcement amount, and the Company’s
senior management, Liang Weizhen and Deng

THOE - ARBERAE - B
S DNCEEEE

Jianshen, have been included in the list of restricted
consumption.

4.  Risk assessment: The debtor in this case is Jiyi Xinya 4 R ZEZHEBARE—
Decoration. The management’s solution states that RS BEEEFRRAAIRPH

B 4% 48R 28 5 Mk B SRR RN L A B
W TR AR 73 32 A 1T BRIE 8 BRUR
R BN BAOSEEES
supplementary payment for goods and liquidated R EBBEESE ZME -

it will actively collect accounts receivable and other
receivables as repayment sources for enforcement
amount, and make corresponding accrual for

damage, which should be an appropriate and
reasonable approach.
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X.

346

Civil Case No.: (2023) Yue 1402 Min Chu 1125

Case cause: Dispute on a contract of sale and purchase

Guangdong Jiyi Xinya Decoration Design Engineering Co.,
Ltd. purchased mortar from the plaintiff Meizhou Huashun
Concrete Co., Ltd. Xiyang Branch in order to undertake
the construction of the “main project of Building 15# of
Jiyi Shangcheng”. The plaintiff, Meizhou Huashun
Concrete Co., Ltd., and the defendant, Guangdong Jiyi
Xinya Decoration Design Engineering Co., Ltd., signed a
“Meizhou Pre-mixed Mortar Purchase and Sales Contract”,
and had agreed on the unit price, quantity, settlement,
and payment method of the mortar. After reaching the
agreement, the plaintiff Meizhou Huashun Concrete Co.,
Ltd. Xiyang Branch supplied mortar to the defendant
Guangdong Jiyi Xinya Decoration Design Engineering Co.,
Ltd. in accordance with the agreement, fulfilling the supply
obligation. However, Guangdong Jiyi Xinya Decoration
Design Engineering Co., Ltd. did not pay the payment of
goods, with the cumulative unpaid payment of
RMB1,810,113.57 as agreed. On 9 March 2023, The
People’s Court of Meijiang District, Meizhou filed a case
and made the following judgments: 1. The defendant
Guangdong Jiyi Xinya Decoration Design Engineering Co.,
Ltd. should pay the concrete payment of
RMB1,810,113.57 to the plaintiff Meizhou Huashun
Concrete Co., Ltd. Xiyang Branch within fifteen days after
the judgment came into effect; 2. The defendant
Guangdong Jiyi Xinya Decoration Design Engineering Co.,
Ltd. shall pay a liquidated damage to the plaintiff Meizhou
Huashun Concrete Co., Ltd. Xiyang Branch within fifteen
days after the judgment came into effect. The calculation
of the liquidated damage is as follows: 1. Based on the
outstanding concrete payment of RMB1,309,408.57,
calculated at a daily interest rate of 0.08% from 31
October 2021 to the time of full payment; 2. Based on the
outstanding concrete payment of RMB500,705, calculated
at a daily interest rate of 0.08% from 1 July 2022 to the
time of full payment; 3. The defendant Deng Jianshen
shall bear joint and several liability for repaying the goods
payment of RMB1,309,408.57 owed by the defendant
Guangdong Jiyi Xinya Decoration Design Engineering Co.,
Ltd. to the plaintiff Meizhou Huashun Concrete Co., Ltd.
Xiyang Branch, as well as the liquidated damages arising
from the overdue goods payment according to the
calculation standard in point 1 of the second item;
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LEGAL OPINION ON LITIGATION AND
ARBITRATION INVOLVING THE GROUP’S
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X.

Civil Case No.:
(Continued)

(2023) Yue 1402 Min Chu 1125

Solution for Management Report: Guangdong Jiyi Xinya
Decoration Design Engineering Co., Ltd. actively
cooperates with Meizhou Weilongju Industrial Co., Ltd.
to improve the engineering project as soon as possible,
recover the receivable project funds, and raise funds for
repayment.

Impact on Jiyi Holdings and its subsidiaries: The goods
payment involved in this case has been accounted for
and should be supplemented until 31 December 2023,
with a liquidated damage of RMB1,177,578.55
(RMB1,309,408.57 X 26 months X 30 days X 0.08% =
RMB817,070.95, RMB500,705 X 30 months X 30 days X
0.08% = RMB360,507.60).

Legal advice:

1. After verifying, it has been confirmed that the basic
information of the civil judgment (2023) Yue 1402
Min Chu 1125 is true.

2. After verifying and comparing the data of
TianYanCha, Case No.: (2023) Yue 1402 Min Chu
1125; Case cause: Dispute on a contract of sale
and purchase; the defendant: Jiyi Xinya Decoration;
Litigation target: not detailed; Trial court: The
People’s Court of Meijiang District, Meizhou.

3. Current status: Jiyi Xinya Decoration has not paid
the enforcement amount.

4.  Risk assessment: The debtor in this case is Jiyi Xinya
Decoration. The management’s solution states that
it will actively cooperate with Weilongju Company
to collect accounts receivable as a repayment
source, and make corresponding accrual for
supplementary liquidated damage of goods
payment, which should be an appropriate and
reasonable approach.
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XI.  Enforcement Case No.: (2022) Yue 1427 Zhi 800 T— HITEY - (2022) B 1427 #,800 5%

BEEARMD

Case cause: Dispute on a contract of sale and purchase ESslE

348

In respect of the case of the sale and purchase contract
dispute between the applicant for enforcement (Xingfeng
Construction Co., Ltd. in Xinpu Town, Jiaoling County),
and the enforceees (Guangdong Jiyi Xinya Decoration
Design Engineering Co., Ltd. Dapu Branch, Guangdong
Jiyi Xinya Decoration Design Engineering Co., Ltd.), the
Civil Mediation (2022) Yue 1427 Min Chu 635 issued by
the People’s Court of Jiaoling County on 18 July 2022
has become legally effective. The applicant for
enforcement, Xingfeng Construction Co., Ltd. in Xinpu
Town, Jiaoling County, applied to this court for
compulsory enforcement on 5 September 2022. This
court filed a case for enforcement in accordance with the
law on 5 September 2022. According to Article 247 and
Article 260 of the Civil Procedure Law of the People’s
Republic of China, as well as Article 24 of the Provisions
of the Supreme People’s Court on Several Issues
Concerning the Enforcement of People’s Courts (Trial),
your company is ordered to fulfill the following
obligations:

(1) Should repay the outstanding goods payment of
RMB192,869.12 to Xingfeng Construction Co., Ltd.
in Xinpu Town, Jiaoling County;

(2) Bear a case acceptance fee of RMB2,117 and an
application enforcement fee of RMB2,825.
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RELATED SUBSIDIARIES (cContinued)

Xl.  Enforcement Case No.: (2022) Yue 1427 Zhi 800 +— #7TE5E : (2022)E 1427 #1,8005% (&)

(Continued)

Solution for Management Report: Guangdong Jiyi Xinya
Decoration Design Engineering Co., Ltd. Dapu Branch
actively collects accounts receivable and other
receivables, and raises funds for repayment.

Impact on Jiyi Holdings and its subsidiaries: This case
involves unrecorded goods payment, and an additional
goods payment payable of RMB192,869.12 and an
acceptance fee of RMB2,117, as well as an enforcement
application fee of RMB2,825, should be accrued.

Legal advice:

1. After verifying, it was found that there are missing
information on the Enforcement Judgement (2022)
Yue 1427 Zhi 800 and the Civil Mediation (2022)
Yue 1427 Min Chu 635.

2. After verifying and comparing the data of
TianYanCha, it was found that there was no
information on the case.

3. Current status: Jiyi Xinya Decoration has not paid

the enforcement amount.

4.  Risk assessment: The debtor in this case is Jiyi Xinya
Decoration. The management’s solution states that
it will actively cooperate with Weilongju Company
to collect accounts receivable as the repayment
source, and make corresponding accrual for
supplementary goods payment and court litigation
costs, which should be an appropriate and
reasonable approach.
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XIl. Civil Case No.: (2023) Yue 1403 Min Chu 597 TZ REZEZE%  (2023) &2 1403 R #1597

350

Case cause: Decoration and renovation contract dispute

Guangdong Jiyi Xinya Decoration Design Engineering
Co., Ltd. commissioned the applicant in October 2020 to
carry out an indoor decoration project (including labor
and materials) at Room 18A-1503, Jiyi Shangcheng,
Jianying Avenue, Meixian District, Meizhou. The house
area is 122.68 square meters, and the two parties agreed
that the project settlement price is RMB1,300/square
meter. The total project payment will be calculated based
on the house area, and the settlement time would be
paid after the sale of the house. The online signing
procedures for Room 1503 were completed on 23
October 2021. After communication and confirmation
between both parties, the project settlement unit price
has been adjusted to RMB1,000/square meter. As of the
date hereof, Guangdong Jiyi Xinya Decoration Design
Engineering Co., Ltd. has not paid any decoration fee.

The mediation of the case was ineffective and The
People’s Court of Meixian District, Meizhou, in
accordance with Articles 502 and 509 of the Civil Code
of the People’s Republic of China, judged as follows:

1. The defendant Guangdong Jiyi Xinya Decoration
Design Engineering Co., Ltd. shall pay the
decoration fee of RMB60,000 and overdue interest
(from 1 November 2022 to the full payment date,
with RMB60,000 as the principal and an annual
interest rate of 14.6%) to the plaintiffs Li Kai and
Liang Yongtao, within five days from the effective
date of this judgment;
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RELATED SUBSIDIARIES (cContinued)

Xll. Civil Case No.: (2023) Yue 1403 Min Chu 597 += EZZZ% : (2023)E 1403 K ¥]597

(Continued)

2. Reject the other litigation requests of the plaintiffs
Li Kai and Liang Yongtao.

If the defendant fails to fulfill the payment obligation
within the period specified in this judgment, they shall
pay double the interest on the debt during the delayed
performance period in accordance with Article 260 of
the Civil Procedure Law of the People’s Republic of
China.

The case acceptance fee is RMB2,753.6, with a 50%
reduction of RMB1,376.8 charged. The plaintiffs Li Kai
and Liang Yongtao would bear RMB703.8, while the
defendant Guangdong Jiyi Xinya Decoration Design
Engineering Co., Ltd. would bear RMB673.

Solution for Management Report: Guangdong Jiyi Xinya
Decoration Design Engineering Co., Ltd. actively collects
accounts receivable and other receivables, and raises
funds for repayment.

Impact on Jiyi Holdings and its subsidiaries: This case
involves unrecorded decoration payable, which should be
additonally accrued with RMB60,000 of decoration
payable, RMB10,220 of overdue interest (from 1
November 2022 to 31 December 2023, with RMB60,000
as the principal amount, at a rate of 14.6% per annum),
as well as an acceptance fee of RMB673.
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MANAGEMENT’S REPORT AND CHINA
LEGAL OPINION ON LITIGATION AND
ARBITRATION INVOLVING THE GROUP’S
RELATED SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

XIl.  Civil Case No.: (2023) Yue 1403 Min Chu 597
(Continued)

Legal advice:

1. After verifying and comparing the result of
TianYanCha: Case No.: (2023) Yue 1403 Min Chu
597; Filing date: 15 February 2023, Trial court: The
People’s Court of Meixian District, Meizhou. Case
closed. The situation is true.

2. Current status: Jiyi Xinya Decoration has not paid
the enforcement amount.

3. Risk assessment: The debtor in this case is Jiyi Xinya
Decoration. The management’s solution states that
it will actively collect accounts receivable and other
receivables as repayment sources, and make
corresponding accrual for supplementary goods
payment and interest, which should be an
appropriate and reasonable approach.
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Matters relating to social security contribution, unpaid
wage and unpaid tax

With respect to social security contribution, unpaid wage
and unpaid tax of the related companies of the
Company, based on the data information provided by
the management of the Company on the screenshots of
cleared social security contribution and the screenshots
of unpaid tax on the official website of the Guangdong
Electronic Taxation Bureau of the State Taxation
Administration, the unpaid wage and unpaid tax of the
related companies of the Company as of 31 December
2023 are set out below:

1. Jiyi Industrial owes a tax of RMB15,055.62, which
has been accrued without any impact.

2. Jiyi Household owed employees’ wages of
RMB1,686,785.02. RMB1,798,942.32 had been
accrued and accounted for as wages payable,
which needed to be offset by RMB112,157.30; no
social security payment was owed to employees;
taxes owed amounted to RMB5,684,661.74, which
had been accrued and accounted for as taxes owed
of RMB7,131,836.49, which needed to be offset by
RMB1,447,174.75.

3. Jiyi Household Meixian Branch has unpaid tax of
RMB117,757.92, among which RMB113,237.23
had been accrued and accounted for, and a
supplementary of RMB4,520.69 for tax payable had
been accrued.
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MANAGEMENT’S REPORT AND CHINA
LEGAL OPINION ON LITIGATION AND
ARBITRATION INVOLVING THE GROUP’S
RELATED SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Xl
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Matters relating to social security contribution, unpaid
wage and unpaid tax (Continued)

Jiyi Household Meijiang Branch has unpaid tax of
RMB459,498.85, among which RMB301,720.37
had been accrued and accounted for, and a
supplementary of RMB157,778.48 for tax payable
had been accrued.

Jiyi Xinya Decoration owed employee wage of
RMB2,966,680.49, and the wage payable of
RMB2,813,796.42 had been accrued and
accounted for, with a supplementary accrual for
wage payable of RMB152,884.07. Unpaid
employee social security payment is RMB62,852.29
from April to December 2023, with RMB70,381.45
of social security payment payable accrued and
accounted for, which needs to be offset by
RMB7,529.16; The unpaid tax payment is
RMB6,272,825.05, and RMB6,215,202.02 had
been accrued and accounted for, with a
supplementary accrual for tax payable of
RMB57,623.03.

Shenzhen Xinjiale owes a tax of RMB345,636.56,
and a tax payable of RMB348,956.41 had been
accrued and accounted for, which needed to be
offset by RMB3,319.85.

Meizhou Xinjiale owes a tax of RMB38,888.89, a
tax payable of RMB39,106.08 had been accrued
and accounted for, which needed to be offset by
RMB217.19.

Jiyi Holdings Limited owes a salary of HK$1,015,000.00.
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MANAGEMENT’S REPORT AND CHINA
LEGAL OPINION ON LITIGATION AND
ARBITRATION INVOLVING THE GROUP’'S
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Xl

Matters relating to social security contribution, unpaid
wage and unpaid tax (Continued)

Solution for Management Report: (Priority Payment)

Jiyi Industrial recovered the payment of land
repurchased by Guangming District, Shenzhen to
pay.

Jiyi Xinya Decoration recovered project payment to
pay.

Jiyi Household recovered account receivable to pay.

Legal advice:

After verifying and comparing relevant data and
evidence materials on the official website of
Guangdong Electronic Taxation Bureau, the
aforesaid social security payment, unpaid wage and
unpaid tax of the related companies of Jiyi Holdings
are true.

According to the relevant domestic laws and
regulations, normal operating companies with
unpaid wage, unpaid social security fee and unpaid
tax are usually warned in writing by the competent
government departments for rectification and
administrative fines, etc. It is recommended that
the Company should raise funds to settle unpaid
wage, unpaid social security fee and unpaid tax in a
timely manner in order to avoid any negative
impacts on the Company. The management’s
solution is proactive and should be appropriate and
reasonable.

JIYI HOLDINGS LIMITED & — 3= H R A 7
ANNUAL REPORT 2024 $E 3R

Appendix (Continued)
Bif &% (48)

EEEEARASEEREKE QT
WERARMPENIERBREEPE
EEER @

T= AEMREE  X&  RHERE)

il

8]

BEREERRLE  (BEER)

S—BXREFRIIT AR @
Y LRSI o

—_

2 S EHERHAHWRE TIRFES -

3° E-REREEURFKIESA

1 REBUHEREEFHRERE
AR BUR AR BB ER
bt & — IR BB A B AR
g R¥ RBBELBE -

2 RBEANHEBEEER  EEE
LERARIMTFEXRE - REMBE T
REAURXBERE SHBUT
FEMFIEEESER - ITHAE
RE EREQAERRRERES
BERARE - KB RER -
RIE  UERBEAREREEY
2. ERERAHRBEEER -
EEEEAE ML -

355



JIYI HOLDINGS LIMITED E—#Z=BEIR A=
ANNUAL REPORT 2024 3R

Appendix (Continued)
B % (£8)

MANAGEMENT’S REPORT AND CHINA
LEGAL OPINION ON LITIGATION AND
ARBITRATION INVOLVING THE GROUP’S
RELATED SUBSIDIARIES (continued)
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XIV. Risk of non-recovery of rents and default on leased

T EREEDERARRLOES L HBEYE

356

premises

As of 31 December 2023, Guangdong Jiyi Household
Building Materials Chain Co., Ltd. signed a housing lease
contract on 15 November 2019 with Yang Jiaxing. The
contract stipulates that Guangdong Jiyi Household
Building Materials Chain Co., Ltd. will lease its legally
owned 1/F & 2/F shopping mall and attic in Jiyi Building
Materials City located at No. 2 Xianzi Middle Road,
Meixian District, Meizhou, Guangdong Province, with an
area of approximately 300 square meters, to Yang Jiaxing
for legal commercial operation.

The lease term is from 1 March 2020 to 28 February
2035, for a total of 15 years. The period from 1 March
2020 to 31 August 2020 is rent free. The rental fee is
RMB150,000 per month, with a 6% increase every 3
years. Yang Jiaxing owed Guangdong Jiyi Household
Building Materials Chain Co., Ltd. a rent of
RMB 1,650,000 for a total of 11 months from February to
December 2022; Yang Jiaxing owed Guangdong Jiyi
Household Building Materials Chain Co., Ltd. a rent of
RMB1,800,000 for a total of 12 months from January to
December 2023, totaling RMB3,450,000.
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BERATRIHBHEEEZHENMRERSE
BTG REFPR2NE —EM
W——Ers kEE EEL300F
FA G HELBREANREGEHELRL

FHEHIR 8202063 A1 HEE2035
F2H28H 1k - #5154 2 20204 3
H1HBZE202068 3318 A% -
HEER AT AARK 150,000 -
3F LEH6% c BREME2022F2HFE
12 AEAR @A KBRS
—REEMEHEHERAGHEHEARE
1,650,0007C : 72023418 £12 A4
HAR 5 12@A  RTERE—XK
EEVMEHBERARANEEARE
1,800,0007T * BEt X FHE AR
3,450,000 7T ©



JIYI HOLDINGS LIMITED & — 3= H R A 7
ANNUAL REPORT 2024 $E 3R

Appendix (Continued)
Bif &% (48)

MANAGEMENT’S REPORT AND CHINA THEERANAEBBEENE QT
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ARBITRATION INVOLVING THE GROUP'S EEEZER#@)

RELATED SUBSIDIARIES (cContinued)

XIV. Risk of non-recovery of rents and default on leased +/M - BEEHEYEARIKEAS L HBAME

premises (Continued)

According to Article 6 of the “Jiyi Building Materials City
Housing Lease Contract” signed between Guangdong
Jiyi Household Building Materials Chain Co., Ltd. and
Yang Jiaxing, "if the leased property is sealed by the
court or the mortgagee exercises the mortgage right,
resulting in the termination of the lessee’s lease and the
inability to use the leased property, the lessee may
choose to terminate the lease contract with the lessor.
The lessor shall return the performance bond and all
prepaid but unused expenses to the lessee within 15
days, and compensate the lessee with a compensation
equivalent to the total amount of the current year's lease
fees as liquidated damages. The lessee may also choose
to terminate the lease contract and claim actual losses
from the lessor (including but not limited to losses from
inability to continue renting the property, losses from
renovation investment, or losses from increased rent),
and the lessor shall make compensation”.

The impact on Jiyi Holdings and its subsidiaries:
Guangdong Jiyi Household Building Materials Chain Co.,
Ltd. has a maximum default risk loss on the leased
property, which is limited to the total annual rental cost
or the actual loss of the lessee. Guangdong Jiyi
Household Building Materials Chain Co., Ltd. should
make a supplementary accrual of liquidated damage,
which is estimated to be a liability of RMB1.8 million.
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MANAGEMENT’S REPORT AND CHINA EEHEEBRANAEBEBENE QT
LEGAL OPINION ON LITIGATION AND WRARAEBONE R R EEF
ARBITRATION INVOLVING THE GROUP'S EEER#®)

RELATED SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

XIV. Risk of non-recovery of rents and default on leased +/0 - A@ELEMEWERKEHES L EHEYE

premises (Continued) BE AR e ()

Solution for Management Report: Starting from May EEEBMEERRATR E—FXRERQ
2024, Jiyi Household Company has coordinated with the AIE2024F5 A - B EETEHE
competent tax authority to increase the amount of value- PSR ENEREERAEE &
added tax special invoices issued, and issue monthly AREMHEZEZRLEHERES -

rental invoices to recover overdue rent.

Legal advice: ERER

358

According to Article 725 of the Civil Code of China,
if there is a change in ownership of the leased
property during the period of possession by the
lessee according to the lease contract, it shall not
affect the validity of the lease contract. The
provision of this law is the legal principle that
buying and selling do not break the lease, which
means that during the existence of the lease
relationship, even if the owner transfers the leased
property to others, it does not have any impact on
the lease relationship. The buyer cannot deny the
existence of the original lease relationship and
demand the lessee to return the leased property on
the grounds that it has become the owner of the
leased property. Therefore, if Jiyi Household Chain’s
property in Jiyi Building Materials City is seized,
auctioned and transferred to a new property owner
by the court, the original lease contract will remain
valid and the rights and obligations under the lease
contract will continue to be borne by the new
property owner. There is no breach of contract by
Jiyi Household Chain due to the lease contract.
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ARBITRATION INVOLVING THE GROUP'S EEEZER#@)

RELATED SUBSIDIARIES (cContinued)

XIV. Risk of non-recovery of rents and default on leased +/M - BEEHEYEARIKEAS L HBAME
premises (Continued) BE LR ()

Taking a step back, according to Article 6 of the
lease contract for the first and second floors of Jiyi
Building Materials City provided by the Company, if
the leased property is seized by the court or the
mortgagee exercises the mortgage right, resulting
in the termination of the lease and the inability to
use the leased property, the lessee may choose to
terminate the lease contract with the lessor. The
lessor shall return the performance bond and all
prepaid but unused expenses to the lessee within
15 days, and compensate the lessee with a
compensation equivalent to the total amount of
the lease fees for the current year as liquidated
damages. The lessee may also choose to terminate
the lease agreement and claim actual losses from
the lessor (including but not limited to losses from
inability to continue renting the property, losses
from renovation investment, or losses from
increased rent), and the lessor shall make
compensation. Therefore, if the lessee proposes to
terminate the lease contract and make a claim to
the lessor before the auction of the seized property,
the maximum amount of default risk loss for the
leased property by Jiyi Household Chain is limited
to the total annual rent cost or the actual loss of
the lessee, and the relevant provision for loss
reduction should be calculated by the financial
personnel based on the actual amount.
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MANAGEMENT’S REPORT AND CHINA
LEGAL OPINION ON LITIGATION AND
ARBITRATION INVOLVING THE GROUP’S
RELATED SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

XIV. Risk of non-recovery of rents and default on leased
premises (Continued)

3. Risk assessment: According to the above analysis,
the risk of breach of contract by the leasing
contract company is not significant. The
management'’s solution states that they will actively
collect rent and make corresponding provisions for
liquidated damages, which should be an
appropriate and reasonable approach.
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